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PREFACL.

Tue following Treatise is the first attempt
which has been made to collect all the Authori-
ties and Decisions on the Law of Legitimacy
in this country, and to deduce from them the
history and present state of the Law on that im-
portant subject. Until the appearance of the
“ Report of the Proceedings on the Claim to the
Barony of Gardner,” by Mr. Le Marchant, the
matter had been entirely neglected, and though
that able work is highly valuable for the light
which it throws on the particular question to
which it relates, (the period of gestation), as well
as for many interesting cases which are there
printed from manuscripts, it does not profess to
be a Treatise on the Law of Adulterine Bas-

tardy.

The Author of this volume deceives himself, if

a perusal of it will not convince the Profession of

two facts, either of which would justify its publi-

cation ; first, that the Law has undergone im-
A 4
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portant changes, in consequence of a mistaken
view having been taken of previous authorities;
and secondly, that there are not sufficient grounds
for the opinions which now prevail respecting the
Law on the subject.

It is, he submits, indisputable that the earliest
recorded case' has been misunderstood ; that the
abandonment of the ancient maxim of the ¢ qua-
tuor maria”’ was caused by a supposed dictum of
Lord Chief Justice Hale, which, there are strong
reasons for believing, he never pronounced ; and
that the second and most important innovation
which was made in the Law, (the Banbury deci-
sion, in 1813), was founded upon an idea which
has, it 13 confidently presumed, been disproved,
namely, that the Law as it is laid down by Lord
Coke, “ was not the Law of England.”

This work is confined to the Law of this coun-
try on the status of children born in wedlock ;
and the plan has been to insert, in chronological
order, and as nearly as possible in the words of
the original, every authority and every case that
in any way bears upon the question; together
with such observations as arose out of them.
Besides all printed cases, some inedited ones will
be found; and the Author is mnot aware of a
single omission, or, what is equally material, of
any addition or suppression having been made,
which could give a particular construction to the

) Foxcroft 's case.
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extracts from the Year Books, Reports, or other
works referred to.

His sole object was to ascertain, from a care-
ful examination of cases and authorities, what
the Law of Adulterine Bastardy actually was
and 1s ; and he has stated the conscientious con-
viction of his own mind, after a laborious in-
vestigation, although his opinions may appear
at variance with those of some of the highest
modern authorities. Having no theory of his
own to support, and finding that the soundness
of the definition of the most learned lawyer whom
this country has produced, had been impeached,
the inquiry after the #ruth became no less in-
teresting as a matter of historical curiosity, than

in']pnrtant as a puint of pl'ofﬂssimml knm‘.'ludgu.

The great importance of the Banbury case,
which is generally supposed to have produced a
total change in the Law of Legitimacy, has caused
a large part of the volume to be appropriated
to it; and whilst every fact is carefully stated,
comments are made, with the view of showing
that the eircumstances which were most relied
upon by Lords Eldon, Ellenborough, and Redes-
dale, as evidence of the illegitimacy of the peti-
tioner’s ancestor, arve susceptible of a different
construction ; and that all of them might have
oceurred, and the children have nevertheless
been the real issue of their ostensible father.
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If it be said that an ex parte view is here taken
of those facts, it must be remembered that a no
less ex parte, though contrary, statement of them
will be found in the speeches of the noble persons
who induced the House of Lords to reject the
claim ; and those speeches are more than suffi-
cient to counterbalance any undue effect which so
humble a person as himself is capable of creating.

Of his own opinions on the Law on the subject
it would ill become him to speak in so prominent
a part of the volume, were it not that his labours
have convinced him, not only of the correctness
of Lord Coke’s exposition, but of the sound policy
of the Law, after it became so far modified as to
abandon the rule of the * guatuor maria,” while
it required evidence of the absolute impossibility
of the husband’s being the father of his wife's
child, from whatever cause that impossibility might
arise, instead of making the impossibility depend
solely upon corporeal infirmity, or geographical
Limits.

He is far from being convinced of the legal
Justice of the decision in the Banbury case; and
he humbly conceives, that if the spirit of that
decision be established as Law, no uniform prin-
ciple on such questions can possibly be main-
tained ; that Judges will give conflicting opi-
nions, and Juries return contradictory verdiets;

and thus a point of Law, which, for the sake of

L
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social order, the peace of families, and the inte-
rests of morality, ought to be clear, certain, posi-
tive, intelligible, and defined, will be left in a
state of perilous uncertainty, and made to depend,
not upon matters of fact, but upon mere inferences
and opinions.

The Author is deeply sensible that his opinions,
and still more, the remarks which he has made
upon the judgments of the learned persons who
decided the Banbury case, may expose him to
the charge of presumption. In profound respect
for the talents, learning, and integrity of those
eminent individuals, he does not yield even to the
most ardent of their admirers. But that question
was one of fact and Law, and the possibility of
error on points of fact and Law is frequently shown
by applications for new trials, upon grounds of the
misdirection of Judges on either or both. That
many facts in the Banbury case were misunder-
stood, whilst others of considerable moment have
since been discovered, cannot be denied ; and it
may be presumed, that in acting upon the supposi-
tion that Lord Coke’s definition of the Law was
erroneous, a mistake was committed, which proved
fatal to the legal merits of the claim.

In doubting the soundness of the principles
upon which the Banbury judgment was founded,
and in expressing apprehension that it that pre-
cedent were to be adopted, it would lead to most
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serious results, the Author is fortified, by the opi-
nions of some of the most distinguished lawyers of
the day, and by the entire body of authorities from
the earliest period. The propriety of the judgment
of the House of Lords on the Banbury claim must
depend upon those authorities, which are now for
the first time collected ; and it may also be said,
that all the facts of the case itself have never
before been fully stated. The Profession will
therefore be enabled to form their own conclu-
sions; and the well known case of Morris and
Davis, which has been the subject of three trials,
of a judgment of the Lord Chancellor, to avoid the
expense of a fourth trial, and which is now, it is
said, to be brought before the House of Lords on
appeal, affords the strongest proofs of the danger
of departing from those * plain and sensible
rules” of Law on this subject, which are alike
sanctioned by the experience of ages, and by
the approbation of the most profound jurists of
all countries.

It only remains that the Author should observe
how much he has been indebted to Mr. Le Mar-
chant’s Report of the Gardner case, from the
Appendix to which he has taken the liberty of
reprinting the speeches of Lords Eldon, Ellen-
borough, Redesdale, and Erskine, together with
those of the Counsel on the Banbury claim, as
well as the important cases of Routledge and
Carruthers, and Smyth and Chamberlayne. The
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complete manner in which one particular branch
of the Law of Legitimacy is there illustrated has

rendered it unnecessary to do more than imeiden-
mll}- advert to 1t 1n this volume.

Torrington-square,
Gth Iebruary 1836.



ERRATA AND ADDENDA,

P. 33, line 6, del. the inverted commas.

P. 39, line 24, for * dare to take a demurrer’” read ** dare to demur.”
P. 45, line 34, for * Y. B. 41 Edw. I1L."” read = Y. B. 43 Edw. 1I1.”
P. 53, line 23, for * Hen. VI.” read “ Hen. IV."”

P, 107, line 26, for * to pronounce” read ‘* to have pronounced.”

P. 125, line 17, for ** has" read ** had.”

P. 144, line 1, for « plaintiff ** read * defendant.”

P. 216, line 11, for * The last case” read * Neatly the last case.”

P. 241, 242, in the marginal note del. * Third Trial, 1828,” and read
* February 1830."

P. 395, line 20, for * admit” read * admits.”

P. 473, line 31, note, for * carries it with its own’ read “ carries with it
its own.”

P. 490, line 31, for * violating" read * violation."

Note.—P.132, line 2 and 3. The case to which Sir William Wynne
alluded must have been that of Pendrell v. Pendrell, and not of Rex v, Read
ing. See Buller's Nisi Prius, by Bridgman ; 7th edition, p. 113 2,
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I is unnecessary to commence the following obser-
vations on the Law of ApvrTEriNE Bastarpy In
England, with an inquiry into the principles of the
Civil or Roman Law; because the Civil Law on that
subject always differed materially from the Common
Law of this country.,

The Common Law, however, adopted as a fundamental
principle, the maxim of civilians, that marriage is the
proof of paternity. * Pater est quem nuptie demon-
strant,” is equally the language of the Digest and of the
English Law ; but the latter did not permit the presump-
tion of legitimacy to be rebutted by circumstances which,
in the opinion of some jurists, were sufficient for that
purpose. It marked, with great precision, the only
possible grounds upon which the paternity of a child,
born in wedlock, could be impeached ; and it adhered
for many centuries, with singular tenacity, to the rule
which it prescribed.

Much has been said, and by men whose sentiments
are entitled to respect, of the absurdity and injustice
which have attended the rigid application of that rule
of law which fixed upon an injured husband the burthen
of supporting a spurious progeny; and the claims of the
real heirs, whose succession to the family inheritance
has been thereby impeded, have been urged with great
cogency and eloquence. These appeals have been ad-
dressed to the feelings; and in defence of moral justice
against supposed fraud, and imposture, the mind is
easily excited.
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Although the Common Law, in its anxiety to maintain
the rights which marriage confers upon children born
under its sanction, may in some instances have produced
injustice, it should be remembered that isolated cases
are no proof of the value of any law; for, to use the
words of Lord Coke, “ It is better, saith the law, to
suffer a mischief to one, than an inconvenience that
may prejudice many .” The Law cannot, and does
not, provide for every contingency which may occur.
It looks only to the usual habits and accidents of life ;
and being founded upon the philosophic principle of
promoting the good of society at large, it must, from the
very nature of human affairs, be sometimes attended
with injustice to individuals. No man with the slightest
powers of reflection, can fail to perceive that the law
which presumes that the husband is the father of a child
born of his wife, tends to promote public morals and
female chastity ; and consequently, in an immense ma-
jority of cases, to render the de facto, consistent with the
de jure, paternity. It would be a waste of words to
defend a principle which has prevailed for ages, with
greater or less modification, throughout Europe; and
though it may occasionally have led to hardship, or
moral wrong, those instances are overwhelmed in the
torrent of good which it has accomplished.

The Canon or Ecclesiastical Law, which was usually
called by early English lawyers ¢ the Law of Holy
Church,” though founded upon the Civil Law, was at
variance both with the Civil and the Common Law. with
respect to Adulterine Bastardy, for it looked only to
the actual paternity. All evidence which related to that
fact was admissible; and instead of considering that
the marriage demonstrated who was the father of the

1 Inst. 97 b,
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child, the canonists seem rather to have preferred the
prezsumption of illegitimacy to that of legitimacy. From
the great influence and learning of the church, the Canon
Law prevailed generally throughout Europe; but in
England a distinction was drawn at a very early period
between the “ Law of the Land” and the “ Law of
Holy Church;” and it appears to have always been a
point of national pride to preserve that distinction .

The following statements on the Law of Adulterine
Bastardy in England have been deduced from Treatises
on the Law, the dicta of Judges, and the decisions of
Courts. It is material to observe that every authority,
and every reported, as well as some remarkable inedited
cages, are cited ; and that the extracts have been made
without any desire to establish or support a particular
theory ; the only object being to show what was held
to be Law at different periods, what changes have taken
place, and to describe under what circumstances, and in
what manner, such alterations have been effected.

The earliest writer on the Law of England is Glan-
ville?, who was the King’s Justiciary in the reign of
Henry the Second ; and though he does not treat specifi-
cally on Bastardy, a few passages on the subject occur in
his observations “ on Heirs.” ¢ The assertion,” he says,
“ which is generally made, that incontinence in married
women is no forfeiture of the inheritance, is to be under-

! Barrington, speaking of the Statute of Merton, observes,—* Selden, in
hiz Dissertatio ad Fletam, says, that Robert Grosseteste bishop of Lin-
coln, wrete about this time a treatise to prove the necessity of introducing
the Civil Law into this country ; and Sir Edward Coke mentions, that Wil-
liam de la Pole, Duke of Suffolk, attempted the same innovation in the
Reign of Henry the Sixth, which occasioned Fortescue's writing his treatise
De laudibus legum Anglie. It was one of the articles of impeachment
against Cardinal Wolsey, * qued ipse intendebat finaliter antiquissimas An-
glicanas leges penitus subvertere, et hoe regnum Anglie, et ejusdem regni
populum, dictis legibus civilibus et canonibus subjugare.” —Observations on
the Statutes, p. 44.

* Tractatus de Legibus et Consuetudinibus Regni Anglie,

B 2

Glanville.
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Glawville. stood of the crime of the mother, because that son 1s
the lawful heir whom marriage proves to be such.”
¢« Neither a bastard nor any other person not born in
lawful wedlock can be, in the legal sense of the term, an
heir?, But if any one claims an inheritance in the
character of heir, and the other party object to him,
that he cannot be heir, because he was not born in law-
ful wedlock, then, indeed, the plea shall cease in the
King’s Court ; and the archbishop or bishop of the place
shall be commanded to inquire concerning such mar-
riage, and to make known his decision, either to the
King or his justices®.”

Glanville then recites the writ that was to issue for
that purpose, which alleges as the cause of the bastardy
of the defendant that he was “ born before the marriage
of his mother,” and states, that as “ it does not belong
to the King’s Court to inquire concerning Bastardy,”
the matter is referred to the Court Christian to be de-
termined. He proceeds: “ Upon this subject it has
been made a question whether if any one was begotten
or born before his father married the mother, such son
is the lawful heir, if the father afterwards married his
mother? Although, indeed, the Canons and the Roman
Laws consider such son as the lawful heir, yet according
to the law and custom of this realm, he shall in no mea-

! Quod autem generaliter solet dici putagium hereditatem non adimit, illud
inte!ligendum est de putagio matris quia filius heres legitimus est, quem
nuptie demonstrant.”— Glanville, 1ib. vii, cap. 12. Upon this passage it 15
observed by Reeves in his History of the Coinmon Law, (1. 117.) * Women
were not to forfeit their inheritance on account of any incontinence : not that
the maxim * putagium hmreditatern non adimit,” meant this indemmty of
women in case of incontinence, for that was to be understood of the con-
sideration the law had of a son begotten under such circumstances, and
born after lawful wedlock ; who was thereby entitled to succeed to the in-
heritance as a lawful heir; according to another rule, * filius heres legitimus
est, quem nuptie demonstrant.”

# ¢« Heres autem legitimus nullus Bastardus nee aliquis qui ex legitimo

matrimonio non est procreatus esse potest.,”’ —Glanville, Lib. vii. cap. 13.
 Ihid.
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sure be supported as heir in his claim upon the inheri-
tance ; nor can he demand the inheritance by the law
of the realm. But yet if a question should arise, whe-
ther such a son was begotten or born before marriage,
or after, it should, as we have observed, be discussed
before the Ecclesiastical judge ; and of his decision he
shall inform the King, or his justices. And thus ac-
cording to the judgment of the Court Christian concern-
ing the marriage, namely, whether the demandant was
born or begotten before marriage contracted, or after,
the King’s Court shall supply that which is necessary,
in adjudging or refusing the inheritance respecting which
~the dispute is; so that by its decision the demandant
shall either obtain such inheritance, or lose his claim.”

It is remarkable that no allusion should be made by
Glanville to the possibility of the issue of a married wo-
man being a bastard. He adopts withoutany qualification
the language of the Digest, that legitimacy is proved
by the marriage. In the only reference to the subject
in “the Mirror,” the exact date of the composition of
which treatise is doubtful, the same words occur: “ A
bastard is not to be accounted amongst sons; for the
Common Law only taketh him to be a son whom the
marriage proves to be so®”

When Glanville wrote it would appear that questions
of Bastardy were tried in the Spiritual Courts only ; and
if legitimacy then depended solely upon proof of the
existence of the marriage of the mother, the cause of
its having exclusive jurisdiction in such cases is easily

understood. .

! Glanville, lib. vii. cap 15. The passages in the text are taken from
Beames' translation, 8Svo. 1812,

2 &« Apres le espouse est 'appele de leigne fils litti'me al occise reseev-
able devant touts autres (litti'me est dit), car bastard n'est my accounct
perenter fits car la ley account celuy pur fits que espousells demonstrent,”
Mirroir des Justices.

B3

Glarville,

Mirrer.
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Before alluding to Bracton, who is the noxt writer on
the law after Glanville, it 1s necessary to advert to the
Statute of Merton in the reign of Henry the Third. Tt
having been discussed in a meeting of the Temporal and
Spiritual Peers at Merton in January 1236, ¢ whether
one being born before matrimony, may inherit in like
manner as he that is born after, all the Bishops answered,
that they would not, nor could not answer to it; be-
cause it was directly against the common order of the
Church.) And all the Bishops instanted the Lords, that
they would consent that all such as were born afore
matrimony should be legitimate, as well as they that be

" born within matrimony, as to the succession of inhe-

ritance, forsomuch as the Church aceepteth such for

'r\h__!_n_:rgitinmte. And all the Earls and Barons with one

voice answered, that they would not change the laws
of the realm, which hitherto have been used and ap-
proved 1.

Soon after the Statute of Merton it was determined
by a Council, composed of the Lords Spiritual and Tem-
poral, that whenever the issue of “ natus ante matrimo-
nium ” arose in the King’s Courts, the plea should be
transmitted to the Ordinary ; and that an inquisition hav-
ing been made by him in these words, “ utrum talis natus
fuerit ante sponsalia sive matrimonium vel post?,” he
should send his answer to the King’s Court in the same
terms without any cavil ; that in taking such inquisition
all appeal should cease as in other inquisitions of bastardy
transmitted to the Ordinary ; and that if there should
be any necessity for an appeal, it should not be made
out of the Kingdom ; and it was commanded that such
should be the practice in future®. The following docu-
ment, which was probably issued shortly after the decision

! Statutes of the Realm, authorized edition, Vol. i. p.4. Vide 1 Inst.
244 %, 2 Inst. 36 —99.
* Bracton, lib, v. c. 19, p. 417.
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alluded to, does not appear to have been mentioned by
any writer on the subject, though it affords some curious
wformation respecting jurisdiction in cases of bastardy,
and has long been printed.

In May 1236, the Archbishop of Dublin and the
Justiciary of Ireland, sent to the King to know what was
the law according to the custom of England upon the
following points :

“ When it happens that the son of any noble born in
wedlock raises a question against his brother, begotten
of the same mother in fornication before marriage, re-
specting the paternal inheritance, and if the brother born
before marriage saith in defence that he is legitimate,
whether it is in such case to be referred to the Eccle-
siastical Court, and if so, in what form, &c.? Also,
if it happen that one born before marriage shall do ho-
mage for his lands after the decease of his father, and
by reason of his homage so done shall ecall his Lord to
warrant, what right hath he to such call? And if the
Lord ought or will of his own accord warrant, whether
there can of right be duel between him so born in wed-
lock, and the Lord so warranting, when there cannot be
duel between the brothers themselves?”

The King replied to the first point, that “if the person
born before marriage, against whom a question is raised,
acknowledges that he was born out of wedlock, he nei-
ther can, according to the custom of England, claim the
inheritance, nor having claimed it, retain it ; and if he al-
leged that he was born after marriage, the case was not to
be referred to the Ecclesiastical Court, because the clergy
would hold him legitimate'.  When, however, a similar
question was discussed last year before the venerable
father the Archbishop of Canterbury, and the other
Bishops, and our Nobles of England, whether an inqui-

! i, e. Legitimated by the marriage of his parents after his birth,
B 4
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sition of such birth ought to be made in our Court or n
the Court Christian, the aforesaid Archbishop and Bishops
requested that power of inquiry might be granted to
them. Afterwards however, when they found that the
writ commanded them to answer whether the person
was born before marriage or after, they seeing that this
would be contrary to their laws, declined to reply, but
left it to us and our Court to inquire and determine ; and
it is not yet decided in our Court under what form the
inquiry should be made, whether by the oath of twelve
jurors, or by proofs to be produced by the parties. Also
respecting a Lord, whether he ought to warrant a tenant
against his brother, we answer, that he ought not, be-
cause as well he who 1s born after marriage as he who
1s born before would in that case be treated in the same
manner, and the Lord in receiving of the homage was
rather deceived than bound by it. Nor can there, for
the reason aforesaid, be duel between them, and more-
over because a Lord is more bound to warrant to a
claimant born after marriage than to a tenant born be-
fore marriage'.”

Although that document shows that i consequence of
the dispute in 1236 the clergy relinquished the right of
trying such questions of Bastardy as produced a collision
between the spiritual law and the law of England, it is
certain that they soon afterwards resumed it; but their
power was always confined to cases which depended upon
the fact or validity of marriages and divorces.

Up to the period when Bracton wrote nothing is to be
found in Treatises on English Law of any other cases of
illegitimacy than arose from the parties being born be-
fore marriage, or out of wedlock. Glanville is silent on
the subject of special or adulterine bastardy; and no

' Rot. Claus. 20 Hen. I11. m. 13, printed in Prynne’s Brief dnimadver-
sins on Coke's Fourth Institute, in 1669, p. 253.
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allusion to it is to be found either in the proceedings
at Merton, or in those which have been just cited.
Bracton’s celebrated Treatise is supposed to have been
written towards the end of the reign of Henry the Third .
He was probably educated by ecclesiastics, and the Civil
and Canon Law may have formed no inconsiderable part
of his studies. It is therefore not surprising that his re-
marks on the law of adulterine bastardy should, insome
instances, be repetitions of what is to be found in the
Digest ; or that his opinions should be influenced by the
school in which he was brought up. This is particu-
larly shown by the earnestness with which he presses the
conduct of the husband towards the child, as evidence
of its legitimacy or illegitimacy., In some cases its
status is made to depend almost entirely upon the re-
cognition or repudiation of the husband ; but these facts
were allowed little weight by the Common Law. The
recognition of the child by the husband is scarcely al-
luded toin the Year Books ; and its legitimacy was made
to depend, as much as possible, upon facts unconneeted
with the conduct of any individual whatever afterits con-
ception or birth. With these exceptions, however, Brac-
ton’s statements agree very closely with the rules of the
Common Law ; and if the doctrine of the “ quatuor maria ™

did not prevail in his time, there are at least traces of

the existence of a similar principle. He adopts in the
fullest sense the expressions of the Civil Law, that he
is the father whom the marriage proves to be so, and
that the nuptials afford primea facie evidence of legiti-
macy ; and he repeatedly says, that if a child “be born
of the wife,” it must be considered the child of the
husband, until the contrary be proved®. The exceptions,
if not defined with clearness, may nevertheless be easily

! A reference, in p. 139, to a case which occurred in Easter Term, 46 Hen.
I11. 1262, shows that the Treatise was written after that year.
? Bracton, lib. 1. . 9. p. 6; hb. 11, . 29, pp. 63. 70.

Bracton,
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discovered ; and though they occur in various parts of
his work, they agree, with singular exactness, with each
other, These exceptions consist simply of Impotency,
whether permanent or temporary; and Non-Access,
whether it arose from impotency or absence.

Many of Bracton’s observations apply to supposititious
children, by which was meant children who were neither
begotten by the husband, nor born of the wife ; but who
were adopted and recognised as the issue of both, for the
purpose of succession to the inheritance. These decep-
tions were sometimes, and more commonly, practised by
the wife, to impose upon her busband; or if he were
dead, upon his heir.

Upon the first of these causes of Bastardy, Impotency,
little need be said. It has always been considered a suf-
ficient ground for divorce : it is in some cases a fact capa-
ble of demonstration ; and if satisfactorily established by
medical testimony, is the most certain and clearest proof
that the husband is not the father of the child.

The next point for discussion is, what proofs were
admitted of Non-Access, when it arose from Absence?
The language of Bracton justifies the inference that the
husband must be proved not to have been in the same
county ' with his wife for some time before her concep-
tion ; and that if he was not impotent, and it were possible
for him to have had access, the presumption that he was
the father of his wife’s child could not be shaken. In
one place, Bracton, adopting the words of the Digest,
says, absence from his wife for ten years, and the birth
of the child, who at his return was one year old, would
render it a bastard®; but in another place, where he

1 ¢ Provincia,” .

* Digest, L. 1, T, 6, s. 6.—* Et presumitur quis esse filius hoc ipso
quod nascitur ex uxore quia nuptie probant filium esse, et semper stabitur
huic presumptioni donec probetur contrarium ; ut ecce, maritus probatur non
concubuisse aliquamdiu cum uxore, infirmitate vel alia causa impeditus,

vel erat in ea invalitudine ut generare non possit, vel probatur quod fuit ab-
sens per decennium et reversus invenit anniculum, hie qui in domo mariti
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treats more fully of the subject, he says that if the
husband be absent from the realm or county [provincia ]
for two years or upwards, it is to be strongly presumed
that he could not have had access to his wife ; and it he
finds on his return that she is pregnant, or has had a
child who is then one year old, such child is a bastard ;
and that even if the husband were to recognise and main-
tain it as his child, it could not be considered legitimate.
These deductions from the statements of Bracton are
corroborated by his observations on the status of children
of married women supposed to have been begotten by an
adulterer. ¢ Children,” he says, “ may also be sometimes
rendered legitimate, as by adoption and by consent and
will of the parents ; as if the wife of any one shall con-
ceive by another than her husband, if the husband shall
receive the child in his house, and acknowledge him, and
maintain him, as his son, he shall be his heir and legiti-
mate ; or if he shall not expressly acknowledge him, so
however that he do not put him away, or if the husband
shall be altogether ignorant, or shall know or doubt,
such[issue]shall be adjudged legitimate and heir,because
born of the wife; so however that it may be presumed
that he might have begotten him. And the same may be
said of a supposititious birth ; and so whenever the com-
mon opinion may be preferred to the truth. DBut if there
be a violent presumption to the contrary in the aforesaid
cases : as for instance, if the husband be proved, on ac-
count of illness or frigidity, or other impotence, not to
have cohabited with his wife for a length of time, or if it
can be proved that he had been out of the realm or
county for two years and upwards, and it may be ve-
hemently presumed that he could not have had access
to his wife, and when he returned should find her preg-
nant or having an infant of a year old, whether he should

natus est (licet vicinis scientibus) non erit filius mariti.”"— Bracton, lib. i
c. 0. fo. 6.

! See the following note,

Bracton.
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acknowledge and maintain it or not, such son shall (not
undeservedly) be expelled from the succession because
he can be neither son nor heir. But vice versd, where the
husband shall be in health and sound [capable of pro-
creation], and shall always remain with his wife in the
county, in one house and one bed, if the offspring be
begotten by another, or is supposititious, yet if he main-
tains him and acknowledges him as his son, or, if he dis-
claims and removes him, yet if he afterwards recognizes
him as his son, before credible persons who can prove the
fact, he cannot again disclaim him, but he shall be lawful
son and heir.”! In this case Bracton seems to consider
that the recognition by the husband was necessary to
secure the legitimacy of the child; but it is to be re-
membered that he is speaking of children who were not
begotten by the husband, and who were made legiti-
mate by adoption®.

! ¢ Legitimantur etiam (uandoque quasi per adoptionem et de consensu
et voluntate parentum, ut si uxor alicujus de alio conceperit quam de viro
suo et licet de hoe constiterit in veritate, si vir ipsum in domo sua susceperit
et advocaverit, et nutrierit ut filium, erit haeres et legitimus, vel si expresse
non advocaverit dum tamen illum non amoverit, sive vir omnino ignoraverit
vel sciverit vel dubitaverit, talis legitimus et hwres judicabitur eo qued
nascitur de uxore, dum tamen presumi possit, quod potuit ipsum genuisse.
Et illud idem diei possit de partu supposito et sic quandoque communis
opiniv prefertur veritate. Si autem violenta praesumptio se faciat in contra-
rium in pradictis casibus, ut ecce, maritus probatur propter aliguam infirmi-
tatem, vel frigiditatem, vel aliam impotentiam coeundi per multum tempus
non concubuisse cum uxore, vel si probetur quod extra regnum vel provin-
ciam per biennium vel ultra longe extiterit et quod vehementer presumi
possit quod ad uxorem accessum habere non potuit, et cum redient pregnan-
tem invenerit vel parvulum habeatem anniculum, sive talem advocaverit et
nutrierit vel non, ent talis filius (non immento) a successione repellendus,
quia talis filius nec haeres esse poterit,  Sed vice versa, ubi vir sanus erit et
incolumis et semper steterit cum uxore in provincia in uno domo et uno
lecto, sive partus conceptus fuit ab alio, sive suppositus, et ipse eum
nutrierit et habuerit pro filio, vel etiam ipsum deadvocaverit et amoverit, si
postea ipsum recognoverit ad filium coram viris fide dignis qui hoe proba-
verint, si opus fuerit, ulterins deadvocare non poterit, sed erit filius legitimus
et hzres.” Bracton, lib, ii. c. 29, p. 63 b,

? Lord Coke says that Bracton is the only writer he had read who speaks
of legitimation by adoption. 2 Inst. 97,
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In another part of his work! Bracton expressly says
““ 1t 18 to be noted, as was before said, that if a husband
and wife have cohabited together and are both capable
of procreation, and she becomes pregnant by another
man than her husband, whether the husband acknow-
ledges or repudiates the child, it is legitimate by pre-
sumption, because he 1s born of the wife ;”” and he adds
that “ such presumption indeed doth not admit proof to
the contrary.” Even if the husband were impotent, and
lived with his wife, the same presumption was to prevail,
“ because of the cohabitation,” until the contrary was
proved ; that is, until the impotency of the husband was
established ; for in these two cases “ the presumption
is preferred to the truth.” It seems to have been in-
cumbent upon a husband who was incapable of procre-
ation to relieve himself from the charges of paternity by
repudiating the child the moment the pregnancy of his
wife was perceptible ; and by removing it from his house
immediately after its birth %,

1« Et notandum secundum quod superius dictum est quod si cohabitave-
rint vir et uxor, nec sit impedimentum ex aliqua parte quin generare possent,
et uxor de alio quam de viro concepert, partus legitimus erit sive ipsum
vir advocaverit sive de advocaverit: et legitimus erit propter presumptionem
eo quod nascitur ex uxore Talis enim prassumptio non admittit probationem in
contrarium,” Bracton, lib. ii. c. 32. p. 70. Mr. le Marchant (Introduction to
the Rfjllﬂl'l l_lf the Claim to the H::rmr_u nf ﬂrlr.:fjwr', Bvo, PP: XXXVl XX :n*iii.)
considers that this passage has been falsely construed, from inattention to the
distinction drawn by Bracton between the husband’s repudiation and his
non-recognition of the child, and adds, * Now this,” (the extract in ques-
tion) “ entirely agrees, and in fact is introduced by the author as agreeing,
with the doctrine before laid down of the effcet of recognition, viz. that when
it has once attached to a child, it must always be conclusive in the ab-
sence of proof of the husband’s impotence or non-access.” Bracton cer-
tainly commences the sentence by referring to a former statement on the
subject, and probably to the 20th Chapter, from which extracts have been
made ; but there does not appear to be any cause for giving to it a more
extended or different interpretation,

2 « Sed esto quod vir talem in vita sua ad hieredem non recognoscat sed
cum amoverit talem, moriatur, licet post mortem suam a custode, vel ab ali-
quo cujus hereditas non fuerit, ad haredem recognoscatur, nen valebit. Cum
autem fuerit talis natus vel suppositus, vir statim talem a domo sua amo-
veat, nec faciat eum nutriri in domo sua pro filie, nec alibi, nec permittet

Bracton.
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From the manner in which Bracton expresses himself,
it may be presumed that no other evidence was admissi-
ble to bastardize a child born of a married woman, if her
husband cohabited with her, than proof of his impotency ;
and that non-access on the part of a husband who was
not physically disabled from procreation could only be
established by his absence from the county for a long
time before the birth of the child.

It would, however, appear from another passage, that
absence from the county was not in itself conclusive, 1f
it could be shown that the husband might nevertheless
have had access to his wife &

eum redire ad ipsum. Et de hac materia inveniri poterit de termino Sancti
Michaelis anno R. H. quarto incipiente quinto Comitatu Lincoln de Bar-
thol” filio Ricardi, et ubi tenens paratus fuit se ponere in magnam assisam
vel super patriam de jure : utrum ipse haberet majus jus tenendi terram in
dominico quee petita fuit, an ille qui petiit, sicut ille qui non habebatur pro
filio a patre communi, nec nutritus pro filio in domo patris, sed amotus a domo
patris, et sicut ille qui nunquam rediit ad patrem in vita sua, sicut filius,
nec post mortem, ad capitales dominos feodi, facturus eis quod de jure facere
deberet, et in quo casu tenens retinuit sine assisa, jurata, vel inguisicione,
quia petens non potait preemissa dedicere,—Bracton, lib. ii. ¢. 29, p. 63 b,

“ 8i autem simul habitaverint vir et uxor, et vir propter aliquod impedi-
mentum legitimum quod probari possit, generare non possit, si uxor de alio
conceperit, propter cohabitationem prasumitur quod partus sit legitimus,
en quod nascitur ex uxore, et standum erit tali preesumptioni donee probetur
in contrarium, et sic in istis duobus casibus praesumptio prafertur veritati.
Et si pater partum semel advecaverit, iterum illum deadvocare non poterit
si hoe probetur. Si autem cum generare non possit propter legitimum im-
pedimentum, partum in utero vel ®ditum deadvocaverit, et ut decet, a domo
sua amoverit, nihilominus tamen standum erit praesumptioni quod partus
legitimus sit, eo quod nascitur ex uxore, admittitur tamen probatio in con-
trarium si certis indiciis doceatur, quod ligitimum extiterit impedimentum,
et sic vincit talem prasumptionem veritas et probatie vera. Et licet per
talem probationem partus fuerit advocatus a patre, partus nunquam efficietur
legitimus cum hoc esset in prejudicium veri havedis.”— Bracton, lib. ii.
c. 32. p. 70,

! % Si partus mascatur post mortem patris (qui dicitur postumus) per
tantum tempus quod non sit verisimile quod possit esse defuncti filius, et
hoe probato, talis dici poterit bastardus. Item dici poterit bastardus et ille-
gitimus et partus alienus falso suppositus et nutritus ad exhwmredationem
veri haeredis, ubi mulier fecerit se pregnantem cum non sit. Item si inguiras
tur per quantum tempus natus fuerit post humationem patris cujus filius esse
debuit, ita quod non possit esse verisimile quod sit filius talis,  Idem diex
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In cases where the husband had not cohabited with
his wife for two years, whether he was impotent or not,
if the wife was pregnant by another man, or if she falsely
pretended to be pregnant and introduced a supposititious
child as the heir of her husband, such child was illegiti-
mate, provided there was a strong presumption, arising
from the interval of time, and distance of place, that
it was not begotten by the husband, even though he
recognised it as his child; nor was the presumption of
legitimacy “ because born of the wife” to be admitted,
if non-access could be proved'!, the evidence neces-
sary to establish which has been before pointed out.

Considerable attention was paid by Bracton to the
cases of widows feigning themselves pregnant by their
deceased husbands.  To provide a remedy against such
frauds the writ “ de ventre inspiciendo” was insti-

poterit bastardus partus suppositus mortuo vero harede sub custodia, ut
supra de qualitate et differentia haredis de partu supposito. Item dici po-
terit bastardus ab alio quam a patre progenitus, ubi non sit verisimile aliqua
ratione quod possit esse heeres mariti ut si pater abfuerit per longum tempus
in terra sancta, quod veritas vincere possit prasumptionem. Sed aliud et
si vir in patria vel extra patriam prope quod accessum habere possit ad uxo-
rem ocenlte, et maxime si maritus eum deadvocaverit omnino, nisi preesump-
tio faciat contra ipsum quod partus possit esse hares, ut supra, et ibi de hae
materia ubi perpendi poterit quis sit legittimus et quis bastardus. Et scien-
dum quod liberorum quidam possunt esse legitimi et quidam bastardi, et
aliquando omnes legitimi, et aliquando omnes bastardi, vel unus ex pluribus
legitimus et alii omnes bastardi et e contrario, ut supra perpendi poterit de
qualitate haredum. Item notandum quod cum quis partum suppositum
semel advocaverit non poterit illum ulterius readvocare si hoe probari pote-
1it, et erit talis filius et hares de quocunque autecessore tenuerit."— Bracton,
lib. v. ¢. 19. pp. 417", 418.

I« Si antem cum diu simul non cohabitaverint per biennium vel ultra,
sive vir generare possit sive non, et uxor concipere vel non, si uxor ab alio
conciperet, vel partum supposuerit, ita quod vehementer prasumi possit,
propter temporis intervallum et distantiam locorum quod vir talem partum
non genuerit, sive talem partum advocaverit sive non, nunquam efficietur
partus legitimus. Et licet prasumatur quod legitimus sit eo quod nascitur
ex uxore, tamen non erit standum tali presumptioni nec erit necesse probare
contrarium, cum ipsa veritas si de ea constiterit quod simul non cobabitave-
runt, doceat eontravium,”— Bracton, lib. ii. ¢. 32, p. 70 and p. 70,

Bracton.
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tuted', which is fully described by Bracton and other
writers.  Every thing connected with the pregnancy
was an object of investigation ; and the process under
the writ has been adduced to prove the admissibility
of circumstantial evidence to controvert the presump-
tion of legitimacy®. But it is submitted, that such an
inference 1g not well founded ; for there is a material
distinction between children born during the lifetime of
the husband, or in the words of the Year Books, ¢ deinz
les espousaills,” and those born after the husband’s
death. The legal doubt which authorizes the writ ¢ de
ventre inspiciendo” is not whether the husband begot
the child with which the widow pretends to be large,
because if she were really pregnant, the paternity would
be presumed until the child was born; and it was ex-
pressly stated by the Chief Justice of the King’s Bench
as early as the 41st Edw. IIL. on an application for an
1ssue to try whether a widow “ was with child by her
husband on the day he died,” that “ you cannot have an
1issue which might bastardize the infant;” and the issue
was to ascertain the fact of her being with child or not
at the time of her husband’s death®. The object of the
writ “de ventre inspiciendo,” in the contemplation of
the law, is therefore to ascertain whether the child was
begotten m wedlock, a point of general, rather than of
special bastardy.

It consequently appears that the legitimacy of a child
could not be tried until after its birth ; and if the period
of gestation exceeded the time allowed by law for the
birth of a posthumous child, the excess rebutted the pre-
sumption of legitimacy. An inquiry into the facts spe-
cified in the writ * de ventre inspiciendo” in case the

! The earliest record of that writ is in the 4th Hen. IIT., and the terms
of it agree exactly with those in subsequent writs of that nature.— Vide
Rotuli Literarum Clausurnm, lately edited by T. D. Hardy, esq., vol. L. p.
434,

? Le Marchant, p. xI * Y. B. 41 Edw. IIL, 11.  Vide postea.
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jury found that the widow was pmglmr}t, ““de tempore Bracton.
conceptus, quoquo modo, quando, et ubi, et quando cre-
diderit se esse parituram,” was therefore not at variance
with the maxim “ pater est quem nuptie demonstrant,”
or with the rule that the legitimacy of a child born in
marriage cannot be disputed, except upon allegation of
the impotency, or absence from the realm of the hus-
band, because the nuptials did not exist at the time of
the investigation, and the child would not be born during
the coverture. Those principles of law are therefore
consistent with an inquiry into the paternity of a post-
humous child, more especially if the period of gestation
was of such length as to raise a presumption against
its having been begotten by the deceased husband ; for
the legal presumption of legitimacy would, under such
circumstances, be rebutted by the legal presumption of
illegitimacy.

It was probably always open to those who impeached
the legitimacy of a posthumous child to adduce evidence
of the permanent or temporary impotency of the hus-
band, or of his absence from the realm at the time of its
conception, because such evidence was admissible in
every other case. In addition to what Bracton says on
the subject, when treating of the writ ¢ de ventre inspi-
ciendo,” and the process under it, he observes that if
a wife falsely pretends to have been pregnant during
her husband’s lifetime, or after his death, and if they
have maintained the supposititions or bastard child as
their son and heir, they may be summoned by the true
heir to appear before the court, and to produce the said
child ; when, if either the pretended father or mother
acknowledge him as their son, and if the legal presump-
tion in favour of the assertion be such as does not admit
of proof to the contrary, he shall be considered legiti-
mate. The presumption in favour of the child’s legi-

c
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timacy s described to be, capability of conception on the
part of the wife, (although the infant may have been be-
gotten by another than the husband, or is altogether a
supposititious child,) living with her husband, and the
husband not being impotent. It was nevertheless open
to the true heir to controvert any of the facts on which
the presumption rested, notwithstanding the admission
of legitimacy by the parents'; thus proving that the re-
cognition of a supposititious child as the legitimate
offspring of the marriage, by the pretended parents or
parent, was not sufficient to establish itz legitimacy, if
it could be proved that the husband was incapable of
begetting, or that the wife was unable to bear a child, or
that they did not cohabit at the time when it was born ;
to which facts the evidence against the recognition was
strictly confined.

The next treatise on the Law in point of time, after
Bracton, is the work entitled ¢ Fleta,” which is con-
sidered to be merely an abridgment of Bracton. There

' % Dictum est supri de uxore qua: falso se facit preegnantem in vita viri
sui vel post mortem cum non esset; nunc autem dicendum est si vir vel
uxor nutrierit aliquem ut filium et heredem, qui nec est filius nec hares, ad
exharedationem veri haredis, sive partus sit suppositus, sine ab alio con-
ceptus, et ad quarelam veri haredis summoneantur, qudd sint coram Justic’
per tale breve. Rex Vie' salutem precipimus tibi, quod habea scoram Justic’
nostris, &e. corpus 4. & B. uxoris sue, vel corpus alterius ipsorum, ad respon-
dendum C., filio vel nepoti vel alteri haredi ipsius 4. qui se gerit pro herede
ipsius A. quare nutriri faciunt D, sicut fillum et hweredem ipsius 4. ad ex-
heredationem ipsius C. qui nec est filius nec heeres ipsius 4. nec esse potest,
ut idem C. dicit. Et habeas ibi hoe breve Teste, &c. Et in quo casu, clim
comparuerit pater vel mater, vel eorum alter, et talem nutritum produxerint,
tunc s talem nutnitum in judicio ad filium et h®redem recognoverint, et
presumplio sit pro ¢is qua non admittit probationem in contrarium, ut si
nascatur de uxore, qua concipere potest, licet ab alio quiim a viro suo con-
cipiatur, vel si forté supponatur, cum simul cohabitaverint, nec sit impedi-
mentum ex parte viri quin generare possit nec est impedimentum ex parte
matris, quin concipere possit propter sterilitatem et senectutem, talis filius et
partus erit legitimus. Si autem verus heres docere possit contrarium aliud
erit, licet parentes aliud in jure confessi sunt, dum tamen hoc probetur.
Debet enim confessio facta in jure, nature et veritati convenire.” —Bracton,
lib. ii. ¢, 32. p. TO .
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are no material variations between the two treatises re-
specting Adulterine Bastardy, and the statements on the
subject are very nearly in the same words.

Those works were followed by the treatise of Britton,
which is supposed to have been compiled in the reign
of King Henry the Third ; but unlike Bracton and the
“ Fleta,” he has only alluded to Bastardy in connexion
with real property, in the chapter “ on Wards,” and in
reference to posthumous children. “ It sometimes, hap-
pens,” he says, “ that women after the death of their
husbands pretend to be pregnant by their husbands
when they are not so, to the great injury of heirs, in
which case we will that a remedy be ordained ;” and he
proceeds to describe the writ “ de ventre inspiciendo,”
and the process thereon. That writ was to issue only
in cases of suspicion, and the woman was to appear be-
fore the sheriff and coroners of the county, and if she
said she was pregnant by her deceased husband, a jury
of matrons was to be impanelled to inquire into all the
facts of the case. If the jury found that she was preg-
nant, or if they were doubtful on the point, she was to
be placed in one of the King’s castles or elsewhere in
safe custody, so that no woman or other person, who
might be suspected of acting falsely, should approach
her ; and no woman was permitted to visit her until after
ghe was delivered, unless she was related to the plaintiff,
a caution which arose from the apprehension of a suppo-
gititious child being introduced. If, at the expiration of
forty weeks after her husband’s death, she was not de-
livered, or if she proved not to be pregnant, she was
punishable with fine and imprisonment for having un-
justly kept the next heir out of the inheritance, to which
the chief lord of the fee was immediately to admit him.
But the legitimacy of a child born within the forty weeks
might nevertheless be impeached by the next heir, if he
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could aver that it was not begotten by the husband ; or
that the hushand was beheaded?, or that he was impri-
soned for two years, or was in another realm for four
years before and after the birth of the infant, without
having had access to his wife; or if non-access could be
inferred from some other apparent and notorious pre-

sumption, “ in all which cases we will never that theright
2 1

heirs shall be disinherited by the adultery of the wife®,

! Query. The word in the original is * d’cole,” which has been extended
to decole. It could scarcely be supposed that a woman would pretend that
a man who was executed two years before the birth of the child was its
father ; and if the mere death of the husband was intended, it was unne-
cessary to say that he was beheaded., In the Harleian MS. 493, the word
is written ** descoylle,”

? In this, and the other, extracts from Britton, Wingate's edition is followed,
except in the words in italics, which are inserted from an early, and valuable
copy, in the Harleian MS. 493, because the latter are evidently the true
readings :—Aseunes foitz avient que femmes epres la mort lour barons se
feynent estre enceyntes de lour barons que ne sount mye, a grefs damages
des heires: en quel cas nous volons que tiel remedy soit ordine, que come
ascune de tele deceyte se pleyndra, volons que il eyt de nous breve al vis-
conte del lien, que il face sauns delay vener devaunt Juy et devaunt les
coroners en pleyn counte la femme de qui le pleynte est faite : et soit enquys
de luy si ele soit enceynte, et de qui, et si ele die de son baron que morust,
tantost face le visconte vener sages femmes et leales jesques a vj au meyns,
et les face jurer sur sayntz de leaument faire et verreyment presenter en les
articles dount eles serront charges depar nous.  Et puis soient charges que
eux sur lour serment enquergent de la femme que se fait enceynte par tast de
son ventre et de ses mameles, et en toutes autres maneres dont eles pour-
rount estre certefies lequel ele est enceinte ou non. Et puis la preignent pri-
vement en une meson et enquergent la verite. Et si les femmes dient que
ele est enceynte ou soyent de ceo en doutaunce lequel ele soit ou non,
adonques volons que le visconte face tele femme mettre en notre chastel ou
aillours en sauve garde, issi que nul femme ne autre, de qui suspicion
puisse estre de fausine faire, ne luy aproche, et illonques demurge a ses pro-
pre custages jesques al houre qu'el doit enfaunter, issint que nul femme
ne viegne a ele en le méen temps, forsque del linage le plaintiff.  Et si ele
ne eyt enfaunt dedens les x| semaynes apres la mort sa baron, ou si ele
ne soit trove enceinte, si soit ele punie par prison et par fyn, et les chiefs seig-
niours des fees fauntost preignent les homages des heires saunz plus long
delay faire. FEt si ele eyt un enfaunt dedens les x1 semaynes, adonques soit
cel enfant receu al heritage, si autre heir ne pusse averrer cel enfaunt estre
engendre de autre que del baron, ou siil pusse averrer que le baron fut
(" cole [descoylle] ou enprisone par deux ans ou par trois en une autre realme,
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The facts stated by Britton as being sufficient to esta-
blish the illegitimacy of a posthumous child are the same
as those mentioned by Bracton, namely, non-access for
0 long a period of time before the birth of the child as to
render it absolutely impossible for the husband to have
begotten it; imprisonment for two years ; absence from
the realm for four years before and after the birth ; and
any other notorious fact, from which that impossibility
could be mferred; and as Britton does not expressly
mention impotency, it is probable that physical incapa-
city was meant, even if it was not exclusively intended
by the expression, ¢ autre apparaunte presumpcion com-
munement tesmoyne de toutz gentz.”

After alluding to children born before and after ma-
trimony, and also to those born of an unlawful marriage,
Britton says, “ If any heir be begotten by another than
the husband of the mother, in such time that it can be
presumed that the husband might have begotten it
in matrimony, in such case we will never that, from
the adultery of the mother, the inheritance shall be bar-
red from the child; and also if a child begotten by
another, and supposed to be the 1ssue of the husband, the
which child the husband shall have nourished and ac-
knowledged for his heir, we will that those children be
admissible to the inheritance, if the presumption be that
the husband of the mother might have begotten it. But if
the husbands of such women as nourigh children for heirs,
who have been so begotten, the which husbands having
been prevented by evident illness, or by distance of time
and place, if open presumption and common fame, as is
above said, make against the husbands, that they could
not have begotten such children, notwithstanding the

avant que cel enfaunt fuit née et apres, sauns approcher la femme, ou par autre
apparaunte presumpcion communement tesmoyne de toutz gentz; en toutz
ceux cas nous ne volons mye que les droitz heires soient desherites par less
putages de femme.— Britton, cap. 66, pp. 166, 167,

c 3
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husbands be willing to nourish them in their houses, and
to acknowledge them for their heirs, nevertheless such
children shall never be admissible to the inheritance;
nor those also whom husbands find in their houses and
repudiate as their issue ; and therefore we will that each
shall, in such cases, publicly disavow them, and cause
such supposititious children to be removed as soon as
they are aware of the fact; for he that acknowledges
a child for his heir (provided it can be proved by wit-
nesses), can never afterwards disavow him'.” Britton
then describes the process and writ which were open to
persons who were aggrieved by the introduction of sup-
posititious heirs, to the same effect as Bracton.

The above passages were taken by Britten from
Bracton, and prove that in their opinions nothing could
debar a child from the inheritance of the husband, if he

V #« Lt si ascun heire soit engendre de autre que del baron sa mere, en
temps nomement que presumpeion poit faire pur le baron que il le poet aver
engendre en matrimoigne, en tiel cas ne volons mye que par putage de la
mere heritage soit barre al enfaunt, et ausi de enfaunt engendre de autry,
et est suppose pur le engendrure le baron, le quel enfaunt le baron avera nurry
et avowe pur son heire, volons que ceux enfauntz soient receyvables al heritage,
si presumpeion face que le baron la mere les poit av’ engendre. DMes si les
barons de teles femmes qe nonssent enfauntz pour heires que ount este issi
engendres lesqueles barons eyent est desturbes par aperte maladie, ou par
distance del leu et de temps, si que aperte presumpcion et commune fame
come avant est dit face encontre tielx barons que ilz ne poient mye ceux
enfauntz engendre, tout voillent tielx barons tielx enfauntz norir en lour
mesons et avower pur lour, pur ce nequedent ne soient mye tielx enfauntz
receyvables al heritage. Ne ausi ceux que les barons troverount en lour
hostels et desavowes pur lour engendrure. Et pur ceo volons nous que
chescun en tiel cas apertement desavowe, et face remuer tele engendrure sup-
pose estre sue, sitost come il le savera. Cas puis que il lavera avowe pur sue
et ceo soit tesmoyne par visne, il ne le powrra jammes desavower. Et si
pleynte nous veigne de ascun droit heire de tel enfaunt suppose nurry et avowe
pur droit heire par ascun baron et sa femme en disheretison del droit heire
tauntost maunderons al visconte del lieu a lasuyte de pleyntyfe, que il eyt le
cors de ticl baron et de tele sa femme, et de tel enfaunt que ils norissent, par
devaunt nos justices a certeyn jour et liew, a respondra a tel pleyntyfe qui se
dist estre heir mesme cely baren pur quoy il norissent en disheritison de luy
lavauntdit enfaunt, et avowent pur lour engendrure, que nest mye,”— Britton,
cap, 66, pp. 166 ", 167,
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were born during the coverture, and at a time when the
husband could be supposed to have begotten it. The
paragraph which follows that statement in Britton is
not very clear, because it would seem so far to qualify
what precedes it, as to render the legitimacy of a child,
begotten under such circumstances by an adulterer, de-
pendent upon the husband’s recognition of it as his child.
But the same contradiction is to be found in Bracton?,
in whose treatise the ungualified assertion occeurs where
he treats of supposititious births and the writ ““ de ventre
inspiciendo,” and the gualified statement, which renders
the recognition of the husband necessary, in the part
where he speaks of children made legitimate by adop-
tion, whereas Britton has introduced the two statements
together in the same sentence. It may however be in-
ferred from those writers, that under no circumstances
would the husband’s recognition of a supposititious child
as his heir avail, if there was strong presumption, arising
from his absence or impotency, that he was not its
father.

The text of Britton is in many places obscure, nor do
the various readings from MSS, given at the end of the
volume?, always remove the difficulties. It has been
observed that “ the partiality for the Civil and Canon
Laws, which is so obvious in every page of the writings
of Bracton and Fleta, 1s less characteristic of Britton,
who departing with greater boldness from these favourite
guides, directed his attention more exclusively to the
Common Law *;” but it will be seen from the preceding
extracts, that Britton’s statements respecting the law
of Adulterine Bastardy are little more than literal
translations of those of DBracton.

! Vide Bracton, pp. 63 & 70, and p. 12, antea.
? Wingate's Edition, 12mo. 1640,
3 Le Marchant's Report of the Gardner Case, p. xIm.
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The law on Adulterine Bastardy, as well as every
other part of the system of English jurisprudence, is
however best ascertained and elucidated by the reports
of decided cases.

For two centuries the Year Books present almost the
only information on the subject; and no other deduction
can be drawn from the cases reported in them, than
that the legitimacy of a child born during coverture,
whilst the husband was in a situation, both physically
and morally, to have access to his wife, could not
be mmpeached by any circumstance whatever. Indeed
the cases in the Year Books, as well as in all the Reports
until the commencement of the eighteenth century, prove
that the presumption in favour of the legitimaey of the
offspring of a married woman gradually increased in
strength; and the most distinguished lawyers appear
to have considered it as the soundest wisdom rather
to straiten than relax the principle which threw the
responsibility of paternity upon the husband.

Although the maxim of the Civil Law that “ pater
est quem nuptie demonstrant” was early adopted by the
Common Law, the latter admitted of certain exceptions ;
and it therefore became necessary to define under what
circumstances, and in what manner, that presumption
could be rebutted. It has been shown that Bracton and
Britton state several grounds upon which the legitimacy
of a child born in wedlock might be disputed ; but they
do not mention the generic appellation which the Year
Books give to a class of children, who though legitimate
and inheritable, were not begotten by the husband on
their mothers; and it is singular that this distinction
should have been so little attended to in modern cases
as almost to have fallen into desuetude. Nor has suffi-
cient notice been taken of the fact, which explains many

apparent contradictions, that a man might in England
5
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be legitimate according to one law, and illegitimate by
another.

The distinction ! between a de jure, and a de facto,
filiation was marked by a specific legal title. A child
born of a married woman whose legal status was at vari-
ance with his actual paternity was designated “ mulier;”
but he enjoyed all the municipal rights of legitimacy. By
the Spiritual Law a child born in adultery was a bastard ;
but by the Common Law he was mulier, unless the hus-
band was mmpotent, was separated from his wife by
sentence of divorce, or was beyond the sea when the
child was begotten ; and ¢ converso. On the other hand,
a child whose parents married after its birth was mulier
by the Ecclesiastical, and a bastard by the Common
Law. It seems therefore indisputable, that the Common
Law always contemplated the possibility of a child being
the heir of his father, though it might owe its existence
to an adulterer ; and the Law did so on account of the
difficulty of ascertaining the real paternity, in cases where
another man than the husband had sexual intercourse
with a married woman, and to prevent the indecency
which would attend such investigations. To use the
language of a Judge in the fifteenth century, “ God
alone knew in these cases by whom the woman con-
ceived?;” and to avoid litigation and uncertainty the law
fixed the paternity upon the husband. The apparent
anomaly of such a principle will disappear when it is
remembered that legitimacy itself is, as Lord Erskine
observed, a mere creature of the law; that though so
closely associated with the best feelings and usages of
society, as to be scarcely separable in idea from the cor-
poreal functions of procreation by the husband, legiti-
macy may, nevertheless, be produced in other ways; as
in the instance in question, by inference and presump-

I The authorities for the statements in the text will be found in the review
of cases mentioned in the Year Books, &e, postea,
? Y.B. 1 Hen. VI. 3. Vide postea.

Britton.
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tion, because such inference and presumption are con-
ducive to the general interests; or, by an Act of the
Legislature ; or, in other countries, by the will of the
Sovereign. Moral justice certainly renders it desirable
that none but the real issue of the body of a man,
begotten upon his wife, shall inherit his rank and
lands ; but society merely requires that property shall
have an owner, and the bastard or supposititious child
may be as competent to hold, and to perform all the
duties annexed to it, as the true heir. Marriage, the only
source of legitimacy, was instituted for the universal
advantage of mankind; and there is no greater moral
injustice in making marriage, in some instances, sanction
the admission of a bastard to legal rights, than thereis in
entirely preventing the actual issue of a man’s body from
succeeding to his property, because the child was not
born within its pale. In both cases it is a question of
comparative good ; and no rational doubt can exist of
the wisdom and utility of attaching to marriage that re-
sponsibility, and that legal presumption of legitimacy
which it has so long possessed. Strong however as this
presumption has always been, the English law has
permitted it to be rebutted upon unequivocal proof that
the husband was not the father of his wife’s chuld ; but
it 15 obvious that a fact of so delicate a nature, and
which might be asserted from malice, ought to be proved
by irresistible evidence, and to be rendered as nearly as
possible matter of demonstration.

He who was born in wedlock, that is, of a married
woman, during the lifetime of her husband, was primq
facie legitimate; and lis status could only be im-
peached by an allegation of special bastardy, or as it was
technically termed, “ special matter.” Cases of general
bastardy which depended only upon the fact or legality
of the marriage of the parents, were, as has been already
observed, tried before the Bishop of the diocese ; because
the Ecclesiastical Court was the fittest tribunal to deter-
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mine matters relating to the canon law; but special bas-
tardy which depended upon matters of fact unconnected
with the existence or validity of the marriage, were pro-
perly reserved to the Courts of Common Law, to be tried
by a Jury?.

1 2 Inst, 99, The following cases, in Ridley’s * View of the Civil
and Ecclesiastical Law,” support the opinion, that in the twelfth century
the Ecclesiastical Courts took cognizance of all cases of bastardy, and that
the temporal Judges did not proceed to judgment in the principal cause until
the incidents were decided by the Ordinary.

“ R. H, had issue, J. H., who had a son, C, H, J, H. deceasing before
R. H. his father, C. H. succeeded in his grandfather’s inheritance, the latter
being dead ; but M, H. brother of the said grandfather, pretending that the
said J. H. was a bastard, draweth the said C. H. into the temporal Court
upon the inheritance: whereupon C. H. called the said M. H. into the
Bishop of Norwich his Court for the trial of his nativity : the DBishop pro-
tracting the cause, C. H. appealed to the Pope, who delegated the same to
the Bishop of Exeter and Abbot of Hereford, with order that if the said
M. H. should not within two months prove that which he objected against
C. H. they should intimate the same to the secular Judge that he should not
stay any longer upon the question of legitimation, but proceed to judgment
in the cause of the inheritance.” pp. 251-2,

In the reign of Henry the Second, one Ralph kept Analine, the wife of
Allen. During her husband’s lifetime she had a daughter, Agatha, who
was the mother of Richard. Ralph going beyond sea, left Richard and his
mother Agatha in possession of his lands, but, information being received of
his death, Francis, the brother of Ralph, seized the lands, pretending that
Agatha, his niece and mother of Richard, was not born of lawful matris
mony. “ Richard obtained letters of restitution, whereby the Bishop of Lon-
don and others were directed to restore the lands to the said Richard
previously to inquiring into the legitimacy of Agatha. The reseript as to the
restitution was however recalled by the Pope, and the Bishop of London
and others were directed to inquire whether the said Agatha were born of
the said Analine in the lifetime of her husband Allen, and when she dwelt
and cohabited with him as with .her husband: or whether the said Ralph,
father of the said Agatha, kept the said Aneline openly and publickly while
the said Allen yet lived; and if they found it to be so, then they should
pronounce her, the said Agatha, to be a bastard, for that Analine her mother
could not be accounted a wife, but a whore, which defiling her husband’s
bed, presumed to keep company with another, her husband yet being alive :
but if they found it otherwise they should pronounce her the said Agatha
to be legitimate.”

It is scarcely necessary to observe that these proceedings were founded
upon the Civil Law.

Britton.
|
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Special Bastardy arose from,

I. The Impotency of the husband ; and if he were
within the age of fourteen, his corporeal incapacity was
inferred.

II. His being separated from his wife by sentence of
divorce ; for separation without such sentence was
insufficient,

I11. His being “ extra quatuor maria';”’ that is, absent
from the King of England’s dominions when the child
was conceived ; and according to some authonities, it
was necessary that he should be absent from the realm
during the whole period of gestation from the time of
the conception of the child, until after its birth.

I. Few allusions to Impotency occur in the Year
Books ; and the most remarkable of the early cases on
the subject are those of Bury, and Done and Egerton.
In the case of Bury?, it was decided that a man who had
been divorced on the grounds of impotenecy, and who
had married a second wife, which wife had issue, was
the father of the child, because a man might be impotent
at one time and capable at another; a decision which
shows the anxiety of Courts of Law to avail themselves
of every possible pretence to support the legitimacy of
children born in wedlock. Of the second case, Done
and Egerton versus Hinton and Starkey, no other report
has been found than the notes of it in Rolle’s Abridg-
ment®, It was then held that the children of the wife
of a castrated person were bastards; but an eminent
Judge, Sir Henry Hobart, who was afterwards Chief
Justice of the Common Pleas, was of a contrary opinion.

' * Infra Quatuor Maria means within the Kingdom of England, and the
dominions of the same Kingdom.” 1 Inst. 107. a,

* 5 Co. 98, See also Morris v. Webber, Mo. 227, and postea.

3 1. 358,
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In the case of Thecar', in the time of Charles the First,
a posthumous child was, under other very suspicious cir-
cumstances, adjudged to have been begotten by the de-
ceased husband, notwithstanding proof was offered of
his physical incapacity for six months before his death ;
that the infant was born within seven months after that
event ; and that the widow married another man six days
after her husband died. These cases will be more fully
stated in their proper order.

II. The second kind of evidence of non-access, namely,
separation from the wife by sentence of divorce, is a
matter of fact capable of conclusive proof, and requires
no remark. It proceeded on the presumption that such
a sentence would be obeyed®; and it was incumbent upon
the party who contended that access did nevertheless
take place, to prove the allegation.

III. The third class of evidence of Special Bastardy is
that the husband had not access to his wife. When
Bracton and Britton wrote, the strongest proof was ne-
cessary to show that the husband was absent from his
wife at the moment of her conception ; and though they
did not consider it requisite that the husband should be
out of the kingdom, they nevertheless held it necessary
that the parties should be separated by considerable dis-
tance of space, and for a long interval of time. Neither
of these points is clearly defined ; but absence from the
county, if not realm, for one, if not two years at the least
before the birth is said by those authorities to be indis-
pensable to bastardize a child born i wedlock. The
Common Law adopted a similar period; but fixed the

g‘eugraphicnl limits to absence from the Realm of

England, or as it was termed “ extra quatuor maria,”
a line of demarcation which admitted of no dispute.

! Littleton, 177 ; Cro. Jac. 683.
? Vide case of St. George and St. Margaret, 1 Salkeld, 123, and postea.

Britton.
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Except upon one of these grounds, the legitimacy of
a child born during coverture could not be impeached :
and although it was once or twice said that elopement
from the husband, her living with the adulterer, and the
child being begotten by him, would render it illegiti-
mate as well by the Common, as by the Ecclesiastical
Law', a contemporary commentator denied that such
was the law of England, if the husband were within the
realm; and it will be seen that the contrary dictum just
alluded to, was swept away in the uninterrupted current
of authorities and decisions from that time until the com-
mencement of the last century.

The earliest case of legitimacy which is reported is
that of Foxcroft, in the 10th Edw. 1.?, the facts of which
were simply these: A man being ill in bed was married to
a woman, by the Bishop of London, privately, in no
church or chapel, and without the celebration of mass,
the woman being then pregnant by the said man.
Within twelve weeks after the marriage she was deliv-
ered of a son, who was adjudged a bastard ; and the
land escheated to the lord in consequence of the man’s
death without issue. That case has been cited by the
highest judicial authorities, including Lords Eldon,
Ellenborough and Redesdale, and by several writers, to
prove that the legal presumption of legitimacy might
always be rebutted by evidence that the husband was
not the father of his wife’s child, notwithstanding it
was not proved that he was impotent, or absent from
the realm, at the moment of its conception. As Foa-
eroft’s case has produced much discussion?, it was ne-
cessary for the purpose of this inquiry to investigate it

1 Y. B.7 Hen.IV.

2 Foxcroft’s case, Rolle's Abridgment, I. 359, Tide Arrexpix (A.)

¥ See 8 East, 193, in the King v. Luffe; Starkie on Evidence, 1L, 137 ;
Mr. Le Marchant's valuable work on the Claim to the Barony of Gardner;
and Edinburgh Review, No. 97, p. 204,
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with great attention. All the facts respecting it will be Case of

found in the Appendix, where it is shewn that the case fﬁﬁ“ffz
was misunderstood by the Judges and writers alluded Efiv_._:
to: for the point did not, as has been supposed, turn

upon the husband’s having begotten, or not having be-

gotten the child; but solely upon the invalidity of the
marriage of the parents; and both Bracton and Brit-

ton ' state that a marriage under the circumstances there
mentioned, though valid by the Spiritual Law, would

not render the issue legitimate by the Common Law.

As Foxcroft’s case has been hitherto understood, it is
contradictory to every judgment on record for four cen-

turies ; but when properly considered, and compared

with the case of Del Heith, a few years afterwards,

which has hitherto escaped attention, it will appear con-

sistent with all the decisions during that long period.

The case of Del Heith occurred in Easter Term, 34 Case of

Edw. I. John Del Heith, brother of Peter Del Heith, Eflj-;[iliﬂt

held lands in Bishopsthorpe, near Norwich, and kept a o L
woman, named Katharine, in concubinage, by whom he
had two children, Edmund and Beatrice. Being taken
ill, he was advised by the wvicar of Plumstead, for the
good of his soul, to marry her. As he was unable to go
to church, the ceremony was performed in his own house
by the Vicar, when the said John Del Heith pronounced
the usual words, and placed a ring upon her finger ;
but no mass was celebrated. From that time the parties
lived together as man and wife, and had another son,
called William. On the death of John Del Heith, his
brother Peter entered his lands, as his next heir; but a
writ of ejectment was brought by the said William, as
son and heir of the deceased. It wasasked on the trial,
whether any espousals were celebrated between his pa-

! Bracton, lib. ii. ¢. 39; Britton, c. 100, 101 ; 1 Inst. 34. 2. See Ar.
PENDIX.,
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rents, in the face of the church, after his father reco-
vered from his illness ? and because it was not proved
that John Del Heith was ever married to Katherine, in
the face of the church, the Jury found that the plaintiff
had no right to the lands; thus proving that he was
illegitimate".

In the 18th Edw. I. the remarkable case of Radwell
occurred, in which the legitimacy of a posthumous child
was questioned, It appears that the mother of the in-
fant had not only declared in the Manor Court that she
was not pregnant, but had confirmed her statement by
a gratuitous and indecent exposure of her person®. A
child being however afterwards born, an issue was grant-
ed to try its legitimacy, and the Jury found that it was
born eleven days after the lawful time allowed by the
custom of England for parturition, and could not there-
fore be held to be the son of the deceased husband, “ ac-
cording to the settled law and custom of England ;”* but
if the widow had married another man within those
eleven days the child would, it is said, have belonged to
the second husband. The child was however declared
a bastard, because he was born out of wedlock ; and
the presumption against his legitimacy was strengthened
by its being proved, that the husband had not had
access to his wife for one month before his death?,

It has been said * that Radwell’s case establishes the

I Termino Pascha, 34 Edw. I, Rot. 203, f. 244, Norf. From the Harleian
MS. 2117, f. 339. Vide Arrenpix (A.)

? ¢ Et predicta Beatrix presens in Curia queesita an esset pregnans necne,
juramento asserebat se non esse pregonantem, et ut hoe omnibus manifeste
liqueret, vestas suas usque ad tunicam exuebat, et in plena curia sic se
videri permisit, et dicunt quod per aspectum corporis non apparebat esse
tunc pregnans,”

¥ Radwell’s case, in Rolle’s Abridgment, p. 356. Vide also Placitorum
in Dome Capitulari Abbreviatio, p. 221, 1st Inst. 123 P, and Lord Hale's
note of the case in Hargrave's edition of that work. And see the Avrexprx,

i By Lord Redesdale, on the claim to the Earldom of H.’u]bur}r. Vide
postea,
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right of a Jury to inquire into facts unconnected with
the residence of the husband “ inter quatuor maria ”
during the period of gestation ; and that it affords a
strong presumption against Lord Coke’s doctrine, that,
under such eircumstances, no evidence is to be received
to prove the child a bastard ;" but it is obvious that the
rule does not apply to this case, because the child was
not born during the coverture. Moreover, some very
strong and peculiar facts tended to rebut the presump-
tion of legitimacy. The widow had voluntarily declared
that she was not with child at the time of her husband’s
death ; and, principally upon that declaration, the brother
of the deceased was admitted to the succession, and had
enjoyed it for upwards of a year: the child was not born
within the proper period of time; and above all, it was
proved that the husband was incapable of the functions
of generation for upwards of a month before his death.
Thus, the case was one of general bastardy; the child not
having been either begotten or born within espousals ;
and it also came within the principal cause of special
bastardy, namely, the impotency of the husband at the
time when he might otherwise have been its father.

The prejudice which prevailed in the following reign in
favour of the legitimacy of children born in marriage, is
shewn by the emphatic declaration of Sir William Bere-
ford, Chief Justice of the Common Pleas, in a case in the
5th Edw. 11., but the facts of which do not throw much
light on the subject :—¢ Whose son soever he might be,
throughoutallthe world,if he was born within the espousals
between Thomas and Joan, he shall be held to be the son
of Thomas'. Nine years afterwards, in the 13th Edw. 11,

'Y. B. 5 Edw. IL p. 171. * Qui fitz q’il fuist, par tout le monde, s'il
nasquist deinz les espousaill entre T et J. il serroit tenuz le filz T."" A short
time before a case occurred in which the question was, whether a suit of
bastardy, depending upon the fact of birth before or after espousals, should
be tried in the King's Court, or in the Court Christian.  Ihid.
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on a case being brought before the same Court, in which
an assize of novel disseisin had stated, that the defendant
was born and begotten within the espousals between
one Thomas and J. his wife, but that he was not the
son of Thomas', and had never been considered by him
as his son, Chief Justice Bereford observed, “ You
cannot know that; and as you say that he was born
within the marriage, you prove him to be his son, after
which you cannot make him the son of another.” On
being told that the husband was in Ireland when the
child was begotten, Bereford said, ¢ that does not prove
that he could not be his son ; the assize has said that he
was born and begotten of the marriage, and whatever
he may say besides, we hold for nothing.” The plain-
tiffs were consequently non-suited .?

The next case occurred in the 21st Edw. III.; and
the arguments of Counsel, as well as the remark of the
Judge, support the cpinion that the legitimacy of a child
born in wedlock could not be disputed, except_for
“ gpecial matter.” In a writ of cousinage, in which the
question appears to have been, whether a person was
born of the marriage between one Ralph and Margaret his
wife, and in which several points of pleading were dis-
cussed, it was said by Sergeant Skipwith that the other
party did not admit that the said Ralph and Margaret
were married when the child was begotten, for in that
case it would have been impossible to prove that he was
the son of any other person than of the husband of the
woman, at the time of his birth ; on which Justice Thorpe
remarked, © It was not always inconvenient that a man

! L’assise dit qu'il fuit nee et engendre deins les esposailles entre T, et
J. sa feme, mes il ne fuit pas le fils Thom. ne luy tient unques pur son fils.”

* Y. B. 13 Edw. IL., Hil. Term, p. 402. Several other cases occurred in
this reign, especially 2 Edw. 1L, 21; 12 Fdw.IL, p. 875; 17 Edw. II,,
p- 924 ; but they contain nothing which is material to this inquiry, as they

relate principally to the court in which questions of bastardy should be tried,
or to the pleadings.
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should be adjudged the son of another than of him, who
was married to his mother at the time of his birth ; for
suppose a man married and died, leaving his wife prive-
mentenceinte, and she married again within fifteen days or
a month, or within such time that it was impossible that
the child could have been begotten by the second hus-
band, I say, in that case the child shall be adjudged
heir to the first husband, notwithstanding it was born
during the espousals between the wife and the second hus-
band.” Justice Willoughby said, “that he had once heard
of a case of that kind, in which Chief Justice Bereford
ruled, that the child might choose which husband he
pleased for his father'; but that in the case before the
Court they could not aver that the plaintiff was not the
son of the said Ralph, because they did not deny that
he was born and begotten of Margaret, during the es-
pousals between them ; but if Ralph was the son of John
they might so describe him, and say that he was born
out of wedlock, which averment would be good, and
otherwise not.”” After a long discussion the matter was
referred to a jury?, but the result is not stated.
Theearliest occasion on whichaJudge admitted the pos-
sibility of bastardizing a child born during the coverture
of its mother, except for the special matter before stated
was at the assizes at Salisbury, in the autumn of the
33rd Edw. I1I. It was averred that one Adam Suel mar-
ried Alice, and had issue two sons, Joyee and John, who
were begotten and born within espousals, and that the
said Alice and Adam had lived as man and wife all
their lives, and that on the death of Adam, Joyce entered

! Upon this observation the following remark is made in Brooke's Abridg-
ment, * Quod non est lex ut videtur.” In Thecar’scase, 4 Car, L., (vide postea),
it was contended that, whatever might be the decision as to which of two
husbands a child should be adjudged, vet if he were born in wedlock he
could not possibly be a bastard.

* Y. B. 21 Edw, III,, pl, 30, p. 89.
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as his son and heir, and dying without issue, was suc-
ceeded in the lands by John, his brother and heir; but
it was stated by the other side that the said John, through
whom the plaintiff claimed, was a bastard ; to which it
was answered that it could not be alleged that John was
a bastard, because it was not pretended that Joyce, his
elder brother, was mulier. But Justice Shardelow, who
tried the cause, said, “ If we could find that Alice sepa-
rated from her husband, and lived with a chaplain or
other person', and that John was begotten by such per-
son and not by Adam, the husband, we should adjudge
him a bastard®” This dictum seems, however, to have
been at variance with the law, as it was then generally
understood, for the following note was added by the
contemporary? reporter of the case. “ In this he spoke
against the law, as [ believe, if the hnsband were within
the realm.” It is remarkable that the Judge did not
allude to the maxim of the four seas; that the commen-
tator confined his statement of the law to the husband’s
being « within the realm ;” and that, comparatively great
as was the latitude which Justice Shardelow allowed to
a jury, he nevertheless insisted upon three most im-
portant points being established, namely, elopement from
the husband, living in adultery, and proof that the child
was begotten by the adulterer.

At the assizes, before Judges Moubray and Chelre, in
the 38th Edw. III., an assize was brought against one
Oliver B. and Alice, who was the wife of J. F., and the
said Oliver claimed the lands in dispute, as son and

1« &'¢loigna de son baron et demourra ove un chapellain, ou autre.”

\ ? Liber Assisarum, 33 Edw. I11., No. 8§, pe 200,

™3 As it was malerial to ascertain whether this comment was made at
the period, or by the editor of the printed copies of the * Liber Assisa-
rum,”’ two contemporary MSS. of that work, in the British Museum, have
been referred to, viz. the Harleian MSS., No. 5281, fo. 35, and No. 6691,

fo. 33, in both of which these words occur, “ Et in hoc dixit contra Legem,
ut credo, si le baron demure deins le realme.”
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heir of his father, who had died seised. To which it was Case, 38

alleged that the said Oliver was a bastard, for though :?;E:HL
he was born during the marriage of his mother, she had = aa
left her husband, and lived away from him for seven
years, within which time one William de Ketre, a priest,
had begotten the said Oliver, and thus he was a bastard.
To this it was averred that he was mulier; and the case
was sent to the Bishop to certify, though it is not stated
that there was any doubt respecting the fact or validity
of the marriage. The Bishop certified that he was a
bastard, and on the indorsement of the writ which was
sent to him was written, “ quod pradicta Alicia divertit se
a viro suo seorsim per vij annos, quo tempore pradictus
Oliverus procreatus fuit de quodam W. K. Clerico, et
sic omnino fuit bastardus.” As the certificate stated
that he was a bastard, and as the indorsement was con-
trary thereto!, the proceedings were removed into the
Common Pleas, and the certificate was afterwards
brought into Parliament?, where it was determined that
it should be tried by the Chanecellor and Bishop of Lon-
don, whether the certificate was good or not; and the
parties were warned to appear with their proofs, and to
have their challenges, that the matter might be conducted
openly, and not in secret. In the meantime the assize
was taken at large by Ingleby, who seems to have been
the plaintift's counsel, which alleged that the plaintiff was
seised and disseised to the loss of 40/, and 15 5., and that
Oliver was begotten by one K., at a time when Alice
was away from her husband forseven years, ¢ et sic non
fuit de sanguine ipsius Johannis, sed bastardus.” The
case appears to have been again brought before Parlia-
ment, when the proceedings taken by Ingleby were set
aside, because the certificate was not discussed ; but

Ve Et pur ceo q' en le certificat fuit expresse ‘ quod fuit bastard,” et 'en-
dorsement, fuit contratriat al ceo.”
1 No notice of this case occurs in the printed Roils of Parliament.
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the certificate was afterwards adjudged to be good;
when Ingleby took it, the writ, and all the other records,
into the Common Pleas. Justice Moubray, on the part
of the Court, in giving judgment, said, ¢ As the Bishop
has certified by his letters patent that Oliver is a bastard,
we can pay no regard to the indorsement on the writ,
nor to the inquest taken as to that point without war-
ranty’.” It was then agreed by the Court that the plain-
tiff should recover seisin with damages.

This case affords little information on the Common
Law respecting Adulterine Bastardy. Although 1t does
not appear for what reason the matter was referred
to the Ecclesiastical Court, it is certain that if it came
before the Ordinary, he would, under such circum-
stances, pronounce the defendant a bastard ; and the
attempt to give the Common Law Courts jurisdiction
having failed, in consequence of the Bishop’s certificate
being held to be good, it was conclusive against the
legitimacy®. It is therefore not surprising, that the
Temporal Courts should be jealous of the authority of
the Spiritual Courts ; or that they should have struggled,
on every possible occasion, to prevent causes of bastardy

V¢ Par ceo q'l est certify par 1'Evesque que Oliver est bastard, par la
patent de I’'Evesque al endorsement del’ b're, nous avomus nul reg ne
al enquest pris, quant a ceo point sans garr.,”” The following remark
on this case occurs in Dyer’s Reports, p. 313: * It appears that
the Bishop made two returns to the writ of bastardy. 'The one by his
letters patent, in which he certified precisely and fully that he was a bas-
tard, and the other was on the dorse of the writ, in which he stated the eir-
cumstanees and the cause, to which the Court paid no attention, for the writ

commanded him to certify, ¢ per literas suas patent et clausas, &c., and
what he returned on the dorse of the writ was surplusage, or nugatory, and
ineffectual.”

? Liber Assisnrum, 38 Edw. IIL, pl. 14, pp. 224, 225.

* Rolle’s Abridgment, 1. 362, * 8i home soit certefie bastard per 1’ Ordi-
naire, il serra lie perpetuallment vers tout le mund pur avoider contrarie cer-
tification, et pur ceo que est le pluis hault tryal de ceo.” Doctor and Student,
68, et continuera de record, 40 Edw. II1., 38 ; 11 Hen. IV., 84. See also
18 Ewd. 111., 34 ; 27 Edw. 111., 32; 7 Co. 43, 44. In cases of bastard
eigne and mulier puisne, vide Rot, Parl, 21 Edw. II1., vol, 11. p. 171,
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being sent to the Ordinary, Nor was it less important,
In many cases, to the parties interested ; for their status
often depended entirely upon the Court before which it
might be tried. It must not be forgotten, however, that
it was said in this instance by the defendant’s Counsel,
(in reply to the allegation that he was born and begotten
by the priest, during the seven years in which his mother
was separated from her husband) that he was mulier,
whence it is evident that the rule of the “quatuor maria”
must have rendered him so; for upon no other principle
of law could it possibly have been pretended that he was
not a bastard.

In an assize of novel disseisin, in Easter Term, in the
39th Edw. IIL., a similar question arose., The defendant
pleaded in bar, entitling himself, as son and heir of one
I., who was seised of lands in demesne as of fee, and
who had warried one Katherine, on whom he begot the
defendant, and a daughter, the plaintiff, and died seised,
when the daughter entered as heir to her father, alleg-
ing that the defendant was a bastard; but she was
ousted by the defendant. The defendant said he had
nothing to allege against the special matter, for they
were both begotten of one father, and born of one mother,
within the espousals. He did not however dare to take
a demurrer ; but said he was mulier: on which it was
sent to the Bishop of N. to certify ; who certified to the
Justices of the Assizes that he was a bastard, in this way,
namely, that the said John married Katherine, after which
she left her husband, and lived with one Francis Sulyard ;
who, whilst she was in adultery, begot the defendant, and
thus he was certainly a bastard. The defendant, finding
that the Bishop had certified against him, complained to
Parliament', that the Bishop had certified against the
Common Law of England, and prayed his remedy.

' Nothing occurs of this case on the printed Rolls of Parliament.
D 4
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A writ was then issued to the Justices of Assize to
surcease proceedings, but they nevertheless took the
assize i right of damages, and adjourned the parties
into the Common Pleas; and then a writ was issued to
remove the record to the Council, to be tried by the
Bishops of London, Bath and Ely, whether he could be
adjudged a bastard for the reasons assigned by the
Bishop, who decided that the certificate was good upon
the matter. Then, because the Justices of Assize took
the assize in right of damages against the writ, the Chan-
cellor reversed the judgment before the Council, where it
was adjudged to the same effect as the Bishop had certi-
fied ; and sent the record back to the Common Pleas, and
because the Bishop had certified that the defendant was
clearly a bastard, it was agreed that the plaintiff should
recover her seisin and damages ; but the Judges paid no
regard to the reversal by the Council, because that was
not the place where a judgment could be reversed .

In a case in Michaelmas Term following, in which it
was alleged by the plaintiff that the defendant was a
bastard, the following statements were made. To the
allegation of bastardy, the defendant answered that his
father married his mother at such a church, and that he
was born since the espousals; to which it was said that
the allegation of general bastardy concluded everything
special, and a writ to the Bishop to certify was de-
manded. The defendant’s Counsel observed, that as he
averred that his father married his mother, and that
he was born since the espousals, that special matter
proved he was mulier, to which no answer could be
made ; and he therefore prayed the assize. Sergeant
Fincheden, the counsel for the plaintiff, then said that
they were not obliged to answer to that matter, Chief

1 Y. B. 39 Edw. II1., 14. This case is noticed in Lord Hale’s * Juris-

diction of the Huuse of Lords,” p. 41, to show that the Courts of Common
Law did not admit the power of the King's Council to reverse their judgments,

-
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Justice Thorpe observed, “ there never was any other
usage than that bastardy shall be tried by assize without
reference to the Bishop, except now lately; because
when he alleges special matter which proves him mulier,
there is greater reason to answer to that.”” After some
unimportant observations, Sergeant Wichingham, who
was soon afterwards raised to the Bench, said, “ In this
case, when special matter is pleaded to prove himself
mulier, we ought to maintain the jurisdiction of this
Coutt, instead of sending it to be tried by the Court
Christian ; for as he was born within espousals, albeit
he was begotten by another man, still by our law
he is mulier, and by the law of Holy Church he is a
bastard ; therefore we ought to determine it according
to our wise laws, rather than send it to the Court Chris-
tian, where the laws are contrary.” Sergeant Belknap
also argued to the same effect; « If,” said he, “ one be
born before marriage, and afterwards his father mar-
ried his mother, by the law of Holy Church he is mulier,
and by the law of this land, it is ordained by statute,
that it shall be tried here, without being sent to the
Court Christian ; and when he is born within espousals,
although he was begotten by another, the law of this
land will adjudge him mulier, and by the law of Holy
Church he is bastard. Therefore when this Court has
cognizance, by the plea of the party, that he was born
within espousals it ought to try the cause, and to adjudge
it according to the law of the land.” Fincheden then
abandoned this part of his argument?, and alleged that
as his parents had been divorced, because his father was
godfather to one Alice, his wife’s cousin, he was a bas-
tard. To this it was said that they had not been divorced
i their lifetime, when Chief Justice Thorpe observed,
“ You first allege bastardy, to which he alleges the mar-

!« Et puis Finch. passa oustre et dit q" divorce, &e."”
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riage of his parents to drive you from that general plea ;
you then set up a divorce to support your first plea;
but this has destroyed it, because the divorce did not
take place in the lifetime of the parties, and because it
was not ¢ nisi pro peccatis ;” and though perhaps he would
be a bastard by the law of Holy Church, yet by the
law of this land he is mulier, because the marriage con-
tinued all their lives,” The Counsel for the plaintiff
still, however, contended that the defendant was a bas-
tard, if they had at any time been divorced ; but after
a long argument, as to whether a child could be bas-
tardized, because his parents might have been divorced,
notwithstanding that no divorce did take place in their
lifetime, the Court held that no one eould be rendered a
bastard on that ground; for, as Chief Justice Thorpe for-
cibly remarked, “on such a pretence, might every Com-
missary bastardize every man in the world, without his
knowing anything of the matter, which would be most
mischievous'.”

Although allusion was not made on this occasion to
the “ special matter” of impotency, divorce, and absence
from the realm, it must be inferred that Wichingham
and Belknap did not intend to deny, that either of
those facts would bastardize the child of a married
woman ; but they probably referred only to such cases
as the one then before the Court, in which no  special
matter” could be proved. This inference is supported by
another case in the same year, when Chief Justice Thorpe,
on refusing an issue to try the legitimacy of a person
who was born of a marriage which was voidable, after
the decease of the parties, because “ it would be too
much to bastardize the issue of the parties after their
decease ; for in that way every man might be bastard-
ized,” said, that “ he who was begotten and born within

1Y, B, 39 Edw, 11I., Mich. Term. p. 31.
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marriage shall be adjudged mulier,” and added, “ hence
it seems, that without special matter you cannot be
allowed to bastardize him'.”

Within twelve months afterwards, it was said by Justice
Fincheden, (who was subsequently Chief Justice of the
Common Pleas,) “ By the law of the land he never can
be a bastard, who is born after espousals, unless it be
by special matter; as if there 1s a divorce, or where his
mother continued in adultery, or by other such matter.
In this case the manner ought to have been pleaded,
whereas the espousals are presumed ; and as it is more-
over said that he was born within the espousals, he has
said enough ; for by the law of the land he never can
be considered otherwise than mulier®.”

Justice Fincheden’s dietum agreed, in this instance,
with that of Chief Justice Thorpe in the preceding year?;
and it partly explains what was then considered * spe-
cial matter ;” but, like Justice Shardelow, seven years
before, he appears to have included in ¢ special matter”
the wife’s “ living in adultery,” without insisting upon
the absence of the husband from the realm when the
child was begotten,

The case in the 41st Edw. III. has already been
alluded to, in which it was decided by Chief Justice
Thorpe, on its being alleged that a widow was not with
child by her husband on the day of his death, that an
issue could not be granted which might bastardize the
infant ; and the issue was therefore taken, whether she

! Liber Assisurum, 39 Edw. 111, No. 10, p. 234, The following note
occurs to this case: “ Et nota q" Thorp tient le t* ore en prior cas donque
il fuit avant les espousels conu ; car par 'opinion de Kniv® et autres, sur la
primer demurrer, les Justic’ deurent av’ mande al’ Evesque a certifier la bas-
tard’. Et issint fist Ing’ en sa sessions en ceo cas, &ec.”” 39 Edw. 1II,
No. 14, p. 235,

2 ¢ Car par le ley de terre il ne puit my estre entende mes q'il est mulier.”’
Y. B. 40 Edw. 11L, pl. 6, pp- 16, 17.

3 Ut supra.
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was with child at the time of her husband’s decease or
not .

In the 43rd Edw. I1I.some light was thrown upon the
law of Adulterine Bastardy, by a case in which a woman
who had eloped from her husband, and lived continually
in adultery in Southwark, without having been reconciled
to him, claimed her dower ; alleging that she had been
taken from her husband, and conveyed to a distance of
forty miles against her will; that she returned to his house
four days afterwards, but found him dead ; and that she

' Y. B. term Pasch. 41 Edw. IIL, pl. 9, p. 11. This case was alluded
to in the following manner by Mr. Tindal (now Chief Justice of the Com-
mon Pleas), when counsel for Mr. Henry Fenton Gardoer, a claimant of
the Barony of Gardner: “ In a very early case that occurred, and which is
to be found in the Year-books, a question arose upon a right of dower ; the
tenant pleaded * that the demandant kept the charter of the land from him,
who was the brother and heir of the baron ;" the replication was, ** that she
was then pregnant by the baron of one who would be the heir, and issue was
offered that she was not with_child by her husband on the day of his dying,
and this the party was ready to verify,”” So that the party who meant to
challenge the legitimacy of the child then unborn thought proper to shape
his issue, that she was not then with child by her husband on the day of his
dying. Now my Lord Chief Justice Thorp, who was at that time Chief
Justice of the King's Bench, said, “ You cannot have such an issue to
bastardize the child ;" and then the report goes on to say, * therefore issue
was taken whether she was with child on the day of the decease of her hus-
band or not ;" thus making the important distinction between the way in
which the party had shaped the issue originally, and the way in which it
was taken afterwards ; a distinetion that will fully admit the principle for
which we are contending, for the party disputing the legitimacy says, the
woman who is claiming her dower was not with clald by her husband on
the day of his dying. The court say, that is not a point to be contested,
you shall try whether she was with child on the day of his dying ; the wo-
man being living with her husband, and being with child, we will not allow
that you are in a condition to dispute the other part of the case, whether that
child was begotten by her husband or not: either you must show some spe-
cific matter, that the husband was impotent or incapable, or you must show
that he was not within the four seas, or some other reason which shows that
he could not be the father, but you must not take issue upon the dry single
question, whether a woman living with her husband is with child by her
husband or not, though, if her husband dies, you may take it in a more gene-
ral way, whether she was with child at the time of the death of her husband.”
~—Report of Gardner Case, pp. 227, 228,
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had instituted a suit against her ravisher. Judge Kirton
said, “ If a woman elopes from her hushand with her
adulterer out of the country', and had issue by the
adulterer, the issue shall be adjudged a bastard by the
law of Holy Church; and the woman who lived with
her adulterer is not dowable;” but Serjeant Belknap
observed, “ He shall be adjudged mulier if the husband
lived within the four seas, so that he might come to his
wife, which was not denied®.”

As the Judge confined the illegitimacy of the child
in this case to the Spiritual Law, it would seem that he
did not consider it was a bastard by the Common Law.
This inference is confirmed by the remark of Belknap,
that “ if the husband was within the four seas, the
child was mulier,” and agrees with his observation, as
well as with that of Serjeant Wichingham two years be-
fore ?, that ¢ if a child is born within espousals, even if
begotten by another than the husband, it is mulier by the
Common, and bastard by the Ecclesiastical Law,” which
opinionsare, however,at variance with thedictum of Judge
Shardelow in the 33rd Edw. I11. The only difference in
the two statements of Belknap is, that on the latter
occasion he noticed the “ special matter” of the hus-
band’s being out of the realm ; and the words, ¢ so that
he might come to his wife,” explain the principle upon
which the doctrine of the four seas was founded, namely,
that absence from the realm was conclusive evidence of
non access. It 1s important to remember, that Belk-
nap’s definition was “ not denied” by the Court, or
by the Counsel opposed to him, and it must therefore
be considered as a sound exposition of the Law, as it

1 ¢ Hors du paiis.”

2 ¢ 1] serra adjuge mulier si le baron demurt deins le quater miers issint
qe il poit venir a sa femme, quod non fuit negatum.” Y. B. 41 Edw. I1I.,
pl. 5, pp. 19, 20.”

* Y. B, 39 Edw. 1IL., 31. b,, vide p. 41 antea,
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was understood in the latter part of the fourteenth
century.

In the 44th Edw. III., a similar case occurred to
that of Foxeroft in the 10 Edw. I.; but the point im-
mediately before the court seems merely to have re-
lated to the manner in which the cause should be tried.
It was stated by Serjeant Belknap, that one H., in the
late pestilence, lying ill on his death bed, was induced
by covin of the tenant to marry the mother of A., at
which time she was enceinte with A. by another man ;
that the said I, was not then of sound memory, in con-
sequence of his illness; that he died the second day
after the marriage; and that thus 4. wasa bastard. But
it was contended by Kirton, that the mother of A. was
the concubine of H., and was with child by him ; that
he married her for conscience sake; and that the mar-
riage lasted fifteen days, so that A. was mulier. Belk-
nap replied, that, as it was admitted the wife was large
with child before the marriage, the child was a bastard.
Justice Fincheden said ¢« If the mother was with child
by H. before the espousals, and he married her after-
wards, the issue born afterwards should be adjudged
mulier ; but if she was with child by another, then it
was a bastard. And as to what Belknap has said,
that she was with child by another before the marriage,
and therefore it is a bastard, whilst the other side aver,
that she was with child by I/, and therefore mulier,
these facts could be better tried ¢ per paiis’ than in any
other manner.” Upon this case the reporter has observ-
ed “Sic nota, procreati ante matrimonium et postmodum
nati in matrimonio, sunt legitimi, &c¢'.” The point at
1ssue seems to have been, whether the child was begotten
by H.; because it never was doubted that a valid mar-

' Y. B. 44 Edw. IIL, pl. 21, p. 12; and 45 Edw. 1IL,, pl. 45, p. 28,
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riage of the parents rendered a child legitimate, even lli':lif: llllI
if the ceremony took place only an hour before it was 1370,
born; and it was ruled in subsequent cases, that it =
mattered not by whom the child was begotten, for the
marriage fixed the paternity onthe husband. Itisremark-
able that nothing was said respecting the natare of the
marriage on that occasion, foraccording to Bracton, and
Britton, supported by the two cases of Foxcroft and
Del Heith, it would not appear to have been valid at
Common Law ', There is, however, reason to believe
that an alteration had taken place in the law on the sub-
Ject in the sixteenth century, if not at a much earlier
period ; and the change may have occurred before this
case arose %,

No other case of importance is mentioned in the Year
Books for nearly thirty-five years, at which time it seems
to have been settled, that by the Common Law a child
born during the coverture of its mother could only be
bastardized by the ¢ special matter” which has been
described. So universal was that opinion, that it was
then embodied in an English proverb, more remarkable
for its force than decency; but it was nevertheless case, 7
quoted from the Bench, was introduced mto Law trea- ;2:;.:}11
tises; and, like most English apophthegms descriptive of =
popular sentiments, has been used by Shakespeare *,

In a suit for a seire facias without fine, in Hilary Term
i the 7th Hen. IV, 1406, 1t was averred, that one Julian
married William de B. in the county of N. and had issue
Wiiliam de B., who was the father of the tenant ; but it
was answered that the said Julan was not the mother

! Vide antea, p. 7; and Aprexnmix, No. 1.

2 @ Kt ad este tenus en temps le roy Henry le tierce (M. 10 Hen. I11., dower
200,) que si femme ad este espoused en un chambre, qui ele n'avera dower par
le comen ley ; mes le ley est contraried a ceo jour,” Perkin's Profitable Book
or Treatise of the Laws of this Realin, 12mo, 1532,

? Vide postea, p. 64,
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of William de B., that she had married one John de
C. at Fletham, in the county of York, and had issue
Elizabeth, mother of John, father of the plaintiff'; that
she then went into the county of N , and during the life-
time of her husband, married the aforesaid William de
B., father of the tenant; so that the said Elizabeth, and
not William de B., was her heir. Judge Rickhill said,
“ If John de C., the husband, was within the sea, the
issue was mulier, and heir because he was issue male,
for ¢ who that bulleth my cow, the calf is mine'.””” Ser-
jeant Tyrwhit, the counsel for the tenant, ¢ dared not,”
it is said “ demur,” from which it must be inferred that
he acquiesced in the correctness of this definition of the
law, which is further proved by his changing his plea ; as
he protested that it was never known that William was
issue &c.” but said that her husband John de C. went
beyond the sea, and lived there continvally years and
days, during which time Julian went into the county of
N. and there married William de B. and had issue the
father of the tenant, who was not the heir of Julian?®,
Serjeant Hill observed, ¢ that amounts to his being a
bastard, and we aver that he is mulier,” when Tyrwhit
rejoined, “ You do not answer to the special matter ;"
upon which Hill repeated his remark, adding that the
other party refused that averment?,

In Michaelmas Term in the 11th Hen. IV., in an
appeal of rape of a married woman, on Serjeant Rolfe,
one of the counsel, putting this case:—* If a woman

1o 8§ cestuy John fuit deins la mere lissue fuit mulier et issint heire
quant il fuit issue male, ¢ For who, &c.” "’

* « Et puis Tir n’ osa demurrer, mes fist protestation q’ il ne conust my,
q" cest W. fuit issue, &e. mes dit q" cestuy Julian prist a Baron mesme ces-
tuy J. de C. come devant, et puis cestuy J. ala ouster la mere et la con-
tinuelment demurr’ ans et jours, deins quel temps ceo Julian ala en le county
de N. et le prist a Baron cesty W. &c. et aver issue le pier de tenant issint
fuit cestuy J. heire, et nemy le tenant.”

Y. B.7 Hen. 1V, pl. 13, p. 0.
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goes with her adulterer, and they have issue between Case, 11

them, the husband being within the four seas, by our law,
he is mulier, and by the law of Holy Church, bastard;”
on which Judge Hulse said, “In your case those born
and begotten in adultery are bastard, as well by our law,

as by the law of Holy Church, where the woman lives

with her adulterer'.” No allusion was made by the

Judge to the “ quatuor maria,” or absence of the husband
from the realm; and he appears to have entertained a
similar opinion of the effect, on the status of the child,
of its mother living with the adulterer, as was expressed
by Justice Shardelow in the 33rd Edw. I11., and by Ser-
jeant Fincheden in the 40th Edw. 111.% ; the soundness of
which was not only questioned at the time when it was
reported, but which is at variance with every other
authority.

The next reported case illustrative of the law of Adul-
terine Bastardy, took place in Michaelmas Term, in the
1st Hen. VI... One Hugh M. brought a scire facias

! “ Laou le feme demurt ove son avourterer.” Y. B. 11 Hen. IV,,
No. 30, p. 14.

% Vide pp. 36. 43, antea,

¥ Mr. (now Chief Justice) Tindal observed on this case, when Counsel in
the claim to the Barony of Gardner :

“ Another case followed, at a considerable period of time, where the ques-
tion arose as it does here, upon the legitimacy of a child who claimed as the
tenant in tail ; and it may be sufficient to state, that the substance of the ques-
tion that at last arose was, whether a person who claimed as a tenant in tail
was or was not the legitimate son of the first taker in tail? Now it appears
that the other side, who disputed the legitimacy, put in several facts, some
of which amounted to suspicion only, and others which appear to amount to
an actual impossibility of a child being the legitimate son of those parents ;
and it should be observed how cautiously and carefully the court separated
the one from the other, telling the party that they were not to bring forward
those matters of suspicion only, it being impossible, by the law of this land
to mix them up together, but that they must stand or fall by the single ques-
tion, whether the child could possibly be that of the parent from whom he
claimed. The plea which the party put in, to dispute the legitimacy was,
that long before the time of the espousals she was great with child, and no-
toriously by one C. P., namely, the same Hugh, the demandant ; and then

they go on to say that the father of the demandant espoused her, and then
E
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against S. H. of a fine, by virtue of a remainder in
tail to K. his mother and her heirs male, and showed
that one J. F. married his mother, and that he was her
heir male; to which it was answered, that long before
the marriage between J. F. and K., she was notoriously
large with child of the said Hugh, the demandant, by
one T. P.; that after her marriage with J. F. she eloped
from him with C. P., and lived a certain time in adul-
tery, within which time, Hugh, the demandant, was born.

that she eloped from him, and that she lived with the other party in adul-
tery, and remained there a certain time, within which time the demandant
was born. The party thus mixing up his allegation of the illegitimacy of
this child with mere matter of suspicion, from which it might be inferred that
he could not be the legitimate child, namely, that the mother bad lived in
adultery before the marriage, that she manied the husband when she was
already great with child, that she quitted the husband, and afterwards went
to the adulterer, that she lived with that adulterer, and that the child was
born while they were so living together. Now let us see how the wisdom of
the court, in those early times, treated those allegations relating to the suspi-
cious birth of this ehild. One of the judges [counsel] says, and he delivered
the law of the land, * although she elopes from her husband, and remains
with her adulterer, yet the som is legitimate, and shall inherit, unless the
other party can show some special matter,”” that is, an impossibility of access
from which the child could be the offspring of its pretended parent. Then
further on another learned judge [counsel] says this: “ when an action is
brought it is not enongh to destroy the legitimacy in this way, for it ought to
conclude upon the right, and say he is a bastard, which goes to the action ;
but this that you put is only matter of evidence, it is nothing otherwise ; for
I say thut if you can bring this writ against one N., son to such a one,
whether he is a bastard, the writ shall not abate unless that fact is brought
immediately in issue ;" and then he goes on to say afterwards, * but as to
the elopement, and as to the adultery, that is only matter of suspicion ; it is
not a matter which renders the issue by impossibility the offspring of the
parent.” Those are two of the earliest cases which are to be found in our
books. There is almost a miraculous regularity in which, from that period
down to the present time, the legitimacy has been always made to depend
upon the single fact, whether possible or impossible, and not whether pro-
bable or improbable.”—Le Marchant’s Gardner Case, p. 227-230. This
case was thus noticed in the arguments of the Solicitor-general and Mr.
Adam on the same occasion: “ The question in the case was the legiti-
macy of an individual, who, it was obvious, was not the child of the hus-
band ; but the intercourse of the adulterer and the wife, from which the
pregnancy originated, was prior to the marriage. The counsel applied for
an issue, whether the woman had not been with child by C. P., and the
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Serjeant Rolfe, for the demandant, contended that “ he Case,

was entitled to have execution; for there were three
points in the case; namely, the elopement, the living in
adultery, and being large with child before the marriage ;
that with respect to the first two points, the elopement
and living in adultery, they were not to the purpose, for
the law of the land was this;—that though a woman
eloped from her husband, and lived with her adulterer,
still the issue is mulier, and would inherit, if other spe-
cial matter is not shown; that no attention could he
paid to the woman’s being with child before marriage,
for enceinte or not enceinte was a good issue, and should
be tried by writ de ventre inspiciendo ; but the defendants
offered an issue which could never be tried, viz. that the
mother, was large with child by one C. P., for God alone
knew by whom she was pregnant ; for which reason, if a
woman before marriage be with child,and it be born within
espousals, the Law adjudges it to be the child of the
husband, because it is known to no one, &e. A woman
may be with child for seven years. Let us suppose, that
a man 1s married to a woman for twenty years, who at
the beginning had issue a son, and another at the end of
the said twenty years; the father dies, and the mother
of the last issue enters; the eldest son enters upon her;
the younger ousts him; the eldest brings assize; the
youngest now, by your conceit, can say, that his mother

Judge very properly refused it. Under any circumstances, the issue was im-
proper; for though it may be proved collaterally that an adulterer is the
father, the law will not formally recognise his paternity. Tt would be an
encroachment on the privileges of marriage to allow the relation of parent
and child to result from an adulterous intercourse. The judge [counsel]
felt this strongly, and expressed himself with warmth ; departing from the
question before him, he ertrajudicially deprecated the admissibility of evi-
dence of suspicion in trials of legitimacy ; and went so far as to doubt whe-
ther a case could arise to justify suspicion. In support of this theory, he
cited a case from his own knowledge of a woman who had gone with child
seven years ! This specimen of his sagacity may dispense us from examin-
ing his opinion any further.”—Ibid, p. 271.
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was large with child with him, a long time before the
marriage, by a stranger, and so bastardize him, which
never can be the intention of the law.” In support of
this argument he cited the opinion of Chief Justice
Thorpe, in the 41st Edw. IIL., that the paternity of a
child could not be tried before its birth'. Serjeant
Strangways, who was on the same side, said, “ When we
have brought our action, he cannot destroy our action by
argument or evidence ; for he must conclude upon the
writ, and so bastard, which goes to our action ; and what
he has shown is only matter of evidence, which is no
answer. Moreover, he has given us a father, viz. C. P.,
and his object is to prove us a bastard, and then we are
no son, and cannot have a father, so that his answer is
nothing, and is, in a manner, contradictory. I will sup-
pose, that I bring a writ against one N., son to such a
one; whereas he is a bastard, my writ shall abate, be-
cause a bastard cannot have a father, for he 1s called
¢ filius populi;’ and therefore, I know well, that if it
had been alleged that Hugh was the son of her first hus-
band, and that he was born within the first seven or
eicht weeks after the marriage of J. F. and K., then it
would have been otherwise, guasi diceret, it shall be a
bastard. As if a child under fourteen years of age®
marries, and the wife is enceinte, the issue shall be

1 Y. B. 41 Edw, II1. 11. Vide p. 43, antea,

? The presumption of law, that a boy of the age of fourteen has had
sexual intercourse with his wife, agreed in the following instance, and pro.
bably in most other cases, with the fact. Thomas Vaux, son and heir appa-
rent of Nicholas Lord Vaux, married Ann, daughter and heiress of Sir
Thomas Cheyney ; and the jury state on their oaths, in the inquisition on
his father's death, on the 10th November, 15th Hen. VIIL. 1523, * Quod
predictus Thomas Vaus fuit xxv'® die Aprilis anno quinto decimo dieti
Domini Regis nunc etatis quatuordecim annorum. Ac postea idem Thomas
legatie etatis consensus in vita predieti Nicholai Domini Harowden existens
eum prefata Elizabetha uxore sua nuper dicta Elizabetha Cheyne, etatis sex-
decim annorum et amplius existens in complementum matrimonii inter ipsos
prehibiti coneubuit, et ipsam carnaliter adtune eognovit."

A il i il
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a bastard, for that special matter ; because it cannot be
intended by any law, that a child under that age can
beget. So in this case, it is presumed that she had first
a husband, and that, &e.' Hugh was born within seven
or eight weeks, or within such time after the marriage,
&ec., then the law applies to him?; but it has not been
so presumed in this case. With this agrees Thorpe, in
Mich. 21 Edw. IIL,, in a writ of cousinage®” Serjeant
Thorpe was of a contrary opinion ; and Serjeant Cottis-
more would have spoken to the same purport; but the
Court took time to consider; and at the end of the term
execution was awarded, thus deciding in favour of the
demandant?, and establishing his legitimacy. By
“ other special matter” besides the elopement and
living in adultery, Serjeant Rolfe must have meant the
impotency of the husband, his being under fourteen years
of age, a divorce, or his being beyond the four seas.

In Hilary Term, in the 18th Hen. VL. ina case of bas-
tardy, depending on the validity of a marriage, and in
which the point at issue was, in what Court the cause
should be tried, a long argument occurred. Judge Paston
cited the proverb quoted by Judge Rickhill in the 7th
Hen. VL., that “ whoso bulls the cow, the calf is yours;”
and Serjeant Markham said, that if in formedon the
demandant eclaims as son of his father, or if the don was
made to his grandfather, it is a good plea for the tenant
to say, that the demandant was born in another county,
and that his father, for three years before his birth, and
for three years after, was beyond the sea. Ayscough,
the King’s serjeant, and afterwards a Judge, also ob-
served on that occasion, “ If in an action ancestral

' “ 11 est surmis est fait que cestuy aver’ primerement baron et que, &c.
Hugh fuit ne,"” &e.

* “ Donque la ley est servi pur lui.”

3 Y.B. 21 Edw. 111. 39. TVide p- 34, antea.
* Y.B. 1 Hen. VI, pl. 8, p. 3.

E 3

Case,
1 Ilen. V1.
1422,
)

Case, 18
Hen. VI,
1440,

e —



Case, 1B
Hen. V.
14440,

sl !

Case, 10
Hen. VI
1441.
"___'\.'_J

Case, 36
Hen, VI.
1457,
AT

¢ 380

against me, I say that the father of the demandant was
not more than six years of age immediately before his
birth, or that his father was beyond the seas six years
before his birth, or that his father and mother were di-
vorced on account of a pre-contract, these are good pleas,
without saying more,and soto bastardize';”” thus noticing
all the *“special matter” by which a child, born during
coverture, could be rendered illegitimate ; among which
was the absence of the husband from the realm, for a
suflicient length of time to render it absolutely impossi-
ble that he could have had access to his wife.

The same rule of law was mentioned by the Court in
a case in Michaelmas Term in the following year, It
was pleaded that the plantiff was a bastard, but it was
objected to that plea that his parents were married, and
that the plaintiff was born within espousals. Serjeant
Fortescue, afterwards the celebrated Chief Justice, ob-
served, “that is no plea;” on which Justice Newton
said, “It is true; for that may be, and he still be a
bastard, because his father was perhaps beyond the sea
for seven years, within which time he was born and be-
gotten, and all is true which you have said, and still he
is a bastard.” Serjeant Markham, who was also counsel
for the plaintiff, observed, “ Sir, then we say  oultre,’
and so mulier®”

The impossibility of bastardizing children begotten and
born within marriage, except for “ special matter,” was
strongly stated by Justice Danby, in the 36th Hen., V1.
“ If aman alleged in an action ancestral that his father
took to wife such a one, and pleaded the espousals in
special, and had issue, himself, and then died seised,
it is no plea to say he is a bastard generally, because it
is impossible, if he were begotten and born in marriage,

1 ¥.B. 18 Hen. ¥1,, '|:J}. 3, pp- 32. 31,
* Y. B, 19 Hen, VL, pl. 38, p. 17.

sl i
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that he should be a bastard, unless it be from special
cause'.”

Before proceeding with the cases in the next reign, it
is desirable to notice what is said on the subject in the
only contemporary Treatise on the Law. Sir John Fortes-
cue, who had been Chief Justice of England, in his work
“ De laudibus Legum Anglize,” has made no other obser-
vation, bearing upon this question, than the following,
which agrees, so far as it goes, with the decisions of the
Courts: “ Both the Civil Law and the Laws of England,
however wide in other respects, agree in this, that he is
the father whom the marriage declares so to be®.

The law of Adulterine Bastardy was also defined in the
next case that occurred, namely, in the 18th Edw. IV.
when the point at issue was, whether the son of the
marriage of two persons who were within the prohibited
degrees of consanguinity, and who were for that reason
afterwards divorced, was legitimate ?

Justice Littleton, of whose profound knowledge of the
law, his treatise on “Tenures” is an imperishable monu-
ment, said, “ It seems to me that he is a bastard. There
are many cases where a man is a bastard by our law, and
by the law of Holy Church mulier; and é converso, bas-
tard by the Spiritual law, and mulier by our Law. As
if a man had issue by a woman, and then marries her,
that issue is mulier by the Spiritual law, and bastard by
our law, and the Bishop will certify him mulier; but if
the Bishop will certify him a bastard, then he is a bas-
tard by our law . But it is otherwise if a man marries a
woman large with child by another, and within three
days afterwards she is delivered : by our law the issue is

' Y. B. 36 Hen. VL., pl. 14, p. 22.

* @ Nam ambo leges qua jam contendunt uniformiter dicunt quod ipse est
pater quem nuptie demonstrant.” Cap. xlii.

1 Because the Bishop’s certificate was conclusive. Fide p. 38, antea,

note 3.
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mulier, and by the law of Ioly Church bastard ; and
this is fully proved by the Statute of Merton '

Justice Choke spoke to the same effect as Justice Lit-
tleton, and added, “ There are divers cases in which the
issue shall be mulier, and the wife lose her dower, as has
been said ; as if a woman elope from her husband and
has issue in her adultery, she shall lose her dower, and
the issue shall be mulier in our law, and yet bastard
by the Spiritual law;” and a similar observation was
made by Pigot, the King's Serjeant, during the argu-
ment 2,

It seems, from these cases, that towards the close of
the fifteenth century the rules of law respecting the
legitimacy of issue born during coverture, were settled
and generally understood ; and that the only grounds
upon which the child of a married woman, begotten and
born during the marriage, could possibly be bastardized,
or be adjudged the child of any other man than the
husband, was the “ special matter” of the impotency
of the husband, a separation by sentence of divorce, or
his absence from the realm when the child was con-
ceived, if not during the whole period of its gestation,
and for some time after it was born. The attempts
which were made on one or two occasions to render the
cogent, and almost conclusive facts, that the wife
eloped from her husband, and lived with the adulterer
when the child was begotten, proof that it could not be
the issue of the husband, failed; and the Courts, by
requiring evidence of the husband’s impotency, or ab-
sence ““ beyond the four seas,” proceeded upon the prin-
ciple, that nothing less than proof of physical or moral
impossibility, could rebut the legal presumption that the
child of a married woman was begotten by the hushand.

! Vide Y. B. 44 Edw. I11. 21, antea, p. 46.
* Y. B.18 Edw, IV, pl. 28, pp. 29, 30,
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The case in the 18th Edw. IV. is the last which 1s
reported until the reign of Elizabeth; and as nume-
rous instances of Adulterine Bastardy must have hap-
pened in so long a period, the only rational way of
accounting for there being no report of any trals in
which the question was agitated, is by supposing that the
Law was so clear as to render a notice of them unneces-
sary. Under these circumstances, evidence of what was
considered to be Law on the subject, during that inter-
val, must be sought from other sources.

Sir William Pole, who made extensive collections for
a History of Devonshire, in the reign of James the First,
and whose accuracy is well known, relates a remarkable
case of Adulterine Bastardy, on the authority of “ a Book
in the possession of Sir Robert Basset,” of that county,
the descendant of one of the parties to the suit, in which
book, Pole says, ¢ the proofs were formerly in due form
set down.”

William Beaumont, son and heir apparent of Sir
Thomas Beaumont, of Devonshire, married Joan Cour-
tenay, and died without issue in the 32nd Hen. VI,
1454'. He had been separated from his wife above two
years before his death, “ he living in London and she
in Devonshire, almost eight score miles asunder;” and
it appears that she had an illicit intercourse during that
period with Henry Bodrugan, whom she married soon
after her husband’s decease. The estates of the Beau-
mont family were inherited by the said William Beau-
mont’s brothers and half brothers successively, until
about the year 1490; but on the death of the last
surviving brother, the lands were claimed by his daugh-

! Esch. 32 Hen. VI., No, 28, The jury found that * he died without
issue on the 5th December 1453, and that Philip Beaumont was his brother
and heir.,” Philip Beaumont died in the 13th Edw. IV. “ without issue,
and his sister, Alicia Carew, and his nephew, Sir John Basset, son of his
sister Joan, were his next heirs,'=Isch, 13 Edw, I1V., No, 50,
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ter and heiress, and by the issue of a sister of the whole
blood of William Beaumont. Another claimant, how-
ever, presented himself in the person of the son of the
above-mentioned Joan Courtenay, who, having been
born during her marriage with her first husband, pre-
tended, after a lapse of upwards of thirty-five years, to
be her son by William Beaumont. Sir William Pole
says, ‘ the controversy grew into such a height, that
it was brought before Parliament,” and that ¢ all the
proofs of the case were exhibited; but the Parliament
would not assent to change the laws of England, to
make a bastard which was born in wedlock 1.7 It was
however agreed, thatit should be proclaimed throughout
the country that ¢ he was to be named John, the son
of Joan Bodrugan, and so to be esteemed a bastard %.”
This decision did not prevent his obtaining part of the
Beaumont property, as an amicable arrangement was
made, by which the manor of Giddesham, in the county
of Devon, and other lands, were assigned to him. His
descendants, if not he, himself, assumed the name of
Beaumont ; they were allowed the Arms of that family

! The proceedings of Parliament, of which no notice occurs on the printed
Rolls, are thus stated in some additions to a copy of the Herald’s Visi-
tation of Devonshire in the year 1564 in the British Museum (Harleian
MS. 3288, fo. 116). In an account of the descent of the manor of
Giddesham the above facts are mentioned, and it is then said that * the
claim of John so far pm-ueeq]ed, that in Henry the Seventh’s time the same
cume into the Parliament, where he was adjudged a bastard, and proclama-
tion made through England, by authority of Parliament, that he was so; but
it appeareth not that any Act was made to bastard him, but by proclamation
only. At length he received by composition 80/, lands of the old rent, to
him and his heirs, whereof this manor was parcel, and was conveyed to him
by the name of John, the son of Joan Bodrugan, for that her second hus-
band was called Henry Bodrugan eliss Bodrogan. This John had issue
Henry, called Beaumont, who married,” &e. This Henry, the last of the
family, “ to continue the lands in the name of Beaumont, and for money, did
convey the same unto Beaumont, a younger brother of Collerton.”

? Vide Pole's Collections towards a Description of the County of Devon
4to. 1791, pp. 167, 168. See also Prince’s Worthies of Devon, ed. 1809,
p. Gl
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by the Heralds, without any mark to denote illegitimacy ;
and they did not become extinct in the male line until
the year 1591.

In this instance, the child was beyond all doubt the
offspring of the adulterer; but strong as was the pre-
sumption of that fact, Parliament refused to alter the
law, or to make one for the occasion; and the custom,
in flagrant cases of profligacy, of bastardizing persons
who were de jure legitimate, by a special Act of Par-
liament, was unknown until the reign of Henry the
Eighth.

Though the legal status of John Beanmont, elias Bodru-
gan, could not be affected by a proclamation, it made
the circumstances of his birth notorious, and tended to
deprive him of the local influence which would belong
to the actual as well as legal descendant of an ancient
and distinguished family.

Towards the end of the reign of Henry the Eighth two
instances occurred of women, in the highest rank of
society, having children born in adultery, whilst their
husbands were within the Realm, To prevent the spu-
rious issue from succeeding to the husbands’™ honours
and estates, two Acts of Parliament were passed, one
of which Acts not only bastardized the children, but
declared that, notwithstanding they were noforiously
begotten in Adultery, they would nevertheless be inke-
ritable; and the other expressly declared that such
children “ be legitimate, and will be inkeritable.”

The first of these cases is that of Lady Parr, in
the 34th Hen. VIIL. ; and the Act' states,  that for

' The Act, which is styled in the Lords’ Journals, a Bill * to bar and
make base and bastards the children which be, or shall be borne in adultery
by the Ludy Anne, wife of the Lord Parr,” was read a first time on the
13th March 1543, but it appears to have been altered by the Commons.
— Lords’ Journals, 1., 217. 223, 224, 230.233. Inthe 6th Edw. V1., 1552,
a Bill passed for annulling Lord Parr’s (then Marquis of Northampton) mar-
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the last two years she had eloped from her husband,
William Lord Parr, and had not in that time ever re-
turned to, nor had any carnal intercourse with him, but
had been gotten with child by one of her adulterers, and
been delivered of such child, which child  being, as 1s
notoriously known, begotten in adultery, and born during
the espousals” between her and Lord Parr, “ by the law
of this realm is inheritable, and may pretend to inherit
all, &ec.;” and the Act therefore declares the said child
to be a bastard.

In the same year, a similar Act was passed to bas-
tardize the children of Elizabeth Lady Burgh, the
widow of Sir Thomas Burgh, eldest son of Thomas
Lord Burgh, who had died in the lifetime of his father.
After his son’s death Lord Burgh obtained an Act, which
stated, “ that during the life of her husband she had
lived in adultery, not regarding the company of her
husband, and in that time had brought forth three
children, begotten by other persons than her said husband
during the espousals,” &e. “as she had confessed, which
children being so gotten and born in adultery, during the
said espousals, by the laws of this realm, be legitimate, and
will be inkeritable and inkerit, &e. after the death of the
said Lord Burgh;” and the Act proceeds to declare the
said three children to be bastards .

The law, so emphatically declared in these Acts, and
especially in the last, agrees precisely with the defi-
nition of Justices Littleton and Choke, in the 18th
riage with Lady Anne Bourchier, and confirming his marriage with Eliza-
beth, daughter of Lord Cobham, and for the legitimation of the children that
shall be had between them ; but the Earl of Derby, the Bishops of Norwich
and Carlisle, and Lord Stourton dissented.—Ibid, p, 409.418. The Statute
of the 6 Edw. VI, was, however, repealed in the 1st of Mary, 1553.

! This Bill, which is deseribed as “a Bill to disinherit the children,
and to make base and bastards the unlawfully begotten children of the wife

of the Lord Burgh's son and heir,” was read a first time on the 8th Marck
15438.—Lords' Journals, 1., 215. 217, 218,
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Edw. IV., the last recorded case in which Adulterine Case of
Bastardy was alluded to, as well as with the majority Lﬁy h, 34
) gh,

of previous decisions; and it is impossible to believe ﬂ.}i’;‘w“‘
that the law would be thus described in those statutes, ——
unless such was the opinion of the ablest jurists in the
Kingdom, or that the Acts themselves would have been
passed, if they had not been absolutely necessary to bar
the spurious i1ssue from the succession. Nothing is said
in these Acts of the doctrine of the “ quatuor maria,”
which may be accounted for by both the husbands having
remained within the realm during the gestation and birth
of the children,

It seems that the conduct of Lady Parr and Lady
Burgh mspired the House of Lords with so much alarm,
that they attempted to secure female chastity by Aets of
Parliament '; but the proposed Bills were abandoned,
perhaps because the noble authors of them were con-
vinced by their spouses, or by equally competent judges,
that it was utterly absurd to legislate on such a subject.

Five years afterwards, namely, in the 37th Hen. VI1I. Case of

- . Sir Ralph

- a remarkable instance occurred of children born of sadler, 37
an illegal marriage, being legitimated by Parliament. [ V1T
Sir Ralph Sadler, Secretary of State, married about ——
the year 1534 Ellen Mitchell, who had been the wife
of one Matthew Barre, under the belief that she was

a widow, as Barre had deserted her for many years,

! On the 19th March, 34 Hen. VIIL., 1543, a Bill was read, that women
lawfully proved guilty of Adultery should lose their dower, goods, lands, and
all other possessions ; which was sent to the Attorney-general.— Lords" Jour-
nals, I., 215, Onthe 17th of April following a Bill was read * for the Inconti-
nency of Women !"" Ihid. p. 224 ; but no more is known of this notable
project. An equally futile effort to restrain female will, and which was also
abandoned, was made at the same time, to prevent women who were heir-
esses, and had survived their husbands, from disinheriting the children of
their firs{ husbands.—1bid. pp. 226. 229, 231. A history of the Bills which
have been subinitted to, and rejected by the Legislature, would form striking
illustrations of human folly; but perhaps it is sufficiently shown in many of
the Liills which have passed into Laws.
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and all inquiries about him had proved fruitless, After
a connection of several years, and the birth of many child-
ren by Sir Ralph Sadler, Barre made his appearance ; and
there could be no doubt that his wife’s marriage with
Sadler was void, and that all her children by him were
illegitimate. As however her second marriage arose from
the misconduct of her first, and indeed only lawful
husband, and as her marriage with Sadler was made
bona fide with a “ pure conscience,” under the impres-
sion that Barre was dead, Sir Ralph Sadler prayed that
it might be enacted, that all his children by her should
be reputed and adjudged lawful and legitimate, and
be inheritable to him, as if they had been begotten
and born in “ lawful and perfect, and indissolvable ma-
trimony.”

The Act, after reciting all the facts of the case, pro-
vides that “ Thomas Sadler, Edward Sadler, Henry Sadler,
Anne Sadler, Mary Sadler, Jane Sadler, and Dorothy
Sadler, and every of them, shall at all times hereafter
for ever be had, reputed, taken, esteemed and adjudged
legitimate and lawful children, begotten of the body of
the said Ralph Sadler, and shall be inheritable, as well
to the same Ralph Sadler, as to all and singular his an-
cestors, and to all other person and persons, and every
of them, to be inheritable to other, in like manner, form
and condition, to all intents, constructions, and purposes,
as if they had been engendered, begotten and born in
lawful, perfect and indissolvable matrimony, and as if
the said Ellen had never been married to any other than
only to the said Ralph, and as though the said Ellen
had been lawfully married, in perfect and indissolvable
marriage, to the said Ralph, and as though the said
Matthew and Ellen had never entered, married, or con-
tracted any matrimony together; any law, statute, act,
ordinance, constitution, canon, decree, custom, use, or

Lo
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any other thing or matter whatsoever to the contrary in Case of
any wise notwithstanding.” The Act then confirmed the EL’,,E;: ig};
grants made to Sadler and Ellen his wife, and to their {L‘:I“T:_““-
heirs and assigns, of the inheritance of the estates of the — —
late dissolved College of Westbury upon Trim, in the
county of Gloucester; and provides that if any separa-
tion or divorce was prosecuted between Ellen and her
husband Matthew Barre, that she should, during Barre’s
life, be considered a woman sole, as if she had never
been married to lim ; and that by the name of “ Ellen
Mitchell” she might during the lifetime of Barre take
any grant of lands, &e. independently of him, and by
that name to sue and be sued as a woman sole .

Viewed as a legal proceeding, the whole affair is ano-
malous ; and, it is believed, had no other precedent in
England than the well-known case of the children of
John of Gaunt, Duke of Lancaster®. Though born in
adultery, as well by the Common as the Ecclesiastical
law, the children were legitimized, though the marriage of
their parents is admitted to have been void ab initio. In
contemplation of the usual process for a divorce in the
Ecclesiastical Court, the Act declares that if such pro-
cess be completed, she shall be considered a single
woman, thus giving her power to marry Sir Ralph
Sadler ; but it does not appear that the consent of Barre,
the first husband, was obtained to the divorce. [t is to
be presumed that Sadler was afterwards legally married
to the lady; but no children appear to have been born
after the year when the Bill passed.

In the 1st of Mary, an instance occurred in which Caseof the

. . . . Countess
the attempt to bastardize the children of a married woman o Syssex, 1

by Act of Parliament, on the ground of the adultery of Mar-1533.

their mother, failed ; and the descendants of one of the
' A copy of the Act will be found in the Gentleman’s Magazine for

1835, New Series, Vol. 111. p. 260,
* Vide remarks on this proceeding in the Excerpta Historica, p. 152.
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said children, consequently inherited the husband’s
honours.

Henry Lord Fitz Walter, and Earl of Sussex, married
to his second wife, Anne, daughter of Sir Philip Cal-
thorpe, from whom he was divorced ; and in December,
1 & 2 Ph. & Mary, 1554, a Bill was read three times
in the House of Commons', touching the adulterous
living of Anne Calthorpe, Countess of Sussex, to bas-
tardize her Children, It is said in the Index to the
Commons’ Journals, that the Bill was sent from the Lords,
but no notice of it is to be found on the Lords’ Journals ;
and it certainly was not then passed, probably because
Parliament was dissolved on the day after the third
reading of the Bill in the Commons. In the next Session,
namely, on the 9th of November, 2 & 3 Ph. & Mary, 1555,
a Bill was read a first, and on the 13th of that month,
a third time inthe Lords, ¢ for debarring of Anne Cal-
thorpe, the late divorced wife of the Earl of Sussex,
from her jointure or dower, in case she should not
repair into the realm within a time limited, and make
her purgation before the bishop of her diocese®;” but
the Act was not passed. In the next Parliament a
Bill respecting the Countess’s jointure was brought to
the Lords from the Commons and passed ®; but the
attempt to bastardize her children was abandoned. The
Earl of Sussex died in 1556, leaving sons by his first
wife, by whom, or their descendants, his honours were
enjoyed until 1629. The said Ann Calthorpe had issue
during her marriage with the Earl of Sussex, a son, who
died without issue, and a daughter, Frances, who married
Sir Thomas Mildmay. After the extinction of the male
issue of the Earl, Sir Henry Mildmay, son of the said
Sir Thomas Mildmay and Frances his wife, claimed the

U Commons® Journals, L., 32,
¥ Lords’ Journals, pp. 499, 500, 3 Ibid. pp. 526, 527. 535.
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Barony of Fitz Walter, and it was allowed to his grand-
son, Benjamin Mildmay, in 1669.

Few cases are reported, during the reign of Queen
Elizabeth, from which the law of Adulterine Bastardy
can be deduced; but there is a contemporary writer
on the subject whose statement merits attention.

In 1594 a work appeared, entitled “ The Trial of

12

Bastardy',” in which there is the following passage:
“If haply he beget her with child (as such mischances
fall, whether before or after publication of thy marriage,)
so it be born in matrimony, be advised whether the law
(in favour of legitimation) groundeth not more upon thy
possible excess [access] than the actual cohabitation of
the other, presuming him an adulterer ; consequently,
if thou verifiest not the proverb, ‘my cow, my calf;
the bull is not regarded®. For touching the cohabita-

! * The Trial of Bastardy, that part of the second part of Policy or
Manner of Government of the Realm of England, so termed Spiritual or
Ecelesiastical,” by William Clerke : 4to., 1594, p. 41.

? This proverb, which was as early as the reign of Henry IV., and was
on two occasions in the 15th century, cited from the Beneh (vide pp. 48, 53,
antea), expresses the universal presumption which prevailed in favour of the
legitimacy of children born during coverture. Shakespeare, as Mr. le Mar-
chant has remarked (Gardner Case, p. iv.), thus introduces it in King
John's address to Falconbridge ; and it would be difficult to find a more ac-
curate definition of the Law as it was then, and long afterwards, understood :

“ Sirrah, your brother is legitimate :
Your father's wife did after wedlock bear him :
And, if she did play false, the fault was her’s,
Which fault lies on the hazards of all husbands,
That marry wives, Tell me, how if my brother,
Who has, you say, took pains to get this son,
Had of your father claim’d this son for his?
In sooth, good friend, your father might have kept
This calf, bred from his cow, from all the world ;
In sooth, he might: then, if he were my brother’s,
My brother might not claim him ; nor your father,
Being none of his, refuse him : this concludes,—
My mother’s son did get your father’s heir ;
Your father's heir must have your father’s land.”

King John, Act I, Sc. L.
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tion of thy wife with an adulterer, whatsoever may be
said in the Canon and Civil laws, consider (for more
surety) after the laws of this land, whether thou art
within, or without the four seas, at such time as the
child be conceived.”

About that period a case occurred, which has not been
before printed, corroborative of the opinion, that the
legitimacy of a person, born during the coverture of his
mother, could not be shaken, unless the husband was
impotent, or absent from the realm.

Sir George Cornwall, of Berrington, in Herefordshire,
married in the 35th Hen. VIII. 1543, Mary, the daughter
of John Lord Chandos ; but she is supposed to have after
wards cohabited with a gentleman of the name of Meysey,
and to have had a son by him, called Humphrey. Sir
George Cornwall made his will on the 8th of Oct. 1562,
by which he gave his wife 40/, per annum out of the manor
of Berrington, “ if she consented to remit, and not pre-
tend any right to dower in his other lands.” She is not
again mentioned in that will ; but as the executors re-
fused to act, she obtained letters of administration in
March 1562-3. The testator bequeathed all his lands
in the counties of Hereford and Lincoln, to his cousin,
William Nanfan, Esq., and the heirs male of his body,
with remainder, in default of such heirs male, to the
Queen, and her heirs and successors. He also left lega-
cies to his relation, William Cornwall, to Eleanor Blunt,
his base sister, to many of his servants, and to several
other persons, but he did not take the slightest notice
of any child of his own. William Nanfan, to whom
he gave his lands, was the eldest son of his father’s
sister ; and, if the testator had no issue, was his heir-
at-law. Sir George Cornwall died in October or No-
vember 1562, and according to the Heralds™ Visitations
of Worcestershire in 1569, without issue. On the 30th of
November following, an inquisition was taken at Lansyl-
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lyn, in Wales, by which it was found that he was seised
of Kenleigh, Reyngeld, and other manors in North Wales,
with reversion to the Crown'; that he died without issue
male ; and that the said manors reverted to the Crown.
Another inquisition was taken at Horncastle in Lincoln-
shire, respecting the lands which he possessed in that
county, on the 15th of March, 5th Eliz., 1563, above two
months after the first inquisition. The Jury found that
he was seised, under certain deeds, executed on the 10th
of October, 4th Eliz., 1562, (two days after the date of
his will,) of various manors for life, with remainder to
William Nanfan, Esq., and the heirs male of his body; re-
mainder to the Queen and her heirs ; and that Humphrey
Cornwall was his son and heir, and of the age of twelve
years. This Humphrey bore the name and arms of
Cornwall, and by that name was sheriff of Hereford-
shire in the 9th Jac. I. Lady Cornwall married to her
second husband, Francis Lovell, Esq., and died on the
15th November, 4 Jac. 1606. By an inquisition held
at Leominster on the 3rd of October 1607, “ Humphrey
Cornwall alias Meysey” was found to be her son and
heir, and then forty-eicht years of age. The legitimacy
of the said Humphrey, thus recognized by two inquisi-
tions, though contradictory to a prior inquisition, and
opposed by the non-recognition of his father, and by the
settlement of his property upon a cousin, was never suc-
cessfully impeached ; and his descendants have always
borne the name and arms of Cornwall® Presumptive

! These manors were granted by the King to his father, Richard Corn-
wall, in the 16th Hen. VIII., and, it is presumed, with remainder to the heirs

male of his body, failing which, they were to revert to the Crown.—
Originalia,

* The Right Honourable Charles Wolfran Cornwall, Speaker of the House
of Commons, was his legal representative ; and on his death, without issue,
in 1789, the male representation of Humphrey Cornwall vested in the Corn-
walls of Dilbury, in the county of Salop, of which the late Bishop of Wor-
cester was the head. The Cornwalls of Moccas Court, now represented by Sir
George Cornwall, were also descended from him,
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evidenceofaremarkable kind exists, that Humphrey Corn-
wall was considered to have established his legitimacy.
In the original Heralds’ Visitation of Worcestershire,
made in 1634 ', a pedigree was recorded, signed by the
son of that person; and as it was first written, Humphrey
was connected with Sir George Cornwall by a wavy line of
filiation, which is the usual mark of illegitimacy ; but the
wavy line was afterwards converted into a straight line,
the mark of legitimacy; and though some words were
appended to his name, of which “son of Sir George,”
only; is now legible, the filiation line, and that writing,
have both been covered with pieces of paper, as if it
were wished to obliterate all indications of the first
statements ; and upon the paper thus pasted over them,
Humphrey is connected with Sir George Cornwall by
the straight filiation line of legitimacy. These facts
prove, that though Humphrey was, in the first instance,
recorded by the Heralds as a bastard, they were after-
wards convineced, and probably by some decision in a
Court of Law, that he was, de jure, legitimate *.

The most important case, in relation to the law of legi-
timacy, in the reign of Elizabeth, was that of a person
of the name of Bury, in the county of Devon, whose
wife had been divorced from him, on the ground of im-
potency ; and who afterwards married Sir George Carey,
of the same county. That case will be fully stated,
though it is has not been thought requisite to notice
every case, in which illegitimacy has been alleged, in
consequence of the impotency of the husband.

! In the College of Arms.

* It is said in Nash’s History of Worcestershive (Vol. L., p. 54), that on
the complaint of William Nanfan, as heir-at-law of Sir George Cornwall,
the Earl Marshal ordered the Heralds to make a proclamation of Humphrey
Cornwall’s real birth at the visitation of the Counties of Worcester and
Hereford in 1569, If this proceeding did oceur, it could have had no effect
on his legal status; and it appears that those Heralds, or their successors,
were subsequently convinced of his legitimacy.
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The particulars of this affair, as stated by a topogra- :EE.['-T{ ';"

phical writer!, impart some interest to the report of Webber,

the legal points involved in the decision. “John Bury, e
o] .

of Colleton, married first Thomasine, daughter and heir ———

of John Giffard, of Yeo, from whom he was divorced ;

and she re-married unto Sir George Carey. His brother

Hugh, abusing his simplicity, enjoyed the profits of his

land, and kept him as a prisoner, and wastefully consumed,

and sold the land ; but John, having stolen from his

brother, secretly married one Mongey’s daughter, and

had issue, Humfrey, which was secretly brought up

from the knowledge of Hugh Bury ; which Humfrey,

when he came to full age, sued for the land, and after

much trouble concerning the validity of the divorce be-

twixt his father and his first wife, at length recovered

back all the land which was sold by his uncle Hugh.”

The case was tried in Michaelmas Term, 40 & 41
Eliz., November 1598, in the Common Pleas, and is
thus reported by Lord Coke. ¢ Between Webber and
Bury, in an “ gjectio firmee,” a special verdict was given
on a divorce between Bury and his wife, ¢ causa frigidi-
tatis,” and that the wife for three years after the marriage,

“ remansit virgo intacta propter perpetuam impotentiam
generationis in viro, et quod vir fuit inaptus ad generan-
dum.” And in this special verdict all the examinations
of the witnesses, on which the Judge in the Spiritual
Court was moved to give his sentence, and which were
deposed in the same case, by which the perpetual in-
firmity and disability of Bury ¢ ad generandum,” was
manifest (which were not entered in a former verdict, on
which judgment was given,) by which it was pretended,
that by reason of his perpetual impotency, the issue
which he had by the second wife was illegitimate ; and
that was the doubt in this cause which the Jury con-

' Sir William Pole’s * Collections towards a Description of the County of
Deven,”” p. 433,

F 3
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ceived : and 1t was adjudged that the issue by the se-
cond wife was legitimate ; for it is clear that by the
divorce, ¢ causa frigiditatis,” the marriage was dissolved,
“a vinculo matrimoni,” and by consequence each of
them might marry again. Then admitting the second
marriage was voidable, yet it remains a marriage until it
be dissolved; and by consequence the issue, which is
had during the coverture, if no divorce be in the life of
the parties, is lawful. See 36 Ass. 10; 39 E. 3, 32; 28
H. 8 ; Bastardy, 44. Bracton, lib. 2, fol. 29; 12 H. 7,
22; 22 E. 4, Consultation 35, ¢ et semper presumitur pro
legitimatione puerorum, et filiatio non potest probari:’
Also a man may be ¢ habilis et inhabilis diversis tem-
poribus;’ and, therefore (notwithstanding the deposi-
tions by which a natural and perpetual inability before
the first sentence was deposed,) judgment was given
that the issue was lawful, according to the first judg-
ment given; and on this judgment a writ of error was
brought, and after many arguments, and great delibera-
tion, the said judgment was affirmed by Popham, Chief
Justice, and the whole Court, for the reasons and causes

1 22

aforesand .

' 5 Co, 99; 1 Anderson, 185. This Case is thus noticed by Chief Justice
Dyer, in reference to a divoree, which had been obtained about the same timﬂ;
by the daughter of Sir Richard Lee, from her husband, a Mr. Sabell, for im-
potency :—=Simile judicium in eodem anno, vel anno proximo sequente, fuit
done versus Bury in comit. Devon, ad sectam uxoris sum, et la feme
nupta fuit Cary, per que el aver issue, et done tout sa inheritance a Cary,
sa second baron. Et Bury auxy fuit marry a un autre feme de que il avoit
issue, ut asseritur ; et in cest case 'oppinion des Doctors est, que donques les
persons seront compell de communer et cohabiter, ut vir et uxor, eo quod
Sancta Ecelesia decepta fuit in priori judicio et ideo grand smt fuit fait
de staier 'engrossing del fine, sed post unum terminum fuit ingros per
mandatum des Justices, contra mandatum custodis magni sigilli.—Duyer
also notices the case of Stafford v. Mongy, in the 37 Eliz., in which
a man, who had been divorced from his wife for impotency, had married
again, and had issue by his second wife, but the second marriage was held
to be void, for the civilians considered, “ qui aptus est ad unam, aptus est
ad aliam, et quando potentia reducitur ad actum debet redire ad primas nup-
tias,”"—FEx lib. Mr. Tho, Tempest. It is also stated that, * impotentia ¢t
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The earliest case of Adulterine Bastardy in the reign Case of
Done and

of James the First, is that of Done and Egerton v. Egertonw.
Hinton and Starkey; and though no regular report ;i}::f:;,;md
of it has been found, it is evident from the manner in ;él;-“i L.
which it is cited by Chief Justice Rolle, that the law ‘——
on the subject had then undergone no change. In
Hilary Term 14 Jac. I. a cause was tried in the Star
Chamber, in which Done and Egerton were plaintiffs,
and two Hintons and Starkey defendants, before the
Lord Chancellor Ellesmere, Sir Henry Montague, Chief
Justice of the King's Bench, and Sir Henry Hobart,
Chief Justice of the Common Pleas'. The question
at issue is not stated, but the following points appear
to have been discussed, and decided. It was held by
the Chancellor, and the Chief Justice of the King’s
Bench, against the opinion of Hobart, that “if a hus-
band be castrated, so that it is apparent that he cannot,
by any possibility, beget issue, and if divers years after-
wards his wife has issue, it shall be a bastard, although
it was begot within marriage ; because it is evident that
it cannot be legitimate.” On the same occasion, the
Judges and the Chancellor were unanimously of opinion
that, “if a married woman has issue in adultery, still,
if the husband be able to beget issue, and is within
the four seas, it is not a bastard.” It was then also
agreed per curiam, ¢ that if a woman elopes and lives in
adultery with another, and during that time the issue is
born in adultery, still it is a mulier by our law;” “ but

frigiditas quod ad hamc est causa sufficient divorce apres I'exploration et
tryal per trois ans et autre ceremonies injoyne per Cunons, et le second
marriage d’ambideux est bone, nient obstant que le party impotent aver
children,” Harrison's Reading, Lent 1632, Carr et FEssex’s case conir’ a
cest jour per Seignior de Windsore, is likewise referred to. Dyer’s Reports,
179.

' Rolle's Abridgment, I, p. 358. Much trouble has been taken to find
a fuller report of this case, or some record of the proceedings, but without
SUCCEss,
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the husband must be within the four seas, ctherwise the
issue is a bastard.” The same Judges likewise ruled,
that, ¢ if the wife of a man who had been beyond the
sea for such time, before the birth of the issue which
the wife had in his absence, that the issue could not be -
his, it is a bastard '.”

This case shows, that it was then held by the Judges,
that the presumption of legitimacy of children born
during coverture, could only be rebutted by evidence
of divorce, impotence, or absence from the realm, at
the time when the child was begotten; and hence,
that the principle of the ¢ four seas” was still in full
operation.

In Michaelmas Term, 17 Jac. I., the case of Alsop
v. Bowtrell was tried, in which the question was, whether
one Edmund Andrews, who died on the 23rd of March
1610, leaving his wife privement enceinte, but who was
not delivered until the 5th* of January 1611 (being forty
weeks and nine days), and who then gave birth to a
daughter, named Elizabeth, shall be reputed the father
of the said child, or that she was a bastard ? It was proved
that “ Edmund Andrews, father of the said Edmund
who was dead, had, out of malice to his son’s wife, much
abused, and caused her to be dislodged from places
where she was harboured, and to lie in the cold streets ;
and that she was so treated for six weeks together before
her travail®;” but being taken into the house of a woman,
who commiserated her situation, and having warmth
and sustenance administered to her, she was delivered,
within twenty-four hours afterwards, of the said Eliza-
beth.” These facts being proved, five women of good
credence, and two doctors of physic?, affirmed upon their

-

Relle’s Abridement, 1., 358.

gth of January in Relle's Abridgment, 1., 356,

# She was in travail six weeks before she was delivered,—Ibid.
Doctors Paddy and Mumford,—Ibid,
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oaths, that the child came in time convenient to be the
daughter of the husband who died ; that the usunal period
for a woman to go with child, was nine months and ten
days, viz. menses solares, that is, thirty days to the
month, and that by reason of the want of strength in the
woman or the child, or by reason of ill usage, she might
be a longer time, namely, to the end of ten months or
more, as both ancient and modern authors and expe-
rience proved, The Court held that it might well be as
the physicians had affirmed, and that ten months may be
said, properly, to be the time, mulieribus pariendo con-
stitutum. Against this a record was produced, Trin.
18 Edw. 1. Rot. 13. (Radwell’s case') in this Court,
that because a woman went eleven months after the
death of her husband, it was resolved that the issue was
not legitimate, being born post ultimum tempus mu-
lieribus pariendo constitutum ; but note, that it is not
there shown what was ultimum tempus pariendo mulie-
ribus constitutum ; and the physicians further affirmed
that a perfect birth may be at seven months, according
to the strength of the mother, or of the child himself,
which is as long before the time of the proper birth;
and for the same reason it may be as long deferred by
accident, which is commonly occasioned by infirmities
of the body, or passions of the mind. The Court there-
upon told the Jury that the said Elizabeth, who was born
forty weeks and more after the death of the said Ed-

B L)

mund, might well be his daughter?,

1 Vide p. 32 antea,

? Cro. Jag. 541. The Court in this, as in most other instances, acted
upon the principle alluded to by Judge Dodderidge a few years before,
that * the best shall be presumed, and this shall be for the legitimation of
the heir, and so, he observed, it was said in Burgess's case, * Quod semper
praessumitur pro legitimatione puerorum.’” Harris v. Austen, in 13 Jaq.,
3 Bulstrode, 42. Burgess's case has not been found. On the trial of Alsop
and Bowtrell, a man midwife stated on oath, that he had known a woman to
be delivered of a child, and two weeks afterwards to be delivered of another,

Case of
Alsop v.
Bowtrell,
17 Jac.
16149,

ST RS
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A case of disputed legitimacy, which happened in the
4th Car. L, is of considerable importance. A man of the
name of John Thecar, died seised of lands held in capite
of the Crown; and according to two inquisitions, one
taken by the escheator virtute officii, and the other
virtute brevis, it was found that Ann Posthuma Thecar,
who was born two hundred and eighty-one days and
sixteen hours after his decease', was his daughter and
heiress. His brother endeavoured to traverse the inqui-
sitions, on the ground that the child was not Thecar’s,
but was begotten by one Duncomb, with whom the
wife had cohabited before her husband’s death, and
whom she married only six days after his decease. It
was also alleged, that Thecar had been induced to marry
this woman during his minority, without the consent of
his friends, and that he was incapable of procreation for
six months before he died. The case was very elabo-
rately argued in the Common Pleas, in Michaelmas
Term 1628; and it was said by the Counsel, who in-
sisted that it was not the child of Thecar, that it had been
proved, that by no possibility of nature could Thecar
have begotten a child for six months before his decease;
and Bracton and the Fleta were cited to show, that
where the issue is born during espousals, no regular
inquiry could be made whether it was the husband’s
(Duncomb) child, if he was within the four seas, unless
it be imperfectio legitima by infirmity, &e.; that the
1ssue may not be the true heir of the husband, but “ est
heeres quem nuptiee demonstrant;” and that here there
was proof to the contrary, and proof exceeds presump-

and the physicians gave their opinions, that nature was rapid or tardy, ac-
cording to the nutriment of the mother.— Rolle's Abridgment, 1., 356.

! The Reports state, loosely, that the husband died in January, and that
the child was born on the 21st of July following, The exact period men-
tioned in the text, is taken from Lord Ilale’s Note on this case in Hargrave's
edition of Coke's First Institute.
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tion ; therefore this child was the child of Duncomb, éi:ﬁ??
and so ought to be considered. He cited the case :ﬂal
21 Edw. IILY, which he said made strongly for him, —W8—
and the book intituled “ Terms of the Law?,” and other
authorities, to prove that an infant might be born in six
months. It was contended, by the other side, that the
child could not be Duncomb’s, because it had been found
by ventre inspiciendo, at the death of Thecar, that his
widow had then been pregnant twenty weeks, and ex-
pected to be delivered within twenty weexs following,
and that she was accordingly delivered in twenty-two
weeks ; that the appearance of the infant proved that it
could not be a seven months’ child, and therefore that
it could not be Duncomb’s ; that two inquisitions had
found that it was the heir of Theear; and that as it was
born six months after the marriage with Duncomb, it
must either be Theecar’s, or a bastard; and that a tra-
verse could not be admitted when a true (loyal) heir was
found. Finch, Recorder of London, observed, ¢ it can-
not be a bastard in any way, for it is born after mar-
riage.”
case by Littleton, Winchcomb, or Croke ? ; but according
to Lord Hale’s M3, note, the question was tried by a
jury, and the child was found to be the issue of Thecar.
The same note states that it was agreed, 1st, That if the

No decision is mentioned in the report of this

! Vide p. 34 antea.

? The Terms of the Law, which was first published in 1563, contains little
on the subject of this inquiry, the following being the only passages which
bear upon it. “ If a woman bee great with childe with her husbande, and
her husbande dyeth, and shee take another husbande, and after the childe is
borne, than the chylde shalbee saide the chylde of the furste husbande. But
if she were pryvilye with childe at the tyme of y* death of her furst husband,
then hee shalbe saide the chylde of the seconde husband. Also if a manne
take a wife whiche is great with childe withe another that was not her hus-
bande, and after the childe is born within y° espousels, than he shall bee
saide the childe of y¢ husbande, thoughe it were born but one day after the
espouselz solempnisat.”  Ed. 1567, f. 18",

¥ Littleton, 177 ; Cro.Jaq., 685 ; Winchcomb, T1.
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woman had not married Duncomb, the child would,
without question, not be a bastard, but would be ad-
judged the child of Thecar; 2nd, That no averment shall
be received that Thecar did not cohabit with his wife ;
3rd, That though it was possible, that the son [daughter]
might be begotten after the husband’s death, yet, being
a question of fact, it was tried by a jury, and the son
[daughter] was found to be the issue of Thecar'. This
case shows that the strong presumption that the child was
begotten by the second husband, arising from the non-
access of the first husband for a long time before his
death, during which time he was incapable of procreation,
the suspicion that the mother had an adulterous connec-
tion with Duncomb, her marrying him with indecent
haste immediately after her husband’s decease, and the
possibility that the conception, as well as the birth, took
place subsequent to the second marriage, were insuffi-
cient to prove that the infant was not, by law, the child
of Thecar. The first husband was within the four seas;
and the averment that he was impotent when the infant
was begotten, (supposing that it had attained its full time
when it was born) was not received. The rule of law was
imperative, and could not be relaxed upon probabilities,
however strong; or upon circumstantial evidence, even
though that evidence amounted, as in this case, almost to
positive proof.

Before proceeding with the cases in which the law of
Adulterive Bastardy has been mooted, it must be ob-
served, that Lord Coke’s First Institute was published
about the year when Thecer’s case was decided ; and
the inquiry into the Law on the subject, at the acces-
sion of Charles the First, is of interest to the legal
profession, because it is intimately connected with the
reputation of the most profoundly learned writer on

! Hargrave's Note, 1 Inst., 123 b, See Thomas's edition, 1 Inst., vol, I,
p. 141.
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Jurisprudence, which England has produced, whose
definition of the law of legitimacy has been impeached
by grave authority, as “ not being the law of England, but
a certain law laid down by Lord Coke,” as ““ not being
borne out by the authority referred to,” and as “ being

1 2»

inconsistent with the earlier and later decisions '.

In the First Institute, which was originally published
in 1628, Lord Coke says:

“ But we term them all by the name of Bastard that
be born out of lawful marriage. By the Common Law,
if the husband be within the four seas, that is, within the
jurisdiction of the King of England, if the wife hath
issue, no proof is to be admitted to prove the child a
bastard, (for in that case, filiatio non potest probari) un-
less the husband hath an apparent impossibility of pro-
creation ; as if the husband be but eight years old, or under
the age of procreation, such issue is a Bastard, albeit
he be born within marriage. But if the issue be born
within a month or a day after marriage, between parties
of full lawful age, the child is legitimate®,

! Lord Redesdale’s Speech on the Banbury Claim, in 1813.—Le Marchant’s
Report of the Garduer Case, Appendix, p. 437. Vide postea.

* First Institute, 244%, The following are the authorities cited by Lord
Coke, in the first edition of that work, for the statement, all of which have
been mnoticed in the preceding pages of this work : Bracton, lib. 4,
pp- 278, 279; Y.B. 7 Hen 1V.,9; 39 Edw. IIL, 13; 41 Edw.111., 7;
43 Edw. I11L., 19; 44 Edw. ILL.,, 10 ; 29 Ass. 54 ; 98 Ass, 24; 1 Hen. VI,,
7; 18 Edw. IV., 28 and 30. In a MS. note to this edition of the First
Institute, in the British Museum, the proverb of ¢ the cow and the call™
is thus added, as an illustration of the passage, “ For whose the cow
is (as it is commonly said) his is the calf alse.” Mr. (now Chief
Justice) Tindal observed on this dictum of Lord Coke, when counsel
in the Gardner case, * In the time when Lond Coke wrote, it is clear that
the Common Law still adhered to the same mode of determining the ques-
tion, namely, the single point whether possible or impossible ; not indeed
whether possible on account of the husband heing within the four seas, the nega-
tion of which was only an example of impossibility, and put upon the books to
show the extent to which such impossibility was carvied, but whether there was
an actual impossibility, by the separation of the parties, which prevented the

one from bearing, or the other from procreating, or whether for any other
2
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In another part of the same work, when noticing pre-
sumptions of Law, Lord Coke repeats that doctrine:

“ So if a man be within the four seas, and his wife hath
a child, the law presumeth that it is the child of the
husband, and against this presumption the law will admit
no proof.”

Nor was this dictum confined to the First Institute.
It again occurs, in the following words, in the Fourth
Institute, where, speaking of the power of Parliament,
Lord Coke says, “ It may bastard a child that by law
is legitimate, viz., begotten by an adulterer, the husband
being within the four seas®.”

In Coke’s Report of the case of Kenn, in the 4th
Jaq. I, a similar statement is made :—“ A man may be
a bastard in the Temporal Law, and mulier in the Spi-
ritual Law, and e converso. As a man who is begotten
in adultery during the coverture, 1s mulier by the Tem-
poral Law, and bastard by the Spiritual Law .”

When the legal knowledge of Lord Coke, and the
fact that he was, for a long time, either Chief Justice
of the Common Pleas, or Chief Justice of England, are
considered, it must appear extremely improbable, that
he should venture to lay down the law of Adulterine Bas-
tardy in this manner, to allow the statement to remain
unaltered in the different editions of the First Institute,
which he revised, and to repeat it in the Fourth Insti-
tute, if such was not generally known, and universally
admitted to be, sound and undoubted Law by the pro-
fession, Lord Coke’s labours were criticised with un-

impossibility which the mind may suggest to itself, arising from that which
the law calls a non-access, for the purpose of procreating children.”—Le
Marchant, Report of the Gardner Case, pp. 230, 231.

1 First Inst. 373,

2 Fourth Iunstitute, p. 36, the Marquis of Winchester's case, in Rot. Parl.
5 & 6 Edw. VI, is cited by mistake for the case of the Murquis of North-
ampton, Vide p. 59, antea.

3 7 Report, 43,
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sparing severity ; but no lawyer of his times ventured to
mmpugn his definition of the Law on this subject. He
referred to the authorities upon which his statement
was founded ; and it is confidently submitted, that those
authorities afford conclusive evidence that such was
the Law of England, from the reign of Edward the
First, if not from a much earlier epoch, to the period
when Coke lived. Independent of the authorities in
the Year Books, and the declarations in Acts of
Parliament, the law had been so ruled on various
occasions in Coke’s own time, and probably in his
presence, either as Counsel or as Judge. Lord Coke
certainly did not “make " that law ; nor did he presume
to stram or alter it, to suit his own theories, or his own
prejudices. As he found the Law, so he described it.
He adopted the language of preceding writers. He used
nearly the ipsissima verba of the Year Books; and
proofs will be adduced, that succeeding Judges for near-
ly a century after his decease, administered the Law
according to his definition of it, not because that defi-
nition was the earliest, or the only authority, but because
it embodied, in few words, what the Courts had, during
many ages, ruled to be Law. To say therefore that Lord
Coke “ made ” that law; or indeed that he was the
author of the definition which he has given of it, was
at variance with the truth.

Although the principle of refusing evidence of non-
access, if the husband was within the realm, is now
exploded, the cause of its having fallen into desuetude,
did not arise from any doubt of the correctness of
Lord Coke’s definition, but from the absurdity and in-
justice which that principle was presumed to involve,
It was, therefore, scarcely to be expected that a noble
Lord of great legal learning, who had filled one of the
highest judicial offices, would venture to say that the law
thus laid down by Lord Coke, was “ not the law of

Lord Coke.
— et
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Lord Coke. England, but a certain law laid down by Lord Coke in
his Commentary on the Institutes ; that he was too fond
of making the law instead of declaring the law; and of
telling untruths to support his own opinions ; that an
obstinate persistence in any opinion he had embraced,
was a leading defect in his character; and that Mr.
Hargrave had shewn that that statement of the law is
not borre out by the authority referred to by the text,
and was inconsistent with the earlier and later deci-
sions.” With “later” decisions Coke’s definition had
nothing to do. He could not anticipate what would be
the conduct of future Judges, or how far they might
refuse to be governed by precedents, and allow consi-
derations of convenience, to supersede a rule of law
which had been established by an uninterrupted series
of decisions, for nearly five hundred years. That Coke’s
statement, so far from being at variance with, was
founded upon “ earlier ” decisions, is unquestionable.

Itis to be particularly observed that Lord Coke is not
the only one of his contemporaries, in whose works this
definition of the Law is to be found; for there is not a single
legal writer of the period, who does not express himself to
the same effect, and in nearly the same words. In the
numerous abridgments of the Law which appeared be-
fore Coke wrote, including those of Fitz-Herbert and
Brooke, the Law is stated in the words of the cases in the
Year Books, to which he refers as his authority ; and
those statements are repeated in the Abridgments of
Rolle?, Shepherd® and Danvers?, which appeared to-
wards the close of the seventeenth, or early in the
eighteenth century. Serjeant Rolle (who became a

! Lord Redesdale’s Speech on the Claim to the Earldom of Banbury.—
Le Marchant's Report of the Gardner Case. Vide postea.

? Printed in 1668, under the superintendence of Sir Matthew Hale,

3 Ed. 16735.

4 Ed. 1705.
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Justice of the King’s Bench in 1645, and who was Chief
Justice of England from 1648 to 1655,) appears to
have paid great attention to the subject, as some of the
most important cases are only to be found in his work ;
and nowhere is the law more strongly laid down, that a
child of a married woman could not be bastardized, if
the husband was within the four seas, except he were
impotent, or divorced from his wife.

In the second edition of a Treatise on the Common
Law, by Sir Henry Finch, which was published in 1627,
it is said : “ He that is begotten out of marriage is call-
ed a Bastard; for if a woman great with child take a
husband, the issue born (though it be within six weecks
after) is no bastard : or if the wife elope from her hus-
band, and continue inadultery, yet the issue born during
that time (if both be within the four seas) is intended
lawfully begotten. And if one die, his wife privement
enceinte, (that is, so with child as it 1g not discerned) and
she take another husband, the issue born within a month
(or such a time as it is impossible he should beget it)
shall be accounted the son of her first husband ; and such
a bastard is of blood to none ; in law, nullius filius'.”

In a Treatise on the Civil and Ecelesiastical Law, by Sir
Thomas Ridley, Doctor of Civil Law, which was pub-
lished in 1607, (more than twenty years before the First
Institute appeared) and the second edition of which Trea-
tise was printed in 16347, the author says, ¢ Of Bastards,
some are begot and born of single women, (in which rank
also I put widows) some other of married women. Those
which were begotten of married women were called
nothi, because they seemed to be his children whom
the marriage doth show, but are not, no otherwise than

! Fineh's Law, p. 127, The passage remained unaltered in all the subse-

quent editions,
* The passage occurs verbatim in both editions,
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some fevers are called not/ke, that is, bastard fevers, be-
cause they imitate the tertian or quartan fever in heat,
and other accidents, but yet are neither tertians nor
quartans, as the learned physicians well know. But
these are counted so to be Bastards, if either the hus-
band were so long absent from his wife, as by no possibi-
lity of nature the child could be hig, or that the adulterer
and adulteress were so known to keep company together,
as that by just account of time, it could not fall out to
be any other man’s child but the adulterer’s himself ; and
yet, in these very cases within this realm, unless the hus-
band be all the time of the impossibility beyond the seas,
the rule of the law holds true, ¢ pater est quem nuptia
demonstrant'.” ”’

No reported case of legitimacy, except perhaps
that of Hospell and Collins, which will be particu-
larly noticed hereafter, has been found after this period,
until the proceedings on the claim to the Earldom of
Banbury in 1661 ; and as a full report of that case will
be found in another part of this volume, it will only be
here observed, that according to the very imperfect notes
of the proceedings before the Lords’ Committees for Pri-
vileges in that year, the Counsel for the claimant cited
Lord Coke’s First Institute, 244: ¢ Not to be disputed
whether son or no, if father be within the four seas,
though wife be in adultery ;”” that the Attorney-general,
on the part of the Crown, “ confessed the law clear ;” and
that the Committee reported to the House of Lords that,
¢ according to the law of the land, he [the claimant] is
legitimate.” The report presented on the 7th of July 1661
was, that “ Nicholas, Earl of Banbury, is a legitimate
person ;” but the House of Lords refused to adopt that
report, and heard evidence and arguments before the

! Ibid, Ed. 1634, pp 243 244,
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whole House; after which it again referred the matter Banbury
to the Committee ; and the Committee a second time re- oo ;.
ported in favour of the claimant’s legitimacy. The oppo- —
nents of the claim being, however, determined to resist
it, the House proposed to bastardize the claimant by
an Act of Parliament, which is merely alluded to, in
this place, on account of the declaration which it con-
tains, of what was considered to be law, at the very time
when those proceedings were instituted. The Bill, which
never proceeded beyond the first reading in the House of
Lords, stated, “ that the illegitimation of children born in
wedlock can no way be declared but by Act of Parliament.”
It then stated, “ that the said Nicholas shall be de-
clared and enacted to be illegitimate to all intents and
purposes whatsoever, and to be incapable and disabled
to inherit any of the honours and dignities, or any other
honours, manors, lands, tenements or hereditaments,
as heir, or heir male of the body of William Earl of
Banbury.”

The only inferences of which this Bill admits, are
that the individual whom it concerned was legitimate ;
that he could only be rendered illegitimate by an Act of
the Legislature ; and that, in no other way, could a child,
who was born during coverture, be bastardized, except
the husband was separated from his wife by sentence
of divorce, was impotent, or was absent from the realm,
at the time of its conception. In the Banbury case,
up to the period when the Bill was introduced, the
Counsel for the claimant, the Attorney-general, and
the Lords’ Committee, acted upon the Law, as it was then
universally understood. From a- strong feeling, that
though the claimant was de jure, he was not de facto,
the child of the Earl of Banbury, the majority of the
Lords determined, that he should not succeed to the

inheritance of the person, who, according to the law of
G 2



(

:;:::ury the land, was his father ; and following a few precedents

16601,  in the worst period of English history, their Lordships

T determined to render him illegitimate by an Act of Parlia-
ment. Whether just or unjust, it is undeniable that such
a measure would have been legal; and notwithstanding
the prejudice which existed against the claimant, no at-
tempt was made to effect so important a change in his
status, by warping the existing law for that purpose.

If the Bill had been proceeded with, the claimant
and his descendants might have complained of being
harshly and severely treated ; but they would at least
have been disinherited by the law of the land. Although
a right of inheritance has been withheld from them
by a majority of the House of Lords, those rights have
always been acknowledged by a large body of the House
itself; and the Judges seem, until the present century,
to have been fully impressed with the legal justice of the
claim.

1bid, 1693, In January 1693, when the claim was renewed, it

T was proposed that ¢ all the Judges be heard such ques-
tion as shall be asked relating to the points in law in this
case;” but the motion was negatived by the votes of
thirty-eight to twenty-nine Peers. That the proposition
was made by those Peers who supported the claim, is
shown by the parties who voted for referring to the
Judges, being the identical Peers who voted in favour of
the claimant’s right. Their confidence in the justice of
the claim, is therefore most satisfactorily shown by their
wishing to consult the Judges ; and no other conelusion
can be drawn from the refusal of the majority of the
Lords than that they were conscious, that the opinion
of those learned persons would be inconsistent with their
Lordships” wishes and intentions.

This is not the place to comment upon the extra-
ordinary fact, that on a question of law, involving
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the most important rights of a subject, a Court, com-
posed almost entirely of laymen, should have pertina-
ciously refused the wish of no less than twenty-nine
members of its own body, to consult the Judges, whom
the Constitution has expressly assigned to the House for
its assistance and guidance on points of law. That
the twenty-nine dissentient Peers should ask leave to
protest, and desire thus to prove to posterity that they,
at least, were no party to so objectionable a proceeding,
marks the strong feeling which they entertained upon
the subject.

A curious case of adulterine bastardy happened about
the time when the Banbury question was agitated.
John Manners Lord Roos, son and heir apparent of the
Earl of Rutland, married, in 1658, Anne Pierrepoint,
eldest daughter of the Marquess of Dorchester, by
whom he had a daughter, who died an infant in Febru-
ary 1659, [query, 1660.] He then travelled abroad,
and during hiz absence, his wife formed an illicit inter-
course with some other person', by whom she had a
child, who is described in the subsequent proceedings, by
the appellation of “Ignotus.” On the 19th of Apri
1662, a Bill was read a first time in the House of Lords,
entitled “ An Act for illegitimating of the child named
Ignotus, born of the body of the Lady Anne Roos;”
and on the question being put, whether this Bill shall
be rejected ? it was resolved in the negative. It was
read a second time on the 21st of that month, when the
House ordered, that the cause concerning Anne Lady
Roos, wife of John Lord Roos, upon a Bill and petition
depending before it, should be heard on the 6th of May
by Counsel on both sides, and that she should have
free liberty to go in and out in safety, in looking after
her business, whilst the cause was pending. Four

! Collins's Peerage, Edl. 1779, Vol. V, p. 442,
G 3
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Counsel were assigned to her ; and copies of the petition
were directed to be given to the Marquess of Dorches-
ter, and the Earl of Rutland, if they pleased. The
matter was postponed to the 7th of May, on which
day it was put off, “in regard of the great and public
affairs of the kingdom,” until the first Thursday after
the next meeting after the recess'. Nothing further,
however, took place until the year 1666; when Lord
Roos is said to have obtained a divorce from the Eccle-
siastical Court ; and in October in that year a Bill for
the illegitimation of the children of Lady Anne Roos
“ was brought into the House of Lords, and read a first
time*, The Bill was read a second time on the 24th of
October, when it was ordered to be taken into serious
consideration on the 14th of November, on its com-
mitment, at which time Lady Roos might be heard;
and notice was to be given to her for that purpose®
On the appointed day, it was said that she was in Ire-
land, and the House proceeded to the commitment of
the Bill', On the 10th of December all the Judges,
or any three of them, and Sir William Turner and Sir
Walter Walker, Doctors of the Civil Law, were directed
to attend the Committee to whom the Bill was com-
mitted®. The Committee did not make their report
until the 5th of January 1667 ; and it is to be regretted
that its proceedings have not been preserved, because
the opinions, which the civilians and common law Judges
ogave to the Committee, would have shown what was
then considered to be law, on the subject of Adulterine
Bastardy. The Committee stated that they had made
some alterations and amendments in the Bill, and had
added a proviso, concerning the claim of the Duke of

b Eols’ J:rm‘mu's, b, I 433, -131, 445, 450, 4 Thid. p- 28,
T Ihid. X11. 15. & Thid. P- 43,
& Thid, X1T. 17.
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Buckingham to the title of Lord Roos'. The Bill was
fully discussed on the following day, when the House
agreed to the alterations ; and Lady Roos was ordered to
be served with notice to attend on the 11th. On that
day witnesses were examined, and counsel heard at the
bar* ; and the House adopted a course, which had
certainly the merit of being the most direct mode of
arriving at the fact, but which was at variance with
the" first principles of evidence. Lord Roos was Aimself
permitted, at his own request, to state upon oath that
““ since the 4th of March 1659%, and several months
before, he had no carnal knowledge of his wife, the
Lady Anne Roos.” With this statement the House, it
1s said, “ being satisfied concerning the truth of the
matter-of-fact contained in the said Bill, ordered it to
be engrossed,” and it was read a third time on the
ensuing day!. The assent of the Commons was sig-
nified to the Lords on the 29th of January; and it
received the Royal assent on the 8th of the following
February®. The Bill, which proceeded on a petition from
the Earl of Rutland and his son Lord Roos, stated,
“ That whereas the Lady Anne, wife of your subject,
John Lord Roos, did wilfully, maliciously, and contrary
to her husband’s express command, go from his house
March the 4th, 1659, and, abandoning all honour and vir-
tue, professed not to love her husband, frequented light,
loose company in an impudent, infamous, and lascivious
way, and did wilfully and obstinately depart and elope
from her said husband, living in the said time of her
elopement in notorious adultery, and in the time of her
adulterous and lewd living, she hath brought forth two
male children, the first baptized by the name of Ignotus,

! Lords’ Journals, p. 67. 4 Lords' Journals, XII. p. T1.
2 Ibid. p. 68. 5 Ibid. p 99. 110.
¥ Probably the 4th of March 1659-1660.
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and the second said to be baptized by the name of
Charles, for which adultery, clearly proved in the Court
of Arches, sentence of divorce is passed in the said
Conrt, to divorce the said John Lord Roos and the Lady
Anne ; since which divorce the Lady Anne, continuing
in her vicious and abominable way of living, hath
brought forth another male child, born of her at West
Chester, said to be baptized by the name of Henry, the
which children, thus notoriously begotten in adultery,
by the laws of this your realm, are or may be accounted
legitimate, and may inherit the honours, manors, lands,
tenements, and hereditaments of the said John Earl of
Rutland and John Lord Roos, that shall be left to
descend, to their high discomfort, sorrow of their rela-
tions, the great scandal to all worthy women, and em-
boldening of all such like graceless, wicked wives ; for
reformation whereof, let it please your most excellent
Majesty, out of your princely goodness and compassion
to their misfortune, and according to the exumples of
your royal predecessors, in the like case, that it may be
enacted,” &e. “ that the said three children, born of the
body of the said Lady Anne, called Ignotus, Charles and
Henry, or by what names soever they be called or known,
be, are, and shall be hereby deemed, adjudged, accepted
and taken to be bastards, and illegimate, to all intents
and purposes whatsoever, from their several births; and
be and each and every of them, and all descending or
coming, or which shall descend or come from them, or
any of them, is and are hereby, from time to time, dis-
abled, made incapable, and clearly barred to inherit any
honours, manors, lands, tenements or other heredita-
ments as heir or heirs of the said John Earl of Rutland,
or of the said John Lord Roos, or of any person or per-
sons whatsoever, or as heir male or heirs male of the
body of the said John Earl of Rutland, or the body of

—
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the said John Lord Roos, or of either of them, by any
means whatsoever?!,” &e. '

In March 1669-1670, a Bill was brought in to enable
Lord Roos to marry again, which was opposed by his
wife, who appeared against it at the bar of the House of
Lords in person®; and the question was made a political
one, from its being supposed that the Bill would form a
precedent for divoreing the King and Queen. After being
vigorously resisted by the Duke of York, and the Peers
of his party, against those who adhered to the Court, it
was, however, passed ; the Duke and thirty-three other
Peers, having protested against the measure®.

As the proceedings of the Committee to which the
Bill for illegitimating Lady Roos’s children was referred,
are not extant, it is impossible to state what opinions
were given by the Judges and Civilians on the law of
the case; but the facts admit of no other inference,
than that those learned persons considered the Bill in-

! The Bill then proceeds to disable any other children that might be after-
wards born of Lady Roos, from inheriting any lands or honours of her hus-
band's family, But itis provided that ** this Act, nor anything herein con-
tained, shall [query not] be construed to debar or hinder the said children
from having or claiming any manors, lands, tenements or hereditaments,
which are descended or come to the said Lady Anne, in possession, rever-
sion, remainder or expectancy, as one of the co-heirs of Paul, late Viscount
Banning.” The last clause prevents the attribution of the title of Lord
Roos, in the Act, from being prejudicial to the claim of the Duke of Buck-
ingham to that title.

? Lords’ Journals, XII1. pp. 300, 306, 311. 316. 322.

3 Lords’ Journals, XII. 310, 329, Burnet's History of his own Time,
vol. 1L p. 367; vol. 1I1. p. 175. Evelyn says, “ 22nd March, T went
to Westminster, where, in the House of Lords, I saw his Majesty on his
throne, but without his robes, all the peers sitting with their hats on, the
business of the day being the divorce of my Lord Roos. Such an occasion
and sight had not been seen in England since the time of Henry VIIL"—
Memoirs, vol. 11. p 320. Nothing, however, is said in the Journals to have
taken place on the subject on the day mentioned by Evelyn, though the King
was then present. The date should perhaps be the 24th of that month.—
Journals, X11. pp 322, 323,
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digpensable for the object in view. Unless the old rule,
that the legitimacy of children born of a married woman
could not be impeached, except for the special matter so
often mentioned, was then considered Law, and was so
stated to the Committee, it is extremely unlikely that the
Bill would have been proceeded with, The measure was
by no means popular ; and if the children could have been
rendered illegitimate by a trial at Common Law, there
is every reason for supposing that that course would have
been preferred.

It appears from the preamble to the Bill, that Lady
Roos quitted her husband’s house on the 4th of March
1659-16¢0, and after her elopement “ lived in notorious
adultery in an impudent and lascivious way ;" that “ in
the time of her adulterous and lewd living ” she had given
birth to two children ; that on proof of her adultery be-
fore the Ecclesiastical Court, sentence of divorce had
been passed; and that since her divorce she had been
delivered of another child. Yet, notwithstanding these
facts, it was evidently the opinion of the lawyers of the
day, that two, at least, of her children were legitimate;
and that they could only be disabled from inheriting
her husband’s lands and honours by an Act of Parlia-
ment.

The next case which oceurred commenced about the
year 1620, and continued until 1678; and the facts are
so remarkable, and involve points of so much interest,
that they will, for the first time, be fully stated.

Sir Jehn Villiers, eldest brother of the celebrated royal
favourite, George Duke of Buckingham, was created
Barén of Stoke, in the county of Buckingham, and Vis-
count of Purbeck, in the county of Dorset, to hold to
him, and the heirs male of his body, by patent, dated
on the 19th June, 17 Jaq. I, 1619. He married first,
about the year 1618, Frances, daughter of Lord Chief
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Justice Coke; and the circumstances conneeted with that E‘:;‘:L‘“k
unfortunate alliance are, from various causes, almost 18 Jaq. I.
matter of history. Not long after their marriage, gl A
quitted her husband', pretended to be the wife of John
Wright, and cohabited with Sir Robert Howard, by
whom it was supposed she had a son, who was born
during her separation from her husband, and was bap-
tized by the name of Robert Wright.
Proceedings were instituted against her for adultery
in the Court of High Commission, which sentenced her
to do penance in the Savoy Church for adultery®; but
she fled, and lived privately with her father at Stoke,
until his death in 1634. Towards the end of that year,
she took lodgings near the Archbishop of Canterbury’s
Palace at Lambeth, and in March 1635 was arrested
and committed to the Gate House at Westminster by the
Privy Council ; and her paramour, Sir Robert Howard,
was at the same time sent to the Fleet, though no sen-
tence had been pronounced against him®, Lady Purbeck
soon afterwards escaped from confinement, but Howard
was ordered to remain in prison until he produced her;
and a contemporary observes, that as he was in the Fleet
he could not do so, *“ for he sees nobody ; and if he were
out, would not do it; so that he is miserable, and like
to pay dear for his unlawful pleasures®.” In June, how-
ever, Howard was released on giving a bond of 2,0007,
¢ peyer more to come at the Lady Purbeck,” with bail for

! Weldon says, that ** Lord Purbeck’s brothers practised to make him mad,
and thought to bring that wretched stratagem to effect, by countenancing a
wicked woman, his wife, the Lord Coke's daughter, against him, even in her
base and lewd,living,”— Court of James I.,p. 127. Her petition to the House
of Lords, in 1641, contradicts this statement. Vide postea.

? Letter from Mr. Gerrard to Lord Strafford, dated 17th March 1631-5.
— Strafford Papers, vol. 1. p. 390,

3 [hid,

Y Ihid,, dated 19th May 1635, p. 426,
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his appearance when called upon ; “ so I hope,” adds the
writer who has just been cited, ¢ there is an end of that
business. The lady, T hear, passed in man’s clothes,
first into Jersey ; since she is in France, and there means
to continue'.”

These extracts from letters written at the period, show
that Lady Purbeck’s connection with Sir Robert Howard
was notorious ; and the severe measures adopted against
her by her husband’s relations, probably arose from their
desire to prevent her having children, because, under the
existing law, they would inherit her husband’s honours
as well as those of his family. Her own account of her
conduct 1s given in a petition, which she presented to the
House of Lords in February 1641, wherein she admitted
the birth of a son after her separation from her husband,
and that it was baptized by the name of Wright; but
she explains those circumstances, and all the proceedings
against her, in a very specious, if not convincing manner.
Her petition commenced with stating, that during her
minority, about twenty-three years before, by the com-
mand and advice of her late father, she married Vis-
count Purbeck, to whom she brought a large estate, be-
sides the sum of 10,000/ paid by her father to the Duke
of Buckingham, as part of her portion, with which he
was to purchase lands for her ; that not long after their
marriage, her husband’s mother and others, “ upon some
pretence of weakness and distemper of her lord and
husband, caused them to live apart, during which time
they disposed of his estate, the most of which came from
her father,” and left her destitute of the means of sup-
port ; that when, in her necessity, she applied to them for
succour, “she was most barbarously carried by force into
the open street, and there left void of relief ;” that as her

! Strafford Papers, dated 24th June 1635, p. 434,
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husband was “ kept from her, and she destitute,” not- IL”:;’“I
withstanding the great estate she brought to him in mar- };ﬁm- L.
riage, the late King James interfered ; in consequence e
which, the Duke of Buckingham, who managed Lord
Purbeck’s property, agreed to allow her one thousand
marks per annum, and her own jewels, apparel and fur-
niture ; but it was proposed, that the possession of her
jewels and apparel, &e. should depend upon her agree-
ing not to *“ cohabit again with her husband,” and that
her annuity should cease during such cohabitation; to
which, “ though very unreasonable,” she was obliged,
from her necessities, to consent. She then adverted to
the most material features of her case, which are best
described in her own words :

“ And although sometimes she and her husband had
the happiness afterwards to meet together, yet was the
same concealed as much as might be, to avoid the danger
and prejudice she would have sustained by the discovery
thereof; and although her husband was by them thought
too weak in understanding and distempered, as unfit to
cohabit with your petitioner, yet have such as have had
the custody of him, and disposition of his esiate, gained
from him the assurance of all his own lands of nherit-
ance, and converted and disposed great part of his other
estate to their own use, and posseszed themselves of all
the evidences of your petitioner’s father’s lands, settled
upon the marriage, which ought to remain to your peti-
tioner and her issue.

“ That not contented thus to have injured your peti-
tioner, but endeavouring to ruin her in her honour and
fortunes, the said Countess of Bucks, with many others
in her company, when your petitioner was with child,
and near her delivery, and in the night time, when she
was in bed, in a riotous and unlawful manner entered
her chamber, and there barbarously hauled her out of
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bed; and Sir Edward Villiers, knight, being one of the
company, most inhumanly held her by force, upon pre-
tence that midwives and others should search her, whe-
ther she were with child or not, to the danger of herself
and the like of her child, which enforced her to with-
draw herself to a private place, unknown to heradversa-
ries until her delivery, and to take upon her a feigned
name, both for herself and the son born of her body, and
to pretend herself to have been the wife of John Wright,
and the son, born of her body, to be entered in the re-
gister of the parish where he was christened by the
name of Robert Wright, thereby to conceal both her-
self and child from their vage and fury, which she had
Just cause, from her former barbarous usage, to fear and
suspect,

“That no sooner was it discovered that your peti-
tioner was delivered, but she and her servant, without
any cause, and contrary to the law, were committed and
detained close prisoners ; and if at any time your peti-
tioner obtained enlargement, she was again illegally com-
mitted, and if enlarged, yet upon bail, and enforced to
attendance from time to time without any cause at all,
to her great damage and dishonour ; and leaving nothing
unattempted that might wound her honour, or ruin her
and her posterity, she was cited into the High Commis-
sion Court for a supposed crime of adultery, and there,
by an unwarrantable and most illegal sentence, con-
demned and fined 5007, and unlawfully committed to
prison ; for inducing which sentence, the prosecutors en-
deavoured by negative proofs tomake appear that your
petitioner and her husband did never meet together for
above a year before her delivery, (thereby contrary to
law to blemish and asperse herissue, and contrary to
the truth, as appeared by many affirmative proofs) ; and
although your petitioner desired therein to be tried by
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her own husbhand, who best knew the truth thereof, yet
would not that be granted her ; and when she afterwards
obtained a rule in the Court of Common Pleas for a pro-
hibition to the High Commission Court, in respect of the
illegality of the said sentence, (and none did openly, or
could rationally, oppose it), yet could she not ever ob-
tain the said prohibition under seal, and that benefit
which the law affordeth, or at least ought to yield to
every subject.”

The petition proceeds to notice her imprisonment in
the Gate House, by command of the Archbishop of Can-
terbury, ¢ grounded upon the said High Commission’s
sentence as was pretended, though countenanced by
pretext of some other illegal warrant; and finding the
Archbishop’s prosecution violent, being one and a chief
judge in pronouncing the said sentence, did, to prevent
that danger which through his great power she then feared,
make an escape ; for which, in the first place, she craves
your Lordships’ honourable and favourable interpretation,
and your noble intercession to her gracious Sovereign
for his royal pardon; and that your Lordships would be
honourably pleased, as in care of her and her posterity,
to take order for the safe custody of the evidences of her
own lands, and disposing the said 10,000/, according
to the said agreement, which hitherto is not done ; so to
take all the aforesaid illegal proceedings, and her ex-
treme sufferings and damages, into your honourable
consideration, and that right may be done her according
to justice and equity ; and that William Alcocke, admi-
nistrator of the goods and chattels of the late Duke of
Bucks, the Countess of Denbigh, and such others as
pretend title to the Lord Purbeck’s lands, the Lord
Archbishop of Canterbury’s grace, Sir Henry Martin,
knight, and such others as have been the agents and

instruments in the aforesaid illegal proceedings, may be
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called to answer the premises before your Lordships, and
that your petitioner may have relief, and they receive
punishment according to their demerits'.”

On the 22nd of February 1641, the House of Lords
ordered that Lady Purbeck should have warrants to
summon her witnesses®; and that Lady Denbigh should
be allowed a few days farther time to appear®. On the
12th of May a day was appointed for hearing the case
before the Commiitee for Petitions?, and on the 15th of
June it was fixed for the ensuing Saturday; but nothing
more occurs on the Journals respecting the petition, ex-
cept that on the 30th of June?, it was ordered that the
report concerning the Lady Viscountess Purbeck should
be made on the following Monday.

Lady Purbeck died in 1645°% and her hushand, who
married a second wife but had no issue by her, died in
February 16577. Sir William Dugdale states that
Viscount Purbeck died without any issue®; and that
Robert Wright, his wife’s child, who was afterwards
called “ Villiers alias Wright,” having married Eliza-
beth, the daughter and heiress of Sir John Danvers, one
of the regicides, obtained a patent from Oliver Crom-
well to abandon the name of Villiers, and to assume
that of Danvers, upon his allegation of hatred to the
name of Villiers, in consequence of the injuries which
that family had done to the Commonwealth.

The Convention Parliament assembled in April 1660,
without any writs having been issued from the Crown;

L Harleian MS. 4746, 2 Lords’ Journals, 1V. 168, 169,

3 Lords” Journals, 1V. 246. 4 Ibid. p. 276, * Ibid. p. 293,

§ Dugdale says, ¢ What issue [her husband] had by her, T am yet to
learn.”’— Baronage, 11. p. 432, T Ihid.

§ Some MS. additions to a copy of Dugdale’s Baronage, in the Author's
possession, which were made about the year 1690, state that the Viscount
left several daughters ; and state that the grandson of the said Robert Wright
alias Villiers alias Danvers, was * called Earl of Buckingham, but is denied
all peerage yet.”
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and 1t 1s not known, whether a letter was addressed to
Robert Danvers, similar to that which was sent by a Com-
mittee of the Lords to the other peers, desiring them to
attend the House'. He then represented Westbury in the
House of Commons, but was considered by the Lords as
a peer,on the presumption that he was by law son and heir
of the late Viscount Purbeck. He was, however, very de-
sirous to divest himself of the peerage,and the proceedings
on the subject present this extraordinary inconsistency,—
the House of Lords attempted in 1660 to compel an indi-
vidual to take upon himself the dignity of the peerage;
and in 1678 they refused to allow it to his legitimate son,
upon the ground that his father (he whom the House
insisted was a peer, and whose act in the courts of law
to divest himself of the honour they voted illegal) was
illegitimate.

Lord Purbeck having used some expressions which
were deemed treasonable, the matter was brought to
the notice of the House of Lords; and on the 9th of
June 1660, the following entry occurs on the Journals :
“ Ordered, that the business concerning the Lord Vis-
count Purbeck, be recommended to the consideration of
the Committee for Privileges®.”

On the 15th of June the Committee reported, that he
might be secured by order of the House, for treasonable
words alleged and offered to be proved against him.
It was then ordered, that he should be taken into
custody and brought before the House, “ to answer an
information of high treason and other high misde-
meanors against him®”  The next day, the 16th of June,

1 TLords' Journals, XI. 8. * Jhid. X1. 58.

3 Lords’ Journals, X1. 64. The Earl of Monmouth declared, upon his
honour, that he had heard Viscount Purbeck say, * that rather than the late
King should want one to eut off his head, he would do it himself.” —Ibid.
And that “ he had rather wash his hands in the King’s blood, than in the
blood of any dog in England,” &c.—Ibid. X1. 93, 91.
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he being in custody, and the House having considered
in what manner he should be called in, it was determined
“ that he should come into his place as a peer, and hear
the information read against him ;” but the usher stated
that “ Viscount Purbeck had told him he had neither
writ nor patent to be a peer, and therefore knew no place
he had here in this House, but was now a member
of the House of Commons, and therefore he would
not come.” The House considering this answer and
refusal, to be a contempt, ordered him to be brought to
the bar as a delinquent; when he was accordingly
brought in, and ¢ knelt at the bar as a delinquent, until
by order of the House he was commanded to stand up,”
when the information against him was read, the purport
of which was, that he had spoken treasonable and blas-
phemous words. Having obtained leave to speak, he
said, “ he valued the honour of this House very much,
but he hath no right himself to this honour of a peer,
because he can find no patent for any such honour in
the Petty Bag Office, nor any writ*.”

He further said, “ that he had petitioned the King to
give him leave to levy a fine, to clear him of any title to
that honour ; and his Majesty hath made an order to the
Attorney-general to that purpose; and the reasons (he
said) to induce him to this, were: 1. This honour was
but a shadow without a substance. 2. His small
estate was unfit to maintain any such honour. 3. That
noble family he comes of, never owned him ; neither
hath he any estate from them. As touching the in-
formation now against him, he said, he is chosen a
member of the House of Commons to serve there this
Parliament ; and being so, he did not know whether he
should answer or no, but appealed to their Lordships
whether he is to be tried here by their Lordships or no 7

V Lords' Journals, X1, G3.
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The Lords not being satisfied with this plea, he was Purbeck
informed that they expected he would make further an- E; BE;“_ 1.
swer, when he requested a copy of the charge, which %9 |
was refused, “ because it was but an information, and no
charge,” and he was told that he was expected to answer
to the information. He then requested to be allowed
“ to advise with his counsel whether he should answer ;
and he did not know, in regard he was a member of
the House of Commons, whether he might answer.”
He withdrew in custody'; and on the 26th of June,
a petition was presented to the House, in which he
described himself in this singular manner: ¢ Robert
Danvers, alias Villiers, whom your Lordships are pleased
to honour with the title of Viscount Purbeck.” The
petition expressed his respect for the House, and stated
that he “ not knowing he had any patent or writ, thought
it too great a presumption to own a place amongst your
Lordships; yet your Lordships being pleased to think your
petitioner hath a right thereunto, your petitioner, if he
may receive a continuance of your Lordships’ favour,
cannot decline so great an honour;” but that the truth
was, he had not property sufficient to support the dig-
nity ; that he had been obliged to pay 2,650/ for his
composition, had incurred heavy expenses for law-suits,
and had five small children to provide for; and he
prayed to be discharged from imprisonment “ without
any mark of the House's disfavour®.”

In consequence of this petition, the House ordered
that all the informations, and a paper of precedents,
should be delivered to the Attorney-general and King’s
Counsel, who were to state the business to the House,
so that it might give further directions therein®,

! Lords' Journals, X1. 65, 66.

* Harleian MS, 4746. No notice of this petition occurs on the Lords’

Journals.
2 Lords' Journals, X1, 76.
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The Attorney-general made his report on the 16th of
July, on which day Lord Purbeck presented another
petition, in which he again described himself as “ Ro-
bert Villiers alius Danvers, whom your Lordships are
pleased to honour with the title of Viscount Purbeck.”
He expressed his sorrow, if he had given the House any
just cause of offence; asserted his innocence of the
crimes imputed to him ; and said that “ it was his great
ambition to be found innocent, and stand right in their
Lordships’ favour;” that he had various business which
required his attention; that his health was injured by
his imprisonment; and he therefore prayed to be re-
leased, upon his parole, to attend the House whenever
he was desired to do so'. All which was done by the
House upon this petition, was to order the Attorney-
general “ to give an account of this business referred to
him on the following Monday*”.

Pursuant to that order, which it appears related to
precedents of the surrender of dignities to the Crown,
the Attorney and Solicitor-general and the King’s ser-
jeant reported, that Lord Purbeck had petitioned the
King ¢ to accept of a surrender of the Barony of Stoke
and Viscountey of Purbeck, as well as of the pretended
titles to him in remainder?, of the honours of Baron
Whaddon of Whaddon, Viscount Villiers, and Earl
of Bucks, which His Majesty had accepted of, and re-
ferred it to the law officers to take care that a fine or
some other conveyance be made thereof;” and it is said
that Lord Purbeck had ¢ produced the opmions of several
learned counsel that he might legally surrender his said

! Harleian MS. 4746,

2 Lords' Journals, X1, 91,

* George Villiers, the younger brother of John Viscount Purbeck, was, it
seems, created Baron of Whaddon, Viscount Villiers and Earl of Bucking-
ham, with remainder, failing his issue male, to his brothers John and Chris-
topher, and the heirs male of their bodies respectively,
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pretended dignities to His Majesty ; and we are also of I'urbeck

the same opinion that he may legally do it, with His
Majesty’s consent, without the consent of any other
person whatsoever.” This report was signed by Sir John
Glanville, the King’s Serjeant, Sir Jeffrey Palmer,
Attorney-general, and Sir Heneage Finch, Solicitor-
general ; and they also made their report respecting the
mformations against Lord Purbeck for treason and blas-
phemy’,

The House referred all the documents to the Committee
for Privileges, to hear counsel and witnesses ; and on the
27th of July, the Committee reported their opinion, that
the King’s Counsel should be appointed to bring in a
charge against the Lord Viscount Purbeck, within a
short time, or else that he be discharged. The Lords
then ordered that he should be admitted to bail, on giving
his own security for 10,000 Z. for his appearance?; and on
the 10ih of September he was released from his restraint,
giving such security by bond as might be approved by
the Attorney-general, to the value of 10,0007, to appear
before the Lords in Parliament when he should be re-
quired *.

Nothing more occurs on the Lords’ Journals re-
specting the title of Lord Purbeck, until the 25th
of November 1661, on which day there is this entry:
“ The name of Viscount Purbeck not being in the list
of the names of the Lords, by which this House was
called this day, it is ordered to be referred to the Com-
mittee of Privileges, to consider whether he be to sit in
this House as a Peer or not*,” which is the last entry
on the subject in the Journals for upwards of thirteen
years. The fine was levied, and the honours of Baron of
Stoke, and Viscount of Purbeck, as well as the remainder

Vo Journals, X1, 93, D4. 3 Ihid, XI1. 166, 167,
? Ibid, X1. 107. * Iiid. X1, 337.
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to those of Earl of Buckingham, Viscount Villiers, and
Baron Whaddon, were considered to have been legally
surrendered to the Crown.

Lord Purbeck alias Robert Danvers died about 1675,
leaving Robert, his son and heir, then a minor, who, by
the description of “ Robert Villiers, son and hewr of
Robert, and grandson of John Viscount Purbeck and
Baron of Stoke,” presented a petition to the King,
which was referred to the Attorney-general on the 22nd
of April 1675'. He stated that his father, “ to his
great injury, had been so ill advised as to endeavour
to cut off those honours that were conferred upon his
family, which he was advised, it was not in his father’s
power to do;”" that his father had by that and other
actions ““ unhappily incurred His Majesty’s displea-
sure, for which and all things the petitioner was most
extremely sorry, and was anxious to redeem his father’s
faults by his own loyalty and devotion;” and he prayed
the King “ to permit him to attend upon His Majesty
in the House of Peers, as others of his quality that are
under age do; and he hoped that the justice of his cause
would so much appear, as that he should have His Ma-

jesty’s grace and favour in the maintenance of his

right.”  The petition was signed “ R. Purbeck.” The
Attorney-general, Sir William Jones, reported that “ as
it was a considerable question, never yet resolved, (that
I know of) whether a peer can by a fine bar or extin-
guish an entailed honour, I am humbly of opinion that
it will be fit for your Majesty to refer this petition to the
consideration of your House of Peers,” which was done
on the 30th of April. On the petition and report being
read, the House ordered that what suggestions shall be
made by the Earl of Denbigh, or any other person, by
way of answer to it, “ should be delivered to the House

U Lords' Journals, X11. 673.
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in writing, on the 3rd of May'; on the 5th of which
month, Basil Earl of Denbigh presented a petition
against the claim, a copy of which was ordered to be
given to the petitioner®. The Earl of Denbigh was the
son of the sister of the first Viscount Purbeck, and op-
posed the claim, on the part of the Villiers family, (of
which George Duke of Buckingham was then the head,
and to some of whose honours the claimant would be
heir presumptive), alleging, that the claimant’s father
was illegitimate,

Up to that moment, no question appears to have been
raised in the House of Lords respecting the legitimacy of
Robert Danvers, the petitioner’s father, who always had
been considered by the Crown, and by the House, as
Viscount Purbeck, who was allowed to surrender his
Peerage, and who had even been voted in contempt for
denying his own right to that dignity, and for refusing to
take his place in the House of Lords. The claim of
Robert Villiers in 1675 was, however, opposed on two
grounds ; first, that the fine levied by his father, barred
his right to the honours ; and, secondly, that his father
was not the legitimate son of John, first Viscount
Purbeck.

On the 20th of May 1675, the House, after several
postponements of the case?, determined to hear counsel
on the 3rd of June, “both in maintenance of, and against
the plea of Robert Villiers, put in on the petition of the
Earl of Denbigh, and not upon the merits of the cause,
as well as what the Duke of Buckingham might urge

V Lovds' Journals, XII. 673. Sir Heneage Finch, Lord Finch of Da-
ventry, and afterwards Earl of Nottingham, who was then Chancellor, states,
in his MS, notes of this case, that the Duke of Buckingham, the Earl of
Denbigh, and “ all that interest,” insisted that the petitioner’s father was
illegitimate.—Le Marchant’s Report of the Gardner Case,* Appendix, p. 421.

2 Lords' Journals, X11. 679,

3 Ibid. X11. 689, 696,
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by his counsel’”, But as neither the Earl of Denbigh’s,
nor the Duke of Buckingham’s counsel attended on
the appointed day, the Earl of Denbigh’s petition was
dismissed, and the Duke was ordered to pay 2¢ /. costs
“to the said Robert Villiers” for his counsel’s atten-
dance®. No further proceedings took place until the
ensuing Session; and on the 14th of November 1675,
the House ordered that his petition should be taken mto
consideration on the 24th of that month®; but on the
22nd, Parliament was prorogued until the 15th of the
ensuing February®. Soon after it assembled, Villiers
presented a petition to the House, which was read on
the 3rd of March 1676, in which he adverted to his
petition to the King in April 1675, and to what had
taken place in the House thereupon, and prayed 1t “to
take his case into its speedy and serious consideration,
and to determine therein according to the justice
thereof®.”  After it was read, the Earl of Denbigh said,
that the matter of the petition concerned him and the
Duke of Buckingham, and requested that they might be
heard before the business was determined ; adding, that
he would see the Duke, and would acquaint the House
on the Wednesday following “ what time he wished to
answer the said petition,” in which request the House
acquiesced®., On that day Lord Denbigh stated, that
the Duke of Buckingham desired that there might be
“no further proceedings on the said pretence (of the
claim to the Viscountey of Purbeck) until ke may be
so happy as to be at liberty to attend this House ;” and
the House resolved that ¢ there should be no further
proceedings upon that pretence till a further order”.”
Nothing occurs on the Journals respecting the claim

v Lords' Jourrals, X11. T01, b Ihid. XIIT. 59 60,
® I, XI1. 719, E Ihid. X111. GO,
3 Jhid. X111, 17. T Ihid, X111, G4,

1 Ihid. X111, 35.
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from that time for two years', the next proceeding be-
mg on the 14th of March 1677-8. On that day ano-
ther petition was read from the claimant, addressed to
the King, and by His Majesty referred to the House,
““ complaining that he was then of age, that the Chan-
cellor was scrupulous in issuing a writ of summons,
because his case, under a former reference to the House,
was still depending and undetermined, and praying that
it may not want a member, nor the petitioner suffer any
longer by the delay®” The House resolved that he
sEu]d be heard at the bar by counsel on the 21st of
that month, and that notice thereof should be given to
the Duke of Buckingham, the Earl of Denbigh and
Lord Brudenell?, “who might then also be heard what
they had to offer in opposition to the claim, if they
thought fit.” Counsel were accordingly heard on the
26th of March; and the House resolved to hear the
Attorney-general, on behalf of the Crown, “upon the
whole matter of fact and law,” on the 8th of Apnil?;
but the further hearing was at different times adjourned®

! Lord Finch, afterwards Earl of Nottingham, who was then Lord Chan-
cellor, states in his MS., * All my Lords conceived that the petitioner’s
interest to stand behind the chair at the debates of the House, was not so
considerable as to oblige the Lords to come to a preésent decision of the
point, though the rest of the privileges of an infant peer did very much
depend upon it ; so the debate was laid aside for three years, till the petitioner
should be of age, but special care was had that no entry in the Journals
should mention the petitioner by that style which he gave himself, viz.
Viscount Purbeck. When the petitioner came of age he presented another
petition to the King, praying his writ of summons, and complaining of me,
that I made some scruple of sealing it, by reason of the debates which had
been in the Lords’ House,”—Le Marchant’s Report of the Gardner Case,
Appendix, 421.

2 Lords' Jowrnals, X111, 183.

9 It does not appear why notice was ordered to be given to Lonl
Brudenell.

4 Lords' Jowrnals, XIII, 191.

% Lords’ Jowurnals, X111I. 216. 225.—On the 3rd of June the petitioner's
counsel were ordered °* to be prepared to speak to the point of law, whether
the fine of his ancestor hath barred his demand ; and at the same time Mr.
Attorney-general 15 1o conclude with his observations upon the fact, and his
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to the 5th of June, on which day counsel were heard
for the Duke of Buckingham and the petitioner, and
the Attorney-general was also heard!. On the 7th of
June, the House ordered the case to be again considered
on the 12th of that month, that all the Judges (except
the two Chief Justices and Chief Baron) should be pre-
sent, and that before that time, the Attorney-general
should bring to the House a list of such precedents as
he had cited in his argument on the previous hearing?;
but on the 12th the case was put off until the 15th, and
the clerk of the Crown, the clerk of the Petty Bag, and
such other officers as kept books of entries of patents
in or about the 17th Jaq. I., were also ordered to at-
tend?; which order arose from the assertion of Robert
Danvers alias Lord Purbeck, in 1660, that the patent
of the Viscountey was not enrolled. The case was re-
sumed on the 15th of June; and the only thing remark-
able which took place on that day was, that the Duke
of Buckingham complained of a paper, “scandalous
to the memory of his father, and the honour of his
family,” which had been printed and dispersed, and
requested that the claimant should be called in, and
asked whether he owned the said paper or not? The
Duke’s request being acceded to, “the petitioner de-
sited he might not be asked any questions respecting
it, as he knew not how much his answer might be to
his prejudice®.”

On the 18th of June 1678, the House, after a de-
bate, came to the memorable and unanimous resolu-
tion, that “ No Fine now levied, or at any time here-
after to be levied to the King, can bar a Title of
Honour, or the right of any person claiming such Title

argument upon the Law.”” All suits, arrests, attachments, and other process,
in the Courts below, against the claimant, were ordered to be stayed, until
the House gave judgment in his claim.—Ibid. p. 237.

! Lovds” Journafs, X111, 239, 3 Thid, 246.

2 Ihid, 242, 8 Ibid, 249, 250,
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under him that levied or shall levy such Fine'.” The
arguments on that subject are fully reported®; but as
that part of the claim does not relate to the question
of legitimacy, no further notice will be taken of it.

After coming to the above resolution, the House de-
termined to resume the consideration of the claim on the
20th of that month, and ordered the Attorney-general,
and the Judges to be present®. On that day, after
a long debate, this main question was proposed,
“ Whether the petitioner hath right, by law, to be ad-
mitted according to his claim?” Then this previous
question was put, “ Whether this question shall be now
put?” It was resolved in the negative. The question
bemng put, “ Whether the King shall be petitioned to
give leave, that a Bill may be brought in to disable the
petitioner to claim the title of Viscount Purbeck 77 It
was resolved in the affirmative. Then the House ap-
pointed the Earl of Bridgwater, the Earl of Shaftesbury,
and the Lord Wharton, to prepare a petition for that
purpose, and to report to the House?,

The proceedings of the House of Lords on this occa-
sion, bear a striking resemblance to those on the Banbury
claim in 1660, as it acted upon the impression that
the petitioner’s father was not de facto, the son and heir
of the first Viscount Purbeck. Although it was impera-
tive upon the House, as a court of law, to pronounce
such a decision as the law of the land prescribed, it
adopted a course which can neither be reconciled with
legal justice, nor with its own dignity. Having pro-
ceeded, as a Court of Law, to try a right of inheritance, up

I Lords' Journals, XI1I. 253.

? Collins's Precedents, 206, et seq.  Parliamentary Cases, &c.

® Lords" Journals, XI1I. 253. The Minutes of the proceedings are un-
fortunately lost. Had they been preserved, it is probable that they would
have shown the opinions of the Judges on the Law of the case, so far as it
bore upon the legitimacy of the claimant’s father.

* Ibid, X11. 256.
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to the moment when it was called upon todeliverjudgment,
the House refused to decide the question of right ; and,
suddenly abandoning the character of a Legal tribunal, it
resumed its Legislative functions, and determined to dis-
qualify a man, by Bill, from enjoying an hereditament
to which, as the House well knew, he was entitled by
the Law of the land. So far from having expressed a
doubt of his father’s right to the Peerage, during the
lifetime of that person, the House had fully recog-
nized him as a Peer, by ordering him to take his seat,
by visiting him with its displeasure for refusing to do so,
by concurring with the Crown in allowing him to resign
his honours, and by afterwards voting that the surrender
of those honours was illegal; yet, with a degree of in-
consistency which is without a precedent, it proposed to
disqualify the lawful son and heir of that very individual
by a special Act of Parliament, on the ground that his
father was illegitimate. This flagrant disregard of the
rights of the subject, and of all legal and constitutional
principles, has no parallel, except in the proceedings of
the House itself on the Banbury case. But there were
not wanting Peers on this, as on that occasion, to vindi-
cate the honour of the House, and the pure administra-
tion of the Law, by recording their dissent from such
extra judicial, and anomalous measures. The following
able and spirited protest against the resolutions was
entered on the Journals, and signed by the Earls of
Oxford, Anglesey, (who was, then Lord Privy Seal,)
Danby', and Northampton, and by the Lords Uull}eper?
Hunsdon, and La Warr:

“ 1. The Lords being in judgment as the highest

! All the Peers, except the Earls of Danby and Oxford, were dead
when the House came to the resolution on the Banbury elaim in 1693,
Lord Danby, then Marquis of Caenmarthen, also protested against that
resolution,  Lord Oxford was at that time a very old man.
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Court of England, in a cause referred to them by His Purbeck

Case,

Majesty (and whereof they are the only proper Judges), 3o Car. I1.

concerning the right of Nobility claimed by a subjec
that is under no forfeiture, and wherein their Lordships
had in part given judgment before, that he was not (nor
could be) barred thereof by a fine and surrender of his
ancestor, 1t was, as we humbly conceive, against com-
mon right and justice, and the orders of this House, not
to put the question that was propounded for determining
the right.

“ 2. The said claimant’s right, (the bar of the fine of
his ancestor being removed), did, both at the hearing at
the bar and debate in the House, appear to us clear in
fact and law, and above all objections.

‘8. His said right was acknowledged even by those
Lords who therefore opposed the putting of the main
question for adjudging thereof, and carried the previous
question (that it should not be put) ; because n justice it
must inevitably (if it had been put) have been carried in
the affirmative, and his right thereby allowed.

“ 4, By the putting and carrying the third question,
concerning leave to bring in a Bill to bar him, his right
to the said title 1s confessed ; for he cannot be barred of
anything which he hath not right to, and this renders
the proceedings in this cause contradictory and incon-
sistent.

“ 5. The petitioning the King to give leave for such
a Bill to be brought in, is to assist one subject, videlicet,
the Duke of Buckingham, against another, in point of
right, wherein Judges ought to be indifferent and im-
partial.

“ 6. This way of proceeding is unprecedented, against
the Law and common right, as we humbly conceive,
after fair verdicts and judgments in inferior courts upon
title of lands, which have long been in peace, and vested

t 1678,
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in the claimer by descent, without writ of error brought,
or appeal, to suffer the same to be shaken or drawn in
question by a Bill.

““7. This way by Bill, in a case of Nobility, is to ad-
mit the Commons with us into judicature of Peers.

“ 8. 1t is to make His Majesty party in a private case
against a clear legal right, to anticipate and pre-engage
his judgment in a cause carried upon great division and
difference of opinion in the House ; and forstals His Ma-
Jesty’s royal power and prerogative, which ought to be
free to assent or dissent to Bills, when they shall be ten-
dered to him by both Houses.

“ 9. After so many years’ delay, to give no answer to
His Majesty’s reference, nor judgment in the claimer’s
cause, is a way in which the Kings of this realm have
not been heretofore treated, nor the subjects dealt with,

“ 10. We conceive this course, in the arbitrariness of
it, against rules and judgments of law, to be derogatory
from the justice of Parliament, of evil example, and of
dangerous consequence, both to Peers and Commoners'.”

The draught of the petition to the King for leave to
bring in the Bill for disabling Robert Villiers, was read on
the 26th of June®; and after several postponements?, it was
discussed by the House on the 9th of July, and carried
on a division, that the petition, as amended, should be
presented to the King®. The Earls of Northampton and
Anglesey again entered their protest, in terms which
show that they took a just and constitutional view of the
subject ; and it is stated that the protest was written in
the Lord Privy Seal’s own hand®.

“ 1st. That this is a transition from our judicature, in a
case of Nobility, wharein the Lords are proper and sole
Judges, to the exercise of legislature, wherein the Com-

U Lords’ Journals, X111, 256. 2 Ibid. X1TI. 263.
* Ibid, X111, 264. 274. 4 Ibid, X111, 277. 5 Ihid,
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mons have equal share with us, and admits them judges g:;ehfﬂk
of Peerage ; which I conceive ought not to be, if he be 30 Car. II,
a Peer, as seems implied by proposing a law to bar his s
title ; and there is no need of a law, if he be no Peer.

“2dly. If a Bill come in, the cause must be heard
again ; and then judgment ought to be given, which (if
against him) the Commons must credit upon the proofs
made here, where only witnesses are sworn; and there-
fore judgment here ought to be final.

“ 3dly. This petition is no answer to His Majesty’s
reference; and we leave Him in uncertainty, when He
asks our opinion, or desire the Royal assent to nothing,
if he hath no title to be barred.

“ 4thly. If the Commons should reject a Bill sent to
them, they establish him a Peer, by judging it injurious
to bar him by a law ; and so would seem more tender of
Peerage than we.

“ 5thly. Leave is asked of His Majesty to bring in a
Bill, when every Peer hath right to do it in this case, if
he conceive himsgelfaggrieved by a false claim of honour;
and therefore several Lords have been admitted parties
against him upon former hearings, and judgment given
in part for him, by a vote that he is not barred by the
fine of his father.

“ gthly. It seems against common right to bar any by
Bill, who claims a legal title, without forfeiture be in the
case ; and if so, there needs no Bill'.”

The petition to the King for leave to bring in a Bill,
for disabling the petitioner from claiming the dignity,
expresses no opinion upon the claimant’s right, nor does
it even state any grounds for the measure; but after
saying that the House had fully ¢ heard, examined, and
considered the petitioner’s claim to be Viscount of Pur-
beck and Baron of Stoke,and after long hearing of counsel,

! Lovds' Journals, X111, 277.
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and several debates thereupon had, we have resolved to
petition your Majesty, and do humbly beg that your
Majesty will be graciously pleased to give leave that
a Bill may be forthwith brought into this House, where-
by the petitioner may be disabled to claim the said
title'.” Thus, upon a reference from the Crown, com-
manding the House of Peers “to hear, examine and
consider the petitioner’s claim, and to judge the same
as to theirLordships shall seem just and reasonable?”
they adopted the extraordinary measure of petition-
ing the King for leave to disable the claimant by
Bill, from enjoying a rigcht of inheritance, to which,
without such Bill of disqualification, he was undoubt-
edly entitled; and yet, for a proceeding at variance
with every principle of Law, they assigned no reason;
they anxiously avoided giving any opinion upon the ab-
stract question of right; and they stated no personal
cause of disqualification.

On the 11th of July 1678, the Earl of Anglesey, Lord
Privy Seal, reported, “ that the Lords appointed by this
House had waited on His Majesty, and presented him
with the petition of this House, that His Majesty would
please to give leave that a Bill may be brought in to
disable the petitioner, who lays claim to the title of
Viscount Purbeck, from claiming the title of Viscount
Purbeck ; to which His Majesty gave this answer, ¢ That
he will take it into consideration® ’” The attempt of
the House to carry the measure being thus checked by
the Crown, probably with the advice of the Lord Chan-
cellor, and Lord Privy Seal, no Bill of the kind was ever
brought in; nor do the Journals notice any farther pro-
ceedings on the subject. The claimant did not however
venture to prosecute his right ; and he may have had

! Lords' Jowrnals, X111, 277. * Ibid. X11. G673,
3 Ihid, X111, 282,
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strong reasons for believing, that notwithstanding the P:;};ef»k
hostility of the tribunal by which it would be decided, 30 Car. 11.
had been restrained by the Crown, the opposition was ﬂ___;
still too powerful to admit of the slightest prospect of
success. In any case, however, the inconsistency and
injustice of the proceedings of the House of Lords, re-
specting the Viscountey of Purbeck, are glaring ; for if an

Act of Parliament was necessary to disable the claimant,

he continued to be entitled until that Act was passed ; and

as it was never even brought in, his legal stafus remained
unaltered. The facts of this singular affair may, therefore,

be summarily described to be these: A person having
claimed a Peerage to which he was entitled by law, the
House of Lords did not deny his legal right, but gave him

to understand that if he nsisted upon it, a law would be
purposely made to disqualify him. The case has since
remained as it stood at that time, except that in 1708,

John. Villiers, the eldest son of the petitioner, was a
claimant' ; and it is said that he petitioned the King for

the earldom of Buckingham. He died without issue

male in 1723, before any decision was pronounced ;

and his cousin german, and heir male, the Rev. George
Villiers, 1s stated to have afterwards claimed the dignity®,

but no proceedings took place,

The argument of the Attorney-general, Sir William
Jones, and the speech of the Lord Chancellor Finch,
during the claim in 1678, are preserved; and such
passages as bear on the legitimacy of the claimant’s
father will be extracted. It seems from those speeches,
as if a doubt existed, not only whether the father of the
claimant was begotten by John Viscount Purbeck, but
whether he was the son of the Viscountess Purbeck,

! Votes of the House of Commons, 5 March 1709.
* Banks' Dormant and Extinct Peerage, vol. 111. p.614.—The male hue
of the family appears from the pedigree there given, to be extinet.

1
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According to Lord Nottingham’s manuscript', the
Attorney-general, on the 5th of June 1678, stated that
the Duke of Buckingham desired to offer some fur-
ther evidence as to the matter of fact; and showed
how that the petitioner’s father had exhibited a bill
in Chancery against the grandfather; and the grand-
father, by his answer upon oath, denied him to be his
son, and insisted that the father could not be the son of
the grandfather, for that he was christened by the name
of Robert Wright, and took a patent from Cromwell
to be called Danvers, and afterwards, at the bar of the
House of Lords, renounced the name of Villiers, The
Attorney-general then concluded for the King, and said,
“ First, as to the illegitimation of the petitioner’s father,
he could not say much ; for without question, the wife’s
son is the husband’s son, if the husband were infra
quatuor maria, &c.; and that the only use to be made
of the evidence in this case is, to consider how far it
goes towards disproving him the wife’s son.”

Another, and a fuller report of Sir William Jones’ argu-
ment? is printed ; but it relates more particularly to the
fine, and contains less on the law of Adulterine Bas-
tardy than occurs in the preceding extract. He said,

¢ I shall first make some observations on the matter
of fact; where I shall not concern myself about the
point of legitimation. What proofs your Lordships have
had about that, on the one side or the other, I shall
not trouble myself with ; but submit it to your Lordships’
memories and judgment. But this | must take leave
to say, though it would be a hard matter to put this
gentleman to prove, that if his father was born of his
grandmother, that he was likewise the son of the grand-
father, and so we bastardize him before your Lord-

I Report of the Gardner Case, Appendix, pp. 421, 422,
? Collins’s Precedents, p. 297,
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ships as a court of judicature, after his death ; yet 1
would be glad your Lordships did receive satisfaction,
that he was the son of the grandmother: for you are
now introducing a man into a family, out of which
he and his ancestors have been for these many years.
I might ask, why he was not, by the name of the
family, baptized? Why not mentioned by the surname
of his father and mother? We can look for no less
proof, than that some woman, who was present at his
birth, should certify, that he was born of her. But to
come after so many years, to bring a man into a family,
which he, and his, had disclaimed so long, by taking a
new name, | suppose your Lordships will require some
good proofs to warrant it. But whether you have any-
thing like that, or that may be suflicient in the case, I
submit to your Lordships. His father sure could have
had better evidence than this, than his son ecan now ;
but he denies him for a long time ; and at last the most
he owns him by, 1s a letter whereby he calls him by his
surname, which is not very usual for parents to do, if
they have but one child; and what can we think suffi-
cient to tempt a man, and him noble too, to deny his
own flesh and blood? But there is another thing which
18 matter of fact also, which is to be observed ; and that
is, there is a defective proof of the creation of this
honour; no letters patents shown; no record of the
inrollment produced ; nor any entry in any office of such
a patent, as is usual ; all that is pretended is, that he sat
afterwards in some Parliaments as Viscount Purbeck.”
Lord Finch, the Chancellor, in delivering his opi-
nion, observed, ¢ The question, whether there be a
legitimate succession to this honour, is a question of
fact, wherein the doubt is not, whether the petitioner
be legal heir to his father, but whether the father
were so to the grandfather; and therein it is ad-

mitted that the father is legally the son of the grand-
I 2
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father, if he can prove himself the son of the grand-

mother ; and this fact is now called in question, and the
grandchild, after fifty or sixty years elapsed, is put to
prove, not that his father was lawfully begotten, (every
one sees the danger of that,) but which is all one in con-
sequence, that his father was begotten of his grand-
mother. This ought not to be endured ; for, 1. Filiatio
non potest probare, nec debet ; 2. It tends to defeat pur-
chases made of the father as heir, &e. ; 3. He hath been
found heir to the land, and son of the grandmother by
a special verdict, in 1635, in Wegg v. Villiers', when mat-
ters were more capable of proof, old witnesses being
since dead; 4. This should have been questioned, if
ever, in the father’s life, for he that is certainly a bastard,
as being born before wedlock, yet, if he die with the
reputation of true heir, he cannot be bastardized after-
wards, but his issue shall carry away the land from the
legitimate heir. LitZ. s. Descents. 5. Strange questions
are sometimes raised for crowns where armies dispute ;
but where a coronet only is at stake, it is not to be
suffered. The great objections are, that he was bap-
tized by another name, and that the grandfather denied
him to be his wife’s son; but though it may be a good
cause to suspect adultery where too much secrecy is
used at baptism, it is no case to make illegitimation.
Again, the grandfather’s denial upon oath is nothing,
for if the grandmother had herself denied him to be her
son, yet it had not been material, for still it 1s capable
of disproof. It is disproved here by the verdict, by the
nurse and midwife then® produced, by the old Lady
Hatton owning the child, who could not be in the
secret, and by constant reputation. In the parliament
of Parig, in the case of Madame de Cognac?, it was ad-

v «2 Rolle, 769 ; 2 Sid. 54. The reports of this case do not notice the
question of legitimaey.”

* I. e. at the trial above alluded to.

? This case is fully stated by Mr, Le Marchant in the Appendix to the
Report of the Barony of Gardner, p. 496.
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judged that the mother’s disavowing her child should
not prejudice the child, who was able to disprove her.
Nay, if the father himself had disclaimed his own legi-
timation, this ought not to prejudice the grandchild'.”
It appears from the case of Rex v. Albertson, which
occurred in the Court of King’s Bench, in the 9th Will,
& Mary, that the doctrine of the “ four seas™ then still
prevailed. An order was made, reciting, Whereas it ap-
pears to us, two Justices of the Peace, that Mary Spencer,
wife of Jonathan Spencer, mariner, was on the 20th of
March 1695, delivered of a male bastard child, which is
likely to be chargeable, &c.: and whereas it appears to us
that the said Jonathan Spencer was employed on board
the ship called the Pembroke, in his Majesty’s service,
at Cadiz, and was not within the King’s dominions
when the said child was begotten or born : and whereas
it appears that Albertson had carnal knowledge of the
body of the said woman, during the absence of her hus-
band, and that he begat the said child ; we, therefore,
adjudge him to be the reputed father, and to pay weekly,
&e.  And the said order being confirmed upon appeal,
was brought into the King’s Bench by certiorari, where
it was moved to gquash these orders, because 18 Eliz,
c. 3, gives the justices power only to meddle with
bastards born out of lawful matrimony ; so that though
this child should be a bastard, yet the justices cannot
meddle with it, because he is born in lawful matrimony :
but it does not appear in this order that the child was
a bastard, for it is only said, the father was absent when
the child was begotten, or born, in the disjunctive ; also it
doth not appear but the husband was in England during
the time intermediate between the begetting and birth.
The Court said, “ He is a bastard who ig born of a
man’s wife, while the husband at, and from the time of

' Report of the Gardner Case, Appendix, pp. 422, 123,
13
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the begetting to the birth, is ¢ extra quatuor maria.” In
case of a real action by him, the tenant may plead ge-
neral bastardy; and on a writ to the bishop, he will
certify him to be a bastard. Being then a bastard as to
descent, there is no reason why he should not be a
bastard as to all other intents, and in particular, a
bastard within the Statute 18th Eliz., which is a reme-
dial Act. Also, when a child is born in adultery, he is
born out of the limits of lawful matrimony, the law
then taking no notice of the husband ; and so, though
we must quash this order, because it does not appear
that the husband was ¢extra quatuor maria,” during all
the space of time intervening between the begetting and
the birth, yet we hope care will be taken to make a
new order without this fault., Quashed; but the de-
fendant was bound over to appear at the sessions’.
Early in the following year, a case occurred, which has
become generally known, in consequence of the literary
celebrity of the person whosestatusit determined. Charles
Earl of Macclesfield married Anne, daughter of Sir Rich-
ard Mason of Shropshire ; but having lived on very un-
happy terms with her husband, she formed a eriminal con-
nexion with Richard Savage, Earl Rivers®. The fruit of
this intercourse was a son, of whom the Countess was de-
livered in a place called Fox Court, near Brook-street,
in Holborn, on the 16th of January 1697. It appears
that she assumed the name of “ Madam Smith;” that
she wore a mask for the purpose of concealment, at
the time of her confinement ; that the boy was baptized

1 2 Salkeld, 483,

* It has been justly remarked that Dr. Johnson’s statement, that the
Countess * thought a public confession of her adultery the most obvious and
expeditions method of obtaining her hberty,” is unfounded ; because the
proceedings in Parliament, on the Bill for divorcing her from her husband,
show that she offered every opposition in her power fo that measure.—
Boswell's Life of Jolnson, Ed, 1816, 1, 145,
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on the 18th of the same month, at St. Andrew’s, Hol-
born, by the name of  Richard, son of John Smith
and Mary, in Fox Court, in Gray’s-Inn-Lane;” and
that, from the privacy which was observed on the oc-
casion, the clergyman who performed the ceremony,
considered it to have been “a by blow or bastard'.”
This child was supposed to have been the poet, Savage,
whose genius and misfortunes were alike extraordinary®.

On the 15th of January 1697-8, a Bill was brought into
the House of Lords, entitled, “ An Act for dissolving the
Marriage between Charles Earl of Macclesfield and
Anne his Wife, and to illegitimate the Children of the
said Anne.” Three days afterwards the Countess peti-
tioned that she might be heard against the Bill, before
the Earl was permitted to make out his allegations, to
which the House consented. Twenty-seven witnesses,
among whom were Lady Charlotte Orby, Mr. Bur-
bridge, the clergyman who baptized the child, and Mary
Pegler, the woman who took it to the church, were ten-
dered on the part of Lord Macclesfield ; and twelve
witnesses were proposed on the part of the Countess,
who obtained a delay in the proceedings because one of
them was in Wales, From the beginning of February
until the 3rd of March the Houge was frequently occu-
pied with the cause®. On the latter day it resolved
that the Bill* should pass; but a protest was entered
against it by the Earls of Halifax and Rochester, “ be-

! Case of the Earl of Macclesfield, quoted in Boswell's Life of Johnson.
Ed. 1816. 1. 145.

? It has however been said, and upon strong grounds, that the Poet was
not, in fact, the issue of Lady Macclesfield and Lord Rivers.—Ibid. pp. 147.
149 ; and see a note on that passage in Croker's Edition.

3 Lords’ Journals for 1698, pp. 197. 199. 201, 202. 208, 212, 222. 223.

* The Bill does not contain the statement that occurs in the former Acts
on the subject which have been alluded to,— that the children of a married
woman, though begotten by an adulterer, are nevertheless legitimate and

inheritable, &c.,—an omission which perhaps arose from the change which
had taken place in the law.
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cause we conceive this is the first Bill of this nature that
hath passed, where there was not a divorce first obtained
in the Spiritnal Court, which we look upon as an il
precedent, and may be of dangerous consequence iu
the futurel.” The Bill was sent to the Commons,
and by them committed to a Committee of the whole
House, who heard counsel and examined witnesses in
support of its allegations, after which it was read a third
time and passed®. In this instance, as in the cases of
Banbury, Roos, and Purbeck, the House of Lords devi-
ated so materially from the usual course of law, as to
induce such of its members as were sensible of the
danger and impropriety of its proceedings, to protest
against them. Nor were the inconsistencies less striking,
because the parties, in whose favour these extra-judicial
measures were proposed by the House, happened to be
themselves Peers.

The rule which was laid down in T%e King v. Albertson
was again acted upon by the Cowrt of King’s Bench in
a similar case, that of Regina v. Murray, so lately as
Michaelmas Term, in the 3rd of Anne. Upon a special
order of sessions, where the question was, if the husband
be wltra mare, and during that time the wife becomes
pregnant, whether the infant be a bastard within the Stat.
18 Eliz. c. 37 the Court ruled, that if the husband was
out of the four seas during all the time of the wife’s going
with child, the child is a bastard ; but if he were here
at all within the time, it is legitimate, and no bastard ;
and because it did not appear by the order, that the
husband was absent all the time of the pregnancy, the
order was quashed?

There seems, therefore, to be little doubt, that at the
commencement of the last century the principle of “ the

1 Lords’ .flun'urrf.u, lor 1698, P- 233
¥ Commons” Jowrnals, Tor 1698, pp. 143, 146, 153,
* 1 Salkeld, 122,
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four seas,” and the definition of Lord Coke, were consi-
dered to be the Law of Adulterine Bastardy ; and it is
very important to inquire, under what circumstances that
principle fell into desuetude; in other words, to show
when, and in what manner, one of the great landmarks
of the Law on the subject was thrown down,

The first occasion on which the slightest disposition
was shown by a Court of Law, subsequent to the reign of
Henry the Fourth, to admit any evidence to rebut the
presumption of legitimacy, when the husband was within
the realm, except of divoree or impotency, was in the
case of St. George and St. Margaret, in Michaelmas
Term, in the 5th of Anne, two years only after the
Court of King’s Bench maintained the ancient maxim
of “ the four seas,” in the case of Regina v. Murray.
The case of St. George and St. Margaret was like-
wise one of settlement: the parties had been divorced
a@ mensa et thoro, and the wife afterwards lived with
another man named Ellis in adultery, in the parish
of St. Giles, by whom she had several children, who
bore the name of Ellis, and were registered as his
children. The Court said, “ When a woman is sepa-
rated from her husband by such a divorce, the children
she has during the separation are bastards; for we will
mmtend a due obedience to the sentence, unless the con-
trary be showed ; but if baron and feme, without sen-
tence, part, and live separate, the children shall be taken
to be legitimate, and so deemed until the contrary be
proved ; for access shall be intended. But if a special
verdict find the man had no access, it 1s a bastard ; and
so was the opinion of my Lord Hale, in the case of
Dicken and Collins'.”

[t was possibly, and indeed probably, intended by the
Court, that the “ special verdict” of non-access should

U 1 Salkeld, 123,
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be found upon the usual facts, termed “ special matter,”
namely, divorce, impotency, or the husbhand’s absence
from the realm, in which case there would be no variation
whatever from the law, as it had been thitherto received.
But the reference to the opinion of Lord Hale, and the
words of the judgment, certainly admit of the construe-
tion, that other proofs besides the “ special matter”
above mentioned, were ruled by that eminent Judge to
be admissible,

The case of Dickens v. Collins ought therefore, to be
examined with great attention; but unfortunately no
report of it can be found'; and all which is known of
it, besides what occurs in the above quotation, is the
following allusion to it by the Attorney-general in the
Banbury claim, in 1693. Speaking of Nicholas Earl of
Banbury, he said, ¢ This second son was not heard of
in many years ; all that is pretended is, that these child-
ren were born in wedlock. Hospell and Collins’s case
cited, tried in the Common Pleas, he is no child, during
the coverture not heard of, nor that the mother had any
child.” This observation renders it likely that great
doubt existed, in that case, whether the child was the
issue of the wife; and it would appear that a supposi-
fitious child had been produced after her death, and
that the question of access, on the part of the husband,
did not arise.

It is almost certain that the case of “ Hospell v. Col-
lins,” which was said by the Attorney-general, in 1693,

' Lord Ellenborough said, during the claim to the Earldom of Banbury,
“ Unfortunately this case is not reported at length ; at least, I have not been
able to find it, after a careful search.”” His Lordship stated, however, but
apparently only upon the authority of the reference in the report of Rer v.
Albertson, that * the case of Hospell v. Collins, decided by Lord Hale, left
the presumption of legitimacy to the consideration of the jury, who were at
liberty to infer whether the husband had access to his wife, from all those
circumstances which would have qualified them to determine whether the
husband was the father of the child.”—Report of the Gardner Case, Ap-
pendix, p. 457,
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to have been tried in the Common Pleas, of which Sir %ﬂs{f Di "
IC Kl M

Matthew Hale was Chief Justice from 1656 to 1658, is Collins,
the same case as that which was mentioned as the (g iy
case of “ Dickens v. Collins,” by the Court, in the cause ——
between the parishes of St. George and St. Margaret,
in 1706. The little which is known of the case of
Hospell and Collins does not justify the inference that
has been drawn from it; for there is not the slightest
evidence that Lord Hale ruled that, where a man and
his wife were capable of access, the presumption of
sexnal intercourse could be rebutted by any other evi-
dence than divorce, impoteney, or the husband’s absence
from the realm. Had such a dictum been pronounced,
it is impossible to believe that it would have escaped the
Reporters of the period ; for its novelty, and (proceeding
from so distinguished a lawyer as Lord Hale), its im-
portance, must have ensured attention to it ; hence its
omission in the valuable contemporary reports, is strong
presumptive evidence, that nothing occurred on the oc-
casion which was contradictory to former decisions, or
which, on any other account, was particularly deserving
of notice.

But there are other circumstances which render it ex-
tremely unlikely that Sir Matthew Hale should have
uttered the dictum aseribed to him ; or that he entertained
a different opinion on the Law of Adulterine Bastardy
from his predecessors. His notes on Coke’s Commentaries
are well known ; and as he not only did not deny the cor-
rectness of the definition which occurs in the First Insti-
tute ', but added a long comment on the very next pas-
sage, upon the same subject, it may be fairly inferred
that he assented to Lord Coke’s statement. Sir Mat-
thew Hale had, moreover, several other opportunities of
expressing his dissent from Lord Coke’s assertion. He

U} Twst, 2440,
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edited Chief Justice Rolle’s Abridgment in 1688, which
contains a large selection of cases of Bastardy. He
was the author of a “ History of the Common Law,”
of a * Treatise on the Jurisdiction of Parliament,” of
the “ History of the Pleas of the Crown,” and of several
other legal works ; but in none of them has any trace of
the opinion imputed to him been found ; and if he really
was at variance with his predecessors respecting the law
of legitimacy, still more, if, as has been supposed, he
was the first Judge who laid down a new principle, it is
scarcely possible that he should nowhere have contro-
verted the generally received impression, and explained
his own views on the subject. Admitting, however, that
the inference which has been drawn from the case of
Hospell v. Collins is well founded; and that, notwith-
standing the reasons which exist for believing the con-
trary, Lord Hale did dissent from Lord Coke’s defi-
nition of the Law of Adulterine Bastardy, there are
other facts which ought to prevent that circumstance
from having much weight. It is submitted, that Lord
Hale had no authority, in the writings of the great
lawyers who preceded him, or in the decisions of the
Courts, for the opinion imputed to him ; and it cannot
be maintained that the dictum of any one Judge, how-
ever eminent, is suflicient to effect a change in the Law;
or that his deviation from the path so clearly marked
out by the steps of his predecessors, for several hundred
years, ought to have been imitated by those who sue-
ceeded him,

As so much stress has been laid upon the supposed
dictum of Lord Hale, in the case of Hospell and Col-
lins, it is material to show that whatever may have been
his view of the subject, neither his contemporaries nor
his successors pronounced any judgment or opinion at
variance with the law, as it is laid down by Lord Coke,
until long after Lord Hale's time.



. & 3

Sir Matthew Hale was a Judge of the Common Pleas
for only two years, namely, from 1656 to 1658, within
which period it would seem, from the remark of the
Attorney-general in 1693, that the case of Hospell [or
Dichkens] and Collins occurred. Lord Hale was made
Chief Baron in 1660, and Chief Justice of the King’s
Bench in 1671, which office he resigned in February
1676, and died m November in the same year; so that
his judgment in the case alluded to, could not possibly
have been delivered later than the year 1676, and it
most probably occurred whilst he sat in the Common
Pleas between 1656 and 1658. From that time to
the 5th of Anne, 1706, when allusion was made to his
dictum in Hospell and Collins, in the case of St
George and St. Margaret, thirty, if not fifty years
had elapsed. During that period the law of Adul-
terine Bastardy has been ‘brought to the considera-
tion of the House of Lords on the claim to the Vis-
countey of Purbeck in 1678, and of the Court of
King’s Bench in the cases of the King and Albertson in
1697, and of the Queen versus Murray in 1704, on
which occasions the Judges laid down the Law in pre-
cisely the same terms as those of Lord Coke, and of all
earlier authorities', Tt is true that the resolution of the
House of Lords on the Banbury claim in 1693 was not
in accordance with this view of the law ; but it must not
be forgotten, that the House determined upon adjudicat-
ing, without consulting the Judges, that the resolution was
at variance with two reports of the Committees for Privi-
leges, and that several Peers protested against the de-
cision. It is therefore indisputable, that if Lord Hale’s
judgment was opposed to what was previously con-
sidered law, it did not influence Lord Chancellor Finch
or the Attorney-general in 1678, both of whom were
his contemporaries in office ; and that it had no weight

U Vide unten.
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with Lord Chief Justice Holt, and the other Judges of
the King’s Bench in 1697 and 1704. It is evident from
these facts, that perhaps one of the greatest alterations
ever made in the Law of this country, except by Act of
Parliament, has taken place upon the supposed dictum
of a Judge, upwards of thirty, and perhaps fifty years
after it was expressed ; notwithstanding that one, if
not the most obvious, construction of the imperfect
account of that judgment, which is preserved, will recon-
cile 1t with the law, as laid down by Lord Coke and his
predecessors, and with what seems, from other sources,
to have been Lord Hale’s own opinion on the subject ;
that neither the case, nor the judgment, is reported ; and
that, if such a dictum was ever pronounced by Lord
Hale, it had been overruled, or was unnoticed, on three
important occasions, before it was cited as a precedent.

Although the judgment of the Court of King’s Bench
in 1706, in the case of St. George and St. Margaret,
tended to shake the ancient rule, that no evidence was
admissible to rebut the presumption of sexual inter-
course, If the husband was within the four seas, unless
he was impotent or separated from his wife by divorce,
it did not explode that doctrine; and the first time the
judgment of the Court of King’s Bench had that effect,
was in the 3rd George 1., 1717, in the case of St. An-
drew’s and St. Bride’s; though it was not regularly de-
termined that the principle was exploded, until the case
of Pendrell and Pendrell in 1732, since which year it
has completely fallen into desuetude.

The case between the parishes of St. Andrew’s and
St. Brides, in the 3rd George I., was one of settle-
ment: An order of sessions for the removal of a wife
and three children from the parish of St. Andrew to the
parish of St. Brides, set forth that A., about twenty-
three years since, married B., and lived with her five

=
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years in the parish of St. Brides, and had by her four

Case of St,
ndrew’s .

children, two whereof were dead, and the other two st Brides,

provided for; that at the end of five years, he went
away from her and married another woman, with whom
he lived somewhere in England, but that he never saw
his first wife B. from the time of his going away.
B., after the separation (having heard nothing for a
long time of A.), married a second husband, by whom
she had eight children, in the parish of St. Andrew, who
all went by the name of the second husband ; five of
them are dead, and the other three survive. The ses-
sions, presuming that the second marriage of the wife 1s
void ab iritio, adjudge, that her settlement and that of
the three children, is in the parish of St. Brides, where
the first husband lived, as deeming the children the
legitimate 1ssue of the first marriage.

The Court quashed the order, as to the children, and
confirmed it as to the wife: first, because the second
marriage, and living with the second husband in St.
Andrew’s, was void ab initio, and therefore the place of
her settlement was where the first husband hived ; se-
condly, it being adjudged that the first husband had no
access for seventeen years, no presumption shall be ad-
mitted but that these are the children of the second mar-
riage; and they not being born in the parish of St. Brides,
nor having ever inhabited there forty days, can have no
settlement in St. Brides',

No allusion was made by the Court to the fact that
the husband continued in the realm, or to the old law of
the “ quatuor maria;” and in the very next case of
Adulterine Bastardy which ocecurred, viz., of Pendrell v.
Pendrell, in the 5th Geo. I1., “ it was agreed by Court
and Counsel that the old doctrine of being within the
four seas was not to take place ; but that the Jury were

1 1 Strange, 51.
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at liberty to consider of the point of access.” The facts
were these. Upon an issue out of Chancery to try whe-
ther the plaintiff was heir-at-law of one Thomas Pendrell,
it was admitted that the plaintifi’s father and mother
were married, and cohabited for some months ; that they
parted, she staying in London, and he going into Staf-
fordshire ; that at the end of three years the plaintiff
was born ; and there being some doubt upon the evidence,
whether the husband had not been in London within the
last year, it was sent to be tried. The plaintiff rested
at first, upon the presumption of law in favour of legiti-
macy, which was encountered by strong evidence of non-
access; and it was agreed by Court and Counsel, on the
trial at Guildhall before Lord Chief Justice Raymond,
that the old doctrine of being within the four seas was
not to take place ; but the Jury were at liberty to con-
sider of the point of access, which they did, and found
against the plaintiff. The Chief Justice allowed the de-
fendant to prove the mother to be a woman of ill fame
(Salk. 120. Cro. Jac. 541.) But he would not allow
the mother’s declarations to be given in evidence till she
had been called and denied them upon the cross-exami-
nation'. Various authonties were cited to prove that
upon a question of a child’s legitimacy, the father or
mother having no interest in the cause, may be pro-
duced by either side, to prove or disprove the fact and
time of marriage®. 1In the King v. Reading? Lord
Hardwicke said, “ In Pendrell’s Case the non-access
was proved by the husband’s relations;” and Sir Wil-
liam Wynne, in delivering judgment in Smith v. Cham-

! 2 Strange, 925.

? It was said by Lord Mansfield to have been solemnly determined by the
Delegates, Cowp. 504, Rex v. Reading, Hex v. Rooke, &e., that where the
child is born in wedlock, the evidence or declarations of the parents seem
inadmissible to bastardize such issue.

? Vide postea.
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berlayne', said, that ¢ the King's Advocate produced
a fuller note of the evidence in Pendrell v. Pendrell,
by which it appeared that some of the witnesses swore
that they saw the husband in London, and that the
wife herself swore, on being examined, that her hus-
band had actually lain in bed with her, several times
about the time of the pregnancy; but it clearly appears
that those witnesses were utterly discredited, for it is
stated that there was evidence given to the Court, that
the husband was a man subject to fits, that he was con-
stantly watched on that account, that he had never been
absent from his house in Staffordshire more than a night
at a time, and it was impossible that he shounld have had
access to his wife®.” Justice Buller, in a full note of this
case, thus gives the judgment of the Court on it: “ The
Chief Justice, in directing the Jury, observed that the
old maxim of presumption ¢ intra quatuor maria’ was ex-
ploded ; that the evidence to overturn the presumption
need not be so strong as was insisted on by the plain-
tiff’s Counsel ; that the evidence was the same in this, as
in all other cases ; a probable evidence was sufficient, and
it was not necessary to prove access impossible between
them.” The Jury, without going from the bar, found
that the plaintiff was a bastard, upon which the Chief
Justice commended their verdict?®,

This case proved fatal to the old Law of Adulterine
Bastardy, into the wisdom or absurdity of which it is not
necessary to inquire; but if, as Lord Coke says®, * The
Law doth delight in certainty, because it is the mother of
quiet and repose,” the rule which prohibited an investiga-
tion into the actual paternity of a child born during cover-

! Vide postea,

* Report of the Gardner Case, p. 357, and postea. Sir John Strange, whao
reported the case of Pendrell v. Pendrell, was one of the Counsel in the cause,

3 Buller's Nisi Prius : quoted by the Counsel for the present Lord Garduer,
in the Gardner Case. [bid. p. 268,

11 ]rut. 340,
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ture, if the husband was not separated by divorce, or
impotent, or absent from the realm during the period of
gestation, was eminently calculated to secure those ob-
jects; and, as has been already observed, it may be
questioned whether the absurdity and injustice which
occasionally attended it, was not more than counter-
balanced by the good which it produced in preventing
suits, protecting innocent children from being disnhe-
rited, and in forming a powerful inducement for hus-
bands to watch vigilantly over the conduct of their wives.
The legal profession having, however, long entertained
an opposite opinion, the ancient principle has been com-
pletely overthrown; and, to use the language of M,
Justice Grose, the Courts now consider themselves as
proceeding upon “ good sense, rejecting a rule founded
in nonsense'.”

It is nowdesirable to inquire, underwhat circumstances
the children of married women have been bastardized,
since the alteration took place in the Law of Adulterine
Bastardy ; or rather, what evidence has been deemed
sufficient to rebut the legal presumption that the hus-
band is the father of his wife’s child ?

The next case, Lomax v. Holmden, which occurred in
Michaelmas Term in the same year,and in the 6th Geo.11.,
supported the strong presumption of law, that the hus-
band had access to his wife ; though it was not held that the
husband’s absence from the realm, was the only evidence
by which that presumption could be rebutted. In eject-
ment, the question on a trial at bar was, whether the
lessor was son and heir of Caleb Lomax, esq., de-
ceased ? which depended upon the question of his
mother’s marriage ; and that being fully proved, and
evidence given of the husband’s being frequently in Lon-
don, where the mother hived, so that access must bLe

' The King v, Luffe, 8 East, 208.  Vide postea.
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presumed, the defendants were admitted to give evidence
of his inability, from a bad habit of body. But their evi-
dence not going to an impossibility, but an improbability
only, that was not thought sufficient, and there was a
verdict for the plaintiff,

Two years afterwards, a case of Adulterine Bastardy
was again brought before the Court of King’s Bench, in
The King v. Reading, in Michaelmas Term, 8 Geo. II.
A married woman charged the defendant upon oath, with
begetting a bastard upon her. The Judges declined
giving their opinion, and the second order of sessions
adjudged the defendant to be the father. There were
other witnesses, who said that the husband was a resident
about seven miles from his wife's habitation. Exception
was taken that the wife was the only evidence, and that
she was not a competent witness in law to exonerate her
husband of the expense of this child. Lord Hardwicke»
the Chief Justice, said, * The wife is not a competent
evidence in point of law in this case, that is, to prove
the whole fact ; though it seems she may be a compe-
tent witness to prove the criminal conversation between
the defendant and herself, by reason of the nature of the
fact, which, from being usually so secret, admits of no
other evidence.”—¢ The wife is here the only evidence
to prove the want of access of her husband, which might
be made to appear by other witnesses, and therefore the
wife shall not be admitted to prove it, since there is no
necessity that can justify her beinganevidence in this case.
In Pendrell’s case the non-access was proved by the hus-
band’s relations.”—His Lordship added, * But the opinion
the Court is of at present, will not be a precedent to de-
termine any other case, wherein there are other sufficient
witnesses as to the want of access ; but the foundation that
is now gone upon, is the wife’s being the sole witness'.”

I .Ht’jlrh"fﬁ temp., Hardwicke, 140,
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Sir William Wynne, in giving judgment in Smythe v.
Chamberlayne®, remarked, in reference to the case of Rex
v. Reading, that “ Mr. Justice Buller, in his Law of Nisi
Prius, states, that the Judge told the jury that the old no-
tion ¢ in quatuor maria’ was exploded, and that probable
evidence was sufficient. Now I do not understand those
words, ¢ that probable evidence was sufficient;” I do not
understand the Judge, or Mr. Justice Buller, to have
meant, that evidence of whatever kind,—that 1t was more
probable that the child was begotten by some other per-
son than by the husband,—was suflicient ; but I take it to
be his meaning, that probable evidence of non-access was
sufficient. This is very much confirmed by the following
passage, where the Chief Justice lays it down, ¢ that
probable evidence is not sufficient, and that if you can
only prove that it is improbable that, from habit of body,
the husband can have begotten the child, and cannot
prove it to be impossible, it will certainly not do.” No-
thing can more fully establish that, than the case of
Lomax?, in which all that is stated to have been proved
is, that the husband was frequently in London, where
the wife lived, which created the necessary presumption
of the access, and put an end to the question®.”

Upon the case of Rex v. Reading, it may be observed,
that from the vicinity of the husband’s residence to that
of the wife, it was extremely possible for him to have had
access to her, without the fact being susceptible of any
other proof, than his or her own statement ; and, a fortiori,
was the difficulty of establishing a negative. The illicit
intercourse, as in cases of actions for criminal conversa-
tion, might have been proved by other testimony than
that of the wife, and with much greater facility than
the non-aceess of the husband could be established ; for
he might have come to his wife in less than an hour, be-

V Vide p. 147, et seq. postea. ? Vide p. 130, antea,
4 Appendix to the Gardner Case, p. 357,
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gotten the child, and returned to his own residence in
the dead of the night, without the circumstance being
known to any other person than the parties themselves ;
hence the reasoning of the Court does not seem to be
very conclusive '.  Sostrong, however, was the determi-
nation of the Court on that occasion, to establish the new
principle,—that non-access might be proved, notwith-
standing the husband was in the realm when the child was
begotten,—that Lord Hardwicke omitted to notice the
legal presumption in favour of access, arising from the hus-
band having always lived within seven or eight miles of
his wife; and lest the decision of the Court might support
the old doctrine of the ¢ four seas,” he added, that it
would not form a precedent to determine any other case,
wherein there are sufficient witnesses as to the want of
access.”’

According to Lord Ellenborough’s statement, in his
speech on the Banbury Claim, the case of Corbyn was
decided about this time? by Lord Chancellor Talbot ;
but all which is known of that case is to be found in
Lord Ellenborough’s account of it :—* The parties were,”
he said, ¢ living under the same roof ; they appeared to
the world to be living as husband and wife, and to have
full opportunities of sexual intercourse, yet the child was
declared illegitimate.”

It is very remarkable that the two most important
cases of the Law of Adulterine Bastardy, and which
have in some measure governed all subsequent decisions,
—those of Hospell v. Collins, and Corbyn,—should not
be reported .

I Lord Ellenborough made a similar observation in the King v. Luffe,
8§ FEast. 203.—Vide postea.

2 Lord Talbot held the Great Seal from the 29th of November 1733 until
.his death, in February 1737.

3 Mr. Le Marchant says of Corbyn's case, * This case is not reported, and
I have not been able to discover it among the Hargrave MSS. in the British
Museum, or the collection in Lincoln's Inn Library.—Gardner Case.
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In Trinity term, 10th Geo. II., the question of legiti-
macy was again raised in The King v. The Inhabitants of
Bedale. An order was made upon one Moor, as the pu-
tative father of two bastards, born of the body of Eliza-
beth, the wife of Richard Sharpless : in which it is stated,
that for seven years and nine months before, the husband
had had no access to her, she having never seen nor
heard of him all that time, and not knowing whether he
was alive or dead,which the justices adjudge to be true,
and that Moor is the father of the children, and order
him to provide accordingly. Upon appeal to the sessions
the case was stated with some variation. It was then
said that in 1728 she was married to Sharpless, who was
at that time a soldier in Mullings's troop, in a barn, by
a person not in the habit of a clergyman; that there had
been no access for seven years; but it appearing by a
certificate from the Commissary-general’s office, dated
on the 7th of April 1737, and from the evidence of Simon
Clarkson, that one Richard Sharpless, who he was told
was formerly in Mullings’s troop, was mustered as a pri-
vate gentleman in the 3rd troop of Horse Guards from the
25th of June 1733 to the 23rd of February 1736, though
Clarkson said he could not take upon him to swear that
it was the same Richard Sharpless who was pretended
to be married as aforesaid. Upon this supposition of the
husband’s being alive, the sessions were of opinion that
the children were not bastards, and vaerscd the order
of the two justices.

It was argued by the Solicitor-general that the second
order ought to be quashed, and the original order con-
firmed. He cited Pendrell v. Pendrell, and Lomax v.
Holmden, to show, that if the husband was living it was
not material, for as he had had no access to his wife for
seven years and nine months, the children born within
that time are to be considered as bastards.

n
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In the argument in support of the original order it was
admitted, that the law as now settled was, as had been
stated, and that the issue of a married woman may be
bastardized, though the husband be within the four seas,
contrary to the old rule; but then, it was urged, “ the
evidence ought to be very plain, as particularly that the
wife only can be a witness of the act of incontinency.
In the present case her evidence only, that the husband
had no access, (which was the sole proof upon which the
first order was proved) is insuflicient.

The Court, which consisted of Justices Page, Pro-
byn, and Chapple, (the Chief Justice being absent,)
were clearly of opinion, first, that though the evidence
of the wife alone in this case is not suflicient, yet the
original order was good, it appearing to be made not only
on her testimony, “ but on other proof;” and this, it
must be contended, was legal evidence; second, that the
sessions order was ill, because the only thing they have
proceeded upon is the life of the husband, and this is
not material, as there was no access by the husband to
the wife, which the order admits; and Justice Page
cited the Inhabitants of St. Margaret, and of St. Saviour
Southwark !,  where, after solemn debate, it was held
that a married woman may have a bastard, if her hus-
band hath no access to her, though he be in England.
Besides, the evidence of the marriage and of the life of
the man, as set out in the session’s order, is imperfect
and insufficient.” It was then prayed to except to the
original order, but the Court refused, because the person
charged was not in Court. The Justice’s order was there-
fore confirmed, and the other quashed?,

The judgment of the Court, in the King and Bedale,
is thus given by another reporter: “ But now upon

' Query, Parishes of St. George v. the Parish of St. Margaret, Salkeld, 123,

Fide antea, p. 121,
* Andrews’ Reports, 9.
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debate (the Chief Justice absent) the order of sessions
was quashed, and the order of two Justices confirmed ;
for it being stated in both orders, that there was no
access, according to the case of Pendrell v. Pendrell,
it was immaterial whether the huband was alive or not :
but if 1t was material, here is no evidence to prove it,
the identity not being sworn to; or if it was, yet the
evidence of his being alive was improper to have been
received, and even the marriage itself doubtful .”

The evidence of the wife only, that her husband had
no access to her, was ruled by the King’s Bench to be
insufficient, in the King v. Rook, in the 26th Geo. II.
An order of bastardy was made, that the defendant should
pay 20s., and 1s. 6d. per week to the overseers of the
poor of the parish of Kirkby Moorside, in Yorkshire, to-
wards the maintenance of a bastard child, upon the oath
of a married woman alone, who swore that her husband
was in gaol long before she was got with the bastard
child, and ever since, and that she had no access to him,
nor he to her, and that Rook begot the bastard. It
was objected by Serjeant Agar, that the order ought
to be quashed, because a wife cannot be admitted to
prove that her husband had no access to her. And
so it was ruled by the whole Court; and they cited
the King and Reading? in the 8th Geo. 1I., where
Lord Hardwicke said, that although a wife might be
admitted to prove the fact of adultery, yet she shall
not be admitted to prove that her husband had no ac-
cess, because that may be proved by other persons; and
an order of bastardy could not therefore be made upon
her oath alone. The case of the King and the Parish
of Bedale® differs from this, for there were witnesses to
prove the husband had no access. The Court decided

! 2 Strange, 1076. ? Vide p. 131, antca.
3 Vide p. 135, antea.
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that, as the Justices have determined solely upon the
evidence of a wife, the order must be quashed .

As one of the series of cases connected with the sub-
ject, the cause of Day v. Day, which was first tried in
1784 and again in 1797, must be noticed; but it does
not afford much illustration of the Law of Adulterine
Bastardy, because the question turned upon the fact,
whether the child was the issue of the mother, or was
supposititious? The charge of Mr. Justice Heath, who
tried the cause on the last occasion, evinced a very im-
perfect knowledge of the law; and it almost justified
Lord Erskine, who conducted the plaintiff’s case, in his
severe comments upon it %,

The facts were these. A Mr. Thomas Day married a
person in an inferior station of life, by whom he had a
child, that died young. In November 1774 she said she
was again pregnant; and on the pretence of wishing to
be confined at her father’s house, which was in another
county, she quitted her husband’s residence. On her re-
turn to it, in March 1775, she brought with her an infant,
of which she stated herself to have been delivered. The
husband did not repudiate the child, even if he then, or
for some time afterwards, expressed any suspicion about
its birth. It continued in his house until the commence-
ment of the year 1776, when in consequence of dissen-
sions between him and his wife, (but it does not appear

1 1 Wilson, 340.

? ¢ The charge of the Judge,” he saysin a letter to his client, dated on the
3rd August 1797, “is a reproach to the administration of English justice,
being, from the beginning to the end of it, a mass of consummate absurdity,
and ignorance of the first rules of evidence.”” Again, onthe 12th August in
that year, he observed, ** I scarcely know how to express the disgust I felt,
and still feel, at the most unfounded and unjustifiable charge of Mr. Justice
Heath to the jury.” So late as August 1819 he told his client, * publish
what Mr. Justice Heath did actually say, the whole of it, which, in my opi-
nion, was most unjust, ignorant, and contrary to his duty;" and Lord
Erskine repeated his opinion in January 1520, and in February 1523.—
Vide Report of the Case of Day v, Day, 8vo., third edition, 1826, pp. 331,
332, 330,
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that the disagreement was in any way connected with
the child) it was put out to nurse, unknown to Mrs. Day,
and was thenceforward brought up at the house of a man
of the name of Beaumont.

Mr. Day separated from his wife in 1777; after which
time doubts arose in his mind about the birth of the child,
and he refused to allow her a maintenance, until she satis-
fied him on the point. She consequently told his solicitor
that the child was not hers; and soon afterwards made
an affidavit, that she was informed that her child died,
and that the infant which she had introduced as her own,
was the child of one of her relations, which statement
was confirmed by the affidavit of her mother.

Mr. Day died in 1783, and in his will described the
child in these words : “ My son Thomas Day, who now
and some time past hath been a boarder with Thomas
Beaumont, of Biggleswade, butcher.” The trustees for
Thomas Day, the child in question, entered into pos-
session of all Mr. Day’s entailed estates, except about
one hundred acres of copyhold, into which Mr. John
Day, the brother of the deceased, entered as heir at
law, on the ground that the said child was not the son
of his brother. Mr. John Day, the brother, brought
an action in ejectment, for the recovery of the property
of which the trustees of the child had possession, which
was tried in 1784 before Lord Loughborough, at Hun-
tingdon. A great deal of evidence was adduced to
prove that the defendant was a supposititious child; and
notwithstanding it was rebutted by several witnesses, who
swore to the wife’s pregnancy before she left home, to
her having suckled the infant on its return, and to the
recognition of it by the father, as his child, there can
scarcely be a doubt that the child was supposititious.
On that trial Mrs. Day was herself examined, and swore
¢ that she was brought to bed of a boy,” and that “it was
the same child as was then in possession of her husband’s
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estate.” Lord Loughborough, in summing up, said,
that the evidence for the plaintiffs was circumstantial
only, and not positive ; that it required an accumulation
of evidence to prove a negative; that the plaintiff, in
substance, asserted that the defendant was not the child
of Mr. Day, and that he must therefore make out that
case by the clearest evidence; that if the plaintiff could
show where Mrs. Day got the child, it would be a different
consideration ; that the cause affected the interests of
society, for the child being in possession of the character
of the son of Thomas Day, having been brought up and
acknowledged as such by Mr. Day, and having been re-
ceived by the world as his gon, Mr. Day must be deemed
the parent, unless some other parent could be clearly
assigned for the child ; and that Mr. Day’s will spoke the
language of parental affection, there being no legacy or
bequest from the child. His Lordship proceeded to
observe, that beyond a doubt it was given out that
Mrs. Day went into Staffordshire to lie in: he ascribed
Mrs. Day’s contradictory stories and strange conduct to
a distracted state of mind; and strongly recommended
the jury to find a verdict for the defendant, notwith-
standing the improbable account given by Mrs. Day, and
by the other witnesses, of the birth of the child. A
verdiet was consequently found for the defendant.

In 1785, two of the principal witnesses for the defen-
dant ¢ stung, as they alleged themselves to be, with
remorse of conseience,” voluntarily stated that what they
had sworn on the trial was false. Pecuniary embarrass-
ments, however, prevented the brother from renewing his
efforts to recover the estates; but his son brought another
action in ejectment, which was tried at Huntingdon in
1797, before Mr. Justice Heath and a special jury. The
evidence adduced in favour of the plaintiff was strong ;
but a prejudice prevailed in the neighbourhood against
his claim, arising from the yvouth, respectable character,

Case of
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and long possession of the defendant, to whom the lands
had been confirmed by the trial in 1784. The mother,
Mrs. Day, was not then living ; and the evidence which
she gave on the former trial was not produced. The
jury found for the defendant; and as the case is fully
reported, it is unnecessary to comment upon it further,
except to notice the fact, that the Judge not only allowed
evidence to be given, that the defendant bore a strong
personal resemblance to his supposed father; but in
summing up, he told the jury, that ¢ the next head of
evidence is made very light of indeed; that is, the re-
semblance of the defendant to his father, or supposed
father. I do admit, those resemblances are frequently
fanciful, and therefore you should be well convinced it
does exist ; but if you are convinced it does exist, it is

impossible to have stronger evidence'.”

b ¢ Cause of Day v. Day,” 8vo. p. 327. It appears from the following
passage in Dr. Paris and Mr. Fonblanque's able work on Medical Jurispru-
dence, vol, I, p. 220, that Lord Mansfield attached much weight to the
personal resemblance between children and their parents, to which fact
Mr. Justice Heath alluded :—

‘“ We should net have alluded to personal resemblance between parents
and children, as a mode of proof in these cases, first, as we have doubted
whether such proof can he satisfactory, and secondly, as it may not be con-
sidered a point of medical evidence ; but as to onr first doubt, we find that so
high an authority as Lord Mansfield thought, that a family likeness was
a material proof that a child was the genuine offspring of the parents through
whom he claimed. His Lordship, in delivering his judgment in the House of
Lords in the Douglas Cause, is reported to have said, © I have a,lwn:,.'s Con-
sidered likeness as an argument of a child’s being the son of a parent; and
the rather, as the distinction is more discernible in the human species than
other animals : a man may survey ten thousand people before he sees two
faces perfectly alike; and in an army of a hundred thousand men, every one
may be known from another. 1If there should be a likeness of feature, there
may be a discriminancy of voice, a difference in the gesture, the smile, and
various other characters ; whereas a family likeness runs generally through
all these, for in every thing there is a resemblance, as of features, size, atti-
tude and action. And here it is a question, whether the appellant most
resembled his father, Sir John, or the younger, Sholto, resembled his mother,
Lady Jane? Many witnesses have sworn to Mr. Douglas being of the same
form and make of body as his father ; he has been known to be the son of
Colonel Stewart, by persons who had never seen him before ; and is so like
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Mr. Justice Heath laid down “ the principles of law
upon which the jury were to determine the case,” in the
following brief and unsatisfactory manner :

“ The legitimacy of children depends upon the con-
duct and behaviour of their parents. The only irresist-
ible proof of legitimacy is, that they have been so treated
by their parents. However, there is in the history of
mankind proofs to the contrary; that persons have
been so wicked, that when they have had no issue of
their own, they have adopted others to answer some
sinister purpose; but the conduct of parents affords
such strong presumptions, that unless their conduct be
clearly proved, it ought to prevail ; it is that which least
can deceive'.” The only other legal point stated by
Mr. Justice Heath was on the effect of the conduct of
parents to their children. He said, “ 1 have no doubt
at all the legitimacy of children must depend upon the
declaration, and the mode in which they are treated by
their parents. If the evidence of the declarations of the
parent, that the defendant was her child, is good, so on
the other side are the declarations he was not. 1 would
not admit evidence, to be sure, to show that; she is not
supposed to give any evidence to any other fact except
to being brought to bed ; it shows in what manner the
snpposed parent observed the defendant; that will show
us how she demeaned herself®.”

his elder brother, the present Sir John Stewart, that, except by their age,
it would be hard to distinguish the one from the other. If Siv John
Stewart, the most artless of maokind, was actor in the enlevement of Mig-
non and Saury’s children, he did in a few days what the acutest genius
could not accomplish for years; he found two children, the one the finished
model of himself, and the other the exact picture of Lady Jane. It seewns
nature had implanted in the children what is not in the parents; for it
appears in proof, that in size, complexion, stature, attitude, colour of the
hair and eyes, nay, in every other thing, Mignon and his wife, and Saury
and his spouse, were, toto ealo, different from and unlike Sir John Stewart
and Lady Jane Douglas.’”

! Cause of Day v. Day, 8vo., third edition, p. 318,

2 Ibid, p. 142,
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Case of In May, 31 Geo. 11L. the case of The King v. The Inla-

#.ﬁ:—.ﬁ:_: bitants of Lubbenham oceurred, which was one of set-

‘I:‘.*"::“'l”?‘;’; tlement. One Elizabeth, a pauper, seventeen years

*——~— before, married Thomas Hutchins, who was convicted of
a highway robbery two years after his marriage, but
pardoned, on condition of enlisting as a soldier. He
went abroad, and five years afterwards, his wife, having
heard that he was dead, married by bans, one Thomas
Ponton, at Lubbenham, by whom she had a daughter
called Hepziba, who was born during their cohabitation,
and baptized as the child of the said Thomas Ponton,
and Elzabeth his wife. About twelve months after the
birth of the child, Hutchins, the first husband, returned ;
and the question therefore was, whether the child must
not be considered by law to be the child of Hutchins?
Lord Chief Justice Kenyon decided that the fair con-
clusion from all the facts was, that it was a bastard ;
and Mr. Justice Buller said, “ The first point that I shall
consider, is the situation of the daughter, who must be
taken to be a bastard on the facts disclosed in this case.
It must be recollected that we do not proceed by the
same rules when we are determining on an order of
sessions, as on a special verdict, when we could not say
that this child was a bastard, unless the jury had found
her to be so; but in cases made at the sessions, we are
to consider those points which the Justices made below,
and to assist them in drawing the conclusion which
they should have drawn ; and on this evidence there is
no doubt but the child is a bastard ; she was even so
considered by the parents themselves, who baptized her
as their child.” He added, “ The second marriage is
bad in point of law, and consequently the woman must
be considered as the wife of her first hushand'.”

1 4 Term Reports, 251.
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In the same year in which that case was decided,

namely, in the 31st Geo. IIL., the important cause of

Goodright v. Saul was brought before the Court of King’s
Bench, upon a rule nisi to set aside a verdict of the jury
at the assizes. The facts of the case were these :

John Tilyard died seised of certain lands, and the
question was, who was his heir at law? The plaintiff
claimed as nephew of his paternal grandmother, whilst
John Turner Hales pretended to be the great grandson
of Elizabeth Tilyard, daughter of Robert Tilyard, and
sister of the said John Tilyard’s grandfather. The point
at issue was whether Joseph Hales, the defendant’s
grandfather, was the legitimate son of the said Eliza-
beth Tilyard'? It appeared in evidence that Elizabeth
Tilyard was married in 1705 to Simon Kilburn, of Nor-
wich, with whom she lived for some time in that city,
without having any children ; that Kilburn then left
Norwich, after which time his wife lived publicly with
one Joseph Hales, as man and wife, for some years,

! The annexed Table will more clearly show the relative position of all the

parties :
Robert Tilyard, Will dated 6 Nov. 1714.

I
-]- — Grandmother = Tilyard Simon = Elizabeth - - - - - Joseph
Kilburn, Tilyard § Hales,
of Nor- §
wich, §
married §
I'\'(;rrhew of 1705, §
paternal Bt
rand-
mother ; the Tilyard Joseph Hales, alias Kilburn,
PraxTiFr. = —
Jouxn TiLyann, Hales
the person last =
seised.

John Turner Hales, (great
grandson of Elizabeth
Hales, alias Kilburn) ; the
DerExDANT.
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during which time the plaintiff’s grandfather was born ;
who, it was proved, was always considered in the Hales
family as a bastard. He always bore the name of Hales,
except on one occasion, when he sold an estate after his
mother’s death, which had been devised to her by her
father Robert Tilyard, and in the title deeds of which
he styled himself ¢ Joseph Kilburn, otherwise Hales.”
It did not clearly appear where Kilburn the husband
was, during his wife’s cohabitation with Hales, but a
very old witness said that he went to London, where 1t
was supposed he remained. No marriage between the
wife and Hales was proved, and it was shown that she
was buried by the name of Kilburn, The defendant
produced a pedigree found in the late John Tilyard’s
house, whence it appeared that Joseph Hales, the great
erandfather, had had issue Joseph Hales, the defendant’s
grandfather ; and it was also proved that Robert Tilyard,
the father of the said Elizabeth, by his will, dated 6th
November 1714, called his daughter ¢ Elizabeth Hales,”
and that several other family wills described the Hales'’
as cousins. Some expressions of the late John Tilyard
were also proved, acknowledging the defendant to be
his heir at law ; bat it appeared that these, as well as
the pedigree above mentioned, arvose from the passage
in Robert Tilyard’s will, wherein he called his daughter
“ Elizabeth Hales;” and there were likewise similar
expressions of John Tilyard, as to the acknowledgment
of his heir at law, in favour of the plamtiff. Finding
the evidence against the legitimacy of Joseph Hales, as
the son of Joseph Hales and Elizabeth Tilyard, to be
irresistible, and that her marriage with Kilburn was
clearly established, the Counsel for John Turner Hales,
the grandson of that person, changed their ground, and
contended that the said Joseph Hales was the lawful
son of her marriage with Simon Kjlburn ; for that, unless
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non-access of the husband was fully proved, which had

Case of
Goodright

not been, nor could be done, it must be taken that w. Saul,

Joseph the son, whatever his reason might have been
for taking the name of Hales, must, in point of law, be
held to be the son of Kilburn, and could not be bastard-
ized by mere evidence that another person had cohabited
with his mother. Judge Ashurst, who tried the cause,
directed the jury to that effect, telling them, that though
it was not absolutely necessary to prove the husband
out of the realm, in order to bastardize the issue, yet
that it was incumbent on the party insisting upon that
fact, to prove that the husband could not, by any pro-
bability, have had access to his wife at the time, which
he conceived had not been shown in the present instance.
The jury accordingly returned a verdict for the defend-
ant, thus finding that he was the son of Kilburn the
husband.

As the Judge allowed the jury to determine whether
it was probable that the husband had access to his wife,
at the time when the child was begotten, it is difficult
to imagine how they could have considered that there
was any probability of that fact, under the circumstances
which had been proved ; and nothing but the legal pre-
sumption in favour of legitimacy, and the ancient rule
that that presumption could not be rebutted by any other
evidence than the impotency of the husbhand, or his ab-
sence from the realm, or a divorce, could justify their
verdiet ; for there was, in this case, separation, living in
adultery, reputation, the name of the child being that
of the adulterer, and, in the first instance, a claim to be
the legitimate issue of the adulterous connection.

A new trial was, as might be expected, moved for, on
the ground that the circumstances given in evidence, were
fully sufficient, at this distance of time, to prove the bas-
tardy of Joseph Hales ; and that it was not indispensably
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necessary to prove that, by no possibility, could the hus-
band have had access to his wife ; that the will of the
father, Robert Tilyard, wherein he called his daughter
Elizabeth Hales, the notoriety of Hales’s cohabitation
with her, the probability of the husband’s absence dur-
ing the time, the reputation in the family of the child’s
being a bastard, and the circumstance of his, and his pos-
terity having adopted the name of the putative father,
formed altogether ample grounds for the jury to con-
clude that he was illegitimate. The Counsel in support
of the verdict had only proceeded so far in his argument,
as the deed in which Joseph Hales had described him-
self by the name of Kilburn, which he submitted was
strong to show his legitimacy, when he was interrupted
by Mr. Justice Ashurst, who, after consultation with the
rest of the Court, said, that he was of opinion that there
ought to be a new trial ; that he was convinced he had
laid too much stress upon the necessity of proving non-
access, when the husband was within the realm, by wit-
nesses who could prove him constantly resident at a dis-
tance from his wife; that in this case the husband left
the wife, and went to reside at another place, as it was
believed, in London ; that there was no direct evidence of
his access was very clear, and that there were other cir-
cumstances which went strongly to rebut the presump-
tion of access, and to show that the son was a bastard ;
among others, a very forcible one occurred, that of the
son’s having taken a different name from his birth, the
name of the person with whom his mother was living at
the time, and which had been retained by him and his
descendants ever since, which was a very strong family
recognition of his illegitimacy. The rule for a new trial
was therefore made absolute ',

14 Term Reports, 356. Sir William Wynne, in giving judgment in Smyth
v. Chamberlayne, reviewed this case at considerable length, and said he



( 149 )

The law of Adulterine Bastardy received considerable g:fel I:&t;
elucidation in 1792, from the able and elaborate judg- Chiasiber-
ment of Sir William Wynne, Dean of the Arches', in ]1‘5,1’3';_*
the case of Smyth v. Chamberlayne, which «“ wasa cause” ———
in the Prerogative Court of Canterbury, for the adminis-
tration of the effects of John Newport, esq., who had died
intestate. The sole question was respecting the legiti-
macy of the deceased. Ralph Smyth claimed as his next
of kin against the King’s proctor, who sought to establish
a bastardy.

“ John Newport was the only son of Ann, the wife of
Ralph Smyth, eldest son of William, Lord Bishop of
Raphoe. He was born whilst his mother (being sepa-
rated from her husband) was living with Lord Brad-
ford as his mistress, and he had been bred up and
educated by that nobleman as his son; he had inhe-
rited a splendid fortune from his reputed father, and
had assumed his name® under an Act of Parliament.

Ralph Smyth had separated from his wife some years
previously to the birth of Mr. Newport, and they con-
tinued to live apart ever after. He oceupied a single
apartment i an obscure lodging in Holborn, whilst she
maintained two expensive establishments in the west end
of London and in Hammersmith. [t appeared, that they
had occasional interviews for the payment of a small
annuity, which he had engaged to allow her when they

thought it clear, that if it had been proved that Kilburn resided at Norwich
during his wife's cohabitation with Joseph Hale, access must have been pre-
sumed.— Report of the Garduer Case, Appendix, p. 359.

' This eminent judge, and distinguished lawyer, died on the 12th of De-
cember 1813, aged 87. He was Dean of the Arches from 1788 to 1809,
See some account of him in the Gentleman’s Magazine, vols. Lxxxv, part 1.
p. 573 ; Lxxxvr. part i. p. 16.

? The papers from which this Report was compiled were communicated to
Mr. Le Marchant by Messrs. Gostling & Sons, of Doctors” Commons, and
the extracts in the text are taken from Mr. Le Marchant’s Appendix to the
Report of the Claim to the Barony of Garduner.

3 Newport is the second title of the Earl of Bradford.
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separated, but none of these interviews were alleged to
have occurred within a considerable period of Mr. New-
port’s birth. Both parties acted as if their marriage had
long been dissolved. He rather promoted than inter-
rupted her commerce with Lord Bradford, and he was
never known to take the slightest notice of Mr. Newport.
Mr. Newport, upon his return from his travels, sunk
under a mental disorder, to which the two brothers of
Lord Bradford had been already victims. The jury that
found him a lunatic, also found that they did not know
who was his heir at law. His property was placed un-
der the administration of the Court of Chancery, and
suits were instituted respecting it, to which Ann Smyth,
as a legatee under Lord Bradford’s will, and Ralph
Smyth, as her husband, were made parties. The latter
had frequent opportunities of recognising Mr. Newport
as his son, and would have derived great pecuniary ad-
vantages from the existence of such a relation between
them ; but he studiously avoided any declaration to that
effect, and he both acted himself and allowed the Court
to act, as if no doubt could be entertained of Mr. New-
port’s illegitimacy. Mr. Newport was placed by the
Court, as long as he lived, under the superintendence
of some of the members of Lord Bradford’s family. He
survived his mother and her husband, and died in 1784,
possessed of property, which the accumulations of inter-
est during his lunacy had increased to an immense
amount. The claimant (Smyth) was the grandson of a
brother of Ralph Smyth.”

The cause was argued by Sir William Scott, Dr Har-
ris and Dr. Crompton, for the claimant Smyth, and by
the King’s Advocate on the part of the Crown.

“ On the 4th of December 1792, the judgment of the
Court, as far as it velated to the legitimacy of the de-
ceased, was delivered by Sir William Wynne, who,
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after first addressing himself to the subject of the juris- E-‘iﬂﬁlff
Wi . § Smyth v.
diction of the Court to determine the question, proceeded Chriiis

thus: 11 ayac,
“ There are two questions which arise; 1st, whether ———
the law will admit of an averment that the child of a
married woman, born during the life of her husband, was
not begotten by her husband ? and 2ndly, if such an aver-
ment is by law admissible, whether it is in the present case
proved 7 Without doubt the rule of the law of England,
with respect to the children of a married woman, is the
same as that of the civil law, and must be the same in every
country, ¢ pater est quem nuptiee demonstrant.” But
though this is the law of England as well as of all other
countries, it has always admitted of some exceptions. 1
shall not think it necessary to inquire into those ancient
writers on the law of England, which have been men-
tioned. I only begin with the law as stated by Lord
Coke, in his Comment on Littleton, p. 244 : he states
the law to be in these words, ¢ If the husband be within
the four seas,’ that is within the jurisdiction of the law
of England, ¢ if the wife has issue, no proof is to be ad-
mitted to prove the child a bastard (for in that case,
¢ filiatio non potest probari,” unless the husband has an
apparent impossibility of procreation).” Rolle' lays it
down more strongly, and there are several passages in
his work to the same effect. Now, it appears from those
passages that the two exceptions to the rule, namely,
that of the husband being beyond the seas, and an ap-
parent inability of procreation, are laid down by Lord
Coke and Rolle, not by way of instances liable to be
extended, but as confining the exceptions strictly to those
two. Lord Chief Justice Hale appears to be the first
authority for extending the instances of exception. It
was his opinion that if the jury found by special verdict

1 1 Abrid. 358.
L
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that the husband had no access, then the child would be
a bastard!. And the same rule may be inferred from
the case of St. George's v. St. Margaret’s,” &ec.

Sir William Wynne then adverted to, and commented
upon, that case® and the cases of Pendrell v. Pendrell,
The King v. Reading, Lomax and Holmden, and Good-
right and Saul.

“ The civil law, especially the commentators, are cer-
tainly much more lax on this subject; Menochius mn
particular®. The King’s Advocate did not think fit to
cite this authority, and I am sure he would not have
taken upon him to maintain that this was the law of
England. 1 am sure he would not enforce such a doc-
trine, for it is this: if a woman cohabits with an adul-
terer, and the husband has access to her, though it be
but seldom, in that case the Court are to presume that
the child is begotten by the adulterer, and not by the
husband. The law of England, therefore, on this sub-
ject, as now settled, I take to be this: thatif such proof
can be given, of whatever kind, as shall satisfy legally
the mind of the Court that the husband had no access
to the wife at the time when the child must have been
begotten, the child is a bastard, though born of a married
woman in the lifetime of her husband; but if the hus-
band and wife were so circumstanced that access between
them must be presumed, as if they lived in the same
town or place, and cannot be proved by persons who
have watched them never to have come together; if di-
rect evidence can be proved that they had access to each
other; in such a case I take it the son is legitimate, not-

14 Dickens v. Collins, cited in St. George’s v, 8t. Margaret’s, 1 Salk. 123,
Probably the case mentioned in the debates on the Banbury claim, under
the title of Hospell v, Collins.”

? 8ir William Wynne's remarks upon those cases have been added to the
notices of them, antea.

36 & 63 Pres. 19 sec.



( 151 <)

withstanding any circumstantial evidence that may be
given to the contrary. It remains, then, to be considered
whether the point of illegitimacy, as set up by the
Crown, is supported by legal proof.”

He then alluded to the facts of the case, and quoted
copiously from the evidence produced.

“ Thus then stands the evidence of access between
Ann Smyth and Ralph Smyth her husband : he 1s proved
to have been in London at Mr. Darling’s, to have written

and received letters in that place from the month of

April to the month of June 1720. Ann Smyth was de-
livered of the deceased in London, in Martlet-court,
Covent Garden, in February 1720-21. She had a house
in Maddox-street in September 1722, and in King-street,
Golden-square, in 1724 ; and if we except the incon-
sistent and imperfect recollections of Mrs. Ellard, there
is not the least evidence of her having ever resided any-
where but in London, Hammersmith and Chelsea, from
1708 to 1724. If the evidence had rested here it would,
I think, fall very little if at all short of the case of Lomax v.
Holmden : here the husband 1s proved to have been re-
sident in London in 1720 ; the wife was delivered in
London in the same year, and there is every reason to
believe that her usual residence was at that time in
London likewise. But the evidence in this case goes a
great deal further; for from the time that Margaret
Holmes first knew Mrs. Smyth, which must have been
before the deceased was four years old, she proves Mus.
Smyth had a constant residence in London ; and the de-
positions of Martha Cleeter and other witnesses establish
that Ralph Smyth went, in 1727, to lodge in Warwick-
court, and continued there till his death in 1755; and
here I think there is a direct and full evidence of his
having had frequent access to his wife.

“ These depositions form a chain of evidence amount-
L 4
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ing, in my opinion, to a direct and full proof that Ralph
Smyth had access to his wife, at the times mentioned by
thewitnesses. [t was said by the counsel, that by the word
access in the cases that have been mentioned was meant
nuptial access, and that it was not sufficient to prove
that they were together, if there was not sufficient ground
from circumstances to believe that they had conversed as
husband and wife. But I do not find the least assertion
of this doctrine in any case. T takeit that it has always
been held to be sufficient, if it could be proved, that the
husband and wife had been together, or that they might
have been together by being frequently in the same town or
place; and in Lomax’s case there is a pretence of evidence,
that they were never at the same house, only that the wife
resided in London, and the husbhand was proved to have

been frequently there. But in the present case, to be

gure, it is a great deal stronger, for Thompson says, they
were together without any other witnesses frequently in
her house, in the bed-chamber, upwards of half an hour
together. Now there being such evidence therefore,
both presumptive and positive, of the access of the hus-
band to the wife, | consider the circumstantial evidence
(however strong it may be), that the deceased was not
begotten by the husband, but by another man, insuffi-
cient to rebut it.

“ The counsel for the next of kin have justly observed,
at the criminal intercourse of Mrs, Smyth with Lord
Bradford is very slightly proved by direct evidence. It
can only be inferred from the general reputation of her
being his Lordship’s mistress, and of the deceased being
his Lordship’s gon : in short, from circumstantial evidence
alone ; from the will of Lord Bradford; from the expen-
sive manner in which he was bred up, and from his
taking the name of Newport by Act of Parliament ; and
it must be admitted that there can be no doubt that the

by
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Earl of Bradford did believe the deceased to be his own Case of

Smyth v,

son, which gives strong probability to suppose that it Chamber-

was so.  Yet, when you consider the circumstances of
the case, there are facts that do certainly detract from
that probability ; such as the constant communication
between the parties, and the secrecy with which it was
attended, and more especially the nature of the separa-
tion. It has been truly observed, that there is no evi-
dence to show that they parted with feelings hostile fo
each other, or that they ceased to live on an amicable
footing. The instruments executed by Ralph Smyth in
1708, 1711, and 1728, giving up all right in his wife’s
property, appear to have been voluntary acts; and al-
though they may have been prompted by no very ho-
nourable motives, they surely indicate the absence of
animosity towards his wife. 'We must also recollect that
he acquiesced in her living with Lord Bradford, and that
he never lost the power of calling upon her to cohabit
with him, or took any steps for obtaining a separation.

“ The circumstances that have been principally relied
on in this case are the declarations. There is one decla-
ration, which is an afidavit of Mary Prole, who says,
¢ she knew Ann Smyth when she was the mistress of Lord
Bradford, and heard and always understood from her,
that she had no lawful issue, but that she had a son
who was theillegitimate child of Lord Bradford.” Then
there is the answer given in by Ralph Smyth in Chan-
cery, to the bill of revivor brought after the death of
Ann Smyth, in which he notices the deceased as ¢ a per-
son called in the said bill John Newport,” and afterwards
says, ¢ he does not know who is the heir at law of Ann
Smyth,” which would not have been true if he had re-
garded the deceased as legitimate ; and lastly, his recog-
nising the proceedings in Chancery respecting the lunacy
of the deceased, which abound with the most distinct
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1 T ['2 -

‘——.u——‘



Case of
Smyth v,
Chamber-
layne,
17492,
A

( 154 )

and unequivocal statements of his being illegitimate.
All this has been urged to be a direct disavowal by the
husband and wife, in proof that the deceased was not
their son, But this disavowal by the father and mother
was not, I conceive, such as they were by law allowed
to make. Lord Mansfield says the law of England is
clear, that the declaration of a father or mother cannot
be admitted to bastardize the son bomn after marriage ;
and this is a rule, notwithstanding what has been said
of it, which in my apprehension is entitled to the utmost
deference, not only from the authority which belongs to
every thing delivered by that great Judge, but from its
conformity with the earlier decisions, and its tendency
to preserve order, and to prevent confusion, in the descent
of property and in the administration of justice. Itisa
rule, not only in the law of England, but in the 47th
Title. It may at first sight appear oppressive to the hus-
band, but we should recollect that a husband who is
injured by his wife may obtain a separation from her,
and thereby escape all danger of a spurious progeny.
If a husband connives at his wife living with another
person, he exposes himself to the consequences of such
baseness, and access must be presumed, in the absence
of proof to the contrary. This is not the only case of a
similar nature in which the law rejects evidence opposed
to a presumption, though such evidence shall amount
altogether to full proof. If a woman, big with child by
A., be married to B., it is clear that the latter becomes
the legal father’. And let no one reproach the law ; the
rules it has laid down have been wisely framed for the
security of families, for the protection of marriages,
and for the general extension of public convenience.
It is an evil inseparable from the most perfect of hu-
man institutions, if, in particular circumstances and
' Rolle, 1. 358,
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to particular persons, they may operate to mischiel.
Some late cases have been mentioned, where children
presumed to be adulterine bastards have been bas-
tardized by the Act of Parliament which dissolved the
marriage of the mother. But those being cases of
Acts of Parliament alone, and not of sentences in a
court of justice, they cannot be used as precedents
here.

“ Upon the whole, I am of opinion, that from the
proofs in the cause, the mother of the deceased must be
presumed to have had access to her husband, at the
time she became pregnant of the deceased; and conse-
quently the deceased must be considered to be legiti-
mate, and not a bastard. 1 therefore pronounce for the
interest of Robert Waller and James Smyth, as the re-
presentatives of James Smyth, the next of kin of the
deceased.”

By this decision, the strong presumption of law, in
favour of the access of the husband, when not separated
by considerable distance, or divorce, or incapacitated by
bodily infirmity, was confirmed rather than weakened ;
and 1t seems to have been then held, that if such access
could, by any possibility, have taken place, nothing would
prevent the child from being considered the son of the
husband.

Ably as the law of illegitimacy has been described in
the judgments of some of the Courts in this country, the
subject was perhaps most philosophically and elaborately
discussed, with relation to the principle upon which the
law is founded, in the case of Routledge and Carruthers’,
which was brought before the Court of Session in the
year 1806, and was confirmed upon appeal to the
House of Lords, in June 1816.

I The following account of this case is also taken from Mr. Le Marchant’s
Appendix to the Report of the Gardner Case,
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In the year 1731, Francis Carruthers, esq., of Dor-
mont, married Margaret, eldest daughter of Sir William
Maxwell, bart. Nine years afterwards, Margaret Max-
well was discovered to have carried on an adulterous in-
tercourse with several individuals of very low rank, one
of whom was a menial servant in the family. Mr.
Carruthers was often obliged to be abroad on business ;
and in the beginning of the month of August 1740, he
left his home, and did not return to it until the follow-
ing November, during which interval his wife and him-
self continued always apart, It was only on Mr. Car-
ruthers’ return to his home in November that he received
the intimation of his wife’s infidelity, and of its conse-
quences, as he discovered that she was now, for the first
time, pregnant. A separation immediately took place,
and the injured husband instituted proceedings in the
Ecclesiastical Court for a divorce. Before the sentence
could be obtained, his wife was delivered of a daughter
on the 28th day of May 1741. Mr. Carruthers was
only partially relieved by the divorce; further steps
were necessary for dissolving the tie between him and
the child born during his marriage. The child was
placed at nurse and supported, during infancy, by
My, Carruthers, and when she was seven years old he
placed her with a farmer in a remote part of Cumber-
land, where she was treated as a domestic, and called
by the name of Betty Robson. She was never once
seen by Mr. Carruthers, or acknowledged as his child.
In the year 1758 the child intermarried with Henry
Routledge, the son of a neighbouring farmer, and having
gained some information of the rights that acerued to
her as the issue of the marnage of Mr. and Mrs. Car-
ruthers, she, in the same year, sued the former for the
sum of 1,000/, which she alleged to be due to her
under the marriage settlement. A condescendance was
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given i and proof adduced, that Mrs. Carruthers was
delivered of a female child on the 28th of May 1741,
and that the pursuer was that person. When the cause
was in this state, the parties agreed to settle the matter
without further legal proceedings, and Mrs. Routledge
executed a deed, releasing all right of succession or
other claim which she could or might have under the
settlement. In the year 1806 the issue of Mrs. Rout-
ledge brought a suit in the Scotch courts for setting
aside this release, and for the recovery of the hereditary
estates of Mr. Carruthers.

The case was argued at great length. It turned on two
points: one, the legitimacy of Mrs. Routledge ; and the
other, the effect of the deed of release. The opinions
of the Judges, as far as they related to the former point,
are as follow :

! Lord Craig :—1I have no doubt of this child’s legiti-
macy. That her mother was a bad woman, and was on
many occasions guilty of adultery, 1s certain; but on
the other hand, it is perfectly clear, that this lady must
be held to have been the lawful and legitimate daughter
of her parents. The maxim ¢ pater est quem nuptie de-
monstrant”’ is founded on reason and expediency; and in
this case, however great may have been the guilt of the
mother, however uncertain it may be who was the real
father, still at the time the child was begotten the pa-
rents were married, and there was no defect stated, no
physical impossibility from distance or otherwise, of the
husband being the father. It would be most dangerous,
in circumstances of that nature, to enter into any inves-
tication or into any proof that the child was not a lawful
child. The law holds that she was lawful on good prin-

! Mr. Le Marchant says, “The MSS. from which these judgments were
transeribed, were communicated to me by Messrs, Spottiswood and Robert.
son, of Great George-street, whom I take this opportunity of thanking for
their assistance.”
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ciples, and it would be attended with the worst conse-
quences to institute any inquiry that must shake the
security of marriages. It is said that the father was
from home some forty or fifty miles. It is not stated
when he went away or when he returned, and therefore
it is clear in law, in reason, and in expediency, that this
child must be held to be legitimate.

Lord Succoth :—Although [ concur entirely in the
opinion just delivered, yet I think it proper in a case of
such importance as the present to state the grounds on
which I come to that conclusion; and it is the more
especially necessary in this case to do so, because we
are told that that opinion is contrary to cases which
have been solemnly decided in this Court. I shall take
up very little time with the question of legitimacy, be-
cause it does not appear to me to be attended with any
difficulty : connected with that question, is the question
of identity, on which I shall say nothing, except that
I think it clear that the mother of the pursuer was the
child born of Mrs. Carruthers, of Dormont, during the
dependence of the process of divorce. With regard to
the legitimacy, I concur entirely in the maxim ¢ pater est
quem nuptie demonstrant,” which is founded on strong
reasons of policy as well as of law, and cannot be got
the better of, unless it be made out clearly that there
was an impossibility of the husband being the father of
the child. In this case I do not think that this is clearly
made out; I think it necessary, in order to get the bet-
ter of that sound and salutary maxim, that the husband
should be clearly established to have been absent from
his wife for a considerable time both before and after
the birth of the child, and at such a distance as ren-
dered any connection impossible. I do not think that
either the one or the other of those points has been
proved. As to the first, we have the evidence of two or

=
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three witnesses, and the one that swears most distinctly,

Case of
Routledge

states that the hushband left home about the term of .. Carru-

Lammas, which may apply to a few days after it. In
this respect the proof is by no means precise, but it 1s
still more deficient in the other particular, and certainly
does not show that the husband was at any very great
distance from his wife. I do not know that it is the law
of this part of the island, that the husband must be be-
yond seas, but at all events it is necessary that he should
have been at such a place, or at such a distance from
the wife, that any intercourse was impossible. It is said
that he had gone to England, but your Lordships see
that his own house 18 not far from the border, and that
in the course of a very few hours he might be both in
England and at home. The proof, therefore, is not
sufficient upon that point,

Lord Woodhouselee :—Whatever doubts I may have
in my own mind, whether the pursuer’s mother was
really the daughter of Mr. Carruthers, I have at least
no doubt as to the law which must presume so, unless
circumstances be proved which render it impossible for
him to have had connection with the mother, at a time
that would account for the birth of the child. No such
circumstances have been proved ; Mr. Carruthers was
married to the child’s mother, and the presumption of
law arising from the father living and cohabiting with
her ten months before the birth, is conclusive. It does
not take off this presumption, that acts of adultery have
been proved against the woman during that period ; for
the law, notwithstanding, gives effect to the presumption,
which nothing short of impossibility 1s sufficient to over-
turn. 1 cannot conceive myself at liberty to make any
doubts of my own the ground of deciding the question ;
the law holds this child to be in possession of its legal
status. 1t is plain that the full period of maturity, ten
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months, is sufficient to bring it within the time of the
husband’s cohabitation with the wife,

Lord Bannatyne :—Upon the first question, namely,
the legitimacy of this lady, I have no doubt. 1t 1s the
presumption of law that she is legitimate, and there 1s
nothing proved in evidence to take off that presumption ;
indeed the father acted as if he himself was convinced
that she was his lawful daughter, for if she was not,
she was not entitled to grant the discharge'.

Lord Balmuto gave his opinion to the same effect.

Lord President Blair :—2 This is a case of considerable
moment to the parties, and also as being connected with
several important branches of the law. I shall therefore
give my opinion fully upon the several questions that
have been agitated, taking care to avoid repetition as far
as that is practicable where different Judges are speaking
to the same points. The first question in this case is the
legitimacy. This gentleman, Mr. Routledge, comes
before us claiming as heir under the marriage contract
entered into between Francis Carruthers and his spouse
in the year 1735. In order to make out his claim, it is
necessary to prove that he is a lawful descendant of that
marriage ; not an immediate descendant, but that he is
the grandson of the parties, or the son of one who, he
must show, was an immediate lawful descendant from
them.

The ¢ onus probandi’ lies upon this gentleman, and in
what manner does he make it out? With respect to his
own legitimacy there is no doubt ; but this is not enough,

! Mr. Le Marchant observes, * With great deference to the learned J udge,
the acts of the father, if father he can be called, create a very different pre-
sumption. He never recognized the child, and he accepted the discharge
in order to be more satisfactorily secured from claims, which, however unjust,
might still be successful.”

# " The copy from which the text is taken was revised by his Lordship.”
— Le Marchant.
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he must show that his mother was a lawful child of the
marriage betwixt Francis Carruthers and Margaret Max-
well, who were the parties to the contract under which
he claims. Now in what manner is this proved ? We
have direct evidence that Margaret Maxwell (Mrs. Car-
ruthers), during the subsistence of the marriage, on the
28th of May 1741, was delivered of a female child, and
it 1s proved beyond a doubt, by a very singular concate-
nation of eircumstantial evidence, that the mother of
this gentleman is that identical child born under such
inauspicious eircumstances ; the child of misfortune we
may call her from her infancy, tossed about by various
casualties till at length she is married. Then it being
proved that this child was born of Mrs. Carruthers, there
the proof stops, and there it must stop in every case,
because it never can go further. It is proved that during
the marriage she was delivered of this child; and in
place of pursuing further, the pursuer refers to the legal
maxim which I say is the foundation of every man’s
birth and status; his birth is a fact that may be proved
by witnesses, but the conception is a fact which never
can be proved, and he therefore stands in the same situ-
ation as every other man possessing the legal character
of legitimacy. He proves that he is born of this lady,
and having proved this, the law takes him under its pro-
tection,and says, ‘ pater est quem nuptie demonstrant.” It
refers to a plain and sensible maxim which is the corner-
stone, the very foundation, on which rests the whole fabrie
of human society; and if you allow that to be once
shaken, there is no saying what consequences may follow.
It is said that this lady was not very correct i her
manners : but does this take away the legal presumption ?
No, my Lords, the counsel for the defender had too much
good sense ever to dream of such a thing, to suppose
M
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that a man claiming to be served heir to his ancestor,
must before making out his legitimacy, stand trial for his
mother’s delinquencies ; that until her character come
out pure and immaculate, he is to be denied his service,
or that under such circumstances, a proof should be al-
lowed of her whole conduct and gallantries. In a licen-
tious age the consequences would be monstrous! Dut
then does this presumption, which is of so much import-
ance, yield to nothing? 1s there no way in which it can
be got the better of 7 These questions, Lord Stair, that
oracle of the law of Scotland, has long ago answered.
He tells you that the presumption holds in every case,
unless you can prove the impossibility of connection.
He rather seems to ridicule the idea that prevails on the
other side of the Tweed, that there must be a separation
between the parties ; that the sea must be between them.
He says that the law of Scotland does not require this :
it only requires proof of the impossibility, whether by
distance or otherwise, of the party being the father of
the child. He states it as suflicient to take off the legal
presumption, if during the time when the child must
necessarily have been conceived, there was an impossi-
bility of the father having begotten it. This does not
depend upon the distance merely : for suppose the father
and mother were confined in separate prisons for a twelve-
month, where it is utterly impossible for them to have
access to each other; i this, and such other cases, the
presumption must no doubt give way to the fact, wherever
a kind of impossibility of intercourse between the parties
1s proved. Let us see how this turns out, because we
have here an absence of the husband alleged, which it is
sald made it impossible for him to be the father.”

The defendant appealed to the House of Lords, and the
cause having been heard before their Lordships, the
Lord Chancellor (Lord Eldon), on the 20th of June
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1816, delivered his judgment, in which he declared that Case of

he concurred with all the Judges below, that in point of
law the child must be taken to be the legitimate daughter
of Francis Carruthers.”

In this case, though acts of adultery on the part of
the wife were frequent and notorious, and though the
question of actual paternity was extremely doubtful, it
being a point of uncertainty, whether the husband had
access at the time when the conception took place,
yvet as the mother was married, and there was neither
corporeal infirmity, nor impossibility from distance of
places, of the husband being the father, the presumption
of law that “ pater est quem nuptiee demonstrant” was
allowed to prevail ;—that “ legal, plain and sensible
maxim” which, as Lord President Blair happily described
it, “ is the corner-stone on which rests the whole fabrie
of human society, which, if once allowed to be shaken,
there is no saying what consequences may follow, and
which is the foundation of every man’s status, for his
birth is a fact that may be proved by witnesses, but the
conception is a fact which never can be proved”'. His
Lordship justly repudiated the idea, that a man’s birth-
right is to depend upon the imputed incontinency of his
mother, if, at the time when she admitted other men to
her embraces, her husband cohabited with her; and he
appears to have contemplated with borror, the indecencies
of which courts of justice would become the scene, if
it were permitted to inquire into the actual paternity of
a child when the husband was in the habit of having in-
tercourse with its mother ; if legitimacy were to become
a question of physical examination, and it were to depend

! Lord Blair's language on this subject is very similar to the remark of
Serjeant Rolfe, in the year 1422, who denied that it could be tried by an issue
“ by whom *' the widow was with child, for he said that fact was known to
God alone.—Y. B, 1. VI. 3. Vide p. 51, antea,
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upon a comparison of corporeal powers, whether it was
most probable that the husband or the paramour was the
actual author of the child’s existence.

Case of No other case illustrative of the law of legitimacy oc-

ﬂ:f,f',‘;ﬂ curred until the well known case of 1%e King against

———" Luffe, which was tried in January, 47 Geo. lII. 1807.
An order of bastardy, which was removed into the Court
of King’s Bench by certiorari, was made by two justices
of peace, under the following circumstances: Mary Tay-
lor, the wife of Jonathan Taylor, mariner, was delivered
of a male child on the 13th of July 1806 ; and it ap-
peared, as well by the oath of the mother as otherwise,
that her husband had been beyond the seas, and that
she did not see him, or have access to him, from the 9th
of April 1804 until the 29th of June 1806. The putative
father appeared before the justices, but he did not show
any cause why he should not be adjudged the father of
the said child. The material fact of the case was, there-
fore, simply this :—The husband was separated from his
wife at the time when the child was begotten, and during
the whole period of gestation, except the fifteen days
immediately preceding the birth of the child. Three
objections were taken to this order; but as only two of
them bear upon the law of legitinacy, no notice will
be taken of any part of the argument which does not
relate to it. The first of these two objections was, that
the wife was admitted to prove the non-access of her
husband ; and the other, that the non-access of the hus-
band was not proved during the whole time of the wife’s
pregnancy, which was said to be necessary to bastardize
the issue. It was contended by the counsel in support
of the order, that the non-access of the husband did not
rest upon the evidence of the wife alone. The cases of

Pendrell and Pendrell', and Rex v. Bedale®, were cited

! Vide p. 127, antea. * Vide p. 134, antea.
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to show that non-access may be proved to bastardize the Case of

¢ hing v,

issue, though the husband be in England, and that the Luffe,1507,

old doctrine of the “ quatuor maria” was agreed to be
exploded ; that non-access was proved until about a
fortnight before the birth, which rendered it impossible,
in the course of nature, that he could have been the
father ; that the cases of Regina v. Murray', and Rex
v. Albertson®, had been cited to show that non-access
must be proved during the whole time of pregnancy
order to bastardize the issue; but those cases were de-
cided upon the grounds of the old rule of the “ quatuor
maria,” now exploded by the subsequent cases of St.
Andrew v. St. Bride®, Pendrell v. Pendrell', Rex v,
Lubbenkam®, and Goodright v. Saul®.

It was said, contrd,—-As to the first objection, it had
been clearly settled, since T%e King v. Reading’, that
the wife i3 not a competent witness to prove the non-
access of the husband, and that in this case it expressly
appears that the non-access was proved by her; that
with respect to the third objection, the law presumes
access, and the proof of non-access must come from the
party disputing the legitimacy. The mode of proof was
formerly very plain and precise ; for unless the husband
were proved to be beyond the four seas, or labouring
under some personal disability, the children were deemed
legitimate. “ If,” says Lord Coke, * the issue be born
within a month or a day after marriage between parties
of full lawful age, the child is legitimate.” The law,
therefore, never looked to the period of conception, or to
the actual possibility of the husband having begotten the
child, but only to the notorious fact of its birth during
the marriage, and while the husband was within the four

I Vide p. 120, antea. # Fide p. 142, antea.
? Vide p. 117, antea. ¢ Vide p. 143, antea.
3 Vide p. 126, antea. 7 Vide p 131, antea.
4

Fide p 127, antea.
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seas. The doctrine, indeed, of the extra quatuor maria
is now obsolete, and is supplied by the positive proof
of non-access, though the husband be in England ; but
so much of the old rule of law still holds, that if access
be proved at any time between the possible conception
and the birth, the child is legitimate. So Mr. Justice
Blackstone, speaking of the old doctrine, says, “ If the
husband be out of England (or as the law so, somewhat
loosely, phrases it, extra quatuor maria) for above nine
months, so that no access to his wife can be presumed,
her issue during that period shall be bastards. DBut
generally (he adds, with reference to the later determi-
nations engrafted on the old rule) during the coverture,
access of the husband shall be presumed, unless the
contrary can be shown ; which is such a negative as can
only be proved by showing him to be elsewhere.”

Lord Ellenborough, Chief Justice : — Suppose a hus-
band who had been out of reach of access during the
whole period of the wife’s possible gestation, returned to
his wife the very instant before her actual delivery, can it
be pretended that the child would in such case be legiti-
mate ? The ground insisted upon in the case of The Queen
v. Murray was a little slurred by Mr. Justice Lee, in The
King v. Reading. If the fact be once ascertained that it
is naturally impossible (I do not say improbable merely)
that the husband should be the father of the child, the
conclusion follows that the child is a bastard. There is
a very early case, of Foxcroft, in the time of Edward the
First', where an infirm, bedridden man was privately mar-
ried to a woman who, within twelve weeks after, was de-
livered of a son; and the issue was adjudged a bastard.
The principle to be deduced from the cases is, that if the

! 1t will be seen from the account of this case in the Arrexpix, that it
does not apply to the point for which Lord Ellenborough eited it, as the
legitimaey of the child arose from the invalidity of the marrioge.—Vide
alan P ai, antea. ] .



( 167 )
husband could not by possibility be the father, that is fﬁ:ﬁﬂﬂlf{f
sufficient to repel the legal presumption of the child’s Luffe, 1807,
legitimacy. But if the mere fact of access of the hus- —
band at any time between the moments of conception
and delivery would make the child legitimate, it would
have been an answer to many of the cases where legiti-
macy has been in question.”

Argument resumed.]— No other certain time can be
drawn than that laid down in Regina v. Murray, and
Rex v. Albertson. In the latter case it is said, ¢ He is a
bastard who 1s born of a man’s wife while the husband
at and from the time of the begetting to the birth
1s ¢ extra quatuor maria,” or as it is now understood, is
proved to have had no access during that period. And
in the report of the same case in Carthew, the third ex-
ception to the order, on which it was quashed, was that
it was not alleged that the husband was beyond sea for
forty weeks before the birth of the child, and that it
would not be sufficient to say that he was beyond sea at
the time of the conception : because that in nature could
not certainly be known.”

Lord Ellenborough said, ¢ Here, however, in nature
the fact may certainly be known that the husband who
had no access till within a fortnight of his wife’s delivery
could not be the actual father of the child, Where the
thing cannot certainly be known, we must call in aid
such probable evidence as can be resorted to, and the
intervention of a jury must, in all cases in which it is
practicable, be had to decide thereupon ; but where the
question arises as it does here, and where 1t may cer-
tainly be known from the invariable course of nature, as
in this case it may, that no birth could be occasioned
and produced within those limits of time, we may ven-
ture to lay down this rule plainly and broadly, without
any danger avising from the precedent.”

M 4
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The Counsel then continued,  The same case, of Rer
v. Albertson, is reported in 5 Modern, 419, and there
Chief Justice Holt, is made to say that it must appear
that the husband was not here all the space, for if he
were here either at the begetting or at the birthofthe child,
it is sufficient. And this falls in with the established rule
of law, which has never been questioned, that if a man
marry a pregnant woman any time before the birth of the
child, such child is legitimate. Then by analogy to that,
if the husband have access any time before the birth of
the child, the same construction must prevail.”

Lord Ellenborough :—*¢ Three exceptions have been
taken to this order; first, that the wife was examined
generally and alone to the fact of non-access, and that
the order is founded on her evidence only, whereas it 1s
laid down in the cases that an order of this sort cannot
be made on the evidence of the wife alone, but that there
must be other proof of the non-access. This objection
is grounded upon a principle of public policy, which
prohibits the wife from being examined against her hus-
band in any matter affecting his interest or character
unless in cases of necessity, wheve from the nature of the
thing no other witnesses can probably have been pre-
sent ; but exceptions of that sort have been established,
and that it is necessary, and on that account allowable,
to examine her as to the fact of her criminal intercourse
with another, has been held by various Judges at dif-
ferent periods, for this is a fact which must probably be
within her own knowledge and that of the adulterer
only ; and by a parity of reasoning, it should seem that
if she be admitted as a witness of necessity to speak to
the fact of the adulterous intercourse, it might also per-
haps be competent for her to prove that the adulterer
alone had that sort of intercourse with her by which a
child might be produced within the limits of time which

[
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nature allows for parturition. Certainly, however, it is Case of

The King ».

competent for her to prove the fact of her connexion Luffe, 1507.

with that person whom she charges as being the real
father of her child.” Lord Ellenborough then adverted
to the second objection, on the wording of the statutes
of 18th Eliz. and 6th Geo. I1. and afterwards proceeded
to the third and principal exception: “ that as it appears
that the husband returned within access of the wife
about a fortnight before the child was born, he must be
presumed to be the father of it, which will throw upon
him the burthen of its maintenance. As something l.as
been said concerning the novelty of the doctrine of ad-
mitting the proof of non-access of the husband living
within the kingdom in order to rebut the presumption
of legitimacy, let us see how the law was understood to
be in early periods. In 1 Rol. Abr. 358, tit. Bastard,
leiter B., it is said, ¢ By the law of the land no man
can be a bastard who is born after marriage, unless for
special matter.” Therefore in the very text of the rule
an exception is introduced. The first special matter of
exception mentioned by Rolle to bastardize the issue
where the husband is within reach of access, is one of
a natural impossibility ; where the husband is within
the age of puberty; though that was no obstacle to the
marriage. There is a case in the Year Book, 1 H. 6,
3. b.', which goes the length of deciding the issue to be a
bastard, where the husband was within the age of fourteen.
There are several other cases mentioned from the Year
Books, of course less questionable, as the age in those
cases was much less. All these establish this principle,
that where the husband in the course of nature could
not have been the father of his wife’s child, the child
was by law a bastard. But Foxcroft’s case?, p. 359
of the same book, which [ before mentioned was the

' Vide p. 52, antea. ? Vide pp. 30. 166G, antea, and Appendix, No. 1,
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case of an infirm, bedridden man, who having marred
in that state twelve weeks before the delivery of his wife,
that was holden to bastardize the issue, though the par-
ties were together. And no doubt is thrown on the
principle of that case in any subsequent authority, nor
even in the learned Editor’s Notes on Co. Lit, 244,
a. 123, b. &e. This, therefore, is another instance of
an exception to the general rule admitted at so early a
period as the 10th Ed. L., and founded on natural impos-
sibility arising from bodily infirmity. There 1s another
case in the 18th Ed. I., also mentioned in Rol. Abr. (p.
356), still stronger to the present purpose, where the
child was found to be born eleven days ¢ post ultimum
tempus legitimum mulieribus pariendi constitutum ;” and
because of that fact, ¢ et quia per veredictum juratorem
invenitur quod praedictus Robertus (the husband) non
habuit accessum ad predictam Beatricem per unum
mensem ante mortem suam, per quod magis preesumitur
contra predictum Henricum’ (the issue), &e.; therefore
the brother and heir of Robert had judgment to recover
in assize. Even at that time, therefore,! it was con-
sidered that the fact of access or non-access was a ma-
terial question to be gone into; and that the period of
time which had elapsed between the non-access and the
birth, which only goes to establish the natural impossi-
bility of the husband being the father of the child, was
proper to be inquired of. And Lord Chief Justice Rolle
adds a note to that case, that the Jury found that the hus-
band languished of a fever long before his death ; which
shows that the natural impediment to any access, arising
from his languishing of a fever some time before his
death, was also considered as an ingredient in the ques-
tion which was submitted to the Jury. The rule of law

! Vide remarks on that case, p. 32, antea. It is submitted that the dis-
tinction between a posthumous child, and a child born during the coverture of
its mother, has not been sufficiently attended to in considering that case,
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which has prevailed in these cases is, “ Stabitur huie
preesumptioni donec probetur in contrarium ; ut ecce, ma-
ritus probatur non concubuisse aliquamdiu cum uxore,
infirmitate vel alia causa impeditus, vel erat in ea invali-
tudine ut generare non possit’.” From all these au-
thorities, I think this conclusion may be drawn, that
circumstances which show a natural impossibility that
the husband could be the father of the child of which
the wife is delivered, whether arising from his being
under the age of puberty, or from his labouring under
disability occasioned by natural infirmity, or from the
length of time elapsed since his death, are grounds on
which the illegitimacy of the child may be founded.
And, therefore, if we may resort at all to such impedi-
ments, arising from the natural causes adverted to, we
may adopt other causes equally potent and conducive to
show the absolute physical impossibility of the husband’s
being the father®; I will not say the improbability of
his being such; for wpon the ground of improbability,
however strong, I should not wventure to proceed. No
person, however, can raise a question whether a fort-
night’s access of the husband before the birth of a full-
grown child, can constitute, in the course of nature, the
actual relation of father and child. But it is said, that
if we break through the rule nsisted upon, that the
non-access of the husband must continue the whole
period between the possible conception and delivery,
we shall be driven to nice questions. That, however, 1s
not so, for the general presumption will prevail, except
a case of plain natural impossibility is shown ; and to
establish, as an exception, a case of such extreme

! Bracton, p. 6.—Vide p. 10, antea.
? The physical impossibility of the husband to beget a child, or, in other

words, his impotency, was, as has been shown, always part of the “ special

matter ™ by which a child born in wedlock might be bastardized.
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impossibility as the present, cannot do any harm, or pro-
duce any uncertainty in the law on this subject. As to
the case of Regina v. Murray, relied on for the position
contended for, on which case alone The King v. Albert-
son proceeded, the ground of it was discountenanced
by Mr. Justice Lee, in The King v. Reading. Without
weakening, therefore, any established cases, or any legal
presumption applicable to the subject, we may, without
hesitation, say, that a child born under those ecircum-
stances is a bastard. With respect to the case where
the parents have married so recently before the birth of
the child, that it could not have been begotten in wed-
lock, it stands upon its own peculiar ground. The
marriage of the parties is the criterion adopted by the
law, in cases of anti-nuptial generation, for ascertaining
the actual parentage of the child. For this purpose, it
will not examine when the gestation began, looking only
to the recognition of it by the husband in the subsequent
act of marriage.”

Mr. Justice Grose said :—* In respect to the third ob-
jection, as we have been warned not to break in upon
the Common Law without some rule to go by, I shall
make a few observations upon it. It is said that if
we break in upon the old rule of the ¢quatuor maria,’
we must adopt some other line which will be difficult
to be drawn. But that rule has been long exploded on
account of its absolute nonsense, and we will adopt
another line which has been marked out on account of
its good sense. In every case we will take care, before
we bastardize the issue of a married woman, that it shall
be proved that there was no such access as could
enable the husband to be the father of the child. If
by reason of imbecility, or on any personal account, or
from absence from the place where the wife was, the
husband could not be the father of the child, there is



no reason why it should not be so declared. Here it
1s apparent that the husband, who had no access to the
wife till two weeks before her delivery, could not be
the father; and in saying so, we go upon the sure
ground of natural impossibility and good sense, rejecting
a rule founded in nonsense.”

Mr. Justice Lawrence :—* The third question is, whe-
ther, as the husband had no access until about a fortnight
before the birth, a child so born can be said by our law
to be legitimate. Now, without going over the whole
ground of the argument again, the doctrine of the
“ quatuor maria’ has been long exploded; and it has
been shown by the authorities mentioned by my Lord,
that imbecility from age, and natural infirmity from other
causes, have always been deemed suflicient to bastardize
the issue ; all which evidence proceeds upon the ground
of a matural impossibility that the husband should be
the father of the child. Then why not give effect to
any other matter which proves the same natural impos-
sibility ? It is said, however, that in so doing we shall
shake a settled rule of law, that if a child be born in
wedlock, though but a week after the marrage of its
parents, such child is to be deemed legitimate., But I
do not see that the consequence supposed would follow.
By the Civil Law,if the parents married any time before
[after] the birth of the child, it was legitimate ; and our
law so far adopts the same rule, that if a man marry a
woman who is with child, it raises a presumption that it
is his own. Lord Rolle gives some such reason for the
rule ; and it seems to be founded in good sense, for
where a man marries a woman whom he knows to be
in this situation, he may be considered as acknowledg-
ing by a most solemn act that the child is his.”

Mr. Justice Le Blane :—¢¢ As to the third objection, the
question will be, whether the child of a woman whose
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Case of husband is proved to have had no access to her tilla fort-
1 :i;:-.;:;%;; night before her delivery, canin law be considered as ille-
e e oitimate. And our attention has been called to cases where
a child born within a short time after the marriage of the
parents, is, by the rule of law, considered to be legitimate.
That is a rule of law not to be broken in upon, except as in
other cases, one of which has been mentioned, by proof of
natural imbecility, which showed that the husband could
not have been the father of the child ; but in order to
make the cases the same, it must be supposed that the
adultery of the wife in the absence of her husband, who
only returns to her just before her delivery, is assimilated
in law to the case of a man’s marrnage with a pregnant
woman recently before the birth of the child, where the
very act of marriage in such a situation is an acknow-
ledgment by him that he is the father of the child with
which the woman is pregnant. But there is no analogy
between the two cases. It comes then to a case of non-
accessfora yearand a half, excepting the last fourteendays
before delivery. The rule of law was formerly very strict
in favour of the legitimacy of children born of a married
woman whose husband was within the four seas, but that
has been long broken in upon. Afterwards the rule was
brought to this, that where there was an 1mpossibility
that the husband could have had access to his wife, and
have been the father of the child, there it should be
deemed illegitimate. And in Goodright v. Saul the
Court held, that there was no necessity to prove the im-
possibility of access, if the other circumstances of the
case were strongly to rebut the presumption of access.
The cases of The Queen v. Murray and The King v.
Albertson were rather cited for the sake of expressions
thrown out by some of the Judges in giving their opinions
than for the determination of the Court; for the points
in judgment did not require the support of the doctrine
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advanced, that there must be non-access during the
whole period of the wife’s pregnancy, in order to bastard-
ize the issue. But where it can be demonstrated to be
absolutely impossible in the course of nature that the
husband could be the father of the child, it does not
break in upon the reason of the current of authorities to
say that the issue is illegitimate. If it do not appear
but what he might have been the father, the presumption
of law still holds in favour of the legitimacy. But if,
as in this case, it be proved to be impossible that he
should have been the father, then within the principle
of the modern cases, there is nothing to prevent us from
coming to that conclusion.”—The order of sessions was
confirmed ',

Notwithstanding that the King v. Luffe has been
repeatedly cited as a leading authority for admitting
evidence to bastardize children born during coverture,
against the rule of the “ quatuor maria,” an attentive
perusal of the report of that case must produce convic-
tion that the old rule was very slightly, if at all, shaken
on that occasion, and that the Court acted in the strict
spirit of the ancient law. The notes which have been
added to the observations of Lord Ellenborough, will
tend to prove that the opinions of the Judges were
consistent with the early authorities; and it is there-
fore only necessary to show the resemblance which the
dicta of the Court, on the main points, bore to the old
law.

The real question was simply this, whether the child
of a married woman, whose husband was beyond the
seas for more than two years before its birth, and who
had no access to his wife until fifteen days before her
delivery, was to be considered the child of the hus-
band ?

The only point raised, on which the decision differed

I 8 Eaost, 193—212,
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from the doctrine of the quatuor maria,
therefore, in the old rule being supposed to render the
absence of the husband indispensable from the moment
of the conception until that of the birth; whilst it was
contended, that his absence was not necessary during
the whole period of gestation, but so long only as to
render it physically impossible for him to be the father
of the child; and that if non-access was proved until
fifteen days before the birth, it was impossible for him
to have begotten the infant. To adjudge that he was
the father, under such cireumstances, would have been

LR

consisted,

to give to the law a construction repugnant to common
sense. All that the ancient law required, was proof of
the impossibility of the husband’s being the father. It
sternly rejected probabilities, and may have gone too far
in its anxiety to prevent that which ought to be matter
of fact, from being rendered mere matter of opinion ; but
it was as impossible for a man, who was absent from
his wife for two years, to be the father of a child, born
within fifteen days after his return to her, as if he had re-
mained away until the instant before, or the instant after,
her delivery. The decision in the King v. Luffe, is not at
variance with Lord Coke’s definition of the Law of Adul-
terine Bastardy, because he no where insists upon the ab-
sence of the husband during the whole period of gestation :
nor is there any case in which it had been so decided ;
for the cases in which it had been held that the issue of
a woman, by whomsoever begoiten, born within even the
shortest period after marriage, must be considered to be-
long to the husband, are not, as Lord Ellenborough and
the other Judges observed, analogous to that case. The
Court proceeded solely upon the physical impossibility
of the husband’s being the father; and all which Lord
Ellenborough contended was, that it was competent for
the Court to resort to “ causes which showed the absolute
physical impossibility of the husband’s being the father.
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I will not,” his Lordship added, “ say the improbability
of his being such, for upon the ground of improbability,
however strong, I should not venture to proceed. The gene-
ral presumption will prevail, except a case of plain natural
impossibility is shown; and to establish, as an excep-
tion, a case of such extreme impossibility as the present,
cannot do any harm, or produce any uncertainty in the
law on the subject.” * In every case,” said Mr. Justice
Grose, “ we will take care, before we bastardize the
issue of a married woman, that it shall be proved that
there shall be no such access as could enable the husband
to be the father of the child;” and Mr. Justice Le
Blane, after noticing the alteration in the old law, ob-
served, “ afterwards the rule was brought to this, that
where there was an impossibility that the husband could
fhiave had access to his wife, and have been the father of
the child, that it should be deemed illegitimate.” The
case of the King v. Luffe, therefore, made no innovation
in the spirit, and but little, if any, in the letter, of
the law of legitimacy, as it is laidd down by Lord
Coke ; whilst it confirmed the old principle, that the
1ssue of a married woman must be considered the child
of the husband, except upon positive and conelusive evi-
dence, that, according to the law of nature, whether
arising from impotency, or absence, it could not, by any
possibility, have been begotten by him. In no previous
case did a Court of Justice more unequivocally repudi-
ate all reasoning or inferences founded upon probability,
or more strenuously insist upon the necessity of evidence,
based only on physical and demonstrative facts, of the
total impossibility of access, on the part of the husband,
at the time when he might have been the father, before
a child, born during the coverture of its mother, could be
bastardized.

In the same year as that in which the case of the
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King and Luffe occurred, Lord Ellenborough tried the
cause of Boughton v. Boughton, when the presump-
tion in favour of the legitimacy of a child born of a
married woman prevailed against the strongest proba-
bility that it was begotten by an adulterer. The facts
were thus described by Lord Erskine, in his speech on
the Banbury claim'. ¢ In the year 1774, Salome Kay,
the wife of a person in very humble life, left her hus-
band, and became the mistress of Sir Edward Boughton.
From that time she continued to live under the protec-
tion, and wholly at the expense of Sir Edward, and she
ceased to hold any intercourse with her husband or to
bear his name, having resumed that of Davis, which was
her maiden name, In March 1778, she was delivered of
a girl, who was baptized and registered by the name of
“ Eliza, daughter of Willlam and Salome Davis.”
(William Davis, the brother of the mother, being a ser-
vant of Sir Edward Boughton.) Sir Edward brought
up and educated Eliza Davis as his child; and by his
will, dated on the 26th of January 1794, he devised
considerable estates to her, by the description of his
“ daughter Eliza,” for her life, and after her decease to
the heirs of her body in tail general, provided that she
married with the consent of her guardians, and that her
husband should take the name of Boughton. After
the death of Sir Edward, in 1798, Miss Davis, being
still an infant, presented a petition to the Chancellor,
stating that she was about to intermarry with Colonel
Braithwayte, and as her guardians were not competent
to consent to her marriage, she being an illegitimate

' Report of the Gardner Case, pp. 469, 470. DMr. Le Marchant observes
that * this case was tried at the Middlesex Sittings, K. B. 1807. Lord
Erskine stated the case from a report of it in the Morning Post (now before
me). I have corrected his Lordship’s statement by comparing it with the
papers in the cause, which a professional friend had the kinduoess to procure

for me. Vide also Beughton v, Sandilands, 3 Taunt. 342, where the facts of
the case are noticed,”
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child, she prayed that Ann R. and Richard 8. might be
appointed her guardians, to enable them to consent to
her marriage. The Chancellor, by an order dated on the
9th of August 1798, granted the prayer of the petition ;
the guardians were appointed, and the marriage was
solemnized by licence. Doubts were afterwards raised
on the legality of the marriage, upon the ground that
Miss Davis could not be considered an illegitimate child,
Mr. Kay, the husband of her mother, having been alive
at her birth, and therefore her legal father, and the only
person qualified to consent to her marriage. The Court
of Chancery directed an issue to ascertain whether the
marriage was legal, and the Cowrt of King’s Bench
decided that it was not. The only question in the cause
was the illegitimacy of Miss Davis, and stronger circum-
stantial evidence of that fact could not perhaps be
brought forward in a case of this description. The se-
paration of the husband and wife, the intercourse of the
latter with Sir Edward Boughton, and the recognition
of the child by that gentleman, were fully established.
The baptismal register, the conduct of the mother, the
reputation of the world, and the proceedings in Chancery,
marked her as an illegitimate child. The single cir-
cumstance of the mother’s husband being alive was all
that could be urged to the contrary. The legal pre-
sumption in favour of legitimacy wrung a verdict from
the jury, which no one can doubt they would gladly
have withheld.”

On the same occasion Lord Erskine noticed a case
which was then recently tried’ at Welchpool, in which
the legitimacy of a child named Lloyd was in question.
The husband was a lunatic ; and the wife lived in adul-
tery with a Mr. Price, who was proved to have slept

' Report of the Gardner Cuse, pp. 468, 169. Mr. Le Marchant says, he

had not been able to procure any particulars of this case.
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with her at the time when the issue was supposed to
have been begotten. The counsel dwelt strongly on the
state of the husband’s health, and the adulterous inter-
course of the wife. But there was no proof of non-
access ; and it was imperative on the jury to find for
the legitimacy.

The precedent which was established by the decision
of the case of the King v. Luffe, was followed in that of
the King v. The Inhabitants of Maidstone, in July 1810,
when the Court of King’s Bench unanimously agreed,
that the child of Ann Langndge, a married woman, who
was born on the 5th of May 1808, was a bastard, because
the husband was absent from England with his regiment
from April 1806, until the 4th of January 1808, (during
the whole of which time the wife remained in this coun-
try); that is, until within seventeen weeks, and two days,
of the birth of the child'. The same reasoning which
governed the case of the King and Luffe applied almost
as strongly to this case; it being as much a matter of
physical impossibility, for a child to be the result of
sexual intercourse which took place one hundred and
twenty-one, as fifteen days, before its birth.

A few years after the case of the King and Luffe, the
Law of Adulterine Bastardy occupied the attention of
the House of Lords for a considerable period, on the
claim of the late General Knollys to the Earldom of
Banbury. The proceedings on that claim will be after-
wards fully stated, from which the opinions of Lord
Eldon, Lord Ellenborongh, Lord Redesdale and Lord
Erskine on the subject may be ascertained ; and the only
part of the proceedings which requires insertion in this
place, are the opinions delivered by the Judges on certain
questions submitted to them by the House of Lords.

4 12 East, 560.
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The following questions were proposed to the Judges;
and their answers have, it is said, “ been referred to in
every subsequent case, in which the access of the hus-
band and wife has been the subject of discussion .”

On the 30th of April 1811, the Judges were asked,

“ I. Whether the presumption of legitimacy arising
from the birth of a child during wedlock, the husbhand
and wife not being proved to be impotent, and having
opportunities of access to each other during the period
in which a child could be begotten and born in the course
of nature, can be rebutted by any circumstances induc-
ing a contrary presumption ?”’

The Lord Chief Justice of the Court of Common Pleas,
Sir James Mansfield, having conferred with his brethren,
informed the Committee, on the 2nd of May, that they
were unanimously of opinion :

“ That the presumption of legitimacy arising from the
birth of a child during wedlock, the husband and wife
not being proved to be impotent, and having opportuni-
ties of access to each other during the period in which
a child could be begotten and born in the course of na-
ture, may be rebutted by circumstances inducing a con-
trary presumption;” and gave his reasons.

The Judges were then asked,

¢ II. Whether the fact of the birth of a child, from a
woman united to a man by lawful wedlock, be always,
or be not always, by the law of England, prima facie evi-
dence that such child is legitimate ; and whether, in every
case in which there is prima facie evidence of any right
existing in any person, the onus probandi be always, or
be not always, upon the person or party calling such
right in question ; whether such prima facie evidence of
legitimacy may always, or may not always, be lawfully
rebutted by satisfactory evidence, that such access did

! Le Marchant. Report of the Garduer Case, p. 433.
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not take place between the husband and wife, as by the
laws of nature is necessary, in order for the man to be n
fact the father of the child ; whether the physical fact of
impotency, or of non-access, or of non-generating access,
(as the case may be) may always be lawfully proverd,
and can only be lawfully proved, by means of such legal
evidence as is strictly admissible in every other case in
which it is necessary, by the laws of England, that a
physical fact be proved ?”

“ III. Whether evidence may be received and acted
upon to bastardize a child born in wedlock, after proof
given of such access of the husband and wife, by which,
according to the laws of nature, he might be the father
of such child, the husband not being impotent, except
such proof as goes to negative the fact of generating
access?  Whether such proof must not be regulated by
the same principles as are applicable to the legal esta-
blishment of any other fact?”

To these questions the Lord Chief Justice of the
Common Pleas delivered their unanimous opinion.

“ That the fact of the birth of a child from a woman
united to a man by lawful wedlock, is generally by the
law of England, prima facie evidence that such child is
legitimate. That in every case in which there is prima
facie evidence of any right existing in any person, the onus
probandi is always upon the person or party calling such
richt in question. That such prima facie evidence of legi-
timacy may always be lawfully rebutted by satisfactory
evidence that such access did not take place between the
husbandand the wife, as by the laws of nature, is necessary
in order for the man to be in fact the father of the child.
That the physical fact of impotency, or of non-access, or of
non-generating access, as the case may be, may always be
lawfully proved by means of such legal evidence as is
strictly admissible in every other case in which it is neces-
sary by the law of England, thata physical fact be proved.”
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“ That after proof given of such access of theshusband
and wife, by which, according to the laws of nature, he
might be the father of a child (by which we under-
stand proof of sexual intercourse between them), no evi-
dence can be received, except it tend to falsify the proof
that such intercourse had taken place. That such proof
must be regulated by the same principles as were appli-
cable to the establishment of any other fact.”

On the 30th of May, the following questions were put
to the Judges:

“ IV. Whether, in every case where a child is born in
lawful wedlock, sexual intercourse is not by Law presum-
ed to have taken place, after the marriage, between the
husband and wife (the husband not being proved to be
separated from her by sentence of divorce), until the
contrary is proved by evidence sufficient to establish the
fact of such non-access, as negatives such presumption
of sexual intercourse within the period, when according
to the laws of nature he might be the father of such
child ?

“ V. Whether the legitimacy of a child bornin lawful
wedlock (the husband not being proved to be separated
from his wife by sentence of divorce) can be legally re-
sisted by the proof of any other facts or circumstances
than such as are sufficient to establish the fact of non-
access during the period within which the husband, by
the laws of nature, might be the father of such child ; and
whether any other question but such non-access can be
legally left to a jury upon any trial in the courts of law
to repel the presumption of the legitimacy of a child so
circumstanced 77’

Upon these questions, the Lord Chief Justice of the
Common Pleas, on the 4th of July, delivered the unani-
mous opinion of the Judges as follows:

“ That in every case where a child is born in law-
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ful wedlock, the husband not being separated from his
wife by a sentence of divorce, sexual intercourse is pre-
sumed to have taken place between the hushand and
wife, until that presumption is encountered by such evi-
dence as proves, to the satisfaction of those who are to
decide the question, that such sexual intercourse did not
take place at any time, when by such intercourse the
husband could, according to the laws of nature, be the
father of such a child.

“ That the presumption of the legitimacy of a child
born in lawful wedlock, the husband not being separated
from his wife by a sentence of divorce, can only be le-
gally resisted by evidence of such facts or circumstances
as are sufficient to prove, to the satisfaction of those who
are to decide the question, that no sexual intercourse did
take place between the husband and the wife at any time
when, by such intercourse, the husband could, by the
laws of nature, be the father of such child. Where the
legitimacy of a child in such a case is disputed, on the
ground that the husband was not the father of such
child, the question to be left to the jury is, whether the
husband was the father to that child ? and the evidence
to prove that he was not the father, must be of such facts
and circumstances as are sufficient, to the satisfaction
of a jury, that no sexual intercourse took place between
the husband and wife at any time, when by such inter-
course the husband could, by the laws of nature, be
the father of such child.

“ The non-existence of sexualintercourse is generally
expressed by the words ‘ non-access of the husband to
the wife ;> and we understand those expressions, as ap-
plied to the present question, as meaning the same thing ;
because in one sense of the word access, the husband
may be said to have access to his wife, as being in the

same place, or the same house ; and yet, under such cir-
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cumstances, as, instead of proving, tends to disprove that
any sexual intercourse took place between them.”

It 1s obvious, that the opinions of the Judges were
founded upon decisions subsequent to the case of the
Queen v. Murray in 1704, when the rule of the “ qua-
tuor maria” appears for the last time to have been
considered Law; and though they held, that the legal
presumption that the husband is the father of the child,
might be rebutted by evidence that he had not sexual
intercourse with its mother when it was begotten, still
they laid it down, in the clearest and most positive
terms, that no other evidence would be sufficient to
bastardize a child born in wedlock. The Judges also
considered, that if it could be proved that the hus-
band might have had nuptial intercourse with his wife
at a period when, according to the laws of nature,
the child could be the fruit of such intercourse, the only
admissible evidence to rebut the presumption of paternity
must have for its object, to eontradict that proof ; that
nuptial intercourse is always presumed to have taken
place between the husband and wife where a child is
born in lawful wedlock (the husband and wife not being
separated by a divorce), until that presumption is en-
countered by evidence that sexual intercourse did not
take place at any time, when, by such intercourse, the
husband could be the father of the child ; and that the
presumption in favour of the legitimacy of a child born
in wedlock (the husband and wife not being separated
by divoree), can only be rebutted by evidence that sexual
intercourse did not take place between them, at a time
when the husband might have begotten the child ; that
in cases of disputed legitimacy, the jury were to decide
whether the husband was the father, and that no ot/er
evidence could be received to the contrary, than proof

N oo+
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that no sexwal intercourse took place between him and his
wife, at a time when, by the laws of nature, he could
have been the father of the child.

Though widely different from the law in the year 1632,
when the first Earl of Banbury died, and for more than
a century afterwards, with respect to the nature, and
extent of evidence which 1s admissible to prove that the
husband is not the father of his wife’s child, still the
principle upon which these opinions were founded is pre-
cisely that of the old Law. Sexual intercourse between
man and wife must be presumed, and nothing, except
evidence that the husband did not have such intercourse
at the period of conception, can illegitimize a child born
in wedlock. If the husband could, from eircumstances
of time, place, and health, have had nuptial intercourse
with his wife, and there be no evidence to prove that
he did not have such intercourse, he must be considered
the father of her child, even if she had committed adul-
tery with one, two, or twenty other men. The Law fixes
the paternity on the husband, who took upon himself
that responsibility by his marriage ; and if, from hig want
of care, or indifference, he continued to cohabit with an
adulteress, the burthen and ignominy of providing for
a spurious progeny, are only proper penalties for his
carelessness or baseness.

Unless it was impossible for the husband to be the
father of the infant, or, in the concise and forcible words
of Lord Ellenborough, unless ¢ the absolute physical
impossibility of the husband’s being the father”
blished by evidence', the Law protects the interests of
the child, by securing to it the rights of legitimacy.

15 esta-

However strong the probability may be, that it was the
1ssue of an adulterer, the law rejects all arcuments

1 Hiug v. Luffe. Fide p. 171, antea,



which are not founded upon indisputable fucts ; and pro- Opinion of
ceeds upon the possibility of its being engendered by ﬁ:“lﬂ‘ll:gm
the husband, to avoid committing the flagrant injustice ————
of divesting an innocent person of the most valuable

right of civilized society; or, as Britton expresses it,

prevents the adultery of the mother from debarring the

child from the inheritance.

The case of Norton v. Seaton, falsely calling herself {2seof

| . Norton v,
Norton, which occurred in the year 1819, ought not to Seaton,

be omitted in this work ; for although the legitimacy of u::,_:
the children of a supposed adulterous connexion was
not immediately at issue, their status was involved in
the question ; and some points of law were raised on
that occasion which entitle the case to attention.

George Norton of Baston, in Lincolnshire, Esq., was
tenant for life of certain lands in that county, with re-
mainder, in the event of his dying without heirs of his
body, to his sister. He was married by licence on the
18th of June 1812, to Sarah Seaton, a person in an inferior
station of life to himself; and it does not appear that any
provision was made for her by settlement, or otherwise.
The parties lived together in apparent harmony from the
time of their marriage up to the year 1819, when it was
supposed that Mrs. Norton had formed a particular inti-
macy with a farmer in the neighbourhood, of the name
of Rubbins; and facts were disclosed which rendered
it highly probable that she had long had an adul-
terous connexion with him. The notoriety of the cir-
cumstance having reached the ears of Mr. Norton’s
sister, the person entitled in remainder, he was made
acquainted with his wife’s conduct, in May in that year.
An inquiry soon afterwards took place, and 1t was found
that Mrs. Norton was, for the first time, in an advanced
stage of pregnancy. Her husband was then in his fifty-
second year, and she was ahﬂ:ﬂ;ut the age of thirty. By
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the advice ¢f his friends, Mr. Norton removed his wife
from his house on the 9th of June ; and with the view of
effecting a separation, commenced an action against Rub-
binsin the Common Pleas, but which he was afterwards
advised to discontinue for causes which will be stated.
It was very generally believed that Mr. Norton had
from his birth been totally defective in the necessary
organs of generation, and that he was, and had always
been, completely impotent. Evidence of a very curious
character was obtained, which could leave no doubt of the
fact. A physician of considerable eminence of Stamford,
and a surgeon who lived in the vicinity, signed a certificate
that having some years before been in attendance upon
Mr. Norton, it was found necessary to extract his urine
with an instrument, and that from the exposure requisite
for the operation, they discovered that he must have
been impotent from his birth ; that he had a very di-
minutive penis; that there was no appearance of tes-
ticles; that there was no hair upon the pubis; and
that these signs of his want of the powers of generation
were further strengthened by his being totally without
a beard. His personal defects were also described by
a servant who had been in the habit of sleeping with
him “ because he was afraid to sleep by himself,” at
which time Mr. Norton was thirty years old; by a
man who had washed him, when he accidentally fell
mto a drain, and by others who had frequently seen
him in a state of nudity, who deposed that he was
“but a poor weak creature in his body ;” that “ he
was the most extraordinary made man in his whole
frame” they ever saw, and not much better in his
mind ; that before he was married he appeared never
to have any desire for women, but always seemed to
have a dread of them, and was never cheerful in their
company. It was also stated that Mr, Norton’s father
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was overheard, when disputing with his danghter about Cuse of
= = Norton .

the disposition of his property, to say that his son “ was Seaton,
not like other men, and could have no heirs.” ﬂ;_,__a

Under these circumstances, and by the advice of
counsel, a suit was instituted by Mr. Norton in the
Ecclesiastical Court, to annul his marriage on the
grounds of his own impotency; but which failed, on
the principle that no man can take advantage of his
own wrong, to relieve himself from his contract.

The case has been thus fully reported by Dr. Philli-
more :

“ ArcaiEs Court oF CANTERBURY. By letters of
request from the Consistory Court of Peterborough,
Michaelmas term, December 4, 1819.

This was a suit of nullity of marriage, instituted by
George Norton, by reason of his own natural impo-
tency and defect in his organs of generation. The
marriage had been solemnized by licence on the 18th
of June 1812, he being then forty-five and the woman
twenty-three years of age. They had cohabited till
June of the present year,

Drs. Adams and Dodson, in objection to the libel :—
This 1s a novel suit, and one which cannot be enter-
tained. A man, after seven years’ cohabitation, sues
for a nullity of marriage on the ground of a defect in
himself which always existed; he is desirous that his
wife, having lost all opportunity of settlement, and he
having taken all opportunities of fortune accruing to
her, should now be dismissed from her marriage. We
find no express law that a man may or may not complain
on this ground, probably because no one could contem-
plate such a case. A woman may complain of the im-
potency of her husband; and the Canon Law would hold
such a marriage not merely voidable but void. X. 2. 27.
2. 29; Brower, 2. 4. 14. 16. 2. 4. 22; Sanchez, 7. 97,
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9, 10, 12. 7. 98; but in X.' 4. 15, 4, we find that a
person is not entitled to a divorce who knowingly
contracts marriage with an impotent person;—a for-
tiori, therefore, a person who knows of his own im-
potency cannot make it the foundation for a suit of
nullity of marriage. We submit that the husband is
not entitled to bring such a suit; and that if the point
be only doubtful, the Court should not hesitate to

dismiss the cause.

Drs.Phillimore and Lushington, insupport of thelibel : —
No doctrine of the Canon Law is clearer than that a man
may sue for a nullity of marriage by reason of his own
impotency. The Text Law?, deduced originally from the
Civil Law, is unequivocal®., X. 4.15.1; X. 2. 19. 4.
All the commentators have interpreted it in the same
manner. Panormitan®, whom Hostienses and all the
others follow, is so explicit as not to be mistaken.
Ayliffe® makes it clear that we have imported this
doctrine into the Canon Law as administered in this

! ¢ Consultationi tuz qua nos consuluisti, utrim feemine claus® impo-
tenfes commisceri maribus, matrimonium possint contrahere, et si con-
traxerint an debeat rescindi? Taliter respondemus, qudd licet incredibile
videatur, qudd aliquis cum talibus contrahat matrimonium : Romana tamen
ecclesia consuevit in consimilibus judicare ut quas tanquam uxores habere
non possunt habeant ut sorores.”

3 o Cod. 5. Nov. 22. 6.”

3 ¢4 Accepisti mulierem, et per aliquot tempus habuisti, per mensem, aut
per tres, aut per annum: et nunc pnmum dixist te esse frigide natura, ita
ut non potuisses convenire cum illi, nec cum aliqua alia.  Si illa qua uxor
tua esse debuit eadem affirmat qua tu dicis, et probari potest per verum
Judicium ita esse ut dicitis, separari potestis : e tamnen ratione, ut si tu post
aliam acceperis, reus perjurii dediceris, et iterum post peractam peeniten-
tiam priori connubio reparare debebis.”

+ 1 Nota.—DMaritus potest reclamare et pelere separationem etiam impedi-
mento proveniente ex se ; interest enim sua ul separentur; si non est inter eos
verum matrimonium ut non teneantur ad onera matrimonii.—Abb, super
quarto. Aecepisti, &e. 1.”

% % The husband may pray a separation of matrimony on account of
a matrimonial impediment, though such impediment proceeds and arises from
himself ; as from hiz own impotency and frigidity,”

Parergon, 230.
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country ; and a MS. opinion of the late Sir William
Wynne' shows his understanding of our practice to be
the same. The ground of the nullity is, that the mar-
riage being void, there can have been no contract ; all
the reasoning, therefore, deduced from the authority of
other contracts, must fail. Put the case of a man natu-
rally impotent intermarrying with a woman, and that
woman becoming pregnant by another man; what re-
medy has he, or, which is of more importance, what
remedy have those who have a reversionary interest in
his property, but a suit of this deseription? By what
other course of proceeding can his estates be prevented
from being transferred to foreigners? This i1s the only
remedy pointed out by the law of the land ; the suit is
to be entertained for the purpose of ascertaining whether
there has been verum matrimonium, and to ascertain the
relative status and condition of the parties to each other.
It 1s very true that the books lay down that a man® is
not entitled to a divorce who knowingly contracts mar-
riage with an impotent person; but the very same books
lay down that he may allege his own impotency as a
ground of divorce.

I shall examine the authorities before

Per Curiam :
I give my judgment, to see what was the doctrine of the
Canon Law, and how far it has been adopted here ; and
in the meantime I wish search to be made whether there
has been any precedent for such a suit. If the defect is

1 « T think a woman may institute a suit of nullity of marriage against
her husband on account of impotency or incapacity in herself to perform the
duties of marriage , and I think that if the persons appointed by the Courtto
inspect her (which is the method of proof upon which these cases always
proceed ) should certify that she appeared to them, from a defect in the natural
formation of her body, to be absolutely incapable of being carnally known
by a man, upon this proof the marriage must be pronounced null and void.

“ Daoctors’ Commons, May 5, 1777 “ Wirrianm Wrynue”

2 « Byt if he knowingly marries a woman that cannot render him his due,
he is (notwithstanding) bound to maintain her; and shall not be divorced
from her, for he ought to impute it to himself.,""— Parergon. 230,
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such as has been pleaded, it seems as if the marnage
must have been contracted scienter; then after so long
a cohabitation, the party comes to annul his own con-
tract. 1 wish precedents to be produced, if there be
any.

The case again came on in January 1820, when Dr.
Phillimore stated the difficulties that had attended the
search, from the want of Reported Cases, and the inac-
curate manner in which the Arches’ Books had been
kept. The search had been made with a twofold pur-
pose: first, to ascertain the greatest number of years
that had elapsed between a marriage and the institution
of a suit of this deseription; and secondly, whether any
instance could be adduced of a person instituting a suit
on the allegation of his or her own impotency. The cases
found were the following :

The Hon. Catherine Elizabeth Weld®', alias Aston,
against Edwaerd Weld, of Lulworth Castle, in Dorset-
shire; a cause of nullity of marriage by reason of impo-
tence, in the Arches priméa instantiii, by letters of request
from the Chancellor of Bristol®. The parties were mar-

1« A daughter of Lord Aston’s.”

2 « This cause was appealed to the Delegates. The first entry of it in
the Court, or (as it is technically termed) the Assignation-book of the Dele-
gates, on April 27, 1732, is as follows :—Archibaldus, Comes llay; Jose-
phus, permissione divina Roffensis Episcopus; Thomas, eidem permissione
Bangorensis Episcopus ; Thomas, eidem permissione Asaphensis Episcopus ;
Johannes, Dominus Delawarr; Thomas, Dominus Foley ; Jacobus Rey-
nolds, Armiger, Cap. Baro. Scaccarii 8. D. N. R.; Alexander Denton,
Armiger, unus Junsconsultorum, 8. D. N. IR. de Banco ; Johannes Comyns,
Miles, unus Baronum Scacearii $. D N. R.; Dominus Henricus Penrice,
Miles; Matt. Tindall; Robertus Wood; Carolus Pinfold ; Edwardus
Kinaston, LL. ID. Honorabilis Feemina Catherina Eliza Weld, alias
Aston, uxor pretensa Edwardi Weld de Lullworth Castle, in comitatu
Dorsetiee, Armigeri, contra eandem Edwardum Weld., Greenly exhibuit
commissionem appendentem sub magno sigillo Magna Brittaniz. Domini
acceplarunt onus executionis ejusdem ad petitionem dicti Greenly ex-
hibentis procurium pro parte appellante—decreverunt citationem tertio,
fc,—et monitionem pro processu transmittendo in primam sessionem
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ried in 1727; the suit was brought in 1730.— The
Duchess v. The Duke of Beaufort, Arches, 1742 : the
suit was originally brought in the Consistory Court of
London, where the Judge ordered the fourth article of
the libel to be reformed ; it was appealed to the Arches,
where the libel was admitted in its original form. The
cause was finally heard in the Arches, May 1743, on the
Duke’s answers, and the inspection of physicians, and
decided in favour of the Duke. The Duke was twenty-
one years old at the marriage; the Duchess seventeen,
The marriage took place in 1729.—Leeds, otherwise
Lamborn, v. Leeds. The parties married in 1753: the suit
was brought by the wife in the Consistory Court of Lon-
don, in May 1758. The libel was admitted, and the
report of the physicians and surgeons was made on the
25th of May 1759 ; but the proctor for Mrs. Leeds ob-
Jected to that report as not being sufficiently full and
clear, and prayed a further report. The Judge rejected
the petition, and concluded the cause. It' was appealed

proximi termini. Boycott exhibuit procurium speciale manu proprid et
sigillo Edwardi Weld, Armigeri, partis appellate (here follow two words
not legible) Dlomini ad ejus petitionem assignarunt Greenly ad libellandum
in proximum. On the 17th of February 1732, the following entry occurs in the
Assignation-book, which appears to have been made under the direction of the
Condelegates ;—for the names of none but the civilians in the commission,
vis. Sir Henry Penrice, Drs. Tindall, Wood, Pinfold, and Kinaston, are pre-
fixed to the minute. * Domini assicnaverunt ad infirmandwm in jure in diem
provimum, whether there must be a continual cohabitation per spatium frien-
nale, without interruption ; whether, after three years' cohabitation, and the
woman found a virgin,—whether the marriage shall not be declared null and
void ; whether a man that has been married three years, and at the end of
that time is viewed by surgeons, and reported by them to be fully capable
of propagation; whether such marriage can be dissolved ;—notice to be
given to the Lords Spiritual and Temporal.” The case was argued on the
215t and 23rd, and sentence was given on the 24th of May 1733, in favour
of Mr. Weld, when the cause was remitted to the Inferior Court. The
Judges Delegates present at the hearing and the sentence were the Bishops
of Rochester and St. Asaph, Lord Delawarr, Chief Baron Reynolds, Baron
Comyns, Sir H. Penrice, Judge of the Admiralty, Drs. Tindall, Pinfold
and Kinaston."”
b 4 The libel pleaded frigidity and impotency.”
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to the Arches, where the appeal was pronounced for.
The Judge ordered a more full report; and a furtherreport
was accordingly made ; but that also was objected to on
the behalf of Mrs. Leeds'. The cause was appealed to
the Delegates. The Delegates pronounced against the
appeal, but retained the cause; and it does not appear
that any further proceedings were had in it.— Forster,
otherwise Schutz, v. Schutz, Consistory of London, 1770.
The marriage took place in March 1770. The suit
was brought by the wife in November of the same
year. The libel was admitted, some irrelevant articles
being rejected. A report of physicians and surgeons
was made. Objection was taken to that report: the
Judge pronounced it to be full. The cause was appealed
to the Arches; but the appeal not being prosecated, it
was remitted to the Consistory, where Mrs, Schutz® was
held to have failed in proof of her libel.— Gumbaldeston,
otherwise Anderscn, v. Anderson, Arches, 1778. The
marriage was in 1775; and the suit was brought in 1777,
in the Consistory Court, by the wife. The libel was re-
jected ; the Judge, Dr. Bettesworth, laying great stress

! ¢ December 14, 1759. In the principal cause, an allegation was
brought on the part of Mrs. Leeds, to which answers were given, and wit-
nesses were examined, and publication was decreed ; but there was no final
hearing in either Court on the merits of the cause, It was appealed to the
Delegates (as it had been before to the Arches), on a grievance, in Decem-
ber 1760, and mention of it recurs at various intervals in the Court-book of
the Delegates, till the 4th of December 1762, when the assignation was
continued till a day in Hilary term 1763 ; but no entry of the cause appears
afterwards. In the valuable catalogue of the processesin the registry of the
High Court of Delegates, digested with great care and industry by Dr. Jesse
Addams, the following note is placed opposite the entry of this cause: ¢ In
prima Inst—ILeeds (Hester), alias Lamborn, against Leeds, in a cause of
divorce by reason of impotence, in the Consistory Court of London, appealed
by the wife to the Arches, and subsequently to the Delegates, on a grievance,
viz. on the Judges of those Courts respectively overruling her objection to
the report of the physicians and surgeons appointed inspectors of the hus-
band’s parts of generation, as ambiguous, &e., and incapable of satisfying the
Court with respect to his potence or impotence,”

2 ¢ Feb, 17, 17727
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on the time of bringing the suit, there not having been
three months’ cohabitation. It was appealed to the
Arches ; and it appears that in the argument the Counsel
(Dr. Wynne) pressed upon the Court the caution which
ought to be observed in admitting pleas of this deseription.
The note of the sentence of the' Judge (Dr. Calvert)
1s to this effect:—* Impotency a good ground of nullity.
Not much weight in argument as to unfavourable suit.
Whether the case is such as the Court can redress. The
virginity of woman very material. Libel properly drawn ;
but in this case the opinions of inspectors only must
determine ; and not sufficient for the Court, as in the
words of the libel, they could only say it appeared soft
and short, which does not always continue; therefore
three years’ cohabitation necessary.”— Gumbaldeston,
otherwise Anderson, v. Anderson; Consistory, 1777;
Arches, 1778. Libel rejected for want of three years’
residence ; only about three months’ cohabitation.—
Schultz against Schultz. Leeds against Leeds. Larkin
against Frost.— Harris, otherwise Ball, against Ball.
The parties were married in 1781. The husband was
thirty-four, the wife seventeen years old : the suit was
brought by the wife in the Arches, 1788. The libel
was rejected *; but upon an appeal this sentence was
reversed, and the libel was admitted by the Delegates to
proof. The wife, however, ultimately failed in the suit *,
Dick v. Dick, Arches, May 24th, 1811.

! ¢ This note is transcribed from an indorsement, in the ]1:u1dwri1'mgdnl’
Dr. Harris, on the brief from which he argued the case of Harris, otherwise

Bull v. Ball, Deleg. 1789.”

2 « By Dr. Calvert.”

3 « November 24, 1790. The Delegates, by their interlocutory decree,
pronounced that Hannah Ball had totally failed in proof of her libel, and
dismissed Thomas Bannister Ball from the suit. The Judges Delegates who
were present at the sentence were Mr. Justice Gould, Mr. Justice Hu]].ﬂ'
Mr. Baron Hotham, Dr, Fisher and Dr. Lawrence. DMr. Erskine, Mr. Pig-
gott, Dr. Harris and Dr. Nicholl were counsel for Mis. Harris: Mr. Bear-
croft, Sir William Scott and Dr. Battine, contri.”
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“ Grreenstreet falsely called Comyns v. Comyns. The
marriage was in 1807, the suit in 1812. Sir William
Scott, in giving judgment in that case, said, ¢ There is
great disposition on the part of the husband to atone for
the injury he has inflicted on this lady, being in utter
ignorance of his constitutional defects.” The libel in that
case was drawn precisely in the same form as this;—
and why in that case was the man to be presumed to be
ignorant of his natural defect, and not so in this? Inthe
text of the Canon Law’, X. lib. 4, tit. ¢. 9, a case is stated
in which a woman applied for a divorce on account of the
frigidity of her husband, after eight years’ cohabitation,
and obtained it. The rezult of this search is, that there are
many instances of suits having been brought many years
longer after the marriage than in the present instance ;
but none in which the party seeking redress had been
the party labouring under the infirmity; at the same
time, there have been undoubtedly many suits of which
no traces can now be found. It i1s observable also that
none of these suits have been promoted by the husband.
And would any one pretend to argue, because no case
could be found, in which the husband had commenced
proceedings, that the husband could not bring the suit ?
It is impossible to read the passages in the Canon Law,
on which this doctrine is founded, to signify anything
else than that the impotent party might bring the suit.
Every commentator on them has deduced the same con-
clusion. Sanchez was cited against it at the last hearing ;
but his authority was mistaken. It is directly in unison
with that of the other commentators, p. 354; and the
whole of his doctrine on this head was clearly summed
up in the 114th Disputation, which had for its title
“ Utrum conjugi impotenti et viro frigido, aut mulieri
arctee integram sit contra matrimonium proclamare, an

L« ¥ol. 11. p. 10.”
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potius id jus proclamandi soli competit potenti?”
Reasons for allowing such a conduct were not personal
to the parties, but had for their object important public
interests, and were founded upon a principle introduced
into our Law from the Canon Law, to ascertain whether,
in the language of the Canonists, there had been verum
matrimonium, or not, and what was the relative status
of the parties towards each other.”

Dr. Adams, conira.—The cases cited do not affect the
point. The interval of time between the marriage and
the institution of the suit might not be immaterial in this
case ; but time alone could bear but little upon it. The
chief object of the Court was to ascertain whether there
had been any cases in which the husband had been per-
mitted to institute a suit for the purpose of establishing
his own impotency. All the cases cited made out the
negative to this position. In Greenstreet v. Comyns, the
Court threw out its belief that the man was ignorant of
his situation; here, however, the man was forty-five
years old at the time of his marriage, and his situation
could not be unknown to himself.”

The Court took further time to deliberate, and on the
27th of January 1820 Sir John Nicholl delivered the fol-
lowing judgment :

“This suit is brought by George Norton against Sarah,
to declare his marriage void ; the libel pleads that the
marriage took place in June 1812; that the husband
was a bachelor, aged forty-five years, and the wife a
spinster, aged twenty-three; that they cobabited till
June 1819 ; that they were both in health, but that the
husband was incapable, from bodily defect, to consum-
mate the marriage ; that his defect was incurable by art,
as would appear upon inspection by medical persons.
The admission of the libel is opposed by the wife, who
prays to be dismissed.

03
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“'The question is; whether the Court can entertain this
suit ; whether the husband is entitled to his remedy ;
whether he states facts capable of proof; or, whether,
if the facts should be proved, the marriage ought to be
set aside. The first objection is, that the suit is of
a novel kind. After the best and most diligent search
no instance has been found of a party bringing a suit to
set aside a marriage on account of his own ncapacity ;
the party complaining has always been the injured
party, and generally the suit has been brought by the
wife ; there has been but one suit in my recollection
brought by the husband, Wilson v. Wilson'. The next
circumstance is the age of the man. It is incredible
that he should have lived forty-five years, and be igno-
rant of his bodily defect, which he alleges to be appa-
rent upon inspection. I do not see how his ignorance
could be proved; it is incapable of direct evidence.
The presumption is in favour of the marriage ; besides,
there was a subsequent cohabitation of seven years before
the suit was brought; at all events, he must have dis-
covered it some time before he applied for his remedy.
The maxim then applies, ¢ cur tamdiun tacuit? The
lapse of time may act as an absolute bar to the suit not
brought by the party injured. In* Ball v. Ball it was
so held by the Delegates: the modesty of the sex may
account for forbearance on the part of the woman ;—he
has not only defrauded his wife into a marriage, whereby
he acquires a right to her property, but has kept her
during a long cohabitation subject to continual injury,
and now 1s seeking to throw off the burthen of maintain-
ing her; this increases the weight of presumption against
him. Another circumstance not to be passed over is,
that the marriage was by licence. It is so usual for the
man to be the person to obtain the licence, that it is to

I Arches, 1705 * Deleg. 1790,
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be presumed in this case that he did so by his own affi-
davit; and he swore he knew of no impediment to the
marriage ; ignorance of the fact is not only not to be
presumed, but 1s almost incredible.  Another objection
is, that we cannot obtain collateral proof either by the
answers of the wife, or by the inspection of her per-
son ; it has been stated by the husband’s counsel that
the wife is pregnant; he cannot, therefore, call upon
her to confess that her marriage was not consum-
mated, for she must then furnish evidence to criminate
herself. Nor can she allege that she is virgo intacta,
a species of proof sometimes resorted to. So that in
point of proof the case must rest upon the inspec-
tion of the husband by medical men ; and can any case
be found where sentence has been given on the sole
report of the inspectors? This species of proof, even
as collateral, is always received with caution. I am not
aware that it has ever been held sufficient alone ; and if
not in any former case, is it to be first taken in this
case, where the wife is said to be pregnant ? The Court
is called upon not merely to pronounce against the mar-
riage, but to bastardize the issue. Is there any case in
which bastardy has been established on the frigidity of
the husband ; or by any proof but that of non-access?
There has been a cohabitation of seven years ; frequent
endeavours to consummate ; and the Court is called upon
to say that the issue is not of that person ¢ quem nuptie
demonstrat.’

“ Under these preliminary observations on the circum-
stances of the case it would be necessary, in order to
support this suit, that the law authorities should be clear
beyond all possibility of doubt. It has been said, that
the public has an interest that the real state of the parties
should be ascertained, and that is true where the mar-
riage is void under the Marriage Act; but this 1sa
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voidable marriage, and laid down to be so by Black-
stone, Then here the state is ascertained. The marriage
exists. The sole authority in support of this suit is the text
quoted from the Canon Law ; it is necessary to examine
how far that law applies to this case, and how far it has
been received in this country. X. 4, 15. 1. If a man
alleges his frigidity, and wife alleges the same, and can
prove the same, by seven compurgators, they may be
separated. X. 4. 15. 4. If a man contract knowing the
defect of the woman, he is not to come for a remedy.
Many learned commentators have been referred to;
but they leave the text much as it appeared at first.
Sauchez, in his seventh book, has written a large com-
mentary on Matrimonial Law ; upwards of 400 pages ¢ de
impedimentis,” In his last Disputation he considers it
still a question, whether the impotent party may apply
for the divorce ; and he holds he may, under circum-
stances, but limits it by certain restrictions, ¢ quando
illius ignarus fuit tempore matrimonii; aliter minime
auditur.” But let us examine how the text and com-
mentators apply to the present case. The text applies
to frigidity, which may be unknown before trial; but
here the bodily defect is stated to be apparent. In the
next place, the wife must join in the statement ¢ eadem
affirmans ;” but here, she resists the svit., So far from
joining in it, her pregnancy is proclaimed. But colla-
teral proof 1s also required : it must be proved by seven
compurgators ; a mode of proof not used here, and which
we cannot have instead of inspection and answers.

“ By the Canon Law the marriage is not absolutely dis-
solved ; the parties are separated ; and if the Church is
deceived, the former marriage is to be renewed ; and if
a second marriage is contracted, it becomes null and
void. What a state to place the parties in! This is
something in the Text Law which I cannot readily assent
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to belong to the law of this country. If the marriage was
contracted scienter, the party knew of the defect, and he
could not be heard. The assertion of the defect in him-
self raises the presumption that he contracted the mar-
riage scienter, that he cohabited scienter, and defrauded
the woman. If the Canon Law is to govern the case, the
text referred to does not come up to the point; even if it
did, something more would be to be shown, namely, that
it has been received as the law in this country. It might
not be necessary for this purpose to show a case pre-
cisely similar ; it would be sufficient to show that it 1s
according to the general rules observed here. But it is
a strong, and almost a conclusive presumption, against
the present proceeding, that no suit appears ever to
have been brought by any but the injured party. Ay-
liffe ' has been quoted: but he refers merely to the
text of the Canon Law. Another authority has been
cited from the opinion of Counsel: but that was on the
case of a woman., The opinion of any person of higher
authority cannot be produced than of that person®, but it
cannot be considered as an authority applying to this
case. The Court does not mean to lay it down that in
no possible case, or under no circumstances, a woman
may not be allowed to bring such a suit. But even if
the Canon Law is direct on the point, is it according to
the law of England to receive such a suit? It is a maxim
that no man shall take advantage of his own wrong : it
is the principle of the Canon Law itself, the principle of
reason and justice. There 18 no instance of a snit
brought by a person alleging his own incapacity : there
is g0 strong a presumption for the marriage that no sen-
tence is ever pronounced agaimst it, except on the fullest
authority ; and if a mistake is made, the marriage is not

! Parergon, p. 227.
* Sir William Wynne, Vide p. 191, note, antea.
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held dissolved, but to be renewed. This is a situation
m which the law of England would not place the par-
ties. On the whole, I am not satisfied that the party
would be entitled to the sentence prayed. I reject the
libel, and dismiss the suit'”.

After the termination of the suit, Mr. Norton again
received his wife under his roof, and continued to live
with her until his death, which happened on the 15th of
June 1823, The issue of Mrs. Norton are two sons;
the eldest of which, who is still a minor, will, unless
his illegitimacy be established, succeed to the entailed
estates of the Norton family. Rubbins, the supposed
paramour, again became Mr. Norton’s guest; and con-
tinned his intimacy with Mrs. Norton, at that gentle-
man’s house, until the death of her husband, who ap-
pointed him one of his executors, and a trustee for the
children?,

The next time the subject was brought before the
Courts, was in the case of Head v. Head, in 1823 ; it was
then held, that where personal access between the husband
and wife 1s established, sexual intercourse is to be pre-
sumed, which presumption must stand until it is rebutted
by clear and satisfactory evidence to the contrary. The
facts of that case, as they appeared at the trial, were
briefly these :

William Head married one Elizabeth, on the 9th of
November 1795 : in June 1797 a separation took place, in
consequence of disagreements, arising from the husband’s
habitual drunkenness ; and in November of that year, the
wife went to reside at the house of her uncle, Thomas
Randall, who had a son, James Randall, living with him.
William Head was in the habit of visiting his wife during

! Phillimore’s Reports, vol. 111. p. 147, et seq.

? For the facts of this case, the Author is indebted to Richard Lambert,
Esq., of John-street, Bedford-row, whe obligingly lent him the papers relating
Lo it,
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her residence at her uncle’s house, and at the last inter-
view between them, which occurred in July or August
1798, they were alone in a kitchen for some time. Eliza-
beth Head became pregnant, and left her uncle’s house ;
and on the 7th of May 1799 she gave birth to the
plantiff, who was baptized by the name of “ James, the
son of William and Elizabeth Head.” William Head
died on the 30th of August 1800 ; and in 1806 his widow
married James Randall, by whom shehad afterwards a son,
named Francis. It was proved that after that marriage the
plaintiff was sent to school by the name of James Ran-
dall, and that he had subsequently used, and been known
by that name ; but there was no evidence of any famili-
arity having passed between James Randall and Eliza-
beth Head up to the time of her leaving the house of
her uncle.

An issue was directed by the Vice-Chancellor to try
whether James Head was legitimate ; which was tried
in the sittings after Michaelmas Term, 1822, before
Mr. Justice Burrough, who laid down the law to the
jury in the language of Lord Ellenborough in the case
of The King v. Luffe, that where a child is born of
a married woman, the husband is to be presumed to be
the father, unless there be evidence to show the absolute
physical impossibility of his having begotten it ; and the
jury therefore found for the legitimacy.

A motion for a new trial was made before Sir John
Leach, the Vice-Chancellor, on the ground of a misdirec-
tion by the Judge ; but it was ordered to stand over until
an authentic copy of the opinions of the Judges in the
Banbury case was obtained, as it seemed to the Court
that they must govern its decision in the present case.

Mr. Sergeant Lens, and Mr. Bell, in support of the
motion, admitted the rule to be, that there must be irre-
sistible presumptive evidence of non-access, where the
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husband and wife were found in the same place at a time,
when, if sexual intercourse had taken place, the husband
might, in the course of nature, have been the father of
the child. But they contended, that in this case the
jury had given their verdict under the influence of the
Judge’s direction, that there must be a moral impossi-
bility that the husband could be the father of the child.
If the Judge had merely stated, that the case was one
which required overwhelming evidence as to the pre-
sumption of non-access, there would have been no
ground for complaint. All that was wanted was, that
the case should go before a jury, unfettered by any di-
rection or statement of the rule of law, which should
make them think 1t indispensable, in order to establish
the illegitimacy, that the actual impossibility of the
husband being the father must be proved. Admitting
that the evidence must be such as to raise an irresistible
presumption that the husband was not the father, a jury
had not yet had an opportunity of considering the case
under that impression as to the rule of law.

The Vice-Chancellor:—* The ancient policy of the
law of England remains unaltered. A child born of a
married woman, 1s to be presumed the child of the hus-
band, unless there is evidence which excludes all doubt,
that the husband could not be the father. But, in
modern times, the rule of evidence has varied. Formerly,
it was considered, that all doubt could not be excluded,
unless the husband were ¢ extra quatuor maria.” But,
as 1t1s obvious that all doubt may be excluded from other
circumstances, although the husband be within the four
seas, the modern practice permits the introduction of
every species of legal evidence tending to the same con-
clusion. But still the evidence must be of a character to
exclude all doubt : and when the Judges, in the Banbury
case, spoke of satisfactory evidence upon this subject,

b
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they must be understood to have meant such evidence ﬁliﬁ‘if

as would be satisfactory, having regard to the special it:l'.;l.’
nature of the subject. Itis to be deduced, as a corol- — —
lary from the opinions of the learned Judges in that
case, that, whenever a husband and wife are proved to
have been together, at a time when, in the order of nature,
the husband might have been the father of an after-born
child, if sexual intercourse did then take place between
them, such sexual intercourse was, prima fucie, to be pre-
sumed ; and that it was incumbent upon those who dis-
puted the legitimacy of the after-born child, to disprove
the fact of sexual intercourse having taken place, by
evidence of circumstances which afford irresistible pre-
sumption that it could not have taken place ; and not, by
mere evidence of circumstances, which might afford a
balance of probabilities against the fact that sexual in-
tercourse did take place. In the present case, the hus-
band and wife are proved to have been together at a time,
when, if sexual intercourse did take place between them,
the husband might, in the order of nature, have been the
father of the plaintiff; and the circumstances given in
evidence on the part of the defendant, not only do not
afford irresistible presumption that sexual intercourse did
not actually take place, but leave the balance of proba-
bilities n favour of the fact that sexual intercourse did
take place between them. It is true that the rule laid
down by the learned Judge who tried the issue, from the
case of the King v. Luffe, cannot be reconciled with the
opinions of all the Judges in the Banbury case, and is
not, therefore, to be considered as the rule now applicable
to the subject: yet, as it is my opinion that if, upon any
direction from that learned Judge, the jury had found a
different verdict, it would have been my duty to have
ordered a new trial, it cannot serve either the purposes
of justice, or the interest of the parties, to submit this
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case, a second time, to a jury,in order to give to the de-
fendant the chance of their coming to a verdict, which
if they did find it, I could not adopt.” The motion was
refused '

The motion was afterwards heard upon appeal before
Lord Chancellor Eldon, on the 24th of April 1823, who
said,

“If I rightly understand that case of T%he King v.
Luffe, 1 take it directly to establish no more than this,
that if a man be proved to have had sexual intercourse
with his wife, yet still if it can be shown that i1t was 1m-
possible that the child of his wife should be his child, it
15 competent to a party, notwithstanding sexual inter-
course between the husband and wife be proved, to
establish by evidence the impossibility that such sexual
mtercourse could bring the child into existence. There
is no denying that in what fell from the Judges in that
case, there are very strong passages to show, that beyond
that they did not mean to determine, how far the old
rule of law, as to the husband’s being within the four
seas, was or was not to be affected. The case of the
Banbury Peerage was decided in the House of Lords
after very great consideration, and upon that occasion
some questions were put to the Judges. Now it is
well known, that the questions proposed to the Judges
by the House of Lords, though made to approximate
so nearly to the questions to be determined, as to ena-
ble the House to form a judgment on the case actually
before it, cannot be the very questions which the House
1s called upon to decide. The answers given by the
Judges therefore, although entitled to the greatest re-
spect, as being their opinions communicated to the
highest tribunal in the kingdom, are not to be considered

1 1 Simons & Stuart, 150,
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as judicial decisions ; but in that case of the Banbury
Peerage, I take them to have laid down, so as to give it all
the weight which will necessarily travel along with their
opinion, although not a judicial decision, that where ac-
cess according to the laws of nature, by which they mean,
as | understand them, sexual mtercourse, has taken
place between the husband and wife, the child must be
taken to be the child of the married person, the husband,
unless, on the contrary, it be proved, that it cannot be
the child of that person. Having stated that rule, they
go on to apply themselves to the rule of law where there
is personal access, as contradistinguished from sexual
intercourse, and on that subject I understand them to
have said, that where there is personal access, under such
circumstances that there might be sexual intercourse,
the law raises the presumption that there has been ac-
tually sexunal intercourse, and that that presumption
must stand, till it is repelled satisfactorily by evidence
that there was not such sexual ntercourse. What is
satisfactory evidence that there was not such sexual
intercourse 1s a question which may be put in two points
of view; First, is it meant that it must be proved, from
circumstances which took place at the time that that
personal access, which might or might not give an oppor-
tunity of sexual intercourse, was had, or by the evidence
of persons present, that sexual intercourse did not take
place? Or, secondly, that you are to go into all the
evidence as to the conduct of the parties prior to the in-
terview in which personal access was had, and their
conduct after that interview, in order to satisfy yourself,
by the evidence of circumstances both previous and sub-
sequent to the interview, what did or did not pass when
that interview was had? Whenever it is necessary to
decide that question, great care must be taken, regard
being had to this, that the evidence is to be received
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under a law, which respects and protects legitimacy, and
does not admit any alteration of the *status et conditio’ of
any person, except upon the most clear and satisfactory
evidence. It does not appear to me to be necessary now
to ascertain what is the actual rule of law upon the sub-
Jject. Upon my recollection of the Banbury Peerage case,
it was the opinion of the Judges, that where personal
access Is established, sexual intercourse is to be pre-
sumed, and that that presumption must stand, till done
away with by clear and satisfactory evidence, whether
that evidence apply directly to the period at which per-
sonal access was proved, or whether it may be called
satisfactory, if it apply not to that period, but to ante-
cedent and subsequent periods, in one way or other the
rule must be established.”

Lord Eldon then observed upon the doctrine of
Courts of Equity as to new trials, that if evidence
which ought to have been received, has been refused,
or evidence which ought to have been refused has
been admitted, or if in some instances the Judge can
be shown to have miscarried in his directions to the
jury, the Court will not grant a new trial, if looking at
the whole evidence before the jury, and the address of
the Judge to the jury, its own conscience is satisfied ;
and concluded by remarking, that if the jury upon the
evidence had found it a case of illegitimacy, he should
have granted a new trial, and that it would be dangerous
beyond measure for the Court to say, that such evidence
as was given at the trial, was evidence to repel or break
down the presumption of law. The motion for a new
trial was accordingly refused’.

Lord Eldon’s remarks on that occasion are very im-
portant, in reference to the Banbury case, because they
show the grounds upon which his Lordship considered

¥ 1 Turner & Russell, 139,
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that claim to have been rejected ; namely, that there 'if-’tﬁe of

ead v.

was clear and satisfactory evidence to rebut the pre- Head,

sumption of law that the husband had had sexual in-
tercourse with his wife, at the time when he might have
been the father of the children.

A case of Adulterine Bastardy of considerable im-
portance was brought before the House of Lords in 1824,
on the claim to the barony of Gardner, which is remark-
able for the medical evidence produced respecting the
period of gestation, and which has been ably reported
by Mr. Le Marchant, who was one of the Counsel for
the successful claimant. The Honourable Alan Hyde
Gardner, afterwards the second Lord Gardner, a captain
in the navy, married, in March 1796, Maria Elizabeth
Adderley, and they cohabited together as man and wife,
until January 1802, except during the occasional ab-
sence of the husband in the naval service. On the 30th
of January 1802 Captain Gardner took leave of his
wife on board ship, sailed a few days afterwards for
the West Indies, and did not return to England until
July in that year; and it was proved in evidence that
he could not possibly have had access to his wife
after the 30th of January'. For some time before
he sailed, and during the whole time of his absence,
his wife carried on an adulterous intercourse with a
Mr. Henry Jadis, Upon Captain Gardner’s return to
England, on the 11th of July 1802, he found Mrs.
Gardner apparently with child ; and she, with the hope
of being delivered within the proper time for the in-
fant to be legitimate, avowed that she was pregnant.
It appeared that she adopted various expedients to ac-
celerate her delivery; but failing in her efforts, she then
said she was mistaken about her situation, and that her
size arose from dropsy. Her medical attendants seem

! Le Marchant's Report of the Gardner Case, p. 7.
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to have connived at this misrepresentation, which had
the effect of deceiving Captain Gardner and his family.
On the 8th of December 1802, Mrs. Gardner was pri-
vately delivered of a son, without the knowledge of her
husband, which child was immediately conveyed to an
obscure lodging, was afterwards baptized by the name of
Henry, and was always treated by Mr. Jadis as his son.
Mrs. Gardner’s criminal conduct and delivery, were suc-
cessfully concealed from Captain Gardner until June 1803,
after which time he had no intercourse of any kind with
her. In Easter Term 1804, he brought an action for
eriminal conversation against M. Jadis, and obtained a
verdict for 1,000/, damages. He also obtained a divoree
from the Ececlesiastical Court; and his marriage was
afterwards dissolved by Act of Parliament, which Act
“ enabled him, and saved to all persons, except her and
the child born of her body, and baptized by the name of
Henry Fenton Gardner, all such rights as they would
have had if the Act had not passed.!” Captain Gardner
succeeded to the barony of Gardner in 1808, married in
April 1809 the honourable Charlotte Smith, and by her
had a son, Alan Legge Gardner, who was born inJanuary
1810. Lord Gardner died in December 1815, leaving
the said Alan Legge Gardner heir to the barony, in the
event of Henry Fenton Gardner, who attained his ma-
jority in December 18238, being illegitimate. A petition
was presented to the King on behalf of the said Alan
Legge Gardner early in 1824, praying His Majesty to
order his name to be placed on the Parliament Roll as
a minor Peer, or to take such other measures, as His

! Upon this clause of the Act, the Lord Chancellor ( Eldon) observed, in
answer to the Counsel for Mr. Alan Legge Gardner, that that exception
“ deprived the claimant, Mr. Fenton Gardner, of any right under the mar-
riage ;' that, “ the Act was drawn contrary to the usual form; that the
passage alluded to ought to have been struck out; and that, in his opinion,
such a declaration as this in a private Act, to which Mr. Fenton Gardner
was not a party, is not evidence against him,"”=Le Marchant, p. 276.
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Majesty might think proper, for declarine and recoenising Case of the
J Y & i ey S * = = Barony of

his right to the barony of Gardner. The petition was Gardser,
referred to Sir John Copley, the Attorney-general, "2 |
who reported it to be his opinion that “ by reason of

the absence and separation of Lord Gardner from his

first wife during the whole of the period from the 7th

of February to the 11th of July 1802, whilst employed

in His Majesty’s service on a distant station, he could

not be, and was not, the father of the child, born of the

body of his said first wife on the 8th of December 1802 ;

and consequently that the petitioner had established his

right to the barony; but as he was informed by the so-

licitor of Mr, Henry Fenton Gardner that he intended
hereafter to establish his claim, he suggested that the
petitioner’s claim should be referred to the House of
Lords.”

After a careful inquiry as to the period of gestation,
during which the most eminent accoucheurs and mid-
wives of the metropolis, and several married women
were examined, the House of Lords resolved that ¢ Alan
Legge Gardner was the only son and heir male of the
body of his father Alan Hyde Gardner Lord Gardner,
and that he had made good his claim to the title, dig-
nity and honour of Baron Gardner;” thus establishing
the illegitimacy of Mr. Fenton Gardner, the other
claimant.

So far as appears from the proceedings of the House of
Lords, the fact of the legitimacy or illegitimacy of Mr.
Fenton Gardner turned upon these two points: First,
whether a child born three hundred and eleven days, or
forty-four weeks and three days, after sexual intercourse,
could have been begotten by such act of sexual inter-
course' 7 Or, secondly, whether a child, born one hun-

! Namely, from the 30th of January to the Sth of December. The Counse
for the present Lord Gardner also questioned the medical witnesses whether

P2
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dred and forty-nine days, or twenty-one weeks and two
days, after sexual intercourse, which was born alive, was
perfect inall its members at its birth,and lived tomanhood,
could be the result of that intercourse? If the latter point
were decided in the negative, the first question came
strictly within the application of the maxim “ of the four
seas,” after that rule was so far modified, as not to
require the absence of the husband from the realm
during the w/hole period from the conception of the child
to the moment of its birth ; because its legitimacy would
then depend upon the fact, whether Captain Gardner
was or was not ““ extra maria’ at the time when it must
have been begotten? The resolutionof the House of Lords,
by which the child was bastardized, was therefore con-
formable to the law as it stood before the rule of “ the
four seas” was entirely exploded, as well as to every
subsequent dictum and decision of the Courts, more
particularly to the case of the King v. Luffe, because
the principle which governed the House of Lords was
the physical impossibility that Lord Gardner could,
according to the Law of Nature, have been the father
of the child, he not having had access to his wife,
in consequence of his absence “ extra quatuor maria”
at the time when the child was begotten!. The me-
dical evidence is highly curious; for although many,

a child born on the Sth of December could be the fruit of sexual inter-
course on the 7th of February, the day on which Captain Gardner left
England ?

! It may be proper to notice here, the ecase of Foster and Cooke, which
oceurred in August 1791, lest it be supposed that it was overlooked ; but as
it is universally considered a case of no importance, and one which ought
not to have been reported, it has not been thought proper to introduce it into
the text. It will be found in Brown’s Chancery Cases, vol. 111. p- 347, and
was fully stated by Lord Eldon (who was one of the Counsel in it) during
the claim to the Barony of Gardner, on which occasion his Lordship said, he
held it to be a case of very small importance.—Le¢ Marchant, p. 286. The
facts were briefly these: An issue was directed to try, whether a child,
born forty-three weeks after the husband's death was legitimate; and it
said that the jury found this posthumous child to be the heir-at-law. The
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and perhaps the majority of the eminent professional per-
sons who were examined, were in favour of the generally
received opinion as to the time of gestation, namely, that
forty weeks formed the ¢ ultimum tempus pariendi;” in-
stances were cited by others, among which,in two cases,
were their own wives, where pregnancy had been pro-
tracted to ten calendar months, and even to three hundred
and thirty-five days'. Nothing was said by the Lord
Chancellor, or by either of the other law Lords, illustra-
tive of the law of legitimacy generally ; as they merely
expressed their opinions that the son of the second mar-
riage had established his claim, and consequently that
the other claimant, Mr. Fenton Gardner, was not the
son of Lord Gardner.

It is said in the article in the Edinburgh Review? be-
fore referred to, that the decision of the Gardner case
“ was founded upon the circumstances of concealment
and adultery, and also upon the impossibility of his being
the child of Lord Gardner, from the length of time (311
days) which elapsed between the last opportunity of ac-
cess between his mother and her husband, and the pe-
riod of his birth.” And the writer thus proceeds :

“ We have no hesitation in saying, that after the Ban-
bury case, the concealment and other circumstances
which attended the birth of this child, were ample grounds
for declaring him illegitimate. And we are rather sur-
prised that the House of Lords should have permitted
so long a discussion upon the subject of protracted ges-
interests of the legatee were not affected, whichever way the verdict went ;
nor does it appear before what Judge the tnal took place, nor whether a
common or special jury was employed.

! See the evidence of Drs. Granville, Conquest and Power, and of Mr.
Sabine. Some valuable remarks on this subject will be found in the Law
Magazine, vol, IV. p. 48, where it is suggested that * in a matter of so
much obseurity and doubt, an extension of three hundred and ten days should
be allowed, and that a greater protraction only, should be considered proof
of illegitimacy.”

? No. 49, March 1529, pp. 209, 210.
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tation ; an inquiry which they appear to have encouraged
for the gratification of their own enriosity upon an in-
teresting question of physiology, rather than to assist
them in determining the legitimacy of the claimant : for
Lord Eldon, who was then Chancellor, in giving his
judgment, says, It is not by any means his intention to
do more than express his conviction that the petitioner
has made out his claim—that there are a great many
more questions which arise in a case of this nature ; al-
most the whole of which were considered in the Banbury
Peerage ; but without entering into a detail of these
questions, and without entering into a discussion as to the
ultimum tempus pariendi, he is perfectly satisfied, upon
the whole evidence, that the case has been made out.
It might no doubt be expedient, ¢ ex abundanti cautela,’
to dwell upon the circumstance of protracted gestation ;
but there was enough without it. The birth of the child
was sedulously concealed from the husband. He was
called by the name of the adulterer, who reared him,
educated him, and finally provided for him; having
moreover, married Mrs, Gardner the instant the divorce
was obtained. Surely if the Banbury case be law, there
is enough here to bastardize the child without resorting
to the obstetric evidence which forms so large a portion
of this case. And after all, what does it amount to ? a
number of the most eminent midwives in London are
brought to the bar of the House of Lords, to swear that
40 weeks or 280 days, is the usual length of time a wo-
man goes with child ; and speaking from their own ex-
perience, that this is the ‘ultimum tempus pariendi mulie-
ribus constitutum.” Now this is all very true in a general
way ; and we are perfectly satisfied, with all the rest of
the world, that nine months is the usual time of gesta-
tion. But can any medical man assert, that it is abso-
lutely and mvariably limited to nine months? Upon
what can they found such an opinion ? The moment of
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conception can never be known to them, but from hear-
say; and the whole thing is involved in the greatest pos-
sible uncertainty, because there is no way of fixing ac-
curately the time from which the gestation is to be
reckoned.

“ A technical discussion of this subject would involve
us too much in medical details ; but if any of our readers
have the curiosity to pursue it, we refer them to the
evidence of the physicians, given at length in M. Le
Marchant’s book, particularly to the statements of Dr.
Clarke, (a witness called to prove forty weeks the ¢ ulti-
mum tempus’) pp. 20-27; from which they will perceive,
that there may be an error of a whole month in the cal-
culation. If the only point in the Gardner case had
been, that the claimant was not the son of Lord Gard-
ner, because it was impossible his mother could have
gone forty-three weeks with him, the House of Lords
never would have declared him illegitimate. It was the
adultery of his mother, and the concealment of his birth
from the husband, which justified the House in holding
that he could not have been the result of the intercourse
which took place on board ship between Captain Gard-
ner and his wife on the 30th of January preceding his
birth ; and when Lord Eldon said he should give his
opinion, ¢ without entering into the question of the ulti-
mum tempus,’ it is perfectly clear he did so for the purpose
of guarding against the decision being ever taken as a
precedent, that a gestation protracted three weeks be-
yond the usual time, should be a ground for bastardizing
the child.”

The writer of the article from which the above ex-
tract is taken, considers that the concealment of the
birth of the children of a married woman 1s, in all
cases, a sufficient cause for declaring their illegiti-
macy ; and this opinion may have inclined him to at-
tribute the decision of the Gardner case partly, if not
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entirely, to that circumstance. But the speeches of Lord
Eldon and the other law Lords afford no grounds for
such a conclusion; and for aught that appears to the
contrary, the claim of Mr. Fenton Gardner was reject-
ed solely upon the physical impossibility, arising from
time and place, that Captain Gardner could have been
his father. Reasons will be afterwards stated for dis-
senting from the opinion, that concealment of the
birth of children is a safe and proper criterion by
which to judge, either of their actual, or legal pater-
nity.

The last case connected with the subject is of that of
Morris and Davis, which is one of considerable import-
ance, and has attracted more of the public attention than
perhaps any other, except the Banbury Peerage, in con-
sequence of the number of times it has been tried, and
the frequency with which it has been brought before
the Court of Chancery. Nor is the question finally
set at rest, as it is to be again raised in the House of
Lords, on appeal from the judgment of Lord Chancellor
Lyndhurst. Upon a case, which is still sub judice, it
would be improper to make any comments; and the fol-
lowing statement will be confined to the facts as they
have been related in an article on legitimacy in the
Edinburgh Review', and to the judgments of Lord Lynd-
hurst in 1827 and 1830,

¢ % Inthe year 1778, Mr. Morris, a surgeon in Shrews-
bury, married Miss Gwynne, and by their marriage set-
tlement, his estates in Montgomeryshire were settled to
the issue of the first and other sons of the marriage in
tail, remainder to Mr., Morris. In July 1781, Mous.
Morris was delivered of a daughter, who subsequently
became the wife of Mr. Davis, and a defendant in the

I No. 97, March 1829.
? The following statement of facts is said to have been taken from the
short-hand writer's notes,
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cause. Some time afterwards, Mrs. Morris shewed such
a decided predilection for a servant who lived in the
family, of the name of William Austin, that Mr. Morris
determined upon a separation; and accordingly, by an in-
denture, dated May 1788, he conveyed to a trustee certain
estates upon trust for the separate maintenance of Murs,
Morris. Soon after this he gave up his profession, and
retired to his estate at Argoed, where he lived in great
seclusion until his death. Immediately upon the sepa-
ration Mrs. Morris settled at Llanfair, where she lived in
undisguised adultery with William Austin. In 1793 Mrs.
Morris was delivered of a son, who was immediately
carried by Austin to Wem, a village at which his father,
a weaver in very low circumstances, lived. An entry of
the child’s baptism was made in the parish register of
Wem: ¢ 11th January 1793, Evan Williams, ¢ base born
child, was baptized.” Austin’s father and mother kept
the child, and brought him up under the name of Austin,
treating him as the child of their son, by whom the ex-
penses of his nurture and education were borne.

“The interest of Mrs. Morris about this time obtained
for Austin a commission, and soon after a company, in
the 90th regiment of foot ; and in 1804, he went with his
regiment to the West Indies, having first presented Mrs.
Morris with his portrait, which was proved to bear a
striking resemblance to the child. He died at St. Vin-
cent’s in 1807, having, by his will, bﬁ-queathcd the whole
of his property to Evan Williams, who received the
amount from his executors,

“ In 1792 and 1793 Mr. Morris resided at Argoed,
about fifteen miles from Llanfair. The birth of the child
had been carefully concealed from him ; and up to the
period of his death he believed that he had no other
child but his danghter, Mrs. Davis. Upon reports being
circulated, that Mrs. Morris had been delivered of a son,
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he went over to Llanfair, and had an interview with her ;
and upon charging her with the fact, she positively de-
nied it, adding,  she wished the devil might take her off
the earth, if she ever had any child but her daughter
Harriet.” All the subsequent acts of Mr. Morris show
that he was satisfied of the truth of this assertion. His
daughter having married against his consent, he made a
will, bequeathing all his property to his nephew ; but
being afterwards reconciled to Mrs. Davis, he made an-
other will in favour of her and her children. In neither
of these does he take any notice of a son. In 1807,
three years before his death, he was party to an agree-
ment under an Inclosure Act, and his daughter is therein
styled, ¢hisonly child and heir apparent.” This agree-
ment related to property settled on his male issue, so
that his daughter would have been improperly a party
to1t, if he had had a son. He died in 1810, and his
funeral was attended by his daughter, and other relatives,
but not by the son of Mrs. Morris. Upon the death of
her father, Mrs. Davis took possession of his estates,
The child of Mrs. Morris went, in his infancy by the
name of Austin. When a boy at school he was called
Williams ; but in 1811, after Mr. Morris’s death, he as-
sumed the name, and claimed the estates of Mr. Morris,
and endeavoured to establish his legitimacy by the fol-
lowing circumstances of access.

“ Upon the trial of the first issue at the Spring Assizes
in 1827, at Shrewsbury, it was proved that Mr. Morris
occasionally went over from Argoed to Llanfair; that he
sometimes visited Mrs. Morns, and that they had un-
doubtedly opportunities of sexual intercourse. One wit-
ness, Mary Evans, went so far as to say, that they met
at the house of a Mrs. Lloyd, at Garthlwyd, in the
spring of 1792, and passed the night there; and upon
this the jury found a verdict for the plamtiff.”
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In July 1827, a motion was made for a new trial before
the Lord Chancellor,who expressed himself to the follow-
ing effect :

“ This is an application for a new trial of an issue
tried at the last assizes for Shrewsbury; the question
upon the issue being, whether the plaintiff was the
legitimate son of William Morris and Mary his wife.
The question was stated to be one of much import-
ance to the parties, as the property is of considerable
value ; and it was also stated, in the course of the argu-
ment, and stated very properly, to be an important
question in point of principle. It was argued very ela-
borately, and nothing was omitted in the argument
which could throw light upon the subject. The only
question now is, whether the result of the trial has
“been satisfactory to the Court—whether the Court can
safely rely upon it as the foundation for its judgment.
The counsel on the part of the plaintiff insisted, with
much feeling, on the hardship to which the plaintiff was
exposed in contending for what they called his birthright.
It appeared to me, considering the question at issue, and
the circumstances disclosed in evidence, that arguments
and observations of this kind, if, upon a question for a
new trial, they could ever be applied, were in no way
peculiarly applicable here ; because, whatever might be
the conclusion in point of law, it appeared to me ex-
tremely difficult to say that, in point of fact, the plain-
tiff was not the son of William Austin ; and such appears
to have been the impression on the mind of the learned
Judge before whom the issue was tried. Still, although
the evidence is so strong that any reasonable mind
would conclude that, in point of fact, the plaintiff was
the son of William Austin, yet if, from the circumstances
of the situation of Mr. and Mrs. Morris, he 1s to be
considered, in law, as the son of Mr. Morris, he has a
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right to contend for what he calls his birthright—his
legal right; and that right is to be treated with every
consideration and respect. At the same time, it does not
appear to me that he can, with much effect urge the
hardship of the peculiar situation in which he is placed,
and the difficulties with which he is surrounded, in es-
tablishing his claim to be the legitimate son of Mr. and
Mrs. Morris.

“ A great deal was said with respect to the law
applicable to questions of this kind. It appears to me,
after all that has taken place upon the subject, that
no doubt can be entertained with respect to the rule
of law as applicable to cases of this nature. It is per-
fectly clear, that when a husband and wife are not
separated from each other by a sentence of divorce
¢ a mensa et thoro,” the law will presume access ; thatis,
in other words, sexual intercourse, unless the contrary is
proved : and it is also laid down, and very properly so,
that, in order to repel this presumption of law, "the
evidence must be clear and satisfactory ; clear and satis-
factory to the minds of those who are to decide upon
the question: light presumptions will not be sufficient.
The expressions of the Vice-Chancellor, in the case of
Head v. Head', are, that the evidence must be ¢ clear
and satisfactory.” It is stated by the Judges i the case
of the Banbury Peerage®, that the facts and circum-
stances, by which the presumption of law is to be re-
pelled, must be such as to be.satisfactory to the minds
of the jury who have to try the question. Therefore,
evidence arising from ecircumstances may be sufficient
to repel the presumption, provided the inference to be
drawn from that evidence be clear and satisfactory.
Another question arises, and was suggested in Head v.
Head, namely, whether the inference arising from the

! Vide p. 202, antea, ? Vide p. 180, antea.
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conduct of the parties may be sufficient to rebut the pre-
sumption of law. Undoubtedly, the evidence arising
from the conduct of the parties may be most material
and important ; but whether such evidence alone would
be sufficient to rebut the presumption, 18 unnecessary
in this case to determine. In the case of the Banbury
Peerage, the conduct of the parties, and the evidence
thence arising, formed a principal ground of the judg-
ment of the House of Lords.

“ Having stated these principles, 1 shall endeavour to
apply them to the facts of this case. These facts resolve
themselves into two parts, and were so divided in the
course of the argument, namely, the circumstances which
took place at Llanfair, and the circumstances which oc-
curred at Garthlwyd. There can be no doubt, that,
after the separation, which was a voluntary one, Mr. Mor-
ris was frequently at Llanfair, and though these parties
were separated they were not on terms of hostility with
each other. It appears that when Mr. Morris visited
Llanfair, he oceasionally saw Mrs. Morris; and he may
have had opportunity of sexual intercourse on those occa-
sions. It is said the law will presume sexual intercourse
to have taken place, and the time was referable to the
proper period for the procreation of the infant in ques-
tion. Such is the case on the part of the plaintiff, as
far as it relates to the meetings of the parties at Llanfair,
The answer to this case, however, is extremely strong
upon those presumptions arising from the evidence.
Mr. and Mrs. Morris were parted by adeed of sepa-
ration ; they lived at the distance of thirteen miles from
each other, and met only occasionally. It is supposed
that sexual intercourse took place between them in the
spring of the year 1792. Ifitdid, it is singular that it
did not lead them to put an end to that separation. It
was suggested on the part of the plaintiff, that sexual
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intercourse took place from time to time; but it is re-
markable that they still continued to live apart.

“ During this period, it is perfectly clear Mrs. Morris
was living in a state of adultery. A person of the name
of Austin, who had formerly been a servant in the family
of Mr. Morris, lived with her, and was gradually ad-
vanced to the station of an equal. He dined with her;
he directed the affairs of the house ; he acted (such is the
evidence) ¢ more like a master than a servant;” and he
was seen in Mrs. Morris’s bed at the period most ma-
terial in the present inquiry. About Christmas 1792, a
child was born ; Mrs. Morris at that time, and for a year
before, having lived in a state of adultery with Austin.
When the child was born its birth was concealed ; it was
removed in the middle of the night to a distance from
Llanfair, and was consigned to the care of the father and
mother of William Austin. It was brought up under
the care of old Austin and his wife. No communication
was made to Mr. Morris of the birth of this child : he
appears to have had no knowledge of its existence,
About seven years afterwards, in consequence of some
reports that had got into circulation, he reproached his
wife with having had a child ; she most strenuously and
vehemently denied it. Subsequently, on a most material
occasion, in speaking of the state of his family, he said
he had only one child, Harriet. Having been at one
time at variance with his daughter Harriet, on account
of her marriage with Davies, he made a will bequeathing
his property to his nephews. He afterwards revoked
that will, and left his property to Mrs. Davies and her
children, takine no notice whatever of any son. He
executed a deed also, with respect to his property, in
which he deseribed Mxs. Davies as his daughter and
heiress apparent : and itis perfectly clear that Mr. Morris,
up to his death, had no knowledge of the birth of this

=
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son, of whom he is alleged to have been the father.
The child, who had been consigned to the care of old
Austin, when sent to school, passed, according to the
evidence of the clergyman under whose tuition he was,
by the name of Austin; he was recognized by William
Austin as his son, and was called his son by him; he
called Austin his father, and old Austin his grandfather.
When William Austin was going in a military capacity
to the West Indies, where he afterwards died, he be-
queathed his property to this lad, passing by his own
father and mother, who were in very necessitous cir-
cumstances. These facts are strong to show that this
was the child, not of Mr. Morns, but of William Austin ;
and 1t was a question (I am now talking of what took
place at Llanfair,) material for the jury to consider,
whether, in reference to the occasional meetings of Mr.
Morris with Mrs. Morris at Llanfair, followed by no
return of Mrs. Morris to the house of her husband, the
presumption of intercourse which would thence arise,
is or is not sufficiently repelled by the circumstances
to which I have adverted. I cannot assign even any
plausible motive for the concealment of the birth of this
child, and the other ecircumstances which I have men-
tioned, if sexual intercouse had taken place upon these
occasions ; and 1f the case rested here

and 1t may
ultimately rest here, when it comes under the consider-
ation of another jury—1I should wish the jury to con-
sider, whether those faets, to which I have adverted, are
not, in their judgment, sufficient and satisfactory for
the purpose of repelling the presumption of law, that
sexual intercourse took place between these parties at
the particular period to which I have adverted.

““ The case, however, does not rest here: what is sup-
posed to have taken place at Garthlwyd is very material
and important. If it were established to my satisfac-
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tion that these parties, in the spring of 1792, had gone
over to Garthlwyd to Mrs. Lloyd’s house, and slept
there together, the presumption of sexual intercourse
having taken place would have been irresistible ; and,
strong as the other facts are, they would not be suffi-
cient to repel the presumption. But look at the evi-
dence ; the evidence, in the first place, of Mary Evans.
It is sufficient here for me to say, that she was contra-
dicted by Mrs. Payne in two material and important
circumstances. I do not mean to conclude that, be-
cause she was contradicted, she therefore speaks falsely
as to those circumstances. It is possible that Mus.
Payne, by whom she was contradicted, may have spoken
untruly ; but, at all events, there is a most direct con-
tradiction: and can I safely proceed on testimony so
important as that given by Mary Evans, when her credit
is thus impeached by the evidence of another witness ?
The jury have pronounced no opinion as to whether
they believed Mary Evans; and I wish, when this
question goes to a jury a second time, and she is
again examined, that the opinion of the jury should be
taken distinctly on that point,—whether they believe
her evidence?

“ There is another fact connected with the evidence
of Mary Evans, most important to be attended to. She
states that the visit to Garthlwyd took place in 1792 ;
that Mr. and Mrs. Morris left the house of Mrs, Morris
together for the purpose of going to Mrs. Lloyd’s ; that
Mrs. Morris declared that they were going there, and
that she remained absent during the whole of the night.
It is a most extraordinary circumstance, if that be so,
that, in her deposition in this Court, a fact so material
should have been altogether omitted ; for, in reading her
deposition, that fact 1s nowhere to be found. Taking,
therefore, into consideration that omission in the depo-
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sition of Mary Evans in this Court, the fact of that
omission being supplied at the trial, and the contra-
diction of Mary Evans by Mrs. Payne, it appears to me
that I cannot satisfactorily vely on her testimony. It is
material, therefore, if this case is to be further investi-
gated, that the jury should pronounce distinctly the
opinion they entertain with respect to the truth of her
evidence. But it is said her evidence is supported by
Mrs. Lloyd. Mrs. Lloyd says, that Mr, and Mrs. Morris
came to her house at Garthlwyd, and passed the mght
there ; but she gives no date whatever to the visit. It
is admitted on all hands, that these parties slept at
her house at Garthlwyd in 1798, six years afterwards ;
and there is no reason whatever to apply the testimony
which Mrs. Lloyd gave to the year 1792, in preference
to 1798. From anything that appears to the contrary
in the evidence of Mrs. Lloyd, she might be speaking

of the year 1798. There 1s no confirmation whatever of
Mary Evans’s testimony arising out of the evidence of

Mrs. Lloyd.

“ It 1s further said, that she is confirmed by the tes-
timony of John Williams, the coachman. He does not
confirm her; for he deseribes circumstances entirely at
variance with those described by Mary Evans. Mary
Evans describes Mr. and Mrs. Morris as going on foot
to the house of Mrs. Lloyd; and John Williams says,
the one party came in the fore part of the day, and the
other afterwards ; that he was sent, in the earlier part
of the day, to bring Mrs. Morris on horseback ; and
that Mr. Morris came in the evening of the same day.
It 1s clear, therefore, that he must be speaking of a
different visit from that deposed to by Mary Evans.
John Williams says, he thinks the visit took place
about thirty-five years ago; but I find a question was
put to him which leaves the time very considerably in
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doubt: for he was asked whether, at the time when
this visit took place, Mary Jones was in the service of
Mrs. Lloyd; and he says, that she was. Now, Mary
Jones did not enter into the service of Mrs. Lloyd until
twenty-eight years ago. If, therefore, she was in the
service of Mrs. Lloyd at the time to which the witness
alludes, it is quite clear that John Williams, in saying
that the visit took place thirty-five years ago, is in a
mistake. It is possible he may have confounded Mary
Jones with Margaret Jones; but I have no reason to
suppose he did. They were both examined, they were
both in the service; Margaret Jones left the service
thirty-one years ago, and she was succeeded by Mary
Jones. When he is asked, whether Mary Jones was in
the service then, he says she was; if so, the visit, of
which he is speaking, would correspond with the visit of
1798. I do not mean to say the fact was so; but ac-
cording to the state of the evidence, it is left in doubt
and uncertainty.

“ I do not, therefore, find there is any thing in the case
to satisfy my mind that, in 1792, these parties went, as
it is supposed, to Garthlwyd to the house of Mrs Lloyd,
and passed the night there, sleeping together. Had that
circumstance been established to my satisfaction, the case
would have presented itself in a very different light from
what it does at present. 1 wish, therefore, that the case
should be further considered ; and when it is again sub-
mitted to a jury, I wish them to say, whether they find
that these parties went, in 1792, to Garthlwyd and passed
the night together at the house of Mrs. Lloyd ?

“ It has been stated in argument, that this case resem-
bles Head v. Head ; it bears no resemblance to it what-
ever. In Head v. Iead, it is true, that the husband
and wife were separated, and that there were occasional
visits of the husband to the wife : these are the only cir-
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cumstances i which that case has any resemblance to
the present. There was not the slightest evidence to
show, i the case of Head v. Head, that the wife was
living in adultery, when the child was procreated : the
birth of the child was not concealed ; on the contrary,
as soon as the child was born, it was baptized in the
name of the husband ; it went by the name of the hus-
band during the lifetime of the husband. After the
death of the husband, Randall, who was the supposed
or imputed father, married the widow ; and then, for the
first time, the child was called by the name of Randall;
and the only circumstance to repel the presumption that
the child was the child of the husband, was this change
of names. Here, when the birth of the child took place,
it was concealed ; and, in the registry of baptism, the
child is desecribed as base born ; he is baptized, not in
the name of the husband, but in that of Evan Williams,
and afterwards, at school, he goes by the name of Aus-
tin. That case, therefore, bears no resemblance what-
ever to the present.

“ On the case as it now stands, [ have no foundation
on which I can safely proceed to determine definitively
the rights of these parties. I should be merely guessing,
were I to decide the cause from what passed at the trial
of this issue. When this case goes to a new trial, I wish
it to go free from any prejudice. I beg it to be understood
that I have given no opinion as to the rights of the parties;
I wish it to go to a new trial merely to have more light
thrown on some of the points, particularly on those to
which I have adverted. I wish to know whether credit
is given by the jury to Mary Evans; whether they be-
lieve that, in 1792, the meeting took place at Garthlwyd
and that Mr. and Mrs. Morns slept together at that
place? If the jury find the same verdiet, affirming at
the same time these facts, it will be extremely difficult
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for me to say that the legitimacy of the plaintiff is not
established.”

Upon the second trial, at the Shrewsbury Summer
Assizes in 1827, the jury gave no credit to the testimony
of Mary Evans; but two other witnesses, Arthur, and
Willings, were examined, who had not been called upon
the first trial, from whose evidence it appeared, that in
the year 1792, (although it is not stated in what part of
that year), Mr. and Mrs. Morris dined together at the
house of Mr. Morris’s brother ; and upon another occa-
sion, in the same year, Mr. Morris came over to Llan-
fair, and dined and slept in Mrs. Morris’s house : this
evidence of access did not, however, satisfy the jury,
and the verdict was now for the defendants.

On the 14th of June 1828, the Lord Chancellor or-
dered a third tnal, saying, “ I have consulted the learned
Judge who tried the cause (Mr. Baron Vaughan); he
tells me, that if he had been upon the jury he should
have found a different verdict. The Judge is not satis-
fied with the verdict; and considering that there was
additional evidence on the last trial, and that the evi-
dence on the first trial was at variance with it, I do not
think that I could fairly and properly come to a decision
of the cause at present.”

The third trial took place at the Gloucester Sum-
mer Assizes, 1828, before Mr. Justice (Gaselee. Neither
Mary Evans, Arthur, nor Willings were examined, nor
did the plaintiff give any additional evidence. The Judge,
in summing up his charge to the jury, made the following
remarks: ‘“ The Banbury Peerage is now the law. There
is proof that the husband was in the wite’s neighbour-
hood, and this is primé facie evidence of intercourse ; but
it is competent in the defendants to rebut the presumption
thus raised, by anything that amounts to satisfactory
evidence that no intercourse took place. The question
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then will be, first, whether you are satisfied there was that
access between the husband and wife, that sexual inter-
course might take place? Second, whether the evidence
satisfies you, that no such intercourse did take place?
Lf it might take place, the law presumes it did, unless
the contrary is proved. Many witnesses proved oppor-
tunities. If you are satisfied there were opportunities,
the law says, the child is the child of the husband'.”
Notwithstanding this decisive leaning of the Judge in
favour of the legitimacy, the jury were unable to come to
a decision ; and after being shut up till they could fast
no longer, were discharged without giving any verdict.

Application was again made for a new tral, but it
was afterwards resolved to leave the whole case to the
decision of the Lord Chancellor, who on the 1st of Feb-
ruary 1830, delivered the following judgment :

“ This case of Morris v. Davis has been long depend-
ing in this Court. The bill was filed in the year 1812;
and at the hearing, an issue was directed, on the trial
of which a verdict was found for the plaintiff. An ap-
plication was made for a new trial ; and 1t appeared to
the Court, upon adverting to the evidence and other
circumstances connected with the manner in which the
question was put to the jury, that it was a proper case
for further consideration. There was one of the wit-
nesses, whose evidence, if believed, would have put an
end to the case : but the Court had reason to think that
there existed ground for doubting whether the evidence
she gave was correct ; and it was put to the second jury
to say whether or not they believed her testimony. Upon
the second trial, the jury were of opmion that she was

! « This is perfectly consistent with the arguments used by Mr. Justice
Gaselee, as the advocate of General Knollys in the Banbury Peerage ; but
how shall we rcconcile it with the decision in that caseV’— Edinburgh
Review.
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not entitled to credit ; and they found a verdict for the
defendant. The case went down to a third trial ; the
Jury were divided in opinion ; they came to no conclu-
sion ; and they were discharged. The result was an ap-
plication for a further investigation: and it was at last
agreed by counsel at the bar, that, for the purpose of
saving further expense and delay, the application for a
new trial should be abandoned, and that the case should
be left, upon the whole of the evidence, as well on the
trials as in the cause, to my decision. I have accord-
ingly read and considered it with attention, and I am
now to state the effect of that evidence as connected
with the law applicable to this subject, and the conclu-
sion which I have formed from the whole of it.

“ It appears that Mr.and Mrs. Morris were married in
the year 1778 : they resided at Shrewsbury, where he
practised in the medical profession. About 1788 they
separated ; and articles of separation were drawn and
executed, in which it was recited that, in consequence
of unhappy differences existing between them, they had
agreed to live apart. A provision for Mrs. Morris dur-
ing her life having been made by those articles, she
went to reside at Llanfair; and after some little time
Mr. Morris went to live at a place called Argoed, four-
teen or fifteen miles distant from Llanfair. Although
these parties separated, it does not appear that they
were in a state of decided variance and hostility with
each other. A young man of the name of William Aus-
tin, who had been taken into the service of Mr. and Mrs.
Morrig, as Mr. Morns described it, ¢ to clean his shoes,’
was suspected of some familiarity with Mrs. Morris: he
accompanied her, together with other servants, to Llan-
fair ; but, notwithstanding that circumstance, some inter-
course still continued to be kept up between Mr. Morris
and his wife.  The inpression upon my mind, from the
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evidence, is that the extent and the nature of that inter- Case of
Morns and

course have been much exaggerated by the witnesses on Davis;
i ; February

the part of the plaintiff. I cannot help looking at the jg30,
evidence as to this point with a considerable degree of e B
Jealousy and suspicion, when I find, upon the first trial,
a witness deposing to certain facts, which, if established,
would have been decisive of the cause, and the same
witness afterwards, upon a subsequent trial, wholly dis-
credited by the jury; and further, that upon the succes-
sive trials which have taken place, witnesses have been
called on one trial to material and important facts, and,
upon a subsequent trial, those witnesses have been with-
drawn, from an apprehension that their former evidence
might be contradicted ; for that, indeed, was avowed at
the bar.

“ These circumstances, therefore, together with the tes-
timony, on the part of the defendant, as to the character
of Mr. Morris,—his retired habits, his disposition to live
constantly at home,—lead me to consider that the evidence
with respect to the extent and the nature of the inter-
course between Mr. and Mrs. Morris, after their separa-
tion, has been considerably exaggerated. Some facts,
however, are incontrovertible, or at least are established
to my satisfaction : that Mr. Morris was in the habit of
going over from time to time from Argoed to Llanfair
while Mrs. Morris resided there ; and that upon some of
those visits he, in company with her, gave directions
with respect to the conduet and management of the pro-
perty. There is also sufficient evidence to satisfy my
mind that, on more than one occasion, he was in her
house, and that he sometimes walked with her. I can-
not, according to my impression, carry the evidence
beyond the circumstances which I have stated.

“ Mr. Morris was living fifteen miles off, at Argoed.
Austin, who had accompanied Mrs. Morris to Llanfair,

Q4
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continued to reside for many years in her service; he
remained in her service till he entered the army. In the
spring of the year 1792, Mrs. Morns became pregnant.
That pregnancy was not communicated to Mr. Morris ;
she endeavoured to conceal it as far as she was able.
About the close of December 1792, she was delivered at
night of a male child ; and there is sufficient evidence of
identity to satisfy me that that male child is the present
plaintiff. Immediately after she was delivered, the man
who bad the care of the horses was sent out of the way ;
the child was wrapped carefully in flannel; two horses
were taken from the stable; a woman, of the name of
Amn Evans, who assisted at the delivery, and Austin,
who was present about that time, and in the house, and
who is deseribed as being in a state of considerable agi-
tation, mounted these horses, and set oft’ with the child
towards a place called Wem, about thirty miles from
Llanfair. When they arrived within a short distance of
Wem, the woman, Ann Evans, was left upon the road
with the child, while Austin rode on to his father’s
house, who was a weaver, carrying on business at Wem,
Mrs. Austin, the mother of Austin, came and received
the child; and Austin and Ann Evans returned to Llan-
fair with as much expedition as they could use. On
their arrival there, it appears that Ann Evans was
anxious to go about, and show herself as much as pos-
sible, that no suspicion might be entertained of her
absence. Thus the greatest care appears to have been
taken, at the risk even of exposing the life of the child,
to conceal the circumstance of Mrs. Morris’s delivery.

“ The child was shortly afterwards baptized at Wem
by the name of Evan Wilhams, and was described as a

‘ base-born child.” He continued for a considerable

time in the house of Mr. and Mrs. Austin, the father
and mother of William Austin.  When he had attained
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the age of five or six years, he was put to school, by the

Case of
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name of Evan Austin, with a gentleman of the name of Davis;

February

Walker, the clergyman of the place ; and he was main- g3y,

tamned at the expense of Mrs. Morris. The boy was
afterwards removed to a school at High Ercal. He was
there called by the name of Evan Williams, by which
he had been baptized, but was described also by the
name of Evan Austin, Mrs. Morris from time to time
saw the child, and treated him as her son; and during
the whole of this period he was treated and obviously
considered by Austin as his son. Austin, before he left
England (for he afterwards went to the West Indies),
made his will. He was possessed of some little pro-
perty ; his father and mother were in low and distressed
circumstances ; yet, by that will, passing over his father
and mother, he disposed of all his property in favour of
this boy. He then went to the Isle of Wight: while
there he corresponded with one Martha Carswell ; seve-
ral of the letters are in evidence; and the whole of that
correspondence shows that he considered this boy as his
son. He went to the West Indies, and died there in the
course of about two years. The news of his death ar-
rived in this country, and was communicated at the
school ; and the boy was put into mourning as the son
of Austin. The evidence is clear and satisfactory as to
Austin living in a state of adultery with Mrs Morris ;
the pregnancy was concealed ; the birth was industri-
ously concealed ; Austin was acting in that conceal-
ment ; no communication whatever of any of the circum-
stances was ever made to Mr. Morris. Mr. Morris
knew nothing of the delivery of Mrs. Morris; he knew
nothing of the birth of this infant ; he lived for seventeen
years afterwards, considering his daughter Harriet as
his only child. In the year 1799, Harriet married Mre
Davies without her father’s consent. He was incensed
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against her, and made a will, by which he disposed of
the whole of his property in favour of a nephew. In
the year 1807, he was a party to an instrument in which
he described Harriet Davies as ¢ his only child and heir
at law.” 1In the year 1808, having been reconciled to
his daughter, he disposed of his property in favour of
her and her children; and no notice whatever was taken
by him of any other child. It appears, indeed, that in
a conversation which he had with Mrs. Morris in the
year 1799, he stated some reports, which had acciden-
tally reached his ear, of her having had a child ; but she
replied by a vehement and peremptory denial. The
child, therefore, was recognised on the one side as the
child of Austin ; on the other, no knowledge whatever of
such child having been born ever reached Mr. Morris :
the existence of such a child was never communicated
to him : in no one instance did he act upon the supposi-
tion of there being such a child: there was nothing but
a vague report, which was instantly contradicted by
Mrs. Morris. The question is, whether, under these
circumstances, the plaintifi has made out his claim to
be the legitimate son of Mr. Morris ?

“ There is no doubt or difficulty, as it appears to me,
with respect to the law applicable to this question. It
was stated clearly and distinctly by the Judges m the
case of the Banbury Peerage; and 1 consider the opi-
nion expressed on that occasion, not as laying down
any new doctrine, but as arising out of and founded
upon the previous decisions. On that occasion, the
Lord Chief Justice of the Common Pleas stated the
unanimous opinion of the Judges in these precise terms,
¢ That, in every case where a child is born in lawful
wedlock, the husband not being separated from his wife
by a sentence of divorce, sexual intercourse is presumed

w2
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to have taken place between the husband and wife, until g?sfﬁifmm
that presumption is encountered by such evidence as Davis;
proves, to the satisfaction of those who are to decide the fgg;‘_‘”}'
question, that such sexual intercourse did not take place ——
at any time when, by such intercourse, the husband
could, according to the laws of nature, be the father
of such child.” The question, therefore, is a question
of fact, whether sexual intercourse took place in the
spring of 1792 (for that is the period to which reference
must be had), between Mr. and Mrs. Morris. In the
absence of all evidence, either on the one side or on the
other, the law would presume that such sexual inter-
course did take place.

“ It was argued at the bar, that the doctrine contained
in the opinion which I have stated has been affected by
a case decided in this Court, the case of Head v. Head.
In truth, however, Head v. Head does not, in the slight-
est degree, affect the opinion delivered by the Judges in
the case of the Banbury Peerage. It recognises and
adopts that opinion ; and all that is said by the present
Master of the Rolls 1s, that the Court, which 1s to be
satisfied that sexual intercourse did not take place, must
be so satisfied, not upon a mere balance of probabilities,
but upon evidence which must be such as to exclude all
doubt, that is, of course, all reasonable doubt, in the
minds of the Court or jury to whom the question is sub-
mitted. Therefore, in deciding this case, 1 look upon it
that the point, to which I am to direct my attention as a
question of fact, is this, whether the circumstances are
such as to satisfy me that no sexual intercourse did take
place between these parties at the period to which refer-
ence 18 had !

“ In addition to the intercourse between the parties at
Llanfair, which I have already taken notice of, I ought
to advert to two other circumstances which have been
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relied upon. One is the visit to Mrs. Lloyd, at Garth-
lwyd. Mrs. Lloyd proves that, at the time when these
parties were separated, the one living at Llanfair and
the other at Argoed, they paid her a visit at Garthlwyd :
she says they passed the evening and the night at her
house, and she supposes they slept together. In her
evidence in the cause in this Court, she states this visit
to have taken place ¢ about twenty vears ago or more,
but that she cannot be precise with respect to the time.’
That would carry it back to about 1800. When she
was examined on the trial, she could mention no time to
which that visit was to be referred. The coachman was
called ; and he referred the visit precisely to the spring
of 1792 ; for he stated it to have been thirty-seven years
ago, from the period when he was examined upon the
last trial. There does not appear to have been anything
to guide his recollection as to a transaction which took
place so long ago, so as to enable him to fix it, with any
degree of certainty, at that period ; at least no circum-
stance having that tendency was stated ; and it is singu-
lar that he should have hit upon the particular period,
which would have so exactly accounted for the preg-
nancy which gave birth to this child. It is observable,
that he is contradicted as to the time of the visit by Mrs.
Lloyd ; at least he does not agree with that lady: he is
also contradicted by the two females who lived in Mrs.
Lloyd’s house successively as servants, the one immedi-
ately following the other: both of these witnesses state
distinetly that no such wvisit did take place at the time
alleged ; and one of them mentions, that in 1798 a visit
did take place, when Mr. and Mrs. Morris slept there
in different rooms. For these reasons, I pay little atten-
tion to the evidence of the coachman ; though I consider
it as a fact that these parties, at some period during the
separation, probably about the year 1798, when some-
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thing like a reconciliation appears to have taken place,
went and passed the evening and the night at Mrs.
Lloyd’s at Garthlwyd. The other circumstance con-
nected with the intercourse between Mr. and Mrs.
Morris, which I ought also to notice, is this, that in
the year 1799, at the period when disputes took place
in consequence of the marriage between Harriet Morris
and her present husband, and when dissatisfaction was
felt by Mr. Morris in consequence of that marriage,
Mrs. Morris appears to have gone over to Argoed, and to
have passed some days at the house of Mr. Morris, on
two different occasions. The witness, who was ex-
amined, gave evidence, that at that time Mrs. Morris,
although she passed some days at the house, slept in a
distinet and separate part of the house, and did not pass
the night with Mr. Morris.

“ Having noticed these two circumstances, I come
back to the question of law. I have stated the opinion
delivered by the Judges in the Banbury Peerage case ;
I will now refer to what was said on that occasion by
Lord Redesdale. That most learned, able, and acute
lawyer expresses himself thus': ¢ I admit the law pre-
sumed the child of the wife of A., born when A. might
have had sexunal intercourse with her, or in due time after,
to be the legitimate child of A.; but this was merely con-
sidered as a ground of presumption, and might be met
by opposing cireumstances. The fact, indeed, that any
child is the child of any man is not capable of direct
proof, and can only be the result of presumption;
understanding, by presumption, a probable circum-
stance drawn from facts either certain or proved by
credible testimony, by which may be determined the
truth of a fact alleged, but of which there can be no
direct proof.” He also says, ¢ It is, therefore, of high

! Vide postea.
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importance to consider, in a question of legitimacy,
whether the fact of such acknowledgment as would
demonstrate the legitimacy did take place, or whether
by circumstances such acknowledgment was rendered
impossible, as by the child being a posthumous child.
If, on the contrary, it appears that the supposed father
was ignorant of the birth of such a child, and that the
fact of its birth was concealed from him, such conceal-
ment is strong presumptive proof that there had existed
no sexual intercourse which could have made him the
father of such child.’

“ Such was the opinion of the noble and learned person
to whom I have referred. Lord Ellenborough’s opinion,
though delivered in more general terms, coincides with
that given by Lord Redesdale ; these were followed by
the opinion of Lord Eldon to the same effect. Lord
Erskine considered it necessary to prove the actual im-
possibility of sexual intercourse having taken place ; but
no lawyer will now contend that that opinion can He
sustained. The case comes back, therefore, to the ques-
tion of fact (about the law there is no doubt); are the
circumstances of this case such as ought to satisfy the
person who has to decide upon it, that sexual inter-
course did not take place between Mr. and Mrs. Morris
in the spring of 17927

“ Having already stated the facts of the case, I shall
not repeat, but shall merely refer to them. Mr. and
Mrs. Morris, though separated, had, to a certain de-
gree, communication with each other. It must, how-
ever, be remembered, that, at that time, Austin was car-
rying on an adulterous intercourse with Mrs. Morris ;
and i1t must also be remembered (for that occnrs in the
evidence of many of the witnesses), that Mrs. Morris had
a personal dislike to her husband, which she expressed
in the strongest and coarsest terms. These things are
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not to be omitted in considering the question, whether
sexual intercourse did or did not take place between
them, notwithstanding the separation. When Mus,
Morris became pregnant, she made no communication
of that circumstance to Mr. Morris; and no reason, in
point of evidence, has been assigned for that conceal-
ment : she was exposing her character without necessity,
if sexual intercourse with her husband had taken place.
At the time when the child was born, the birth of that
child was concealed : it was industriously and carefully
concealed, and concealed from Mr. Morns; and Austin
was acting in that concealment. What reason can be
assigned, or, in point of evidence, has been assigned,
for this conduct, except the desire that the fact should
not be known to Mr. Morms? Mrs. Morris was ha-
zarding her reputation; she was endangering the life
of her child ; she was depriving that child of its pros-
pects as the heir of Mr. Morris, and she was giving it
only the hope of being the heir of a person who was
destitute of property. Surely these are circumstances
so strong, that they ought to be encountered by some
evidence tending to show a probable reason why that con-
cealment should have taken place. It was not a mere
momentary act; it was followed up throughout. The
mother allowed the child to be removed from her, and
to be christened as ¢ a base-born child.” She allowed
it, during the lifetime of Austin, up to the period of his
death, to pass as the child of Austin. When she was
charged, in consequence of some reports, with having
had a child, she strongly denied the accusation ; and
during the seventeen years that Mr. Morris lived, she
never whispered to him that she ever had any other
child than Harriet Davies. I require, then, when I am
coming to a conclusion of fact, as to whether or not
sexual intercourse did take place between these parties,
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I require some reasonable and satisfactory ground upon
which that concealment may be explained.

“ But what is the representation which the present
plaintiff. himself gives of all these transactions as col-
lected by himself—the result of his own inquiries. It
was proved on the last trial, and is in evidence in the
cause. ‘I was born,” he says, ‘in the White House,
Llanfair : when born, Saturday, market-day, my father
came trembling, and said, ¢ Ann, what shall I do?’
¢ Don’t be afraid ; we shall do very well.” As soon as
I was born, I was kept warm by him, taken into a malt-
house, and sent on ; and Ann followed at edge of night,
and Ann rode within a mile of Wem before she alighted,
and then gave me to my father, when she told Mr.
Austin to take me to Wem : and they both turned back,
and got to Llanfair at the night of next day, when she
went to many shops to buy things, that people might
not think she went out. Mrs. Morris, at that time,
kept her bed. She took a flasket of wine and biscuit for
me on the road. Miss Gwynne was not present at my
birth, but was backwards and forwards at that time, and
knew of it ; and when Mrs. Morris and her fell out, she
asks her, * Where is the child without a father?’ This
1s the history of the transaction, as collected by the
plaintiff himself in the course of the inquiries which he
had made upon the subject, and which was contained in
a book in his own hand-writing.

“ I endeavoured in the course of the argument to ob-
tain some reason for this concealment. It was said at
the bar, that it might be referred to this circumstance,—
that Mrs. Morris was not fond of Mr. Morris ; that she
disliked him ; that she wished to continue to live sepa-
rate ; and that she might have supposed, if the circum-
stance had been communicated to him, it would have
affected the separation. This, however, is an argument
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against the probability of her having permitted sexual
intercourse to take place between them. But the argu-
ment is also inconsistent with the statement she herself
made, as proved by the evidence of Miss Gwynne, whom
she compelled to go down upon her knees and to pro-
mise that she would keep the affair concealed. It is
quite inconsistent with the particular declaration she at
that time made; and to which declaration I refer, not
for the purpose of proving that the child was the child
of Austin, (for it cannot be made use of for that pur-
pose,) but for the purpose of negativing the speculative
reason which has been assigned at the bar for the con-
cealment.

¢ Again, it has been suggested, that as she was attached
to Austin, she might not wish him to be apprised of that
species of infidelity on her part—her having connexion
with her husband. But to adopt such a view of the
transaction, would be to forget the character of the par-
ties: it would be to suppose a degree of refinement,
altogether incompatible with the established facts, to
have existed in the intercourse between Austin and Mrs.
Morris,~—the servant and the mistress,——persons who ap-
pear, by the evidence, to have been of the coarsest cha-
racter as to morals and conduct. Such a theory is of
too speculative a nature for the Court to adopt it as an
ingredient i its judgment. The concealment, coupled
with the other circumstances of the case, and the utter
ignorance in which Mr. Morris was kept to his death, a
period of seventeen years, with respect to the transac-
tion, satisfies me as a conclusion of fact, that no sexual
intercourse did take place between Mr. and Mrs. Morris
at such a period as- could have rendered the child the
offspring of Mr. Morris.

“ In giving this judgment, I affect no rule of Law. I
state the rule as I find it. It is founded on sound sense:

i
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and, as 1 am bound to do, I acquiesce m it. I have
come, like a jury, to a conclusion of fact. The circum-
stances of the case are such as to lead me to that con-
clusion, not, as I think, upon a bare balance of probabi-
lities, but as the result of the thorough econviction of
my mind, founded upon a careful and patient attention
to all the evidence in the case. I am bound, therefore,
having this impression, to state my opinion, that the
plaintiff’ is not entitled to the property in dispute as the
son of Mr. Morris'.”

From this judgment it is intended to appeal to the
House of Lords, before which the case is to be argued
in the ensuing Session of Parliament.

The last case in which the Law of Adulterine Bastardy
appears to have been discussed was in that of Bury v.
Phillpot, before the Master of the Rollg, Sir John Leach,
on the 14th of January 1834,

“ William Phillpot, by his will, dated in 1797, gave
an annuity of 60/ a year for the sole and separate use
of his daughter, Ann Pollock, to be paid to her by his
executor in weekly payments ; and after her decease, he
gave the same to any child or children ol her body, to be
equally divided among them if more than one.

“ The Bill was filed against the executor by Mary
Ann Bury, and by James Gadsden, and Jane, his wife ;
the female plaintiffs claiming to be entitled in equal
shares to the annuity of 60/, as the two daughters of
Amn Pollock, deceased ; and the question in the cause
was, whether they were legitimate children? The tes-
tator’s daughter had married her husband, Pollock,
against her father’s consent, in 1794.  She and her hus-
band disagreed, and in a few weeks after the marriage

! For a copy of Lord Lyndhurst’s two judgments, corrected by himself,
the Author is indebted to his friend James Russell, ¢sq., of the Chancery
bar,
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she returned to her father’s house, and remained there Case of
Bary and
Phillpot,

until her father’s death, which happened in the year
1800. The evidence on the part of the defendant wen
to show that, shortly after her father’s death, Ann Pol-
lock formed a connexion with a labouring man named
Hughes, with whom she cohabited, and that the children
were born during such cohabitation.

“ On the other side, there was evidence that the hus-
band tock a lodging opposite to the house in which his
wife and Hughes resided, and that he had interviews
with her from time to time; the object of which inter-
views, however, appeared generally to be to obtain money
from her. On some of these occasions the husband
treated his wife with apparent kindness, but he gene-
rally conducted himself towards her with great brutality.
The eldest of the children was baptized in 1802 as the
daughter of Alexander and Ann Pollock ; there was no
evidence of the baptism of the other.”

It was stated on the part of the Plaintiffs :— The
rule of law upon this subject, as it is to be deduced from
the opinions of the Judges in the Banbury Peerage case,
15 clearly laid down in the case of Head v. Head'. The
corollary from those opinions is there said to be, ¢ that
wherever a husband and wife are proved to have been
together at a time when, in the order of nature, the hus-
band might have been the father of an after-born child,
if sexual intercourse did then take place between them,
such sexual intercourse was, prima facie, to be presumed ;
and that it was incumbent upon those who disputed the
legitimacy of an after-born child to disprove the fact of
sexual intercourse having taken place, by evidence of
circumstances which afford irresistible presumption that
it could not have taken place, and not by mere evidence
of circumstances which might afford a balance of pro-

U Vide p. 202, antea,
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babilities against the fact that sexual intercourse did
take place.” To apply this principle to the present case,
what is there to oppose to the admitted fact that inter-
views from time to time took place between the husband
and wife ? Is there any evidence of circumstances, af-
fording irresistible presumption that the usual conse-
quence of such interviews— that consequence which the
law, founded upon, and confirmed by the experience of
mankind, infers from such interviews—did not take
place? Clearly not. The fact of the wife having main-
tained an adulterous intercourse, for whatever period of
time, with another man, affords no such presumption.
Let the husband and wife be once brought together
under circumstances which afford the husband an oppor-
tunity of becoming the father of a child born in due time
afterwards, and the law will fix the husband with the
paternity, though the wife may have slept with another
man every night in the year preceding, and the year suc-
ceeding the interview. The fact of access not being
denied, there is no ground for disputing the claims of
the plaintiffs, or for resorting to a jury, which might
indeed find a verdict inconsistent with law, but which
could not by possibility assist the conscience of the
Court in a case where the Court is already competent
to determine, and bound to declare the rights of the
plaintiffs.”

On the other side it was said :— It is too unqualified
a proposition to say, that any interview between a husband
and wife, living separate from each other, at which the
husband might by possibility avail himself of his mari-
tal privileges, will, in case of a child being born in due
time afterwards, fix him with the paternity. That which
is primd facie possible, or even probable, may appear,
upon investigation, to be physically or morally impossi-
ble: physically, as in cases of bodily infirmity ; morally,

=
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as where the circumstances or place of meeting render 1t E;um nfd
ury an

Phillpot,

in the highest degree improbable that sexual intercourse
should have taken place. The inference of law may be
rebutted by circumstances, not amounting indeed to
proof —for a negative is incapable of proof—or perhaps
to wresistible presumption, but still it is abundantly
sufficient to satisfy any reasonable mind that sexual
intercourse could not have taken place; and such cir-
cumstances can only be properly investigated by a jury.
In Morris v. Davies® repeated issues were directed by
Lord Lyndhurst, in order to satisfy the conscience of
the Court upon the disputed fact, whether interviews
between the husband and wife had been such interviews
as afforded an opportunity of sexual intercourse. This
is exactly the fact upon which the conflicting evidence
i the present case throws a doubt, and the case is
therefore one upon which the Court cannot satisfactorily
decide without the assistance of a jury.”

Tue MasteEr oF THE Rovis (SirJoun LeEach):—
“ Access 15 such access as affords an opportunity of
sexual intercourse ; and where the fact of such access be-
tween a husband and wife, within a period capable of rais-
ing the legal inference as to the legitimacy ofan after-horn
child, 1s not disputed, probabilities can have no weight,
and a case ought never to be sent to a jury. There is
nothing against the evidence of access, except evidence of
the adulterous intercourse of the wife with Hughes, which
does not affect the legal inference ; for if it were proved
that she slept every night with her paramour from the
period of her separation from her husband, I must still
declare the children to be legitimate. The interest of
the public depends upon a strict adherence to the rule

of law 2.”

! 3 Carr & Payne, 218, 427, and antea.
2 2 Mylne & Keane, 349,
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The two following cases, of Shelley v. , and Clarke
v. Maynard, were accidentally omitted in their proper
places in the chronological series.

In the case of Shelley v. —— a motion was made by
the plaintiff in the Court of Chancery in August 1806,
that several witnesses should be examined de bene esse,
under the following circumstances, suggested by the
Bill and supported by affidavit. The plaintiff claimed,
in the event of the death of a woman without issue, sug-
gesting that she has no issue, having left town without
any appearance of pregnancy ; or, if she had a child, that

it was not legitimate, her husband during the whole time,
while she was in London, having been in Sussex. The
plaintift proposed to examine the witnesses respectively
to several distinct circumstances, establishing that fact ;
the affidavit representing the several circumstances mate-
rial to the plaintiff’s case as resting solely on the know-
ledge of those individuals respectively. An infant was
made defendant, as claiming to be a legitimate child, An
appearance was put in, but no answer, after two orders
for time, and an attachment, and it was suggested that
the defendant was conveyed out of the way.

In support of the Motion it was said :—“ Generally
there are but three cases in which the examination de
bene esse is granted : 1st, where the witnesses are of such
an age that there is probability of death before the cause
can be heard, which age is settled to be seventy years ;
2ndly, where they are shortly to quit the kingdom; srdly,
where the fact depends upon the examination ofa single
witness. In the two last cases the examination de bene
esse 15 permitted without regard toage. The cases of
Shirley v. Earl Ferrers', Pearson v. Ward®, and Lord

'3 P, WlLL77. Sec 6 Vesey, 254 ; and the note, 255.
* 2 Dick, 648,
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Dursley v. Fitzhardinge Berkeley', are authorities for
such a Bill. The distinction of this case, which is much
stronger than those, is, that this is an application to exa-
mine several persons to a long chain of distinet circum-
stances, which are necessary to make out the plaintifi’s
negative case, and which he undertakes to prove: im-
portant facts being sworn to lie in the knowledge of par-
ticular individuals, to which no other person is privy, and
which may be very material to the plaintiff’s case, and
this infant defendant is kept out of the way ; so that the
plaintiff'is not in a situation to hear his cause. The best
course will be, that the place where the infant is should
be disclosed ; that he might be brought into Court by the
messenger ; and that one of the six clerks may be assigned
as a guardian to put in an answer for him.

The Counsel for the infant defendant resisted the mo-
tion, observing that the allegation is, that the defendant,
an infant, born in 1789, is a supposititious, or at least
an illegitimate child; that the father was one of the
witnesses to be produced, and the infant therefore com-
pletely unprotected, unless protected by the Court ; and
that, by the advice of Counsel, no answer was put in.

Ture Lorp CuancerLror (Lorp Ernpon):—* The
best course will be that which has been proposed, for upon
the reason and justice of the case I should have no doubt
in granting this application, though this does not come
within any of the three cases ; 1st, witnesses of the age
of seventy years ; 2ndly, witnesses quitting thekingdom ;
3rdly, a fact depending upon a single witness ; and, as
Lord Thurlow said %, ¢ 1 would make a precedent if there
15 not one.” The law of England has been more serupu-
lous upon the subject of legitimacy than any other, to
the extent even of disturbing the rules of reason. For-
merly, access was presumed, if the parties were within

' 6 Vesey, 251, ¥ Pearson v, Ward = Dick, 618,
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the narrow seas, though there was no doubt of the con-
trary. Since that time', access or non-access must be
proved like any other fact, but it must be proved by
witnesses who altogether prove that, though each speaks
only to some particular circumstance.

“ The effect of this affidavit is, that these are neces-
sary and material witnesses to prove circumstances of
this kind. The death of one, by which one link in the
chain would be lost, might have the same effect as the
death of all. From the peculiarity of the case of access
or non-access, legitimacy or illegitimacy, great indul-
gence is to be applied. I have frequently witnessed the
misery occasioned by the death of witnesses®.”

The case of Clarke v. Maynard occurred before the
Vice Chancellor on the 15th of May 1822, Upon a
claim to the benefit of a settlement, the Master re-
ported against the legitimacy of the children, and ex-
ceptions were taken to his report. The mother lived
with a man and assumed his name, and the children were
born during such cohabitation, and took the name of the
man. But during all this time the husband was alive,
and lived either in London, where the wife resided, or
in the neighbourhood. The case of the King v. Luffe
was relied upon, and it was insisted that there was not
i this case that impossibility of legitimacy which, within
the principles of that case, would bastardize the issue.

THE VicE-CHANCELLOR (S1ikRJouN LEAcn) :—* The
manner in which this case is argued would in effect revive
the old principle of extra quatuor maria. Now, access,
like any other important fact, must be satisfactorily esta-
blished, but access is not to be presumed because the
parties were within such distance that access was possible.
I cannot encourage an issue, but T will not refuse it to
the children, if they desive 1t*.”

' Pendrell v. Pendvell, antea; The King v. Luffe, antea; Head v.
Head, antea, 2 13 Vescy, 3. ¥ 6 Maddock & Geldart, 364,
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An attentive consideration of the preceding anthorities
and cases will, it is presumed, lead to the following
conclusions :

I. That from the earliest period when any writer on
the Law of England flourished, or in which any decisions
were reported, to the commencement of the eighteenth
century, the maxim that “ Pater est quem nuptie
demonstrant” prevailed in all its integrity, and was
subject only to three exceptions ; namely, proof of the
impotency of the husband, of his being separated from his
wife by sentence of divorce, or of his being at so
considerable a distance from her when she became preg-
nant, that it was impossible for him to have begotten
the child.

I1. That in the thirteenth century, when Bracton
wrote, the prima facie evidence of legitimacy of a child
born in wedlock, could only be rebutted by evidence of
non-access, which evidence consisted of proof that the
husband was not in the same * province”' or realm with
his wife for some time before her conception. Like the
Digest, Bracton in one place fixes the period at two
years, and he states that in all cases, and under every
circumstance, if a husband and wife had cohabited to-
gether, and were capable of the functions of gene-
ration, even if she became pregnant by another man,
and whether the husband repudiated or acknowledged
the child, it was legitimate by presumption, which pre-
sumption did not admit of proof to the contrary.

ITI. That precisely the same principles of Law are
stated in the next legal treatise which is now extant,
that of Britton.

!« Provincia.,” Though in a former part of the volume this word is sup-
posed, in the sense in which Bracton uses it, to have meant * county,” it
would perhaps have been more correct to have given to it its literal meaning.
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IV, That, as the Common Law applied the term

— — “mulier,” to describe children who, though legitimate

de jure, were not begotten by the husbands of their
mothers, it always contemplated the possibility of a
succession to the husbands’ inheritance by persons,
under the character of sons and heirs, who were not
begotten by them, for the purpose of preventing un-
certainty, litigation, and the chance of committing
injustice towards innocent parties,

V. That a difference always existed, respecting the
status of children, between the Ecclesiastical and Com-
mon Law of this country, from which difference the
anomaly arose, that a man might be legitimate by one
Law, and bastard by the other, and & converso. This
discrepancy caused much confusion, and may explain
the few apparent contradictions in the Year Books; as
it thus depended upon the Court in which the question
of bastardy was tried, and upon the Law which happened
to be alluded to, whether the party was legitimate or
illegitimate ; and if from any circumstance the Ecclesi-
astical Court once obtained jurisdiction, its sentence
was conclusive, and could not be reversed by the Tem-
poral Courts, even in cases where the party was “ mulier,”
and consequently inheritable by the Common Law.

VI. That the important case of Foxcroft, in the
10th Edw. 1., which is the first that is reported, and
which has been cited by the highest authorities, to show
that the legal presumption of legitimacy might always be
rebutted by evidence that the husband was not the father
of his wife’s child, although neither impotent nor absent
from the realm at the moment when it was conceived,
has been entirely misunderstood ; that it establishes no
such point ; and, consequently, that the deductions which
have been drawn from it are erroneous; and also that
similar inferences which have been deduced from the
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case of Radwell, in the 18th Edw. I., are not justified
by the facts.

VII. That as early as the 43rd Edw. 111. the rule of the
“ four seas” undoubtedly prevailed ; and although the
term does not occur before that time, the same principle
may be traced in Bracton and Britton; and the rule itself
is evidently alluded to in the case in the 33rd Edw. I1L,,
when the dictum of a Judge of Assize, that ¢ if it could
be proved that a woman separated from her husband,
lived with another man, and had a child by the adul-
terer, it would be a bastard,” called forth a demal of
the accuracy of that statement from the contemporary
reporter, who added, “ In this he spoke against the
Law, as I believe, if the husband were within the

1 22

realm ',

VIII. That in the entite series of cases in the Year
Books and Reports until the eighteenth century, there
are but ¢hree instances in which the rule of the “ quatuor
maria’ was not admitted to be Law ; or in other words,
in which the absence of the husband from the realm at
the time of his wife’s conception was not insisted upon
as being indispensably necessary to bastardize the child ;
namely, in the 83rd Edw. II1. above alluded to, when
the dictum of the Judge was contradicted by the re-
porter; a case in the 40th Edw. IT1., when the Judge
appears to have included in the * special matter” the
fact of the mother having ¢ continued in adultery®;”
and the case in the 11th Hen. IV., where the same doc-
trine was repeated?®; but these dicta are contradicted by
the opinion of the Courts on every other occasion, as
well before as afterwards, and they seem therefore not
to have been sound Law, in proof of which it is only
necessary to refer to the case in the 18th Edw. IV., the

last on the subject in the Year Books, on which occasion

' p. 36, antea, ! p. 43, antea. ' pe 49, antea.
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Justice Choke said, in illustration of the statement of
Justice Littleton (the author of the Treatise on Tenures),
who had remarked that there were several cases in which
a man is a bastard by the Common, and mulier by the
Ecclesiastical Law, and é converso,—that “ if a woman
elope from her husband and has issue in her adultery,
she shall lose her dower, and the issue shall be mulier in
our Law ; and yet bastard by the Spiritual Law'.”

X. That the circumstance of there being no case in the
Year Books or Reports, in which the Law of Adulterine
Bastardy was mooted from the 18th Edw. IV. to the 40th
Eliz., a period of about one hundred and twenty years, can
only be attributed to the Law being settled, which in-
ference is strongly supported by the facts of the cases of
Beaumont® and Cormwall®, which have been taken from
other sources ; by the proceedings in the cases of Lady
Larr and Lady Burgh, whose issue were bastardized by
Acts of Parliament, because, as one of the Acts states,
“though such issue were notoriously known to have been
begotten in adultery, yet, being born within espousals,
they were by the Law of this Realm inheritable ;" and as
the other Act recites, though the wife had “ confessed the
children were begotten in adultery during the espousals,
they were by the Laws of this Realm legitimate and
inheritable*;” and by the opinion of the only writer
of the period who treated on the Law of Legitimacy®.

XI. That in the sixteenth century the Law was
unanimously declared as is above stated, by the Lord
Chancellor, the Chief Justice of the King’s Bench,
and the Chief Justice of the Common Pleas, in the
case of Done and Igerton, in the 14th Jac. 1.%; and
it 1s so laid down by every contemporary writer on the
Law ; namely, Lord Coke, Finch, and Ridley; in the

! pp. 53, 54, antea,

* p. 87, antea, * p- 66, antea. * p. 60, antea,
# Clerke's Trial of Bastardy, p. 63, antea. * p.71, antea.
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Abridgments of Fitz-Herbert and Brooke, as well as in %fr;;]::;]lt!
those of Rolle, Shepherd, and Danvers, which were writ- ——
ten in the same century.

XII. That it consequently appears that Lord Coke’s
defimition of the Law in the First and Fourth Institute,
which was impeached by Lord Redesdale in the Ban-
bury case' as “not being the Law of England, but a cer-
tain Law laid down by Lord Coke,” as not being “ borne
out by the authorities referred to, and as being mncon-
gistent with the earlier and later decisions,” is supported
by the whole current of authorities, with the three ex-
ceptions of the cases i the 33rd and 40th Edw. ITL.,
and 11th Hen. I'V., before alluded to.

XIII. That the Attorney-general, who admitted, and
the Lords’ Committee for Privileges, who in the year 1661
twice reported, that Nicholas Knollys, Earl of Banbury,
was ““ a legitimate person in the eye of the Law,” did
not, as has since been alleged, “ mistake the Law.” The
correctness of their opinions is also shown by the Bill for
bastardizing the children of Lady Roos in 1666, which
declared, that though they were notoriously begotten in
adultery afier she had eloped from her husband, yet
“ by the Laws of this Realm” they ¢ are or may be ac-
counted legitimate, and may inherit the honours, &e.*;”
by the opinions of the’ Attorney-general, Sir William
Jones, and Lord Chancellor Finch, afterwards Earl of
Nottingham, in the Purbeck case, in 1678%; and by the
cases of Rex v. Albertson, in 1697%, and the Queen v.
Murray, in 1704°, on which occasions the rule of the
quatuor maria was expressly alluded to by Chief Justice
Holt and the other Judges of the Court of King’s Bench.

The preceding brief summary brings the history of the
Law of Adulterine Bastardy down to the year 1706, the

' Vide p. 461, postea. 1 p- 88, antea.
* pp. 114-116, antea. ‘ p. 118, s p. 120,
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5th of Anne, when the case of St. George v. St. Mar-
garet occurred, which laid the foundation for the im-
portant change that soon afterwards took place of
exploding the rule of the * quatuor maria,” and admit-
ting evidence to prove non-access on the part of the
husband, notwithstanding he might have been in the
realm when his wife became pregnant. This alteration
arose, as has been shown, from a supposed decision of
Lord Hale in the ease of Dicken and Collins, between
1656 and 1658, which is not reported, and about which
oreat doubts may be entertained, The reasons' for dis-
believing that Lord Hale gave the judgment imputed to
him, or that his opinion on the subject was different from
that of Lord Coke and of his other predecessors, have
been stated ; and it is presumed that they are sufficiently
strong to shake the confidence which has hitherto been
placed in that precedent, for it has been shown that it
had no weight with the Lord Chancellor or Attorney-
general in the Purbeck case in 1678, or with Lord Holt
and the other Judges of the Court of King’s Bench in
the cases of Rex and Albertson in 1697, and Regina v.
Murray in 1704 ; that it would appear from the manner
in which the Attorney-general adverted to the case of
Hospell and Collins in 1693, that the child whose legi-
timacy was then in question was altogether supposifi-
tious®; and that even the allusion to that decision in
the case of St. George and St. Margaret in 1706, when
it was cited as a precedent, by no means proves that
Lord Hale’s decision was at variance with the old Law ?,
To the arguments which have been submitted to show
that the dictum of Lord Hale was not cited as a pre-
cedent for exploding the rule of the gquatuor maria,
and that the case of St. George and St, Margaret (in

! Vide pp. 124-126, * . 4035, postea, ¥ p. 122, antea,
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which the parties were divorced d@ mensa et thoro), did ﬁf;:fﬂ
not proceed upon any change in the ancient Law, must —8——
be added the cogent and almost conclusive fact that the

case of St. George and St. Margaret was decided by

the same Court, and by three of the identical Judges' who

decided the case of Rex v. Albertson, nine years before ;

and by the same four Judges® who decided the case of

the Queen v. Murray only two years before, on both of

which occasions the maxim of “ the four seas ”” was speci-

fically mentioned as the ground upon which those judg-

ments proceeded.

The old Law was, nevertheless, considered to have
been shaken by the case of St. George and St. Mar-
garet; and on the very next occasion when the matter
was brought before the Courts, namely, in the case of
St. Andrew’s and St. Bride’s in 1717, at which time
Lord Holt and all the Judges (except one)®, who had
decided the cases of Rex v. Albertson, Queen v. Murray,
and S7. George v. St. Margaret's were dead, the Court
took no notice of the rule of the guatuor maria, and
adjudged the children of a married woman to be bas-
tards upon very strong and almost conclusive proof
that her husband had not had access to her for seven-
teen years, though he remained during that time in

Engl and.

After this period a change took place in the strict
letter, but not in the spirit of the Law of Legitimacy ;
for the policy of the Law remained the same. The rule
that the husband was the father of his wife’s child, if
he was within the realm at the time when it was con-

' Chief Justice Holt, Sir Lyttleton Powys, and Sir Henry Gould.
¥ Chief Justice Holt, Sir Lyttleton Powys, Sir Henry Gould, and Mr. Jus-
tice Powell. 4 Sir Lyttleton Powys.
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ceived, proceeded upon the possibility of his having had
access to her, as well as upon the presumption that
in the majority of instances, that will happen which is
consonant with the dictates of nature. It supposed that
the desire for sexual intercourse between two persons,
to whom divine and liuman laws alike sanctioned the
indulgence, would always be so strong as to overcome
every barrier, except such as distance, compulsory sepa-
ration, or bodily infirmity should impose. Nor has the
experience of ages manifested the incorrectness of such an
hypothesis ; but it must also be said, that this presump-
tion of Law is founded on a higher principle than mere
sexual inclination. The Law supposes that a man usually
performs whatever duties he may have solemnly and
deliberately undertaken. The primary duty of a hus-
band is cohabitation ; but it is also his duty to exercise
a tender watchfulness over the conduct of his wife. If
a husband justifies the expectations of the Law by
fulfilling his marital duties, his wife will seldom violate
that peculiar virtue of her sex, which undoubtedly led to
to the legal principle of fixing the paternity upon the
husband. When, however, neither affection nor duty has
any influence, and a husband becomes indifferent to
his wife’s chastity, and to his own honour, the cause of
morality is essentially promoted by a Law which makes
it his inferest to preserve her from crime, by visiting
him with the consequences of her misconduct.

The old Law seems therefore to have been based upon
a profound knowledge of human nature ; but it laid down
an iron rule, which was occasionally revolting to common
sense. The object of the Courts, in mnovating upon the
ancient Law, was to reconcile Law with Reason : —to pre-
serve the principle, but to modify its application in such
cases as admitted of the same cerfainty with respect to
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the fact. Thus the old Law fixed the paternity upon {lf::‘::;h
the husband, except in cases of moral or physical im- ——
possibility ; in other words, whenever it was certain that

the husband could not have had nuptial intercourse with

his wife. But this impossibility was as certain, if the
husband and wife had been closely shut up in separate
prisons, as if the four seas, or the Atlantic Ocean had
divided them. So also in other cases of undoubted
separation, and in a few instances, perhaps, of peculiar

bodily afflictions in either party, whether separated or

not. It is not surprising that the rude but strong com-

mon sense of our ancestors, abhorring litigation, and
desirous of laying down broad and intelligible rules of

Law, should have preferred a positive geographical limit,

within which access was always to be presumed, to leav-

ing the question of access, when it was probable or pos-

sible, to the discrimination of a jury. But it was the

natural consequence of advanced civilization to break
through a rule which sometimes involved absurdities and
injustice.

The first deviation from the maxim of ¢ the four seas™
was therefore to receive evidence of impossibility of ac-
cess, from whatever cause such impossibility might arise.
In Pendrell’s case, in 1732, when it was first conceded
that the rule of the “ quatuor maria™ was abandoned, the
parties were separated by considerable distance, and the
question was, not whether the husband had or had not
had nuptial intercourse, but whether he had not been in
London, where his wife resided during the year imme-
diately before the infant was born; for it was not demed
that if he had been in a situation which rendered sexual
intercourse possible, its occurrence must be inferred.  As
however the jury were convineed that he had not been in
London, by the testimony of persons by whom, in conse-
quence of his state of health, he had been constantly

5
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watched, his residence at a distance from his wife when
she became pregnant was established', and hence it be-
came a matter of certainty that he could not by any possi-
bility have begotten the child. In the case of Lomax and
Holmeden,in the same year, 1732, the Court again rejected
evidence of probability, and required evidence of impos-
sibility ; and it presumed that nuptial intercourse had
taken place solely because the husband and wife had both
resided in London® Upon?® Corbyn’s case nothing will
be said, because it is not reported, and all the facts of it
are not known®. In the case of the King and Bedale, in
1737, the Court of King’s Bench confirmed an order of
two Justices, who considered that the 1ssue of a woman,
whose husband was stated upon evidence® not to have
had access to her for seven years and nine months, were
bastards, which, if the witnesses were credited, was also
a case of impossibility. In the case of the King and
Lubbenham, in 1791, the husband went abroad, and five
years afterwards his wife, supposing him to be dead,
married again and had a child; but twelve months after
its birth her first husband returned. The child was ad-
judged a bastard, it being impossible for the first, and in
fact only husband, to have been its father; and as he
was extra quatuor maria when it was begotten, its status
would have been so determined under the old Law.
The first occasion on which proof of impossibility of
the husband being the father was not insisted upon, and
when the Law was still further relaxed by receiving evi-
dence which tended to the same conclusion; or to speak
more correctly, when the question of legitimacy depended

! p- 129, antea. ? pp- 131, 132, antea.

¥ In The King and Reading, in 1734, which was the next in point of time,
the illegitimacy of the children was only shown by the declaration of their
mother, which was held o be insufficient. So also in The King v. Rook, in
1752,

* p. 138, antea, * pp- 134, 135, 136, antea.



( 259 )

upon strong amprobability, was in the case of Goodright H;:?::L
and Saul, in 1791. The hushand had separated from his — —
wife, and quitted Norwich, in which city she continued
to reside. She afterwards lived publicly in adultery with
another man for many years, by whom she had a son.
It was proved that the child was always considered by
her family as a bastard, and had borne the name of s |
real father. Proof of the husband's absence from his wife
could not be given ; but, on the other hand, so far from
there being proof of his having resided near her, it was
sworn by an old witness that he was supposed to have
gone to London. The plaintiff claimed as the descend-
ant of the son of the adulterous connexion, contending
that the parties had been married ; but finding the evi-
dence against him to be irresistible, ke then claimed as
keir to the son of the husband, upon the ground that non-
access to his wife had not been proved. In this view
the Judge agreed, and the jury returned a verdiet accord-
ingly ; but upon an application to the Court of King’s
Bench, a new trial was granted, the Judge who origin-
ally tried the cause being persuaded that he had laid
too much stress upon the necessity of proving non-
access ',

In the case of Smyth and Chamberlayne, in the Court
of Arches, in 1792, the principle of the old Law, that
sexual intercourse must be inferred, when, from the resi-
dence of the parties, access was possible, prevailed against
the strongest circumstantial evidence that the husband
was not the author of the child’s existence. The parties
had separated, and the adulterous connexion was indis-
putable; but because the husband lived in London, and
the wife sometimes at one extremity of the metropolis and
sometimes at Hammersmith, (she being the avowed nis-
tress of a nobleman), and because they had had occa-

' p. 143, antea,
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sional interviews for the payment of money, though such
interviews did not take place within a considerable period
of the child’s birth, the Court held that he was the son of
the husband, notwithstanding it was proved that he had
connived at her intercourse with her paramour, that he
had never recognised the child as his own, though such a
recognition would have been attended with pecuniary ad-
vantages to him, and that in a certain legal transaction,
he had acted himself, and allowed the Court of Chaneery
to act, asif the child was not, in any way, related to him,
imasmuch as he stated in his answer to a Bill in Chancery,
after his wife's death, that “ he did not know who was her
heir at law."” In this case the Judge proceeded upon the
necessity of proving the impossibility of access, and upon
its being the presumption of Law that access does always
take place if the parties lived in the same town, unless it
could be proved by persons who had watched them that
they had never come together ; and that if direct evidence
can be given that they had access to each other, the chiid
is legitimate, notwithstanding any circumstantial evidence
to the contrary®. This judgment was at variance with
the proceedings of the Court of King’s Bench in the case
of Goodright and Saul ; and the ill effect of innovating
upon the principles of Law which had until then pre-
valled, becomes for the first time apparent.

Precisely the same principle as was laid down in Smyth
and Chamberlayne governed the Court of Session in
Seotland in deciding the case of Routledge and Cariru-
thers, in 1806. Little doubt existed that the husband
was not the real father of the child, but there was “ no
Pphysical impossibility from distance or otherwise®;” and
impossibility was stated in the strongest langunage by all
the Judges on that occasion to be indispensable. Their
judgment was confirmed upon appeal by the House of

I p. 153, ? pp. 150, 151, 152, antea, T pp- 158-162,
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Lords in 1816, when Lord Chancellor Eldon said he General

concurred with all the Judges in the Court below.

The next case’, that of the King and Luffe, in 1807, was
oneof plain physicalimpossibility,the husband having been
beyond the seas until fifteen days before the child was
born; and it is remarkable for the unqualified manner in
which Lord Chief Justice Ellenborough and the other
Judges of the King’s Bench laid down the Law on the
subject. Lord Ellenborough insisted upon the necessity
of evidence ““ to show the absolute physical impossibility
of the husband’s being the father,”” and stated, that im-
probability, however strong, was insuflicient to rebut the
presumption of legitimacy, which general presumption
will prevail except a case of plain natural impossibility
be shown?®, The same rule of requiring proof of impossi-
bility was observed in Boughton v. Boughton, in the same
year, when the strongest presumptive evidence that the
child was begotten by a gentleman who lived in adultery
with the mother, (she being his mistress, and he having
adopted and brought up the infant as his own) was rebut-
ted by no other proof than that the husband was alive;
and a jury returned a verdict in favour of the legitimacy?®
Again, in the case of Lloyd, where the husband was a
lunatic and in ill health, and where it was proved that
the wife had slept with another man at the time when
the 1ssue was supposed to have been begotten®, The case
of the King and Maidstone, in 1810, which is the next of
the series, closely resembled that of The King and Luffe,
it being also one of physical impossibility®,

In the ensuing year, the claim to the Earldom of Ban-
bury came before the House of Lords, the importance of
which, as to the Law of Adulterine Bastardy, justifies the

I Except that of Shelley, in 1806 (vide p. 247, antea), which presents
no fact deserving of particular attention in this place.

* pp. 172-177, antea, ¥ pp. 178, 179, antea,

* po. 150, 181, antea, s p. 180, antea.
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elaborate Report of that case which will be found in the
following sheets ; and renders it proper to submit some
observations upon it in this place.

The remarkable facts in the proceedings on the Ban-
bury claim in 1813, were, that some of the most eminent
lawyers of the day, namely, Lords Eldon, Ellenbo-
rough, and Redesdale, denied the accuracy of Lord
Coke’s exposition of the Law, notwithstanding that it
was founded upon the whole series of authorities and
cases for many centuries, and continued to be received
m all the Courts as undoubted Law, until the early
part of the eighteenth century; and that although the
principle of the old Law was admitted to be well
founded, a mode of arriving at the same conclusion was
sanctioned, which had the efiect of shaking the principle
itself,

The spirit of all former decisions (with the exception
perhaps of Goodright v. Saul) was to exclude the possi-
bility of the husband’s being the father, before the child
of the wife could be bastardized, for which purpose the
only admissible evidence was direct and conclusive proof
of the impossibility of access. In the Banbury case, how-
ever, inferences from circumstantial evidence were con-
sidered sufficient ; and it was said that the presumption of
legitimacy might be rebutted, not only by direct and con-
clusive evidence which negatived the possibility of sexual
intercourse having taken place, but by circumstances which
might convince those who had to decide the question
that it did not take place. Doubts having arisen on the
points of Law in the case, it was determined to ask the
opinions of the Judges; and it is equally difficult to re-
concile the whole of the answers of those learned persons
with previous decisions and authorities, and to discover
that the judgment of the House coincided with the
opinions which were then given by the Judges for its
assistance and guidance.
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The Judges stated in effect : General
. - - Remarks.

I. That the presumption of legitimacy might be re- ——
butted by circumstances inducing a contrary presump-
tion, notwithstanding the parents were both capable of
procreation, and had opportunities of access at the
period when the child was begotten .

The reasons for this opinion, though stated to the
House, are not recorded in the Minutes of the Com-
mittee ; and unless it proceeded upon the erroneous
construction which has been heretofore given to Foa-
croft’s case, or upon the supposition of a sentence of
divoree, the authonties upon which it was founded re-
main to be ascertained.

II. The Judges considered the fact of the birth of
a child of a married woman to be generally prima facie
evidence that it was legitimate ; that whenever there was
prima facie evidence of legitimacy, the onus probandi to
the contrary, rested with those who disputed it ; that
such prima facie evidence might always be rebutted by
satisfactory evidence that the husband had not had
sexual intercourse with his wife, at a time when, if he
had had such intercourse, he might have begotten the
child; and that non-gererating access, from whatever
cause it might arise, might always be proved by evi-
dence, which, by the Law of England, was admissible
to prove a physical fact®.

The Judges seem, therefore, in their opinions on the
Banbury case, to have confined the evidence of illegi-
timacy of children born in wedlock to conclusive proof
that nuptial intercourse did not take place; and they
added, that if it could be proved that the husband had
had sexual intercourse with his wife, no evidence could
be received, except it tended to falsify the proof that
such intercourse had taken place®.

* ps 182, antea, ¥ p. 183, antea.
5 4
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These opinions were far from settling all the legal

‘— — points which were raised ; and by expressly giving to the

term ““ access ”’ the meaning of “ sexual intercourse',”

mstead of presuming nuptial intercourse always to have
occurred, whenever the husband had such personal
“ access” to his wife, as admitted of the possibility of
sexnal intercourse, it became necessary to submit other
questions to them %,

The Judges stated, in reply to the additional questions
put to them, that sexual intercourse is presumed to have
taken place between husband and wife, until that pre-
sumption is encountered by such evidence as proves to
the satisfaction of those who are to decide the question,
that it did not take place, at a time necessary for the
child to be the fruit of that intercourse. They repeated
that the legitimacy of a child born in wedlock could
only be resisted by evidence that sexual intercourse had
not taken place between the husband and wife, and that
“non-access” was generally understood to mean the non-
existence of sexual intercourse?.

According to these opinions, the existence of sexual
intercourse between man and wife might be disproved,
like any other fact, by whatever evidence a jury may
consider sufficient for the purpose. In this view of the
subject, Lords Eldon, Ellenborough, and Redesdale fully
agreed, but its correctness was denied by Lord Erskine;
and the Banbury case was adjudged upon the suppo-
sition, that the circumstantial evidence produced against
the claimant, was sufficient to prove that William Ear]
of Banbury did not have sexual intercourse with his
Countess at a time when it was possible for him to have
been the father of either of the two children, Edward or
Nicholas, the latter of whom was the claimant’s ancestor.

Supposing the Law m 1813 to have been as the Judges
stated it, the importance of the Banbury case as a prece-

' p. 153 2 Mhid,  p. 154,
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dent depends upon the nature of the evidence which 11:,:?;:::-
was then considered sufficient to rebut the presumption of ———~
legitimacy, and upon the particular circumstances under
which the issue of a married woman was considered ille-
gitimate. Before adverting to those points, it 1s material
to inquire,

1. Whether the Law as it was laid down in 1813
was the same as it was in the year 1631 !

2. Whether the justice of the Banbury case did
not require that the legal status of the claimant’s
ancestor should have been determined by the Law
when he was born, and not as it was expounded
nearly a century afterwards ?

Upon the first point little will be said. The noble
Lords who were opposed to the claim denied that the
Law in 1631, or in 1661, when the claim was first
brought before the House of Lords, was such as Lord
Coke had stated it, and as the Attorney-general admitted
it to have been. A reference to the preceding pages will
probably enable the profession to determine whether the
eminent lawyers who have been cited, including nearly
all the Judges of ancient times, and, in more modern
periods, Lord Chancellors Ellesmere and Nottingham,
Lord Chief Justices Coke, Montague, Hobart, Rolle
and Holt; Justice Blackstone'; and Attorney-Generals
Sir Geoffrey Palmer and Sir Willham Jones; as well
as all the writers on the Laws of England without a
single exception, were likely to have been ignorant of the
Law upon which every man’s birthright was founded,
and which, as was happily said by Lord President
Blair?, formed “ the corner stone, the very foundation,
on which rests the whole fabric of human society.”?
To the profound learning and invaluable labours of

these sages of the Enghsh Law, whose knowledge on

! Commentaries, Vol. 1. p. 456, ? p. 161, antca,
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this important subject has been recently impeached
their successors have paid grateful homage; and it is
therefore difficult to suppose, that they did not know
the Law which they administered, and on which many
of them wrote those learned Treatises that are still the
text books of the science, at least as well as Judges who
lived more than a century afterwards. The feeling is, it
is hoped, pardonable which clings with affecionate vene-
ration to these illustrious names ; which desires to vindi-
cate their legal fame from the imputation of error; and
which repels with indignation the charge brought against
the most distinguished Jurist of our country, in refer-
ence to this subject, that he sometimes had recourse to
“ untruths” to support his opinions." Their justifica-
tion does not however depend upon the efforts of any
individual. It will be found in the authorities and cases
to which they referred, which have now been collected,
and which, it is presumed, fully establish the correctness
of their statements.

With respect to the second point, it would seem to have
been acknowledged that the question in the Banbury
case turned upon the status of the claimant’s ancestor,
according to the Law at the period when he lived : ¢ Your
said Lord Eldon, “ must place yourselves
as 1f you stood in this House in 1661*;” and great pains
were therefore taken by that noble Lord, as well as by
Lords Ellenborough and Redesdale, to show that Lord
Coke’s definition of the Law was erroneous. If then
the claim depended upon what was held to be Law
in 1631, instead of upon the Law in 1813, and if it
be admitted that the Law in 1661 was, what all the
lawyers, not only of that day, but of preceding and sub-
sequent periods, have uniformly, and without even a
solitary exception, stated it to have been, as well in their

»

Lordships,’

' Vide p. 461, postea, * Vide p. 515, postea.
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writings as from the Bench, it does appear inconsistent General
with justice to have adjudicated the Banbury case, by any m
other rule of Law, than that which existed when the party
whose legitimacy was in dispute was born, and which
created his legal status.

Not a shadow of doubt can be entertained of the claim-
ant’s right, if the Law was such as it is described by Lord
Coke, and by all earlier and contemporary authorities ;
but supposing that it was just and proper to determine
the question by the Law as it was laid down in 1813, it
remains to be shown, that the evidence which rebutted
the presumption of legitimacy would have been even
then considered sufficient for that purpose in the Courts
of Common Law.

The decision was grounded upon the presumption that
the Earl of Banbury had not had sexual mtercourse with
his wife in such parts of the years 1626 or 1630, as ren-
dered it possible for him to have been the father of Lady
Banbury’s two children, the eldest of which was born in
April 1627, and the other, the claimant’s ancestor, in
January 1631.

As it was admitted that Lord Baunbury’'s advanced
age formed no objection, the evidence against the legi-
timacy consisted of a series of facts arising from the
conduct of Lord Banbury, of Lady Banbury, and of her
second husband, Lord Vaux, which, it was said, tended to
raise the irresistible inference that Lord Banbury was not
the real father of her children, and which inference was
supported by the finding of a jury after his death. Not-
withstanding the maxim of Law that the presumption is
always in favour of legitimacy', and that every one of
those facts was, as has been attempted to be shown in
the following sheets, susceptible of a construction con-
sistent with the legitimacy of the children, only one view

v Fide pp. 70-73, antea,
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of them was taken by Lords Eldon, Ellenborough and
Redesdale. The Inquisition which found that the
Earl of Banbury died without issue was contradicted
by a subsequent Inquisition, which found that the
eldest of these children was his son and heir. There
was direct evidence of the Earl and Countess having
always lived together on terms of the greatest har-
mony and affection ; of his having had access to her at
times when, if sexual intercourse had taken place, he
might have been the father of the children; of his being
with her in a Court of Justice when she was so far
advanced in pregnancy with the claimant’s ancestor, that
her appearance could not possibly have escaped his ob-
servation; of his never having suspected her of adultery,
separated from her, or done any one act which did not
evince the utmost confidence in, and affection for her!.
Moreover, unless the witnesses who were examined in
1661 were guilty of perjury, for which suspicion there
are no solid grounds, the ancestor of the claimant was
““ owned” by the Earl as his son.

Under such circumstances the legal presumption of
legitimacy was never before, and has never since been,
rebutted by any evidence whatever, except upon proof
of the impotency of the husband. As the Bill which
was brought in to render the claimant’s ancestor illegi-
timate, never passed, the question remained in the same
state until 1693, when the House of Lords resolved
that the then claimant had no right to the Earldom of
Banbury, which resolution, formed after the House
had rejected a motion for consulting the Judges on the
points of Law, was subsequently declared illegal by the
Court of King’s Bench, in consequence of the House not
having jurisdiction in the matter, because the case had
not come before 1t on a reference from the Crown.

I Sce p. 382, postea,
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The presumption of Law in favour of the legitimacy :;f::.t.::i
of children born in wedlock, and the direct evidence that “——
the Earl of Banbury might have had, and from his af-
fection for, and his living with his wife, that he probably
did occasionally have nuptial intercourse with her about
the time when the children were begotten, was however

allowed to be resisted by

1. Supposed ignorance on his part that he had
1ssue,

2. A supposed adulterous connexion between his
wife and his own intimate friend.

3. Supposed concealment of the children, becanse
nothing was known of them during the first eight
years after Lord Banbury’s death, at the expiration
of which period, the eldest was only fourteen, and
the youngest ten years old.

In no previous istance, whether since or before the
rule of the “ quatuor maria™ fell into desuetude, was the
presumption of legitimacy ever rebutted except upon
direct evidence that the husband was separated from his
wife, that she had lived openly and notoriously in ‘Mf.-:rfm"-
tery with another man, and that the residence of the
hushand was at some distance from that of his wife when
the child was begotten. From 1732 to 1813, the evidence
had, in every instance, tended to exclude the possibility
of the husband’s being the father of the children, and his
separation by distance from his wife when she became
pregnant, was always proved, except in Goodright and
Saul, but in that case it was so far from being shown that
he lived near her, that evidence was given which induced
a contrary inference, The meve improbability of a hus-
band’s being the real parent was rejected in the strongest,
and most ungualified terms, upon each occasion; and
even so late as in 1807, by Lord Ellenborough, in the
King v. Luffe, who nevertheless considered the circum-
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stantial evidence against the legitimacy in the Banbury
case as quite sufficient not merely to destroy the pre-
sumption of legitimacy, but to prove that several persons
who had given evidence in support of that presumption
when the original claimant was living, had committed
wilful perjury.

The inferences which have been drawn from the con-
duct of the parties only raise a suspicion that Lord Vaux
might have been the real father of the children; but
that suspicion is supported by no one fact, whilst, on the
other hand, all the circumstances upon which the illegi-
timacy of the children has been presumed, might equally
have happened even if they had been de facto as well as
de jure the issue of Lord Banbury. If he had publicly
repudiated the children ; or if it had been proved that he
was ignorant of their existence; if he had separated from
his wife ; or if, like Lady Roos', and all the other married
women whose children have been bastardized by Act of
Parliament, she had been convicted of adultery, there
would have been some grounds for giving to certain acts,
the real motives of which cannot now be ascertained or
explained, the construction which they have received®

In the preceding remarks, the correctness of the facts
in the Banbury case, as stated by Lords Eldon, Ellen-
borough, and Redesdale, and upon which the resolution
against the claimant was founded, have been admitted ;
but the notes appended to the speeches of those learned
Lords will show that their Lordships were mistaken on
many material points. To these misconceptions it is
necessary to allude, because they increase the doubt
which the profession have entertained, of the propriety
of that decision, and therefore tend still further to

weaken the value of the Banbury case, as a precedent.
1 Vide pp. 87, B8, antea.

? See the foreible and eloquent observations of Sir Samuel Romilly on
this subject, p. 448, postea,
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With respect to the Law on the subject, it was taken F{E;E;::LL
for granted that Foxcroft’s case formed an early prece- — —
dent for declaring a child illegitimate, notwithstanding
the coverture and cohabitation of its mother and osten-
sible father, he not being either impotent or absent from
the realm, whereas that case turned entirely upon the inva-
lidity of the marriage. The statements of Lord Coke were
declared not to have been Law, whereas it is indisputable
that his definition was considered by his contemporaries,
as well as by previous and succeeding Judges, until nearly
a century after his death, to have been sound Law.

In matters of Fact, the House of Lords were mistaken
respecting the date of the birth of the claimant’s an-
cestor, from which error it was supposed that he was
living when the Earl of Banbury made his will, whereas
he was not then born. There are strong reasons for be-
lieving that the Countess of Banbury was supposed to
have been three years older than she actually was when
she gave birth to the children. It was assumed that
the marriage-bed of the Earl and Countess had been
previously barren, and great stress was laid upon the
improbability of a woman becoming, for the first time,
pregnant by her husband when he was upwards of
eighty, after a cohabitation of more than twenty years;
whereas it has since been discovered that she had before
had a child, if not children. One of the most stringent
points against the claimant was, that no suit had ever
been instituted to recover the estate of Rotherfield
Greys, which could not, it was said, have been alien-
ated from the beirs male of the Earl’s body ; but it has
been shown that, according to the opinion which then
prevailed, that estate could be legally alienated.

As the evidence upon which the House of Lords de-
cided that the claimant’s ancestor was illegitimate was
entirely circumstantial, the misconceptions alluded to had
a serious effect ; and it 1s not impossible that, if they had
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been then detected, the House might not have arrived
at a conclusion which has been truly described as being
“ contrary to every dictum of Law, and to every decided
“ case from the time of Edward the Third downwards®.”

It has been said that the Banbury case has, ¢ by
over-ruling all former decisions, admitied a new princi-
ple, which has entirely altered the Law of Adulterine
Bastardy *;”” but the correctness of the remark is by no
means certain, because there has not been any case in
which the new principle has been acted upon, and be-
cause the opinion of the Judges on that occasion did not
sancticn the innovation which that decision, if admitted
as a precedent, 1s calculated to produce.

The judgment of the House of Lords on the claim to
the Earldom of Banbury appears to have been received
by the profession with much dissatisfaction ; and it has
had but slicht influence on subsequent proceedings in
Courts of Law. Lord Erskine, whose address in sup-
port of the claimant was alike distinguished by splendid
eloquence and profound views of the principle which the
question involved, wrote to the claimant, that the Pro-
test against the Resolution had given the opponents of
the claim “ every fact and all their arguments, but
giving them both, leaves them without a single voice in
Westminster Hall, from one end to the other.”

Three years after the Banbury claim was rejected, the
case of Routledge and Carruthers, in which the legiti-
macy of the claimant’s ancestor depended almost entirely

! Edinburgh Review, March 1829, vol. XCVIL. p. 204. The writer of
the aiticle alluded to proceeds to say, * The solitary instance which Lord
Ellenborough relies upon ( Foreraft's case, which occurred in the 10th of
Edward the First), was tried at the time the Courts were governed by the
doctrines of the Civil and Canon Law ;" but it has since been discovered
that Forcroft's case was not al variance with subsequent decisions and
authorities. It is then justly observed, that ¢ every other case which was
cited as bearing upon this view of the question will be found, upon examina-
tion, to involve such circumstances of non-access as would satisfy any jury
that the husband could not by possibility have been the father of the child.”
—Ibid, 3 Ihid,
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upon the presumption of law in favour of children born hz::r;:;a
in wedlock, came before the House of Lords upon ap- —8 —
peal. All the Judges of the Court of Session insisted
upon the necessity of evidence of the total impossibility
of the husband’s being the father, though it was ad-
mitted that the wife had been frequently gulty of
adultery, and that there was the strongest probability
that her husband was absent when the infant was
begotten. But notwithstanding the precedent of the
Banbury case, in which neither an adulterous intercourse
nor a separation was proved, Lord Eldon declared that
he concurred with all the Judges below, and confirmed
their judgment ',

In the next case of that nature which came be-
fore the Courts, Head v. Head, in 1823, the principles
which governed the Banbury decision were so far from
being adopted by the Viece-Chancellor, (Sir John Leach),
that like Lord Ellenborough, in the King v. Luffe, he
stated that the * ancient policy of the Law of England
remains unaltered ;”” that though the rule of the ¢ guatuor
maria’” was exploded, the evidence must be of a character
to erclude all doubt; that the deduction to be drawn from
the opinions of the Judges in the Banbury case was, that
whenever a husband and wife are proved to have been
together at a time when, in the order of nature, the
husband might have been the father of an after-born
child, if sexual intercourse did then take place between
them, such sexual intercourse was prima facie to be pre-
sumed ; and that it could only be disproved to have
taken place, by evidence of circumstances which afford
irresistible presumption that it could not have taken place,
and not by mere evidence of circumstances which might
afford a balance of probabilities against the fact. Lord

L Tide pp. 153=155,
i |
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Eldon, before whom the case of Head v. Head came upon

‘— — appeal,agreed with the Vice-Chancellor, and alsoadverted

to the opinions of the Judges on the Banbury claim. His
Lordship said that he understood the Judges to have
drawn a distinction between personal access of the hus-
band to his wife, and nuptial intercourse ; that wherever
the former existed, the latter was to be presumed, which
presumption must stand until it 1s repelled by ¢ clear
and satisfactory evidence” that there had not been
sexual intercourse. In addressing himself to the cha-
racter of the evidence by which such presumption could
be repelled, the learned Lord seems to have stated of
what it might consist rather than to have explained its
exact nature ; but he said, that m admitting evidence for
that purpose “ great care must be taken, regard being had
to this, that the evidence is received under a Law which
respects and protects legitimacy, and does not admit any
alteration of the * status et conditio’ of any person except
upon the most clear and satisfactory evidence.'”

If the legal principles which were thus admitted to be
in full force ten years after the Banbury claim, be applied
to that case, in what manner can they be possibly recon-
ciled with the decision? Will it be said that there was
“clear and satisfactory evidence,” or evidence which
“excluded all doubt,” that Lord Baubury did not have
sexual intercourse with his wife in 1630,—in which year
he was proved to have been personally present with her
in a court of justice, for the execution of an act which
shows the great confidence he placed in her ;—in which
year he recorded his fondness for her, and gave testimony
to her virtues in the most solemn instrument a man can
execute, his Will ;—in which year, and about which very
time, she became pregnant with the claimant’s ancestor?
Against such facts, can any circumstantial evidence,

! pp. 207, 208,
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much less circumstantial evidence which is susceptible E::&;?:S
of a construction consistent with the legitimacy, be con- —8 —
sidered sufliciently “ clear and satisfactory’ to overcome
“a Law which respects and protects legitimacy”? Will it
be pretended that all the evidence produced in the
Banbury case, accumulated and pressed as it was to
support one view of the subject, amounted to more than
a strong “ probability ?”’ and “probabilities,” however
strong, had never before been admitted as evidence to
rebut the presumption that a husband had had sexual
connexion with his wife. Though probabilities in these
matters seem to have been countenanced by the House
of Lords in the Banbury claim, under the specious cha-
racter of raising a presumption amounting to impossi-
bility, they have since been as rigidly rejected, as they
were by Lord Ellenborough and the other Judges,
in the King and Luffe. Sir John Leach’s opinion, in
Head and Head, was repeated with additional force, in
Bury and Philpott, so lately as 1834,  Access,” said
that learned Judge, “ is such access as affords an oppor-
tunity of sewvual intercourse', and where the fact of such
access between a husband and wife, within a period capa-
ble of raising the legal inference as to the legitimacy of
an after-born child, is not disputed, probabilities can
have no weight, and a case ought never to be sent to
a jury. There is nothing against the evidence of access,
exeept evidence of the adulterous intercourse of the wife,
which does not affect the legal inference ; for if it were
proved that she slept every night with her paramour from
the period of Zer separation from her husband, I must
still declare the children to be legitimate®.”

! In the case of Clarke and Maynard, in 1822, Sir John Leach said, that
“ access 18 not to be presumed because the parties were within such distapce
that access was possible.”"—Tide p. 248, antea.

2 Vide p. 245, antea,
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In what manner can this dictum be made to agree

«— — with the Banbury decision? The access of Lord Banbury

to his wife, when, if he had sexual intercourse with her,
he might have been the father of the claimant’s ancestor,
was not disputed ; the parties were not separated ; nor
was there any evidence of an adulterous intercourse.
What then prevailed against the legal inference of legiti-
macy, unless it were certain facts, which, in the minds of
those who rejected the claim, amounted to a “ probabi-
lity " that he was not begotten by the husband ?

It is remarkable that every case since the Banbury
decision (except perhaps that of Moerris and Davis) has
been decided upon the rule of Law which excluded the
“ possibility” of the husband’s being the father. Proba-
bilities have been always rejected ; and it would therefore
seem that the precedent which the Banbury case affords
for allowing a child born in wedlock to be bastardized by
evidence of so inconclusive a nature as was then consi-
dered sufficient for the purpose, has never been followed.

The only case which has not been noticed in the pre-
ceding summary, is the important one of Morris and
Davis; but as it is again to be brought forward, it would
be improper to do more than advert to the principles of
Law which were laid down in the various judgments that
have been given on it.

The ground upon which the plaintiff elaimed to be le-
gitimate was, that notwithstanding the wife was parted
from her husband by a deed of separation, he occasionally
visited her, and that he undoubtedly had opportunities of
sexual intercourse; and 1t was contended that that fact
raised the legal presumption in favour of legitimacy,
against which no other circumstance whatever ought to
prevail, unless the husband was impotent, which was
not pretended'. On the first trial the jury returned a

! p. 218, antea.
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verdict for the plaintiff'; but a new trial being moved Qe
for, Lord Chancellor Lyndhurst said, in 1827, that in his — —
opinion, after all that had taken place on the subject,
no doubt could be entertained with respect to the rule of
Law applicable to cases of this nature ; that “ it was per-
fectly clear that when a husband and wife were not
separated by a sentence of divorce, a mensa et thoro,
the Law will presume sexual intercourse, unless the con-
trary be proved ; that to repel this presumption of Law
the evidence must be clear and satisfactory to the minds
of those who are to decide upon the question, and that
light presumptions will not be suflicient”*  After no-
ticing the opinions given by the Judges in the Banbury
Peerage, his Lordship added; ¢ therefore evidence
arising from circumstances may be sufficient to repel the
presumption, provided the inference to be drawn from
that evidence be clear and satisfactory.” Upon the
question, “ whether the inference arising from the conduct
of the parties may be sufficient to rebut the presumption
of Law,” he said, ‘“ undoubtedly the evidence arising
from the conduct of the parties may be most material
and important ; but whether such evidence alone would
be sufficient to rebut the presumption, is unnecessary m
this case to determine, In the case of the Banbury
Peerage, the conduct of the parties, and the evidence
thence arising, formed a principal ground of the judg-
ment of the House of Lords ™.

[t would appear from these expressions that Lord
Lyndhurst was not prepared to admit that the conduct
of the parties was of itselt suflicient to rebut the legal
presumption of sexual intercourse; and though his
Lordship cited the Banbury case, in which the conduct
of the parties and the evidence thence arising formed
a principal (it might have been said the only) ground

' Vide pp. 2235, 227, autea, ? p. 220, antea, * p. 221, antea,
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of the judgment of the House of Lords, he gave no
opinion on the propriety of that decision.

On the second trial, before Mr. Baron Vaughan, the
jury did not credit a witness who, on the former trial,
had sworn that the parties had slept in the same house
in the spring of the year preceding that in which the
plaintiff was born, but additional proof was given of
there having been such access in that year as admitted
of the possibility, if not probability, that sexual inter-
course did take place. The jury however found
against the legitimacy; but as the verdict did not satisfy
the learned Judge, (who told the Lord Chancellor that
if he had been upon the jury he should have found a
different verdict,) a third trial was ordered '

The three witnesses who had proved access on the for-
mer occasions were not produced on the third trial, and
no additional evidence upon that point was given. Mr,
Justice Gazelee who tried the cause®, told the jury that
“ the Banbury Peerage was now the Law; that in this case
there was prima facie evidence of intercourse, but that
it was competent to rebut that presumption by any
thing that amounted to satisfactory evidence that no in-
tercourse took place;” that the jury had to determine
whether sexual intercourse might have taken place,
and 1if so, whether the evidence satisfied them that it did
not take place ; that if it might have taken place, the
Law presumed it did, unless the contrary were proved;
that many witnesses had proved opportunities ; and if t/he
Jury were satisfied there were opportunities, the Law says
the child is the child of the husband?®. The jury being
unable to come to a decision, they were discharged
without giving a verdict.

Though the Judge admitted on that occasion, that the

1
p- 228.
% Mr, Justice Gazelee was one of the counsel for the claimant of the
Earldom of Banbury in 1813, ? p, 229,
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Banbury Peerage is now the Law, he could only have
referred to the opinions which were given in that case by
the learned Judges, because his directions to the jury were
at variance with the principles of Law which the Banbury
case itself, if received as a precedent, would have estab-
lished. According to Mr. Justice Gazelee's dictum,
which agreed with that of the most learned of his prede-
cessors, if the jury were satisfied that there had been op-
portunities of sexual intercourse, the Law says, the child
is the child of the husband ; but in the Banbury case,
opportunities were proved, and the inference arising
from those opportunities, that there had been sexual
intercourse, was strengthened by the affection and har-
mony which then and always subsisted between the par-
ties, and by there being no evidence that the wife had
committed adultery, or even been separated from her
husband.

In 1830, when the case of Morris and Davis came
before the Court of Chancery, for Lord Lyndhurst’s
decision, he again alluded to the opinion of the Judges
in the Banbury Peerage, which, he said, he did not
consider to have laid down any new doctrine, but as
having arisen ouf of, and been founded upon the pre-
vious decisions; that the judgment of Sir John Leach,

in Head and Head, so far from affecting the opinion of

the Judges, had recognised and adopted that opinion ;
that the evidence of there not having been sexual inter-
course must not be that of a mere balance of probabili-
ties, but be such as to evclude all doubt, that is, his
Lordship added, “ of course, all reasonable doubt, in
the minds of the Court or jury to whom the question is
submitted ”'.  Lord Lyndhurst then cited Lord Redes-
dale’s observations on the Law of Legitimacy in the
Banbury case, and the view which was then taken of

' pp. 234, 235, anlea.
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the subject by Lords Ellenborough and Eldon ; and he
observed, that no lawyer will now contend that Lord
Erskine’s opinion on that occasion, that it was necessary
to prove the actual impossibility of seaxual intercourse
having taken place, can be sustained'. As Lord Lynd-
hurst considered that there was sufficient evidence in the
case before him, that the husband was not the father of
the plaintiff, “not,” he said, “ upon a bare balance of
probabilities, but as the result of the thorough conviction
of his mind, founded upon a careful and patient atten-
tion to all the evidence,” he pronounced against the
plaintiff’s legitimacy *.

The Law of Adulterine Bastardy has thus, it appears,
undergone two important changes, without the interven-
tion of any Act of the Legislature ; and the principle of
“ certainty,” upon which it formerly proceeded, and
which the great lawyers of past ages considered it
sound wisdom to uphold, no longer exists. Until the
year 1717, that principle was so rigidly acted upon,
that a child born in wedlock could not be bastardized,
unless the parties were separated by a sentence of di-
vorce, by evidence of the husband’s émpotency, or of his
absence from the realm, when it was begotten. But as
reason and common sense showed that it might be as
impossible physically and morally, in many cases for the
husband to have begotten the child as if he had been
beyond the seas, the maxim of the * quatuor maria,”
fell into desuetude. Had the alteration rested here, and
had the Courts continued to demand conclusive and
irresistible evidence of the impossibility of the husband’s
being the father, and always presumed sexual intercourse
to have taken place, whenever the local situation of the

LT+

' pp. 237, 238, antea.
T ppe 241, 242, anlea.



( 281 )

parties rendered it possible’, the confusion and contradic- Iﬁi::ﬁ
tion which have since prevailed would have been avoided. ~——

The next and most important innovation was to allow
the presumption of sexual intercourse to be rebutted by
whatever evidence a Court or Jury may consider sufficient
to prove that it did not take place, at a time when, if it
had occurred, the person whose status is in dispute, might
have been the fruit of such intercourse; and which, to
judge from recent decisions, i1s now the Law on the
subject.

[t has been said that the last alteration in the Law of
Adulterine Bastardy was caused by the decision of the
claim to the Banbury Peerage®; but there dees not ap-
pear to be any instance in which that case has been made
a precedent, and Lord Lyndhurst considered the opinion
of the Judges on that occasion to have laid down no new
principle. There cannot, however, be a doubt that the
tendency of the Banbury decision is still further to relax
the ancient principle of requiring the most conclusive
evidence of impossibility, before the legal presumption of
sexual intercourse having taken place between married
persons can be destroyed ; and some observations will
be submitted with the view of showing the inexpediency
of deviating n the slightest degree from the Law as it
was admirably laid down by Lord Ellenborough in the
King and Luffe, an exposition which alike avoided the
occasional absurdity that attended the rule of the “ qua-
tuor maria,” and the danger and confusion which must
arise from admitting probabilities of any kind, and of
any degree of strength, into questions of this nature.

In matters which depend entirely upon the feelings,
the experience of ages, and the legal principles which

! Bee the cases of Smythe and Chamberlain, in 1792, and Routledge and
Curruthers, in 1806.
* Edinburgh Review, vol. XCVI1I, p- 204,
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that experience may have produced, can rarely be neg-
lected with safety. Human nature varies little; and
the ditference is in no instance less perceptible, than in
the motives and actions which arise from, or which
are connected with passions common to all. For these
reasons, the Law of Legitimacy which has prevailed for
centuries in every civilized country of Europe, must be
supposed to be based upon a profound knowledge of
mankind. However much Jurists may have differed
upon other points, they have agreed in considering that
the interests of society were best promoted by making
legitimacy the necessary and unquestionable consequence
of marriage. Greatly as they may have relied upon
human sagacity on many subjects, upon this they have
always distrusted it; and it has been therefore the
policy of all legislators to render a question of so much
delicacy and uncertainty, which involves in its decision
the pure fame of one of the parties, the inheritance of
the other, and probably the happiness of both, which
may cause the son to look upon his mother as the author
of his shame, and thus break asunder the most beautiful
moral tie by which society is united, dependent not upon
opinions or inferences, but upon plain, definite, and sub-
stantive facts. Hence have been derived the universal
legal presumption in favour of legitimacy, the ancient
rule of English Law, of “ the four seas,” and the prin-
ciple of requiring evidence that it was actually impos-
sible for the husband to have been the real father of his
wife’s offspring.

But the entire policy of a Law which has stood the
test of ages, and received the suffrages of Jurists of all
countries, becomes changed, if the legitimacy of a child
born in wedlock can be shaken by any presumptions or
inferences whatsoever, in cases where it was possible for
the husband to have had sexual intercourse with its
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mother at the time when it was engendered. By the l‘i'ileneraﬁ_
Law as it is now understood, the possibility, not to say Gt
probability, of such intercourse, may give way to any
circumstances which a Jury may think sufficient to
prove that it did not take place. The effect of this
alteration in the Law is to produce a state of inevitable
confusion and contradiction, not only in the verdicts of
Juries, but even in the rules laid down by Judges for
their guidance. Of this remark the case of Morris
and Davis 1s a striking illustration. Two Juries came
to an immediately opposite conclusion upon nearly the
same evidence ; and a third Jury were unable to agree
upon a verdict. The Law, as it was stated by one of
the Judges, does not coincide with the opinion of the
other, whilst the judgment of one of the most learned
persons that ever presided in a court of justice, to whose
decision the case was left for the purpose of avoiding the
expense of a fouwrth trial, is to be the subject of an ap-
peal to the House of Lords ! Although Judges have in
recent times occasionally differed in their views respecting
the Law of Adulterine Bastardy, they have always agreed
that the evidence must exclude  probabilities.” Except
in cases of physical incapacity or separation, the proof
that a husband did not have nuptial intercourse with his
wife, can rarely, if ever, consist of any other evidence
than a variety of circumstances, which, when considered
with relation to each other, and to the usual feelings
that actuate mankind, may raise such a presumption ;
but the process of arriving at that conclusion is little else
than to *“ balance of probabilities.”

Let the entire series of cases of this kind from the
earliest period until the Banbury decision be examined,
and no precedent will be found of any cause having
been the subject of four trials. It is therefore evi-
dent that such doubts and difficulties ashave occasioned
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the multiplied trials of Morris and Davis were unknown
so long as the Law required evidence of absolute impos-
sibility ; and until it shall have returned to the same in-
telligible rule, questions of suspected illegitimacy will
only cease to be litigated when the parties interested
in the result have exhausted their pecuniary resources.
In the absence of one general and comprehensive prin-
ciple, every case must be one of a special nature, and
be more or less a matter of opinion; and perhaps in
no other instance will the conclusions which different
Judges and Juries may form upon similar evidence be
so contradictory as upon the occurrence or non-occur-
rence of nuptial intercourse. A man and his wife may
have quarrelled, or the incompatibility of their tempers
may have caused them to separate, yet if they could have
had, and a fortiori, if they did have access to each
other, the probability that sexual connexion took place
at those interviews, will depend more upon the tem-
perament of the parties, the personal attractions of
the woman, and the allurements which she may have
employed, than upon any other circumstances whatever.
Upon points like these what Court or Jury can ever pos-
sess accurate information? DBy what standard 1s the
extent of sexual desire to be ascertained, which may in-
duce one individual to forget his resentment or his
wrongs, and to yield to the temptation of the moment,
whilst by another the temptation is either resisted or un-
felt? That which is highly probable in one man may be
highly improbable in another, m consequence of the dif-
ference in their constitutions, or in their habits of moral
restraint ; and instances are not unknown, in which the
accidental meeting of a husband with his wife, from whom
he was separated on account of her infidelity, has caused
him to yield to a sudden mmpulse of passion, m which all
sense of duty and propriety was swept away. It has been

Pl
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Justly remarked, that whenever this has happened, it ’ﬁ:::;l:b
usually terminated the separation: but such is not the ——
necessary consequence. Reflection and remorse are the
immediate attendants on improper indulgence ; and the
original causes of the separation would re-appear in their
true colours, as soon as the tumult of passion had sub-
sided. Those only will deny the probability of this
statement, who have never been exposed to temptation,
or whose desires are happily of that cool and obedient
character, as to be always subject to the dictates of
reason.

If these observations be well-founded, they teach
that there is no other certain principle, no other method
of preventing litigation upon points which involve the
most sacred feelings, as well as the property of society,
than to adhere stedfastly and inflexibly to a rule which
has been sanctioned by the wisdom and usages of cen-
turies, of not allowing a child born in marriage to be
bastardized, except upon conclusive and irrvesistible evi-
dence, as a matter of fact, that the husband could not by
any possibility have begotten it.

Against this argument it will be urged, that it is
repugnant to the moral feelings to allow the fruits of an
adulterous connexion to be clothed with the rights of
legitimacy, and to succeed to the inheritance of an in-
jured husband. Some observations upon this subject
will be found in other parts of the volume ; and it need
only here be remarked, that it is a mistaken philosophy,
and an Utopian view of society, which would make
every question of law and morals dependent upon its
own intrinsic merits, rather than upon general principles,
or which imagines that any code of jurisprudence can be
framed —that the utmost degree of perfectibility of
which 1t is susceptible,—can provide for every indivi-
dual wrong, or that it must not necessarily and inevit-
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ably consent to purchase extensive and important advan-
tages, by tolerating, in occasional instances, moral in-
justice.

A few words must be added upon a suggestion which
has been made for arriving at something like certainty
in cases of disputed legitimacy. It has been proposed
to make the concealment of the children of a married
woman from her husband, the test of legitimacy, even
i cases where proof of the adultery of the mother could
not be given, because it is said that concealment to which
the mother is a party, includes proof that the child is
the offspring of an adulterous intercourse'. Before ad-
ducing reasons to show that this argument is not well
founded, it is right to state it in its author’s own words.
After alluding to the Banbury case, and concluding that
the decision that the claimant’s ancestor was illegitimate
was founded solely upon Lord Banbury’s never having
acknowledged the child®, or admitted the paternity, by
treating it as his son, the writer says, “ It is the con-
“ cealment which we would take as the test of illegiti-
“ macy; and in our opinion it is unnecessary to say, ‘con-
cealment coupled with proof of adultery,” because we
think concealment, to which the mother is a party, in-
“ cludes proof that the child is the offspring of an adul-
“ terous mtercourse. For that a mother should, for any
other reasons, conceal the birth of a child, appears so
improbable, so utterly repugnant to all feelings of na-
ture, and especially of woman’s nature, that we may
safely reject such a presumption as impossible. We

[
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“ must be careful, however, to distinguish between con-

“ cealment and non-recognition. It is by no meansimpro-

“ bable, that the husband, from jealousy or suspicion of

! Edinburgh Review, vol. XCVIIL. p. 207.
* The Earl’s recognition of the child was sworn to by the witnesses, in
161,
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“ his wife’s infidelity, might be induced to repudiate, or EE"W:
. : i emarks,
“ refuse to recognise and acknc}w]edge the child as his “——

“ own. The fear of having a spurious offspring palmed

“ upon him, might make him act as if he believed he
“ had no issue at all ; and therefore proof of adultery
“ and non-recognition are not alone sufficient to rebut
“ the presumption of legitimacy, provided there has been
“ a possibility of access. It must be proved that the
“ birth of the child has been concealed from the husband;
“ that it has been born and treated under circumstances
““ which clearly show that he wasin total ignorance of its
“ existence ; and if this be done to the satisfaction of a
“ jury, we conceive that they will be justified in pre-
“ suming that there has been no sexual intercourse be-
“ tween the husband and wife, the result of which could
“ be the birth of that child. This appears to us to be a
“ rule which may be safely applied to all those questions
“ of paternity which cannot be determined by proof of
“ impotence, or physical non-access ; and it seems to us
“ to combine as much precision as can be expected,
“ when we admit the prineiple of receiving moral evi-
“ dence. It accords, too, with the justice of the case;
“ for a child born and reared under the circumstances
“ we have supposed, is brought up to no expectations—
“ he does not look upon himself as the representative
“ of his mother’s husband, nor as the heir to his titles
“ or estates; he 1s deprived of no inheritance, for
“ the property of the family is enjoyed by the ac-
“ knowledged heir. While, on the other hand, the
“ greatest injustice is done in destroying the title of
“ those who, perhaps for a long series of years, have
“ been in undisturbed possession; and by suffering the
“ invasion of one who has always believed himself to

“ be ¢lord of his presence and no land beside,"—who,
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“ at best, is reconciled to his obscurity and depriva-
“ tions by having known no better state '.”

An important fact which tends to destroy the whole
force of this statement, so far at least as concealment
18 conclusive evidence that there had been no sexual
intercourse between the husband and wife, has been
overlooked. There are many circumstances which
might induce a vicious wife and depraved mother
to affiliate her husband’s child to another person, or
to conceal from him the knowledge of its existence.
If, for example, whilst cohabiting with her husband
she had an adulterous connexion with another man,
she may be uncertain to which of them the infant
owed its paternity; and it is not unreasonable to
suppose that her affection for her paramour, would
make her anxious to persuade hoth him and her-
self that he was the real father of the child. A re-
gard for her own character and the accomplishment
of her object would equally cause her to keep her hus-
band in ignorance of her delivery, and yet the infant
may have been actually engendered by him® Con-

I Edinburgh Review, vol, XCVIL. p. 207.

* This point is extremely well expressed in the following extract from the
Law Magazine, vol. 1V, pp. 41, 42:

“ It stands from the Bunbury Peerage case, that presumption of legitimacy
may be rebutted by physical evidence preving, or by moral evidence rendering
probable, the contrary, Mr, Phillips is, therefore, justified in laying down as
a doctrine to be extracted from this case, that the Jury may not only take
into consideration proofs tending to show the physical impossibility of the
child born in wedlock being legitimate ; but they may decide the question of
paternity by attending to tie relative situation of the parties, their habits of
life, the evidence of conduct, and of declarations connected with conduet,
and to every induction which reason suggests for determining upon the pro-
Labilities of the case [ Law of Evidence, vol, 1L, p. 2688], Such a Law has
at least the disadvantages of uncertainty, and of holding out strong en-
couragement to fraud and perjury. To what evils it may hereafter give
rise, we do not venture to predict. But of one thing we are sure, that i
puts in peril the legitimacy of every child who may have the misfortune to
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cealment on the part of the wife might also arise from a ficlmrﬂi
' CIMArKs.
desire to be revenged upon her husband for some real —F -

or imaginary wrong by disappointing his hopes of an
heir. It may likewise be caused by a bribe having
been given to the mother by the husband’s relations, who,
in the event of his dying without issue, would succeed to
his property. These suppositions certainly proceed upon
the presumption that there may be unnatural mothers ;
but though happily such monsters are rare, they are by
no means unknown.

It has always been the object of the Law of Legiti-
macy, as well on the Continent! as in England, to

spring from an adulteress. It needs no ghost to teach as that such a woman
will rather ascribe the paternity of her offspring to a favoured lover than to o
detestable hushand. She will try to believe it so, and communicate the belief
to her paramour. He is not unlikely to be flattered and pleased by the in-
telligence, and may be anxious to possess himself of the child from birth, to
rear and educate as his own. DBut this is impossible without concealment.
A secret confinement is resolved on, and the child conveyed away at once,
and placed under the adulterer’s care. It cannot be denied that this child
is bastardized by the new Law. Yet he possibly, may be equally legitimate
with the most chastely descended Peer who condemns him."

! In the very remarkable case of De Pont, given by Mr. Le Marchant, in
the Appendix to the Report of the Gardner Peerage, p. 501, in which the Court
acted upon the legal presumption against the strongest probabilities, because
there was no evidence to show the impossibility, the Counsel said : “ The
testimony of the witnesses is not of sufficient weight to defeat the maxim of
‘ pater est quem nuptie demonstrant.” Nothing but absolute physical im-
possibility of the husband being the father can bastardize a child born in
wedlock. Moral impossibility is too vague and indefinite to be admissible ;
it is founded entirely on circumstances, and the effect of these circumstances
may be different upon different minds. The object of the Law has been to
lay down a rule which is wholly independent of individual discretion, and
not to expose the judgment of the Court to the sophisms or the uncertainties
which must attend such a discussion. Physical impossibility is the safest rule
that human ingenuity could devise for this purpose, and it has been invariably
adopted by our tribunals.”

The Law on the subject of Legitimacy in the Code Napoleon is as follows :

Art. 312, * L’Enfant congu pendant le mariage a pour pere le man.
Néanmoins celui-ci pourra désavouer 'enfant, s'il prouve que, pendant le
temps qui a courru depuis le trois-centieme jusqu’au cent-quatre-vingtieme

T *
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prevent the status of the child of a married woman from
being affected by the conduct of any person after it is
born. Its birth is a fact capable of proof, but its engen-
dure can never be positively ascertained ; hence the adop-
tion of a maxim which protected the rights of children
born in wedlock from being destroyed by the caprice, the
depravity, or the folly of their parents. Any test of legi-
timacy which depends upon the conduct of others is
therefore at variance with the fundamental principle of
the Law of Legitimacy. For these reasons concealment
cannot be considered conclusive evidence of bastardy, or
even of the mother’s adultery, though it will form a

strong feature in every case, so long as any evidence is
admitted to rebut the established maxim that pater est
quem nuptie demonstrant, other than evidence to show
the impossibility of the husband’s having begotten the
child.

Whether the Courts will again adopt and adhere to
“ that plain sensible maxim™ is perhaps doubtful ; butit
is confidently submitted, that human wisdom has not yet
discovered any rule of Law on this subject which has
produced more practical benefit to morals, or tended so
much to the interests, security, and repose of society.

jour avant la naissance de cet enfant, il était, soit par cause d’éloignement,
soit par 'effet de quelque aceident, dans I'impossibilité physique de cohabiter
avee sa femme.

Art. 313, Le mari ne pourra, en alléguant son impuissance naturelle,
désavouer 'enfant : il ne pourra le désavouer méme pour cause d’adultére i
moins que la naissance ne lui ait été eachée, auquel cas, il sera admis i pro-
poser tous les faits propres i justifier qu'il n'en pas le pére,”
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Stk Winrniam Knorrys, Earl of Banbury, the se- Case of

; A o . the Earld
cond son of Sir Francis Knollys, k. 6., by Katherine, ;0000

daughter of William Carey, esq., sister of the Earl of e
Hunsdon, was born about the year 1547. His eldest
brother, Henry Knollys, died in vita patris, leaving two
daughters, Elizabeth and Lettice, his co-heirs, and by
the inquisition taken on the death of Sir Francis Knollys,
it was found that he died on the 19th of July 1596 ; that
his said two grand-daughters were his heirs; and that
his son, William Knollys, was his heir male, and then
fifty years of age and upwards. The inquisition also
found that Sir Franeis Knollys was seised of the manor
of Rotherfield Greys, in the county of Oxford, which he
held under letters patent of Henry VIII., confirmed by
two statutes, one of the 32nd and the other of the 37th
Hen. VIIIL., to him and the heirs male of his body, to-
gether with the manors of Choleey and Caversham, in
Berkshire, and of other lands ; that by an mdenture dated
on the 11th of March, 37th Elz. 1595, he had settled
the manors of Caversham and Cholcey on himself for
life, with remainder to his sons William, Robert, Richard,
Francis, and Thomas, and the heirs male of their bodies
respectively, for the “ continuance of the said lands in
the name and blood of Knollys.”

Sir William Knollys was created Baron Knollys of
Greys on the 13th of May, 1st Jac. I. 1603 ; Viscount of
Wallingford on the 7th of November, 14th Jac. 1. 1616 ;
and Earl of Banbury on the 18th of August, 2nd Car. 1.
1626, with limitation of all the said dignities to him and
the heirs male of his body. The patent of the Earldom

U 2




Case nf

the Farldom
of Banbury,

1 G246,

e

=l

£ 259 )

stated that his Majesty intended to have raised him to
that dignity at his coronation, and to have placed him
first of the Earls then created ; butin consequence of his
dangerous illness, his Majesty had resolved to wait until
a more convenient time. The King therefore granted to
him and the heirs male of his body, the title and dignity
of Earl of Banbury, with precedence next after Francis
Earl of Westmoreland, and next before Henry Earl of
Manchester, notwithstanding any other patent before
made to the contrary.

Although Lord Banbury, then Lord Knollys, was
seised of the manor of Rotherfield Greys as heir male of
his father, under the patent and statutes of Henry the
Eighth, he obtained a re-grant of that manor from James
the First, on the 16th of April 1610, to hold to him and
Lady Elizabeth his wife, and the heirs male of his body,
m default of which, to the heirs male of the body of Sir
Francis Knollys, his late father ; and on the 6th of De-
cember, 19th Jac. I. 1621, it was again granted to him
and his wife, to hold during their natural lives, and for the
life of the survivor of them, with remamder, after the de-
cease of both, to the heirs male of us body, failing which,
to the heirs male of the body of Sir Francis Knollys, his
late father. On the 8th of February, 20th Jac. I. 1623,
the King granted to William Viscount Wallingford, and
Lady Elizabeth his wife, and the heirs male of the body
of Sir Francis Knollys, knight, deceased, late father of
the aforesaid Viscount Wallingford and of Katherine
his wife, likewise deceased, mother of the said William
Viscount Wallingford, betwzen them lawfully begotten,
the manors of Choleey ', Whitley, Hackborne, and Aston
Upthorpe, in the county of Berks, the lordship or late
preceptory of Sampford, in the county of Oxford, the
manors of Horspath, Church Cowley, Temple Cowley,

! This manor was granted to Sir Francis Knollys, and the heirs male of
his body, by patent, in the 6th Eliz. 1546.
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Littlemore, and Essingdon, in the same county, and Case of

‘ . i e the Earldom

Cheriton, in the county of Wilts, late parcel of the pos- of Baubury,
# E ; . : ’ ; 333
sessions of the dissolved monasteries of Reading, Ciren- il

cester, and St. John of Jerusalem, and also the manor of
Rotherfield Greys, in the county of Oxford, late in the
tenure of John Russell. The King further granted to
the aforesaid William Viscount Wallingford, and Eliza-
beth his wife, and the heirs male of the body of the said
William Viscount Wallingford, and in defaunlt of such
issue, to Francis Knollys, knight, brother of the afore-
said William Viscount Wallingford, and Lettice his wife,
and the heirs male of the body of the said Francis Knollys,
the brother, and in default of such issue, to the heir
male of the body of the aforesaid Francis Knollys, by
Katherine his wife (the father and mother of the said
William Viscount Wallingford and Franeis Knollys the
brother), between them lawfully begotten, all the park
of Whitley, in the county of Berks'.

The Earl of Banbury married, first, Dorothy, daughter
of Edmund Lord Bray, and widow of Edmund Lord
Chandos, who died in October 1605, by whom he had
no issue; and on the 23rd of December in the same year,
at which time he was about fifty-eight years of age, he
executed a settlement before his marriage with Lady Eliza-
beth Howard, eldest daughter of Thomas Earl of Suffolk,
which lady was ithen little more than nineteen years old.

A mistake appears to have hitherto prevailed re-
specting the age of Lady Banbury, which it is neces-
sary to correct, because deductions have been drawn
from it, of material consequence with respect to the
legitimacy of her children. It has been supposed that
she was born in the year 1583, in consequence of the
inscription to her memory in Dorking church stating,
that she died on the 17th of April 1658, at the age of

" ' Printed Evidence, pp- 178-191,
U 3
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seventy-five'. But there seems to have been an error
of nearly three years in that statement; for as the
Countess was baptized on the 11th of August 15867
her birth probably took place only a very short time
previous to that date, it being then the custom to baptize
children on the same day, or at the farthest, three or
four days after they were born.

By the Earl’s marriage-settlement he covenanted to
levy a fine, before the 13th of February next ensuing, of
the manors of Caversham, and Cholcey, in Berkshire, to
vest them in trustees to the use of himself and the said
Lady Elizabeth Howard, and of the heirs male of their
bodies, in default of which, to the ‘use of the heirs male
of the body of Sir Francis Knollys, his late father, in
default of which, to the use of his own right heirs®.

Parliament met, for the first time after Lord Banbury’s
creation, on the 17th of March, 3rd Car. 1., 1628,and in
the list of Peers in the Journals, his name occurs between
that of the Earl of Westmoreland and of the Earl of Berk-
shire ; but he was not present on that day®. On the
22nd of March there was a call of the House; and it 1s
stated that ¢ the Earl of Banbury hath leave to be ab-
sent, and will send his proxy;”
“ the House being moved to take into their consideration
whether the precedency granted to the Earl of Bunbury,
before some other of ancienter creation, were not preju-

and on the same day,

1 ¢ Jacet sub hoc marmore noblissimum par conjugum pariter el aman-
tissimum Edwardus Vaux Baro de Harrowden et Elizabetha qua ex illus-
i Suffoleienci prosapia oriunda vidua fuerat relicta Gulielmi Knoles Comitis
de Banbury : Diem obiit illa suam decimo quinto calendas Aprilis anno salutis
mundi millessimo sexcentesimo quinquagesimo octave et atatis sue sepluagesi-
mo gquinto ille vero suum clausit sexto idus Septembris aono ab incarnato
Domino millesimo sexcentessimo sexagessimo primo et mtatis sum septua-
gessimo quarto pie’ obierunt mundo vivantque in @ternum Deo.”

? Extract from the Parish Register of Safiron Walden, in the county of
Essex : “ August 11th, 1586, Elizabeth, the daughter of the Right honour-
able Lord Thomas Howard, baptized.”

3 Printed Evidence, pp- 6, et seq.

4 Lords' Journals, 111. GBG.
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dicial to the rights and inheritance of the Peers of this

Case of
the Earldom

Kingdom, it is referved to the Committee for Privileges, of Banbury,

&e., to consider thereof, and report their opinions to the
House!.”

On the 28th of March the Earl Marshal reported, that
“ the Committee for Privileges, &c., had considered whe-
ther the precedency granted to the Earl of Banbury, by
the King’s late letters patents, before other Earls of an
ancienter creation, might be prejudicial to the rights and
nheritance of the Peers of this Kingdom, the considera-
tion whereof was referred unto them, per ordinem, 220
Martii ; and his Lordship showed that the said Commit-
tee (to inform themselves of the rights of the Peers
herein) did peruse the statute of 31 Hen. VIII., for
placing and ranking of the Lords; and they perused
the roll also itself; and they do find the law to be full
and clear, that all Lords are to be placed and ranked
according to the antiquities of their creations, as it is
contained in the said statute, and that the said pre-
cedency granted to the said Earl of Banbury is directly
contrary to that statute, The said Earl Marshal further
reported, that whilst the said Committee were i debate
hereof, it pleased the King’s Majesty to send a gracious
message (by the Earl of Dorset), showing the occasion
of his granting the said precedency to the said Earl;
and his Majesty’s desire to the House, that this Earl,
being old and childless, might enjoy it during his time,
and promising never hereafter to occasion the like dis-
pute, &e., as is contained in the said message. And his
Lordship signified to the House, that the said Commit-
tee do think it fit that this request of his Majesty be so
taken into consideration, that He may receive satisfac-
tion, without prejudice to the Peers in general, or to any
man's right in particular. This report ended, the clerk

t Lords’ Journals, 111. p. 696.
U 4
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read the King’s message, delivered to the said Commit-
tee by the Earl of Dorset, which followeth, in hwc
verba ; videlicet, ¢ His Majesty, having understood how
that your Lordships (zealous in the preservation of your
rights and ranks) have made question of a precedency
lately granted unto the Earl of Banbury, before some
other of the like degree, whose patents bear a primary
date, hath commanded me to let you know, that it never
was his intention to innovate anything in that kind, or,
by that particular creation, to win any power, contrary to
law or ancient custom, in matter of placing any one before
the other. But the truth is, that his excellent Majesty,
having resolved to confer that dignity on that noble gen-
tleman at the same time with the other, then advanced, he,
being the first in quality of them, was consequently to
have had the first creation; but, being at that time
casually forgotten, and his Majesty afterwards remem-
bered of him, he did but assign that rank, which at first
was intended, without the least thought of injuring any
in the present, or ever to do the like in future. And to
conclude, I have further in charge to let you know, that
his Majesty desires this may pass for once in this parti-
cular, considering how old a man this Lord is, and child-
less, so that he may enjoy it during his time ; with this
assurance, that his Majesty will never more occasion the
like dispute, but allow degrees to be marshalled accord-
ing to the statute in that behalf.’

“ This message being read, and the Act itself, made
in the Parhiament of 31 Hen, VIIL., for placing of the
Lords, being also read, upon full and deliberate hearing,
and examining every part of the said Act in open House,
their Lordships did adjudge and declare the said Act of
31 Hen. VIIIL. to be full and direct, in every point, to
enjoin every Peer, upon new creation, to have place ac-
cording to the time of his creation and date of his letters
patent, and no otherwise ; and every other ancient Peer

%
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to hold his place according to his antiquity and creation,
and no otherwise ; unless it be in case of such persons,
and in such places, as the said Act doth particularly
mention',”

On the 31st of March “ the Lords were put in mind
of the King’s desire touching the Earl of Banbury’s pre-
cedency ; whereupon the Lords’” Committees for Privi-
leges, &e. were appointed to treat with those Lords
whom it doth concern in particular, and to accommodate
the same ; and those Lords whom it doth concern, and
who are now in town, to be at the said Committee for
Privileges at three this afternoon, and to be treated with
therein : and those Lords who are absent to be treated
with when they come®” On the 2nd April the Earl
Marshal reported, that according to the direction of this
House (31" Martii ultimo preeterito), the Lords’ Com-
mittees for Privileges, &c. had treated with divers of the
Earls who are mterested in the precedency granted to the
Earl of Banbury; and these Lords undernamed had
given their answers concerning the same ; videlicet, the
Earl of Berks’ answer 1s, out of his duty to the King,
and in regard of his gracious message, and also out of
particular respects to myLord of Banbury (not coneluding
any other), he is willing to yield him the place as now
he stands during the Earl of Banbury’s life. The Earl
of Cleveland, for his answer, to give precedency to the
Earl of Banbury in the Parliament House, desires respite
till this day sevennight; in any other place, out of re-
spect to the King’s Majesty’s desire, lis Lordship s
willing to give him place during his life. The Earl of
Monmouth is contented to give the precedency to the
Earl of Banbury, during the said Earl’s life, in the Par-
liament Housze, as now his name 1s entered. The Earl
of Norwich, by authority which he hath from the Earl

I Lords' Journals, 111.703. 2 lbid. p. 705,
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of Danby, by a particular letter, saith, that the said
Earl of Danby is content, out of a dutiful respect to
his Majesty’s request to the House, to yield the prece-
dency to the Earl of Banbury’s person only, during his
life, in the Parliament House, as now he is entered.
The Earl of Manchester (being then present in the House,
and Lord President of the Council) said, that, in con-
templation of his Majesty’s desire (and yet preserving
his own right), he is willing that place be given to the
Earl of Banbury during his own life only. Hereupon
the House conceived this order to expedite this business ;
videlicet, * The Lords’ Committees for Privileges, &c. are
to proceed to accommodate this business referred unto
them, touching the precedency of the Earl of Banbury ;
and, by letters or otherwise, to treat with those Lords
(whom it doth concern) who have not yet given their
answers ; and the said Committee is to use all expedition
herein to give his Majesty satisfaction, and to report
their answers, and to conceive a concluding order there-
upon, and offer it to the House'.” "’

On the 7th of Apnl “ the Earl of Clare moved the
House, to expedite the business concerning the prece-
dency of the Earl of Banbury; and signified that the
Earl of Totness doth give his consent thereto, during the
Earl of Banbury’s life only, in respect of the King’s
desire ; so that now there resteth only the Earls of Mul-
grave and Marlborough to be treated with herein: where-
upon the Duke * promised to speak with the Earl of Marl-
borough herein, and to signify his answer to the House ;
and the Earl Marshal proffered to write to the Earl of
Mulgrave, which were agreed on. Then the Earl of
Cleveland, who in his former answer (2" Aprilis) desired
respite touching the Earl of Banbury’s precedency in
this House, did now this day declare his consent therein

! Lords’ Journals, 111. 708.
# Duke of Buckingham, Lord High Admiral.
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also, as well as in all other places, out of his Lordship’s
respect unto his Majesty’s desire 1.

On the 9th of April “ the Earl Marshal signified
unto the House, that the Earl of Mulgrave is contented
to give precedency to the Earl of Banbury, during the
said Earl's life only, according to the King’s desire. The
Lord Admiral signified that the Earl of Marlborough, Lord
Treasurer, made no scruple in giving his consent also®.”

On the next day the following entry occurs on the
Journals: “ Hodie, 12 et 22 vice lecta est, the order
conceived by the Lords’ Committees for Privileges, con-
cerning the precedency granted by his Majesty unto the
Earl of Banbury before divers other Lords of an ancienter
creation. This was first approved by the Earl Marshal,
and, being twice read, put to the question and generally
assented unto. The which order followeth in haec verba ;
videlicet, ¢ The order touching the Earl of Banbury :—
The Lords m this Parliament having understood by
the Lords” Committees for the Privileges of the House,
that they are clearly of opinion, the Act of Parliament
31 Hen. VIIL is most strong and plain for the settling
the precedency of the Peers, according to their ancienty
and times of creation, have, upon full and deliberate
hearing and examining the said Act in every point, in
open House, adjudged, and do adjudge and declare, the
said Act of Parhament of 31 Hen. VIII. to be full and
direct in the point, to enjoin every Peer, upon new cre-
ation, to have place according to the time of his creation,
and date of his letters patents, and no otherwise, and
every other ancient Peer to hold his place according to
his antiquity and creation, and no otherwise, unless it
be in case of such persons, and in such places, as the
said Act doth particularly mention. And whereas his
Majesty was pleased to send a gracious message (o this

I Lords’ Journals, 11T, 715, * [hid. p. T32.
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House, to let us know that it was never his intention to
innovate anything in this kind, or by that particular crea-
tion to win any power, contrary to law or ancient cus-
tom, in matter of placing any one before the other; but
that his Majesty having resolved to confer that dignity
on that noble person at the same time with the other
then advanced, he, being the first in quality of them,
was consequently to have had the first creation ; but
being at that time casually forgotten, and his Majesty
afterwards remembered of him, he did but assign him
that rank which at first was intended, without the least
thought of injuring any in the present, or ever to do the
like in future. As also his Majesty desired this might
pass for once in this particular, considering how old a
man this Lord is, and childless, so that he may enjoy it
during hig time, with this assurance, that his Majesty
will never more occasion the like dispute, but allow de-
grees to be marshalled according to the statute in that
behalf. The Lords do give his Majesty very humble
and hearty thanks for his princely care to satisfy this
House of his clear intention, and are contented (the
Lords particularly interested in the precedency having
first given their consents) that the said Earl may held
the same place as he now stands entered for his life
only, and that place of precedency not to go to his
heirs ; with this proviso, that it shall not i the least
degree be brought into example, to prejudice the un-
doubted right of the Peers, according to the full judg-
ment pronounced ; and with solemn protestation, that as
his Majesty hath been pleased to promise he will never
in the future seek to break the precedency settled ac-
cording to the antiquity of the creation in any sort, so
the Lords will never, upon any occasion hereafter, give
way to any precedency, though but for hife, or temporary,

in any point impugning or contradicting this judgment,
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grounded upon the foresaid statute, delivered upon so
great and sound deliberation and advice, with a general
consent, which they have caused to be entered and en-
rolled, and shall be read at the beginning of every
Session, in the open House, amongst the Orders.’

““ The Earl of Dorset was appointed to render the
thanks mentioned in this Order unto lis Majesty 1.”

On the 15th of Apnl 1628, “ William Earl of Ban-
bury was brought into the House in his Parliament
robes, between the Earls of Suffolk and Sarum, (as the
manner is) and placed next to the Earl of Berks®.”

On the 3rd of November, 5th Car. . 16293, the Earl
of Banbury executed an indenture between himself and
Lady Elizabeth his wife, on the one part, and Henry Earl of
Holland,and Edward Lord Vaux, on the other part, which
witnessed, that ¢ in consideration of the love and affec-
tion which he (the Earl of Banbury) beareth unto the
said Lady Elizabeth his wife, having been always unto
him a good and loving wife,” and to the intent that the
manor of Caversham might be settled on the said Lady
Elizabeth and her heirs, to the proper use of her and her
heirs, as of the free gift of the Earl, for her better liveli-
hood and advancement, and for the better support of the
estate and dignity which she enjoveth by her marriage
with the said Earl, in case she should happen to survive
him, the said Earl and his wife agreed with the Earl of
Holland and Lord Vaux to levy a fine, before the end of
Hilary Term next ensuing, to them of the manor of
Caversham, with all its appurtenances, in the counties
of Oxford and Berks, to the use of the said Earl of Ban-
bury and the Lady Elizabeth his wife, and of their heirs,
and of the heir of the survivor of them for ever; and the
Earl acreed that if lus said wife survived him, she and
her heirs and assigns should hold and enjoy the said
manor, &c.

V Lords' Journals, 111, T34. 2 [hid, p. 739,
= f”iuh-fIlfdfnrn p?.]?,frnﬂ.
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The Earl of Banbury made his will on the 19th of May,
6 Car. 1., 1630, by which he ordered his body to be
buried in his chapel at Greys, in such manner as his
executrix should direct: he gave to his servant Jerome
Read 100/ ; to his servant Thomas Blackwall and his
now wife 50/, ; and all the rest of his goods and chattels
not before disposed of by that will, or by deed formerly
by him made, he gave and devised “unto his dearly
beloved wife, Elizabeth Countess of Banbury,” whom he
made “the sole and only executrix” of his will. The
witnesses were Theophilus Earl of Suffolk, his wife’s
brother, James Westone, Jerome Read, and Henry
Pyzane.!

In Michaelmas Term, 6 Car. I., November 1630, the
Earl and Countess of Banbury levied a fine of the manor
of Cholcey to the Earl of Holland, to the use of the Earl
and Countess of Banbury for their lives, and after their
decease to the sole use of the Earl of Holland and his
heirs?®,

On the 1st of March, 6 Car. I., 16313, the Earl and
Countess of Banbury obtained the King’s licence to
alienate the manor of Rotherfield Greys to Sir Robert
Knollys, to hold to him and his heirs and assigns for
ever; and on the 4th of that month an indenture?
was executed between the Earl and Countess on the one
part, and the said Sir Robert Knollys on the other, which
witnessed that it had been concluded and agreed that
the Earl and Countess should levy a fine, before the feast
of the Ascension next ensuing, to the said Sir Robert,
of the manor of Rotherfield Greys, with its appurtenances,
and that he and his heirs should be seised thereof of a
good and lawful estate, as it was to them granted in the
premises by certain letters patent, dated on the 8th of

I Printed Evidence, p. 109.
? Inquisition, 9 Car. I.—Printed Evidence, p. 22,
3 Ihid, p. 191. 4 Ihid. pp. 143, et seq.
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February, 20 Jac. I, 1623. A fine was accordingly
levied by them'; and on the 28th of June, 7 Car. L,
1631%, Sir Robert Knollys obtained letters patent from
the King, granting the said manor to him, and his heirs
and assigns®,

On the 20th of April, 7 Car. L., 16317 an indenture
was executed between the Earl and Countess of Banbury
on the one part; Edward Lord Howard of Eserick, and
Sir William Howard, Knight of the Bath, of the second
part’; and Henry Goodwyn® and Edward Wilkinson,
gentlemen, of the third part; by which it was agreed
that the Earl and Countess should levy a fine of the
manor of Caversham before the feast of the Nativity of
Saint John the Baptist next ensuing, to the use of the
Earl and his wife, and their heirs, and the heirs of the
survivor of them. A fine was accordingly levied in
Easter Term in that year.

Nothing more is known of the Earl of Banbury until
April 1632, on the 30th of which month an indenture
was executed between Sir George Whitmore, Lord Mayor
of London, Martin Bond, esq., and William Gibson,
merchant tailor, on the one part, and the Earl and
Countess of Banbury, on the other part, by which Sir

\ Printed Evidence, p. 147. ? Ihid. p. 195.

3 Sir Robert Knollys surrendercd the manor of Rotherfield Greys to the
Crown on the 10th of February, 9 Car. 1. 1634 : and on the 3rd of March in
the same year, he obtained a regrant of the manor, to hold to him and the
heirs male of his body, in default of which, to his brother Francis, and the
hieirs male of his body, with remainder to his uncle Francis Knollys, and the
heirs male of his body, with reversion to the Crown, In May 1642, Sir
Robert Knollys, and his eldest son, William Knollys, sold Rotherfield
Greys to Sir John Evelyn, and his brother, Avthur Evelyn. Vide Printed
Evidence, pp. 199. 206.

¢ Printed Evidence, Pp- 17, 18.

* Lord Howard of Escrick and Sir William Howard were Lady Banbury’s
brothers.

6 « Henry Goodwyn was secretary to the Earl of Banbury, and is so de-
seribed in his pedigree, entered at the Visitation of Warwickshire in 1681."
—MS. note of the late Franeis Townsend, esq., Windsor Herald.
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George Whitmore, Bond, and Gibson agreed that, if the
Earl and his wife should pay the rent or sum of 4801,
and the sum of 6,000/ upon the 2nd of May 1633,
they would convey the manor, mansion, park, &e.,
of Caversham, unto the said Earl and Countess, and to
the heirs of the survivor of them .

The Earl of Banbury died on the 25th of May 1632,
when he must have been about eighty-five or eighty-six
years of age®. According to one inquisition, he died
at Caversham; but a deponent in the proceedings in
Chancery in 1641, which will be hereafter alluded to,
stated that the Earl died in Paternoster-row, in London.

As the escheator of the counties of Oxford and Berks
did not hold an inquisition after the Earl of Banbury’s
death, ¢ virtute officii,” respecting the lands of which he
died seised, a commission, in the nature of a writ ¢ de
diem clausit extremum,’ was issued for that purpose to
the feodary and deputy escheator of Oxfordshire, on the
10th of April, 9 Car. 1., 1633, nearly eleven months
after the Earl’s death, pursuant to which an inquisition
was taken on the next day at Burford. The jury found,
that the Earl and Countess were seised conjointly in fee
of the manor of Caversham, with its appurtenances, in
the counties of Oxford and Berks; and reference was
made to the indenture between the Earl and his wife,
Lord Howard of Eserick, Sir Willlam Howard and
others, of the 20th of April, 7 Car. I., 1631, respecting
that manor; to the grant of the manor of Choleey by
King James the First, and of the reversion of it by King
Charles the First; to the fine levied by Lord and Lady

! Printed Evidence, pp. 253, 254.

? In a letter containing the news of London, dited on the 23rd of Fe-
bruary 1631-2, three months before the Earl of Banbury’s decease, it is
said,  the Earle of Banbury, aged four skore and six, is said now to lye
upon his death-bed: but I hear that his sister, my Lady of Leicester, being
six year older, can yet walke a mile in a morning.”— Ellis’s Original Letters,
illustrative of English Histovy, Second Series, vol. T11. p. 268,
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Banbury in Michaelmas Term, 6 Car. 1., 1630, and to
the indenture of the 8th of April following, all of which
instruments have been adverted to. The jury also found
that the Earl was seised in fee of a messuage, &c. in
Henley, in the county of Oxford, called the Bowling-
place; that he died at Caversham on the 25th of May
last passed ; that Lady Elizabeth, his wife, survived
him, and was then alive at Caversham, who had entered
upon and was then seised of the said premises ; that the
Earl died without heirs male of his body, and that Letitia
Lady Paget, widow of William Lord Paget, Anne Wil-
loughby, daughter and heir of Lady Elizabeth Wil-
loughby, late wife of Sir Henry Willoughby, knight and
baronet, were the next heirs of the said Earl; that is to
say, Letitia Lady Paget being daughter and one of the
co-heirs of Henry Knollys, esquire, eldest brother of the
said Earl of Banbury, and Ann Willoughby being
daughter and heir of Lady Elizabeth Willoughby, de-
ceased, another of the daughters and co-heirs of the
said Henry Knollys. The jury likewise found that the
manor of Caversham was held of the King, of his manor
of East Greenwich, in free and common soccage, and not
in capite, or by knight’s service ; and that the manor of
Cholcey was held of the King in capite by knight’s
service, namely, by the fortieth part of a knight’s fee.

About the 10th of April 1627, the Countess of Ban-
bury gave birth to a son, who received the name of Ed-
ward ; and on the 3rd of January 1630-1, i. e. 1631,
she was delivered of another son, who was named
Nicholas. The first of these children was born when
the Earl of Banbury was about eighty, and when the
Countess was between forty and forty-one, years of age.
At the time of the birth of the second son, the Earl
must have been about eighty-four or eighty-five, and
Lady Banbury was between forty-four and forty-five,
years old.
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It i1s important to correct an error respecting the birth

of Banbury, of Nicholas, the second of these sons, which was unde-

1633,
'_.-_.‘l{___}

tected during the proceedings on the claim to the Earl-
dom in 1811, and which produced many most material
inferences extremely prejudicial to the claimant. Nicholas
Knollys was considered to have been born in January
1630, upon the authority of his own petition to the King
in 1661. This date could not, however, be reconciled
with his statement in the same petition, nor with the
statements of the deponents in the proceedings in
Chancery iu 1641, which agreed in representing hin to
have been born ¢ about a year and a half before the
Earl’s death.” The discrepancy is easily explained,
Nicholas Knollys and the witnesses adopted the com-
putation which was then, and long afterwards, in general
use, of commencing the Historical year on the 25th of
March, instead of on the 1st of January, so that January
in 1630 was January 1631, according to the present
method of computation. The Earl of Banbury died on
the 25th of May 1632 ; and as Nicholas was born on
the srd of Jauuar}r 1631, he was one year, four mmlthﬁj
and three weeks old, at the time of the Earl’s death.

This correction is the more essential because it was
strongly observed by Lords Redesdale, Ellenborough,
and Eldon, during the claim, that the Earl of Banbury
““made his Will without noticing any issue.” That in-
strument was dated on the 19th of May 1630, when,
it has been hitherto supposed, Nicholas the second son
was about four or five months old, whereas /e was not
born until eight months afterwards.

Another error prevailed during the proceedings on the
claim to the Earldom, which likewise created great pre-
judice against the legitimacy of the Countess’s sons.
It was taken for granted, that ske never had a child
until the birth of Edward, in 1627 : and the improbability
of Lord Banbury’s having issue at his-advanced period
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of life, by a woman who was then upwards of forty, and Eﬂﬂlﬁ f'*;d
18 ILAaridoim

whose marriage-bed had been barren during a cohabita- of Banbury,

. . 1633,
tion of more than twenty years, was urged with great 7 ___

effect. So far, however, from this being the fact, it ap-
pears that the Countess bore her husband a daughter,
who died young some time before 1610'; and for any-

! 1t is stated in Milles’ Catalogue of Honour, p. 546 (which was published
in 1610), in the account of Thomas Lord Howard of Walden, and Earl of
Suffolk, that by his wife Katherine, eldest daughter and eo heir of Sir Henry
Koyvet, of Chorlton, he had, besides seven sons and three daughters,
‘““ Elizabeth, married to William Lord Knolles, Baron of Grayes, who bare
unte him a daughter, which died young.”

This statement is supported by that of Ralph Breoke, York Herald. in his
Catalogue of Nobility, which was printed in 1619, where it is said, that Lord
Banbury's “ second wife was Elizabeth, the eldest daughter of Thomas
Howard, Earl of Suffolk, and Lord Treasurer of England, by whom he had
issue,”” p. 276, Augustine Vincent, a Herald of great reputation, republished
Brooke's work in 1622, with the sole motive of detecting his errors, which he
exposed with much bitterness and severity. But so far from contradicting
Brooke’s assertion, that Lady Banbury had had issue by her husband,
he made it his own, by adding to Brooke's words above quoted, ¢ which
died young,”—Vincent's Discovery of Errors in the Catalogue of Nobility,
p. 645,

The statement is farther corrohorated by an elaborate pedigree of the
family ‘of Knollys, in the handwriting of Peter Le Neve, Norroy King of
Arms, about the year 1693, in the Harleiun MS, 5808, in the Eritish
Museum, where he notices the rumour that the two sons were begotten pri-
vately by Lord Vaux, and the certificate, in the Heralds’ College (which will
be hereafter alluded to), that the Earl had no children ; and pives the Earl
of Banbury's marriage and issue in the following manner :

William Lord = Elizabeth, eldest = Nicholas Lord
Knolles, of Greys, daughter of Thomas Vaux,
Earle of Banbury. | Earl of Suffolk. 2nd husband.
|

A daugh- Edwanrd, Nicholas, commonly = Anne, daughter of

ter. slainina quar- called Earl of Banbury. Sir William Sherrard
rel on the Never summoned to Lord Sherrard.
road Parliament. - Obiit 6 May 1680,
between Obiit . « .

Calais and
Gravelyn. 3. P.

Charles, called Earlof = . . . .
Banbury, 1693, ' »

p
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thing which is known to the contrary, she may have
had several other children previous to the year 1627.

The Countess of Banbury wmarried Edward Lord °
Vaux within five weeks of the Earl’s decease; and she
is desecribed as his wife in an indenture dated on the
2nd of July, 8th Car. I. 1632, between Lord Vaux and
herself on the one part, and Edward Wilkinson, of
Bucton, in the county of Northampton, gentleman, and
Christopher Wilton, of the same place, yeoman, of the
other part, by which it was agreed that Lord Vaux and
his wife should levy a fine, before the 30th of November
then next ensuing, unto the other parties, of the manor
of Caversham, to the use of Lord Vaux, Wilkinson, and
Wilton, and their heirs and assigns. The indenture of
the 30th of April preceding, between the late Earl and
Countess of Banbury, and Sir George Whitmore and
others, respecting the mortgage of 6,000 [, is then re-
cited, and the indenture proceeds, “ and whereas the
said Earl of Banbury is deceased and the said Lady
Elizabeth survived him ; and whereas the said Lady
Elizabeth hath since married and taken to husband the
said Edward Vaux Lord Harrowden ; now this indenture
further witnesseth, &c.” that she, with her said husband’s
consent, hath nominated and appointed the mortgagees,
upon payment of the mortgage, to convey the manor,
&e. of Caversham unto Lord Vaux, Wilkinson, and Wil-
ton, and their heirs and assigns for ever.! On the same
day on which she executed this indenture she obtained
probate of Lord Banbury’s will ;* but neither in the
probate, nor in the Inquisitio post mortem, taken in
April following, is there any notice of her being married
to Lord Vaux.

On the 9th of February 1640-1, a Bill was filed in
Chancery by Edward, the eldest of the said sons, by

' Printed Evidence, pp. 251-255. 3 Ibid. 255.
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the description of ¢ Edward Earl of Banbury, an in-
fant, by William Earl of Salisbury, his prochein amy
and guardian,” which nobleman having married Lady
Katherine Howard, sister of the Countess of Banbury,
was the infant’s uncle in law, against Henry Stephens,
of Essington, in Oxfordshire, gentleman. The Bill,
which was to perpetuate the testimony of witnesses, for
a discovery of deeds and writings, and for other matters,
stated that the plaintiff’s father, William Earl of Ban-
bury, was seised in fee, by purchase from John Gray and
Samuel Jones, of a plot of ground in Henley-upon-
Thames, in Oxfordshire, called the Bowling-place, with
a tenement, curtilage, and other appurtenances, late in
possession of John Stevens, deceased : that on Earl
William’s death, about eight years before, this estate
descended upon his son and heir, the plamntiff, Earl Ed-
ward ; but that the defendant, Henry Stevens, knowing
the plaintiff to be very young at the death of his father,
and having gotten into his custody the original deed of
purchase of the premises, and other writings concerning
the same, had pretended title to the same Bowling-place
and premises, claiming sometimes the inheritance under
a conveyance from Earl William, and sometimes to
have a lease for years from him, which if it was so, the
Bill alleged to be with a reserved rent to Earl William
and his heirs, and consequently to redound to the plaintiff
as eldest son and rightful heir of Earl William, and
born in his life-time ; and that the defendant sometimes
gave out, that the plaintiff was not the son and heir of
Earl William. Then in respect that the plaintiff’s most
material witnesses, who could prove the said mat-
ters, were aged and infirm, so that uunless they were
speedily examined, and their testimonies preserved by
the Court’s authority, the plamtift’ was likely to lose the
benefit of their testimony. The Bill, after alleging the
X 3
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plaintiff to be without remedy at law, for want of the
writings and evidences, and after waiving all advantage of
forfeiture for not paying rent, or not repairing, sought,
that the defendant might set forth what estate he claimed
in the premises ; and if there was a lease, what rent was
reserved, and when it was to cease; and might show, if
he could, why he should not pay the arrears of ren tand
the future rent to the plaintiff, as son and heir of Earl
William ; and set forth what deeds, evidences, and other
writings, he, the defendant, had, concerning the premises
of nght belonging to the said Earl. This is immedi-
ately followed in the Bill with praying for a subpena
against the defendant in the usual manner, By the
answer of Henry Stevens, which appears to have been
sworn on the 13th of February 1640-1, he admitted Earl
William’s having been seised in fee of the Bowling-place
and premises; but he stated that the said Earl had made
a lease of them to the defendant’s kinsman, John Stevens,
for a number of years still enduring, which the defendant
could not precisely set down, by reason of the present want
of the lease, at a rent of 2s. The defendant next stated
his title, as legatee of the lease under a devise in Joln
Stevens’s will, and as his executor, and the possession
coming to him, the defendant, accordingly, and his
being still in possession. The defendant’s answer ad-
mitted, that Earl William died seised ; and that on his
decease the reversion of the premises expectant on the
said lease descended to his next heir, for ought that he,
defendant, knew to the contrary ; but said, whether the
said complainant was the son and heir of Earl William
the defendant knew not of his own knowledge. After
also explaining his having no other writings concerning
the title to the premises than the said lease and the said
John Stevens’s will, the defendant said that he did not
remember the lease having a clause of re-entry. He
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said also there was a covenant, on the lessee’s part, to
repair. But in regard the complainant was unknown to
him to be the son and heir of the said late Earl of Ban-
bury, and had not demanded any rent of the defendant,
he confessed that he had not paid any rent to him since
the death of the said John Stevens. But the defendant
said, that he would be ready to pay the rent reserved and
the arrears, when it should appear to lim that the com-
plainant was the son and next heir of the said William,
late Earl of Banbury.

Five witnesses were examined in the cause, and their
Depositions were to the following purport :

The first witness examined was Anne Delavall, who is
described as the wife of Francis Delavall, of Caversham,
in Oxfordshire, esquire, and as aged forty and upwards.
She swore to having known the plaintiff, Edward Earl
of Banbury, from his birth; that he was born of Eliza-
beth, Countess of Banbury, wife of William Earl of
Banbury, about five years before his death; that the
plaintiff was so born at Earl William’s mansion-house
of Greys, in Oxfordshire ; that Earl William was resi-
dent at Greys at the time of the plaintiff’s birth; that
she remembered Earl William’s coming nto the cham-
ber where Elizabeth his Countess, mother of the plain-
tiff, then was, a little before her being delivered of the
plaintiff.  She also swore that Earl Willlam desired
persons to be sent for to give ease to the Countess ;
that the Countess was shortly after delivered ; that the
midwife of the Countess was a Mrs. Price, of the parish
of St. Giles, in Middlesex, who, as the witness, Mrs.
Delavall, was informed, and believed, was since dead;
that shortly after the plaintifi”s said birth, he was, in the
time of his nursing, committed to the care of the wit-
ness, Mrs. Delavall, she living at the time in the house
with the Countess; that she, the witness, removing

x 4
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to her own house to dwell, and taking the plamtiff
with her, Earl William, whilst the plaintiff was with
her, repaired to the house of the witness to see the
plaintit, and wished her to take care of * his boy,” the
plaintiff being meant. Mrs. Delavall further swore, that
she was a servant, and had relation unto the said Coun-
tess, as an attendant upon her at times, for about thir-
teen years before the said Earl William’s death ; that, as
she verily believed, the said Earl and Countess did,
during all the time aforesaid, and unto his death, live
lovingly as man and wife ; and that she never heard any-
thing to the contrary.

The second witness was Francis Delavall, deseribed
to be of Caversham before mentioned, esquire, and to
be aged fifty-five, or thereabouts. He swore that he
knew the plaintiff, Edward Earl of Banbury, from his
birth; that he knew William, late Earl of Banbury;
that the plaintiff;, Earl Edward, was born of Elizabeth
Countess of Banbury, in the lifetime of the late Earl,
namely, about five or six years before his death, at the
late Earl’s mansion-house at Greys, in Oxfordshire ; that
the late Earl was resident there at the birth of the plain-
tiff'; that, as witness was told by his wife Anne, the first
witness, and as he believed, the late Earl did come mnto
the chamber where the Countess, mother of the plantiff,
was, a little before her delivery, and desired to have per-
sons sent for to give her ease; that the Countess was
the same day delivered of the plaintiff; and that the
midwife was the before-mentioned Muis. Price, who, as
witness was informed, and believed, was smce dead. He
likewise swore, that the plaintiff was, shortly after his
birth, committed to the care of the before-mentioned
Anne Delavall, s wife; that William, the late Earl,
did, whilst plaintift’ was in the care and custody of his,
Myr. Delavall’s, wife, repair to the house where they then
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were to see the plaintiff, and as witness was told by his
wife, and believed, the late Earl, upon such his coming
to see the plaintiff, wished her to take care of ¢ his boy.”
He also swore that he was a servant and retainer to
William, the late Earl of Banbury, for about twenty
years next before his decease, and during that time,
unto the late Earl’s decease, observed him and his said
Countess to live lovingly as husband and wife, and
never knew nor heard, to his remembrance, of any
unkindness between them.

The third witness was Robert Lloyd, who 1s described
in the examination to be of St. Giles, in Middlesex,
doctor in physic, and aged fifty-six, or thereabouts. He
swore, that he knew the plaintiff, Edward Earl of Ban-
bury, from his birth; that he knew William, the late
Earl of Banbury ; that the plaintiff was born of Eliza-
beth Countess of Banbury, about six years before the
death of William, the late Earl; that the plamtiff was
born at the mansion of William, the late Earl of Banbury,
at Greys, in Oxfordshire; that the late Earl was resi-
dent at the said house at the time of the plaintiff”’s birth ;
and that, as witness had credibly heard, the late Earl
came nto the chamber where the Countess Elizabeth,
his wife, and mother of the plaintiff, was, a little before
her delivery of the plaintiff. He further swore, that Wil-
liam, late Earl of Banbury, and the said Lady Elizabeth,
his wife, lived lovingly and kindly together as husband
and wife, from the time the witness became acquainted
with them, which was for divers years before his death,
unto the time of his death ; that he, the witness, better
knew the same, because both he and his wife did, after
such acquaintance with the late Earl and his Countess,
use much the several houses where they lived, in Oxford-
shire, Berkshire, Northamptonshire, and London, and
was very intimately acquainted and conversant with
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them, and was often sent for by them, and several times
resident with them for a good space of time together at
their country house. e likewise swore, that he was with
the said late Earl in the time of his last sickness, whereof
he died, at Dr. Grant’s house, in Paternoster-row, Lon-
don, to consult as a physician, both with the said Dr,
Grant and with Dr. Gifford, touching the late Earl’s
then sickness; and that he, the witness, observed the
late Earl’s then having his said lady with him, and
their living lovingly and kindly as before: but that he,
the witness, was not a servant to them, or either of
them, as by the latter part of the particular interrogatory
he was in this part answering was supposed ; and that
therefore he could not, to his remembrance, further
depose what was material thereto.

The fourth witness was Robert Clapham, described in
the examination as gentleman, and as then servant to
Henry Earl of Holland, and as aged sixty years, or there-
abouts. This witness swore, that he knew the plaintiff
from his birth ; that he knew William late Earl of Ban-
bury ; that the plaintiff was born of Elizabeth Countess
of Banbury, his wife, about four years before the Earl’s
death, as witness took the time; the plaintiff was born
at the mansion-house of William the late Earl, at Greys,
in Oxfordshire; and that, to the best remembrance of
the witness, the late Earl was then resident at the said
house ; that he, the witness, had credibly heard of the
said Earl’s coming into the chamber of the said Coun-
tess, his wife, mother of the plamtiff, a little before her
being delivered of him. He also swore, that he had cre-
dibly heard of, and believed, the plaintift’s being coni-
mitted, shortly after his birth, to the care and custody
of the witness, Anne Delavall; but that he could not
depose whether or no William, the late Earl, whilst plain-
tiff was in custody of Anne Delavall, repaired to see the

o
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plaintiff, or whether or no he wished her to take care of
““his boy.” He further swore, that he, deponent, during
the time he lived as a servant with said late Earl,
which was for about sixteen years before his decease,
observed the said late Earl and said Lady, his wife, to
live very lovingly and kindly together as husband and
wife, even to the time of the said late Earl’s decease, so
that deponent conceived no man and wife could live more
lovingly and kindly together than they did; and that
he, deponent, was better able to depose as before, for
that, during the time aforesaid, he was the said late
Earl’s servant, and constantly waited upon him in his
chamber,

The fifth witness was Margaret Kent, described in
her examination to be of Boughton, in the county of
Northampton, widow, and aged fifty years, or there-
abouts. She swore, that she knew Edward Earl of
Banbury, the plaintiff, from his eradle ; that the plain-
tiff was born of Elizabeth Countess of Banbury, wife of
William, the late Earl, in his lifetime, about five years
next before his decease, so near as deponent could
remember the time ; that plaintiff was born at the man-
sion-house of the said late Earl at Greys, in Oxford-
shire ; that she, the witness, was very credibly told by
divers, or at least some of said Earl’s servants, then resi-
dent in the said house, and she believed it to be very true,
that the late Earl was in his house called Greys at the
birth of the plaintiff, and came into the chamber where
the Countess his wife, mother of the plaintiff, then was,
a little before her being delivered of plaintiff. She also
swore, that the plaintiff was, shortly after his birth, com-
mitted to the care and custody of the before-mentioned
Anne Delavall ; and that the said late Earl, whilst
plaintiff was in the custody of said Anne Delavall, did
repair to see the plaintiff, and did wish and desire her, the
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said Mrs. Delavall, to take care and make much of
“ his hoy,” all which the deponent did the better know,
for that she, deponent, did at the time look unto and
attend to the said plaintiff, under the said Mrs. Delavall.
She also swore, that said William Earl of Banbury and
said Lady Elizabeth, his wife, did live lovingly and
kindly together as husband and wife, during all the time
of the deponent’s knowledge of them, unto the time of
the said late Earl’s decease; and that she, deponent,
better knew the same, by reason she was a servant unto
the said Countess of Banbury for about five years, as
she, deponent, took the time before the said late Earl’s
decease ; and that she, the deponent, did observe said late
Earl and said Countess, his wife, in the time aforesaid,
to live as kindly and lovingly together as man and wife
could possibly do, as the deponent conceived ; and that,
as she, the deponent, remembered, the said late Earl, in
part of expression of his love to said Countess, would
oftentimes stroke her face, and take her by the hand,
and familiarly call her “ my Bessy,” and the like ; and
the said Countess did in like manner return the expres-
sion of her love to him again.

These Depositions, on being tendered in evidence in
support of the claim in February 1809, were, after refer-
ence for the opinion of the Judges, rejected by the House
of Lords, as inadmissible to prove the facts stated
therein'.

' Printed Evidence, pp. 28, 103-108. The Attorney-general objected to
the admission of this evidence, on two grounds:

1. Because the suit was res inter alia acta.

2. Because it did not appear that the witnesses were connected, in the
manner stated by themn in the depositions, with the persons respecting whom
they deposed : the admission of hearsay evidence in cases of pedigree being
confined to relations interested in the state of the family, and persons inti-
mately connected with it.

The Counsel on both sides having been heard at great length, the follow-
ing questions were submitted to the Judges:



( 81r )

In consequence, it is presumed, of these Depositions,
a writ of mandamus, or a commission of that nature, was

“ Upoen the trial of an ejectment brought by E. F. against G. H. to re-
cover the possession of an estate called Black Acre, E. F. to prove that
C. D., from whom E. F. was descended, was the legitimate son of A, B.
(and which fact it was necessary to prove), offered to read in evidence a Bill
in Chancery, purporting to have been filed by C. D., one hundred and fifty
years before that time, by his next friend, such next friend therein styling
himself the uncle of the infant, for the purpose of perpetuating testimony of
the fact, that C. D. was the legitimate son of A, B.; and which Bill states
him to be such legitimate son, (but no persons, claiming to be heirs at law
of A. B. if C. D. was illegitimate, were parties to the suit, the only defendant
being a person alleged to have held lands under a lease from A. B., reserv-
ing rent to A. B, and his heirs), and also offered to read in evidence de-
positions taken in the said cause, some of them purporting to be made by
persons styling themselves relations of A, B., others styling themselves ser-
vants in his family, others styling themselves to be medical persons attendant
upon the family, and in their respective depositions stating facts, and
declaring, among other things, that C.D. was the legitimaie son of A. B.:
and that he was in the family of which they were respectively relations,
servants, and medical attendants, reputed, esteemed, and taken so to be.”

“ Are these proceedings, viz. the Bill in Equity and the depositions respec-
tively, or any, and which of them, to be received in the Courts below upon
the trial of such ejectment (G. H. not claiming or deriving in any manner
under either the plaintiff or defendant in the said Chancery suit), either as
evidence of facts therein deposed to, or as declarations respecting pedigree?
And are they, or any, and which of them, evidence to be received in the said
cause, that the parties filing the Bill, and making the depositions respectively,
or any, and which of them, sustained the characters of uncles, relations,
servants, and medical persons respectively, which they describe themselves
therein sustaining "

# 2nd, Whether any Bill in Chancery can ever be received as evidence in
a Court of Law, to prove any facts either alleged or denied, in such Bill so filed
in Chancery 1

“ drd. Whether any Depositions, taken in the Court of Chaucery, in con.
sequence of a Bill to perpetuate the testimony of witnesses, or otherwise,
would be received in evidence in a Court of Law, in any cause in which the
parties were not the same parties as in the cause in Chancery, or did not
claim under some or one of them 1"

The Lord Chief Justice of the Common Pleas delivered the unanimous
opinion of the Judges upon the said several questions on the 30th of May
1809, as follows :—

“ To the first question, the Judges answer, that neither the Bill in Equity,
nor the Depositions stated in this question, are to be received in evidence in
the Courts below, on the trial of such ejectment as is mentioned n the ques-
tion, either as evidence of facts therein deposed to, or as declarations respect-
ing pedigree; neither are any of them evidence to be received in the said
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ordered by the Court of Wards, upon the petition of
Robert Fayrbeard, esq.', by the special directions of
the Master of that Court, dated on the 26th of February,
16th Car. I., 1641, “ to be awarded into the county of
Berks, to inquire after the death of the Right honoura-
ble William, late Earl of Banbury, deceased, and the
late King’s Majesty’s instructions for warning, are to be
observed ; and it is further ordered, that the Office, to-
gether with a schedule and survey, shall be returned in
Easter Term next®” Pursuant to that writ, Robert
Cooper, the escheator of the county Berks, held an in-
quisition at Abingdon, on the 1st of April, 17th Car. I,

cause, that the parties filing the said Bill, or making the said Depositions, re-
spectively sustained the character of uncle, relations, servants, and medieal
persons, which they describe themselves therein sustaining,”

The Judges were also unanimously of opinion that it would not make any
difference as to what ought to have been their answer to the first question, if
the Bill in Equity stated to have been filed by C. D., by his next friend, had
been a Bill seeking relief,

“ To the second question the Judges answer, that generally speaking,
a Bill in Chancery cannot be received as evidence in a Court of Law, to prove
any fact either alleged or denied in such Bill as filed. But whether any
possible case may be put, which would form an exception to such general
rule, they cannot undertake to say.”

“ To the third question, the Judges understand the question to be this:
Whether Depositions taken in the Court of Chancery, in consequence of a
Bill to perpetuate the testimony of witnesses or otherwize, would be received
in evidence to prove the facts sworn to, in the same way and to the same
extent as if the same were sworn to at the trial of an ejectment by witnesses
then produced? To which question the Judges answer, that no such Depo-
sitions would be received in evidence in a Court of Law, in any cause in which
the parties were not the same parties as the parties in the cause in Chancery
or did not elaim under some or one of them.”

It was also proposed to put the following question to the Judges :—
* Whether that which is not capable of definition, or of precise description,
ought in any case to be considered as part of the common law of England 1"

This being objected to, it was, after debate, put to the vote, and resolved in
the negative.—Printed Evidence, p. 104-108,

See Phillips on Evidence, vol. 1. p. 246 ( Edit. 1820), where the authori-
ties on this subject are collected.

! It has not been ascertained who this person was.— Printed Evidencs,
p. 245,

* Ihid. 244, 245.
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1641. The jury found that the Earl was seised in fee of :ilfizslr;_::'rt;d“m
the manor of Cholcey and its appurtenances, in the of l!Enhur}',
said county, under the fine levied of the said manor in o )
Michaelmas Term, 6th Car. I. between Henry Earl of
Holland, plaintiff, and the Earl and Countess of Ban-
bury, deforciants, &e., and the indenture of the 8th
of April, 7th Car. 1., which have been before mentioned ;
that the said Earl was also seised in fee of the messuage
in Henley, in Oxfordshire, commonly called the Bowl-
ing-place ; that he died in the city of London on the
25th of May, 8th Car. I.; that Elizabeth Countess of
Banbury, his wife, survived him, and was then living ;
that Edward, now Earl of Banbury, is, and at the time
of the Earl’s decease was, his son and next heir ; and at
the death of his said father was five years, one month,
and fifteen days old. The jury likewise found that the
said manor of Choleey was held of the King m capite by
the fortieth part of a kmght’s fee ; that the messuage in
Henley was held of the manor of East Greenwich in
common soccage ; that the Countess of Banbury had
received the issues of the manor of Choleey from the
death of the Earl to the day when that inquisition
was taken; and that John Stevens and Henry Stevens
received the profits of the messuage, &e. in Henley
during the same period .- This inquisition was delivered
into Chancery on the 9th of April 1641, by John Sal-
mon, who was one of the commissioners by whom the
previous inquisition in 1633 was taken.

In June 1641, “ the Countess of Banbury and her
youngest son’” obtamed “a licence to travel, and to
take with them twelve servants, 200 /. in money, and
her necessary carriages®.”” Though hitherto unnoticed,
it is certain that between the ycars 1641 and 1644 the
Countess of Banbury was an object of constant suspi-
cion to the Parliament, as a dangerous recusant, und as

V' Printed Evidence, Pp- 2528, 2 Ihid. p. 114,
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a person so deeply involved in political intrigues, as to
make it necessary at one time to send her out of the
realm, and at another to seize her person.

On the 20th of January 1641-2, four justices of the
peace were ordered to search the house of Lord Vaux (who
was then out of the kingdom®') at Harrowden, and such
othersuspected placesin Northamptonshire, for recusancy,
as they shall think fit, for arms, and to seize whomsoever
they might find, and place them in safe custody, pursuant
to a former ordinanceof Parliament® InJunein that year
she obtained leave to transport with her, apparently to
France, six coach-horses and three nags *; but on the 16th
of March 1642-3, the House of Commons desired a con-
ference with the Lords, to represent what had been that
day reported from the Committee ““ concerning the Coun-
tess of Banbury ; and to desive, that in regard it 1s inform-
ed, that she i1s a recusant, and one that entertains intelli-
gence, that she may be confined to her house*.””  On the
12th of July following, the House of Commons resolved,
“ that the Countess of Banbury, a professed papist, shall
be secured ; and the Lords’ concurrence desired therein®.”
On the 12th of August, the House appointed three of
its members to open certain trunks in the house of a
Mr. Trenchard, which were suspected to belong to the
Countess of Banbury, and sent thither by the Earl of
Bedford ; and if they found that they were hers, to send
them to Guildhall, but if they belonged to the Earl of
Bedford, to secure them there®. It was, however, dis-

! Lords' Journals of 9th February 1641-2, whence it appears that Lord
Vaux was then “ extra regnum.”

2 Commons’ Journals, 11, 387.

3 Lords’ Journals, V. 156. It was probably to Lord Vaux and herself that
the following order of the House of Commons, on the 30th of June 1642,

referred : ** Ordered, that a warrant shall issue forth under Mr. Speaker’s hand,
for Mr. Vaux, his wife, and his two servants, with their baggage, to pass

SoTe
over sea into France, provided they carry no prohibited goods,”
Jowrnals, 11, G46.

* Commons' Journals, 111, 4. * 1hid. p. 163. ® Ibid, p. 204,

Commons'
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covered that the trunks were the property of her brother
Edward Lord Howard, to whom the House ordered
them to be restored on the 18th of August; but it was
on the same day determined to request the Lords to
join with the House, that the Countess of Banbury be
forthwith removed from this town [London], or other-
wise that her person may be secured'. A conference
was held on the next day, and it was ordered that the
Countess should have the Speaker’s warrant to go into
France with twelve servants and her necessary apparel,
and for “ a coach and six horses and ten saddle horses
to pass to the sea-side, and to return to carry her Lady-
ship and her servants to the port where she embarks®.”
In June 1644, when she 1s mentioned for the last time
in the Journals of the House of Commons, she was
still an object of great suspicion, for it was ordered on
the 13th of that month, that ‘ notice be given to the
several ports, that if the Countess of Banbury shall
come to any of the ports, that they seize her, and
keep her under restraint, until the House shall take

3 »

further order?,

Edward Knollys, the eldest son, who, by the Inquisi-
tion of 17th Car. 1, was found to be the son and heir
of William Earl of Banbury, assumed that title; and
Evelyn states that Lord Banbury was travelling in Italy
in January 1645% e was killed near Calais during
his minority, in or before June 1646 ; and dying with-
out issue, his brother Nicholas, who was then about

U Commaons Journals, 111, p. 210.

1 Ibid pp. 211,212, 3 Ibid. p. 528.

¢ January 28, 1644-5.—We dined at Sermoneta, descending all this morn-
in,g down 2 slony mountain, unpleasant, yet full of olive trees ; and anon
pass a tower built on a rock, kept by a small guard against the banditti who
infest these parts, daily robbing and killing passengers, as my Lord Banbury
and his f'urm!mrr‘uvﬁrmui te their cost a Litile J'.-tf'_lﬁ}i'e'."—f.l‘fr!r_i_a, Yol I, [?.22!].
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Caseof  fifteen years of age, immediately assumed the title of
the Earldom
of Banbury. Earl of Banbury.

Ef_f:___# By indentures, dated on the 19th of October, 22
Car. 1., 1646, between Edward Lord Vaux and Elizabeth
Countess of Banbury, then the wife of the said Lord, of
the first part; William Earl of Salisbury, Edward Lord
Howard of Escrick, and Sir Robert Thorold, of Harrow-
by, in the county of Lincoln, knight and baronet, of the
second part ; © the Right honourable Nicholas now Earl
of Banbury son of the said Countess of Banbury hereto-
fore called Nicholas Vaux, or by whichsoever of the said
names or descriptions or any other name or description
the said Nicholus be or hath been called reputed or
known,” of the third part ; and Mathew Horne, of Great
Harrowden, in Northamptonshire, gent., and William
Buckmaster, of Boughton, in the said county, yeoman,
of the fourth part ; witnessed, that for assuring a jointure
to the said Countess, in case she survived the said Lord
Vaux, and for settling the manors, &c. of Great Har-
rowden, Little Harrowden, Irtlingborough, Burton La-
timer, and other lands, in the county of Northampton,
upon the said Nicholas, the said Lord Vaux covenanted
with the said Earl of Salisbury, Lord Howard and Sir
Robert Thorold, that he and the Countess of Banbury,
his wife, would levy a fine, before Hilary Term next en-
suing, of the said manors, &c. to the other parties to the
indenture, for the use and behoof of the saild Edward
Lord Vaux for his life, and after his decease to the use of
Elizabeth Countess of Banbury, his wife, for her life, and
after his and her decease to the use of the “ said Nicho-
las”” and of the heirs male of his body; and for want of
such issue, then to the use of the * said Nicholas™ and
the heirs of his body; and for want of such issue, then
to the use of them the said Edward Lord Vaux and
Elizabeth his wife, and of their heirs and assigns for
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ever. The indenture contains a clause for Lord Vaux,
and after his decease, for Lady Banbury, and after
their decease or other determination of their estates,
“then to and for the said Nicholas Earl of Banbury,”
being within or of full age, to grant or appoint the
said manor of Great Harrowden * to or for the use of
any woman or women which he the said Nicholas
Earl of Banbury shall hereafter happen to marry.” [t
was further provided, that if by any means all or any of
the uses or estates therein mentioned shall not arise and be
vested and executed, orif any person or persons therein
named to whom any uses or estates were limited and
appointed cannot take such uses or estates, according to
the true intent and meaning of the instrument, that then
the fines and recoveries so levied shall enure to the use
of the said Earl of Salisbury, Edward Lord Howard,
and Sir Robert Thorold, and their lLeirs, in trust that
they shall supply such defective uses and estates to the
respective persons to whom they were intended. Power
was reserved to Lord Vaux and the Countess of Banbury
to revoke, or alter that settlement, and to resettle all
the estates therein mentioned in any manner they might
think proper!. On the 8th of June 1649, Edward Lord
Vaux and Lady Banbury appeared before the custos
of the liberties of Lngland in Chancery, and recognised
the said indenture®. The Countess of Banbury died on
the 17th of April 1658, aged seventy-three; and her
second husband, Lord Vaux, died on the 8th of Septem-
ber 1661, aged seventy-four®.

Nicholas, Earl of Banbury, married, first, Isabella,
daughter of Mountjoy Earl of Newport®; and secondly,

! Prinied Evidence, PP 219-230.
* Ibid. p. 230,
? Monumental inscription in Dorking ehurch.—Ihid. pp. 14, 15, Vide
p. 201, antea, 4 Tbid, p. 46.
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on the 4th of October 1655, Anne, daughter of William
Lord Sherard of Leitrim, and in the register of Staple-
ford, wherein the marriage is recorded, he is styled,
“ Nicholas Lord Knowles, Viscount Wallingford, Baron
of Grays, and Earl of Banburie'.”

All these facts tend to show, that the proceedings in
Chancery in February 1641, and the Inquisition taken
in Aprilin that year, were considered to have established
the legitimacy of the Countess of Banbury’s children.
Twenty years had then nearly elapsed since the adverse
finding of the Inquisition of 1633, during the whole of
which period, her sons had successively borne the title,
and enjoyed the honours of the Earldom.

In April 1660, preparatory to the restoration of King
Charles the Second, the Peers assembled in what was
termed the “ Convention Parliament.” Writs of summons
could not, of course, be issued by the Crown ; bat nine
Peers having met, they appointed the Earl of Manchester
Speaker pro tempore, and proceeded to nominate a Com-
mittee to determine to what Lords letters should be
written requesting their attendance. The Committee ac-
cordingly reported the names of the Peers who were to
be written to, and a draught of the letter from Lord
Manchester, as Speaker, is entered on the Journals®
It does not appear that Nicholas Earl of Banbury was a
party to those proceedings, but it is certain that he took
his seat in the House on or before the 4th of June, and
that he was again present on the 15th of that month?,

To prevent any objection as to the illegality of the
proceedings of that Parliament, in consequence of the
King’s writs of summons not having been issued for it to
assemble, the first Act passed by it, was to declare and
enact “that the Lords and Commons then sitting at
Westminster were the two Houses of Parliament, to all

' Printed Evidence, p. 29, * Ibid. p. 87.
¥ Lords Journals, XI. pp. 52, G4.
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intents, constructions and purposes whatsoever, notwith-
standing any want of the King’s writ or writs of sum-
mons.” The Earl of Banbury and the other Peers must
therefore be held to have had the same right to enter the
House, as if they had individually received the King’s
writ of summons.

The first notice of anv question being raised as to the
Earl of Banbury’s right to the dignity was on the 13th
of July 1660, nearly three months after Parliament as-
sembled, and upwards of one month after he is mentioned
as being present in the House of Lords. It was moved
on that day, “that there being a person that now sits in
this House as a Peer who, as is conceived, hath no title
to be a Peer, viz. the Earl of Banbury, it is ordered that
this business shall be heard at the bar by counsel on
Monday come se’nnight',” i. e. on the 23rd of the same
month,

On Monday the 23rd of July, the day appointed for
investigating the Earl’s right to his title, he was present
in the House, and was appointed a member of a Com-
mittee on a private Bill*; but no proceedings are re-
corded to have taken place respecting his right to the
Peerage®. He was also present on the three following
days: he was again on a Committee ; and he attended
in his place twelve days in July, and repeatedly in Au-
cust, September and November, the last occasion being
on the 21st of November 1660, when he obtained leave
to be absent for some time; which permission to be ab-
sent was, at least, a tacit admission of his right to be
present, and was frequently granted in the same words to
other Lords. On the 29th of December following, Par-
liament was prorogued, so that the Earl sat for nearfly
the entire session, which lasted wpwards of six months,
during which time no proceedings whatever occurred for

! Printed Evidence, p. 37. * Ihid. p. 39. 3 Thid,
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impeaching his right to the Peerage, except the order
of the 13th of July; and it was proved in evidence in
June 1808, that although that order was not stated to
have been discharged, yet that there was no mention in
the Lords Journals of the matter being heard on any day
during that period ; no adjournment of the consideration
of the business to a future day ; nor any entry of its being
resumed during the session’.

The extraordinary fact that the right of a person to sit
in the House of Lords as a Peer of the Realm should
be ordered to be investigated, and that no proceedings
should take place during the remainder of a session
which lasted for five months after the matter was agitated,
though the said person enjoyed the rights and performed
all the functions of a Peer of Parliament during the
greater part of that time, can only be attributed to the
conviction, in the minds of those who wished to disturb
him, that he possessed a legal right, which could not be
shaken,

It may be observed, as additional proof of the ano-
malies which characterize this case, that had the Earl of
Banbury sat in that Parliament as a Baron instead of as
an Earl, his right, if not to the dignity which he was sup-
posed to have inherited, atall events to one of the same
name, which would have descended to the heirs general of
his body, would probably have been indefeasible. A writ
to, and a sitting in Parliament pursuant to such writ,
had long been held to operate as a creation of a Barony
to the person so summoned, and the heirs of his body ;
and though no writ issued to any Peer who attended
the Convention Parliament, the statute which declared
that “ the two Houses were the two Houses of Parlia-
ment, to all infents, constructions and purposcs whatso-
ever,” would probably be considered to have cured that

V' Printed Fuvidence, p. 41.
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defect, by giving to each of the Peers who were present
the same rights as they would have enjoyed if they
had received a writ of summons in the usual form.

At the close of the session of the Convention Parlia-
ment, nothing had in fact been done to impeach Lord
Banbury's legitimacy. The Peers who formed that As-
sembly admitted his right to the dignity, by allowing
him to sit in the House, even if, in common with most
of the other Lords, they had not written to request his
attendance'. The Crown had recogmsed him by giving
its consent to an Act of Parliament to enable him to sell
some lands for the payment of his debts, in which he
styled himself the King’s ¢ faithful and loyal subject, the
Right honourable Nicholas Earl of Banbury;” and the
House of Lords evinced its opinion, that the effort which
was made in July to impeach his right to the Peerage
could not be supported, by allowing the threatened pro-
ceedings against him to be abandoned, by permitting
him to continue one of its members, and by selecting him
to perform the duties of a Peer. Having been born of
the body of Elizabeth Countess of Banbury during her
coverture with the Earl of Banbury, he was, prima facie
legitimate, and therefore had a prima facie right to the
Peerage ; and it may be contended that his having en-
joyed all the privileges of legitimacy for nearly twenty
years, his having been recognised by the Crown, and
his having sat in Parliament, and performed all the func-
tions of a Peer for six months, formed a perfect and
complete admission of that right, which could not after-
wards be justly questioned.

Notwithstanding these facts, when Parliament was
summoned in May in the following year, no writ was

! On the 3rd of May 1660, the House was called over, and letters were
ordered to be written to the absent Lords, desiring them to attend forthwith ;
and on the 14th of that month, several Lords were ordered, by name, to be
written to for that purpose.— Lords Journals, X1, 12, 27.
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issued to the Earl of Banbury. But instead of acquiescing
in the exelusion, he immediately presented a petition to
the King, in which he styled himself ¢ Earl of Banbury,”
and representing the various creations of the late Earl ;
that he married Elizabeth, daughter of the Earl of Suf-
folk, and had issue by her, Edward, his eldest son, who
died without issue, and the petitioner, who was born in
January 1630 [1631], about a year and a half before the
said Earl’s death ; that, “ as son and heir of the said late
Earl, he sat in the last Parliament as Earl of Banbury,
as of right he might, and hath used and had all privileges
as other Earls there; but having no writ of summons to
this present Parliament from your Majesty, as other the
Peers have, hath forborne to sit there, although he hath
done nothing to deprive him of his title thereunto, nor,
to his knowledge, to incur your Majesty’s displeasure.”
He therefore prayed that a writ of summons might be
issued to him as Earl of Banbury, and that he might
“enjoy all the precedency and privileges thereunto be-
longing granted by the letters patent of that dignity '.”
The claim to the precedency granted to s father merits
particular attention, because there are strong reasons
for believing, that the hostility which a large body of
'eers showed towards the Earl, arose from his insist-
ing upon the place in the House, which the eight Earls
who were interested in the question had relinquished in
favour of the first Earl of Banbury, upon the express
condition that it should be confined to himself for Ais
life only.

[f the Earl of Banbury did insist upon his precedency,
in opposition to the resolution of the House in 1629, and
to the agreement entered into by all the Peers affected by
the special grant in the first Earl’s favour, his prudence
was little to be commended ; but the circumstance tends

Vo Printed Evidence, P 43, 4.
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to show his conviction that his legitimacy, and conse-
quently his right to the Earldom, could not be disputed.
The claim naturally excited the jealousy of every Earl
whose patent was dated between the 5th of February
1626, and the 18th of August 1627, namely, the Earls of
Berkshire, Cleveland, Monmouth, Danby, Manchester,
Mulgrave, and Marlborough, seven powerful and influ-
ential Peers, all of whom, except Lord Danby, were living
in 1661', and had a personal motive for opposing it.

Lord Banbury’s petition was referred to the House of
Lords, and on being read on the 6th of June 1661, the
Lord Chancellor stated, “ that his Majesty had siguified
his pleasure to him that no writ should be issued out to
summon the Earl of Banbury to this Parliament, upon
some question that was made last Parliament in this
House concerning him.” The petition was referred to the
Committee for Privileges, who were to hear counsel for
the petitioner, and the Attorney-general on the behalf of
the King, and to make their report to the House*

On the 10th of June 1661, the Commuttee for Pri-
vileges met, when the Earl of Banbury’s petition was
read, and counsel were heard on lus behalf, who re-
quested a week’s time to produce witnesses, and the
Committee adjourned until the 17th of that month.
Two days before that day, namely, on the 15th of June,
the Committee reported that the Earl of Banbury wished
some witnesses to be examined on his behalf, among
whom was the Countess of Salisbury, the sister of Lady
Banbury, and the claimant’s maternal aunt; and it was
ordered that they should be summoned, and that the

' Tn 1693 only three of those titles existed ; namely, the Earldoms of
Berkshire, Mulgrave and Manchester ; but the hostility of their ancestors to
the claimaut’s right did not deseend to all of their descendants, for two of
the Peers who voted for calling in the Judges, and against the resolution
negativing the petitioner’s claim in 1693, were the Earls of Murgave and
Manchester.

 Printed Ercilence, p. 44.
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Attorney-general should attend the Committee on the
following Monday.

The Committee met on Monday the 17th of June
1661 ; and the following imperfect memoranda of the
proceedings were found among the records of the House
of Lords, and contain all which is known of the evi-
dence produced on the subject. Some explanatory notes
are now added to the statements of the witnesses, whose
evidence is so briefly reported as to be oceasionally al-
most unintelligible.

“ Munday, Jun. 17, 1661.
“ Committee of Privileges.

“ Earl of Banbury’s Bill and Order read.

20 Caroli 1w E. Banbury created®. Edw?.

“ANNE DeEvLavinL? saith she knoweth him?® to be the
son of Wm, E. of Banb., being at his birth.

“3 Jan. 1630°% Nic. E. Banbury borne., Wmn, dyed
in 16327,

“She knoweth nothing but that he® was owned by
the E. of Banbury as his son. She knows nothing but
that he knew shee lay in.

“ Did shee ly in publickly ?

“ All the house she was in knew it. She lay in at

! Printed Evidence, p. 57.

2 This refers to the patent of creation of the Earldom.

3 i.e. Edward, the eldest of the two sons. The next paragraph also evi-
dently relates to him.

* This witness made a Deposition in Chancery, in 1641, wherein she
stated that she was the wife of Francis Delavall, of Caversham, esq.,
and had the charge of the child, Fdward, whilst he was at nurse in the
Countess of Banbury’s house. Vide antea, p. 311.

5 i, e. Edward,

6 i.e. 3rd Junuary 1630-1631.

7 William Earl of Banbury died on the 25th May 1632.

% The witness here clearly alludes to Nicholas, the second son, because she
says she was not at lis (Nicholas’s) birth, though, when speaking of Ed-
ward, she said, both on that occasion and in her depositions in 1641, that
she was at his (Edward’s) birth,
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Haraden, in North'tonshire. Haraden is L. Vaux’s
house.

“ Did Wm, E. see the child ?

“I was not there to know it. The lady was there
before to take waters of Wellingborough, but whether
at this time, I know not. I dare say a child was borne
then of the lady. “ All withdraw,

“ Called in again,
“ Who were godfathers, &ec., Dalavil knows not.
“ How old was Wm, E. of Banbury ?
“ Know not. He rod a hawking and hunting within
4 a yeare before his death & all other sports.

“Mary OcpEN': I know Nico’ E. of Ban’: he was
borne a yeare & 4m before old E. dyed. I was at his
birth. I was his nurse, but was not at his xt’ing,
bece’ [ was not of their opinion®; I nursed him 15 months
in the house at Haraden.

“ Did Wm, E. ever see him?

“ ] know not.

“1 know not whether Wm, E. knew his lady lay in,
but he visited her.

“ What was the child called ?

“ Nicolas, and was carried ordinarily up and downe
the house.

“ Did strangers see him ?

“ The household saw him,

“ How know you that this petic’oner is the child
you nursed !

“1 have known him all along as well as my owne
child.

“ What was he called in his brother’s life-time ?

! This witness did not make a Deposition in 1641, probably because the
proceedings on that occasion related to Edward only, of whose birth she may
have known nothing.

3 Meaning that she was not of their religion, Lady Banbury being a
Boman-catholie.
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“ Nicolas, I know nothing else.
“ I never knew him called Nic. Vaux in my life,

“ANNE Reap':—I know he is the Lady Banbury’s
son borne in the begin’ing of Jan. 1630—his father
died one yeare & 1 after.

“ Did the E. of Ban, and his lady converse in bed
together?

“ Dalavil saith shee hath seene them often in bed
together?,

“ Were you not enjoyned to conceal his birth ?

“ Answ. They know no cause of concealment.

“Q. Were you not cautious to keep the child secret ?

“ A. I was never commanded to keepe him secret.

“Epw. WiLkinsoN?*:—I know the present E. he
1s the son of Wm, bec’ he was 1 year} old wn Wm,
dyed®. I saw not the now Earle till after his father’s
death.

! This woman was probably the wife of Jerome Read, the Earl of Ban-
bury’s servant, who witnessed his will, and to whom he bequeathed 100 L,

? Itis not certain whether this witness meant to repeat what Anne De-
lavall had told her, or that the question and answer belong to the examina-
tion of Mrs. Delavall, and have been misplaced by the person who took the
notes ; which conjecture is rendered more likely to be correct by the answer
to the next question being in the plural number, * they know, &c.” as if the
statements in which all the witnesses agreed were thrown together, instead
of being repeated under each name,

F This witness was not examioed in 1641. He was a trustee in the settle-
ment of the Earl of Banbury’s property in April 1631, and was a party to the
indenture of Lord Vaux and the Countess of Banbury, relative to the mort-
gage of Caversham, in July 1632, when he was described of “* Bucton, in
Northamptonshire, gentleman.” Vide p. 308. antea

* It has been observed, that this statement * does not agree with the real
date of Nicholas’s birth:" but the apparent discrepancy arose, as has been
already observed, fiom computing the year from the 25th of March, instead
of from the 1st of January. As Nicholas was born on the 3rd of January
1631, and as the Earl died on the 25th of May 1632, he must have been one
year, four months and twenty-one days old, at that event, which agrees very
nearly with the date mentioned by Mary Ogd.n. Ann Read says, he was
““ one year and a half old ” at his father's decease, which Nicholas himself
stated in his petition in 1661,
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“ What was this Nicolas called at his father's
death ?

““ He was called Nicolas Knowles, wt should they
call him else.

“The Earle and his Lady agreed very well together.

“ 1 know not that the E. Wm, did know that he left
any issue.”’

Upon this evidence some ohservations are necessary,
in consequence of the remarks which were made on it
during the last claim to the Earldom of Banbury.

It is obvious that the first inquiry related to the birth
of Edward the elder son, who was then dead and had left
noissue, and that it was not pursued after the positive tes-
timony of Anne Delavall, that ¢ she knew him to be the son
of the Earl, as she was at his birth.” The subsequent exa-
mination referred exclusively to Nicholas, the claimant.
Anne Delavall swore that she knew nothing about him,
except that he was owned by the late Earl as his son,
and that his mother lay in at Lord Vaux’s house at Har-
rowden, in Northamptonshire, to which she had once
before gone to take the waters at Wellingborough, which
place is close to Harrowden. This witness attended
upon the person of the Countess of Banbury for thirteen
years, a situation perfectly compatible with the rn::speéb
able station in life which she seems to have filled, as she
deseribes her husband, who corroborated her testimony
in 1641, as an “esquire.”  Much odinm was thrown
upon her testimony during the last proceedings before
the House of Lords; but the justice of the comments
which were then made upon it, is by no means apparent,
Lord Redesdale described her as “a feeble auxilary,
whose answers betray a consciousness of guilt and a
dread of detection not easily paralleled ! ;7 and not sa-
tisfied with casting suspicion upon her motives, his
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Lordship boldly aceused her of perjury. ¢ Like false
witnesses in general,” he said, “she denies all knowledge
of everv thing except the circumstance she is brought
forward to prove. When she is asked whether Lord
Banbury saw the child, a fact of which it was impossible
for her to be ignorant, she says she was not there to
know it. There is not one of her answers which does
not admit of a double interpretation, and is not equi-
vocating and evasive.” The evidence of all the witnesses
is very imperfectly recorded ; but there is no ground for
the character which the noble Lord has given of her tes-
timony. So far from denying all knowledge of every
thing except the circumstance which she was brought
forward to prove, she stated nothing conclusive upon the
point at tsswe, the birth of Nicholas. The obvious mean-
g of her answer to the question,  Did the Earl see the
child 7—1I was not there to know it,” is, that she was not
at Harrowden when he was born. How then could his
birth be “a fact of which it was impossible for her
to be ignorant?’ All which she knew was, that the
Countess lay in at Lord Vaux’s house at Harrowden,
which might have been within her knowledge; and
that the Earl had “ owned " the child, which recognition
might have occurred in her presence some time after its
birth. The christening, according to the usage of the
time, most likely followed that event at the distance of
one or two days only; and her not knowing who were
the child’s sponsors, agrees with her assertion that she
was absent when it was born. Morveover, when asked,
“if the Countess lay in in public?” she replied, “ All
the house she was in knew it;”" the fair inference from
which is, that she spoke of persons of whom she was not
one, and of a place at which she wus not herself present.
So far from swearing to every thing likely to support
the claim of Nicholas, she displayed that caution in her
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replies which would be shewn by a witness who was de- Case of
sirous of speaking no more than the truth; and it is only :ﬁﬁi:ﬂ;f::;ﬂ
just to comparé her evidence with her depositionin 1641 ', %1 |
The Depositions in that year related to Edward only, and
her statement respecting him perfectly agrees with what
she said in 1661. Instead of swearing to the same effect
respecting Nicholas as she had done in reference to
Edward, she explicitly said that she knew nothing what-
ever about him, except that he was owned by the late
Earl as his son.  If she was “a perjured witness, wholly
unworthy of ¢redit, and was brought torward to establish
that which had no foundation in fact,” would not her
testimony have been as conclusive respecting Nicholas as
it was respecting Edward? Would she have professed
ignorance of every material fact as to Nicholas’s birth,
instead of saying that she knew nothing except that
Lady Banbury lay in? A suborned witness, unrestrained
by conscience, and regardless of truth, would have been
explicit in facts, and minute in details, to prove that Ni-
cholas was the son of the Earl; but she properly confined
her evidence to what she knew of her own knowledge.
If her statements be compared with those of the other
witnesses, or with her own deposition in 1641, they will
be found strictly consistent; and there is nothing to
shake her credit, or to cast the slightest suspicion upon
her veracity. She attempted to prove nothing which a
confidential servant of the family was not likely to have
seen or heard, and she carefully refrained from making
any statement upon mere hearsay or presumption. If,
therefore, Anne Delavall’s evidence be considered dispas-
sionately, and without prejudice, it will be found to have
been most undeservedly characterized by Lord Redes-
dale, who evidently believed, but without the slightest
proof, that she was present at Nicholas’s birth, and that

! Fide p. 311, antea.
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she was anxious to conceal the fact from the Committee.
All which her statements prove is, that the Earl of Ban-
bury had recognised or “owned” the child to be his son;
that in her belief it was born at Lord Vaux’s house at
Harrowden, in Northamptonshire ; and that Lord Ban-
bury was capable of riding on horseback, and of enjoy-
ing all field sports for several months after the birth of
the child. According to the testimony of another witness,
(if, which 1s not impossible, she did not herself say so')
Mrs. Delavall had seen the Earl and his wife “ often in
bed together.”

It does not necessarily follow from the circumstance
of Lady Banbury’s having been confined at Lord Vaux’s
house, that she was guilty of adultery with that noble-
man. Lord Vaux was the intimate friend of Lord
Banbury up to so late a period as November 1629,
when he was a party to a deed by which the Earl
settled his landed property upon the Countess in the
event of her surviving him, his motive for which was
expressly said to have been, that “ she had been always
unto him a good and loving wife.” If Lady Banbury’s
health rendered it desiruble that she should take the
waters of Wellingborough, there 1s nothing suspicious
in her residing, during her stay, at the mansion of
her husband’s most intimate friend ; or even that her
confinement should have taken place in his house; for
that event might have been hastened by accident, or her
health might have rendered her removal dangerous, if
not impossible. ¥ither of these causes would satisfac-
torily explain the circumstance ; and there is no proof,
that Lord Vaux was present, or that Lord Banbury was
absent on the occasion, the natural presumption being that
her husband was present. If then, as i the abszence of
evidence to the contrary ought to be inferred, Lord

Banhur}* was at Lord Vaux's house when his wife was
! Nee Note?, p. 332, antea.
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confined, thereis an end of the suspicion which the place
of her accouchement has created.,

The next witness was Mary Ogden, who was Nicho-
las’s nurse, and there is not a word in her evidence to
Justify the idea of her having stated any thing which
she did not know to be ¢rue. She said that she was at
his birth, and mentioned the date of that event with the
greatest accuracy ; but she observed that she was “ not
at his christening, because she was not of their opinion,”
by which she evidently meant, that she was not of their
religion, Lady Banbury being a Roman Catholic'. She
nursed Nicholas fifteen months at Harrowden, which,
for any thing that appears to the contrary, might have
been after the Earls death, and when his mother was
the wife of Lord Vaur. Ogden did not know whether
the Earl ever saw him, or whether he knew of his wife's
confinement, though he “ visited her,” which visits may
have been made during her confinement; and if so, it
would explain the reason of the witness’s adding to her
remark, that “she knew not whether the Earl knew his
wife lay in,” “ but he visited her;” meaning, perhaps,
that because he visited her, he must have been aware of
the circumstance. “ The child,” she added, “ was or-
dinarily carried up and down the house ;7 and to the
question, “ whether strangers saw him?” she replied
that ¢ the household did so,” as proof that there was no
concealment. The last part of her evidence related to
the identity of the claimant as the e¢hild which she had
nursed, to which she swore positively ; and added, that
though she had known him from his birth up to that time
as well as her own child, yet she never knew him to be
called Nicholas Vaux. Lord Redesdale commented with
the same severity upon this witness as upon the preceding
one ; and inferred, from her statement that she knew not
whether Lord Banbury ever saw the child, ¢ that no one

! Vide p. 320, antea,
Z
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after this could doubt the fraud that had been practised
upon Lord Banbury,” an inference unwarranted by the
premises, it not being even proved that the witness
nursed the infant during any part of Lord Banbury’s
lifetime. Even if, as is certainly probable, the fifteen
months during which she nursed Nicholas at Harrowden
were those which immediately followed his birth, her
ignorance whether the Earl ever saw the child, might have
arisen from several causes unconnected with a design to
conceal the infant from him. Of such concealment there
1s not only no shadow of proof, but the presumption of it

18 directly rebutted by the evidence of Mrs. Delavall, who

swore that the Earl had ¢ owned him as his son,” and by
that of Anne Read, who deposed that she knew no cause
of concealment, and had never been ordered to keep him
secret, If indeed these witnesses had sworn positively
that the Earl never did see the child, or if that fact had
been established by other evidence, still the testimony of
another witness to the contrary would, if they were
equally worthy of credit, have left the point open. Igno-
rance of the fact in one witness, is met by positive proof
of recognition by another; and it is material to observe,
that if the Earl of Banbury was not at Harrowden when
Lady Banbury was delivered of Nicholas, it by no means
follows because he had “ owned ” the child to be his son,
that he must, as a matter of course, have seen it. He
may have known that his wife was pregnant, that she
was confined at Ilarrowden, and that she was delivered
of a boy; and on hearing of the event he may have so
expressed himself, both at the time and subsequently, as
to justify Mrs. Delavall in stating, of her own knowledge,
that the Earl had “ owned” him as his son, a declaration
which may have been casually made in her presence.
Anne Read, the third witness, does not state in what
relation she stood to Lady Banbury, but she was pro-
bably one of her servants. She merely deposed that the
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claimant was Lady Banbury’s son, that he was born 5!11;‘: :i}rl;{!ﬂm
in the beginning of January 1630 [1631], that Lord of Banbury,
Banbury died one year and a half after his birth; that !i’l_v__;
Mrs. Delavall said that she had often seen the Earl and

Countess in bed together, that she knew no cause for
concealing Nicholas’s birth, and that she was never
commanded to keep him secret.

Edward Wilkinson, the fourth and last witness, said
that he knew the claimant, but never saw him until after
his father, the late Earl’s, death; that he was always
called Nicholas Knollys ; and asked, as if surprised at
the question put to him, “ What should they call him
else?”” He deposed to that, which is evident from the
Earl’s settlement of his estates in November 1629, from
his will in November 1630, and from every other act of
his life,—that he and his wife lived on affectionate terms
with each other; but added, that he was not aware that
the Earl knew that he left any issue.

The last two witnesses, whose evidence contains little
of consequence, and affords no matter for suspicion, fell
also under Lord Redesdale’s censure. He describes them
as “worthy of their companions,” as if they were all a
set of suborned persons involved in a general conspiracy,
and bound together by one common interest to commit
gross perjury. There is no cause to believe that the Com-
mittee before which they appeared in 1661 took that view
of their testimony. The Attorney-general is not stated
to have expressed any doubt of their integrity ; and as
they had clearly established that the claimant was born
in wedlock ; that the Earl could have had, and probably
did have, access to his wife, at a time when he might have
been the father ; as there was no proof of impotency on
his part, and none of adultery on her’s, the legal status
of the claimant was too firmly established to be shaken
by any circumstance whatever. Neither the claimant’s

aunt, Lady Salisbury, nor any other witness was called,
e
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because none were necessary, as their testimony would
only have supported a fact which needed no corrobora-
tion; and the same reason will explain why no other
member of the family was examined.

If the Lords’ Committee entertained any suspicion of
the veracity of these witnesses, or doubted the facts to
which they deposed, why were not persons brought
forward to contradict them? The Attorney-general could
have bad no difficulty in rebutting their testimony if it
had been susceptible of contradiction, and of proving by
a host of living witnesses that the two children had
been concealed, if such were the case ; even, if he could
not have brought forward conclusive evidence of their
having been always considered the fruit of a eriminal
connexion between their mother and Lord Vaux. The
witnesses left the bar of the House, unimpeached and
uncontradicted ; yet at the distance of a century and a
half, a noble Lord ventured to impute gross perjury and
collusion to four persons, whose testimony had not been
shaken by the cross-examination of the law officer of
the Crown, and upon whose evidence the Committee
were satisfied of the claimant’s right.

Lord Banbury’s couusel submitted that they had
cleared the title of their client, and prayed that he
might enjoy the dignity and privileges of a Peer. It
seems that the Law was held to be so clear, as only
to render it necessary to refer to Lord Coke’s defini-
tion of it, in his First Institute, 244, that “ legitimacy
is not to be disputed if the father be within the four
seas,” even, they added, * though the wife be in
adulteryl.”

1 # Counc.—We have cleared the title. Pray he may enjoy the liberty
& priviledge of a Peere,

“ Cooke 1 Inst. 244. not to be disputed whether son or no, if father be
within y¢ 4 seas though wife be adultery.

“ Mr. Attorney p’ Rege, confesses the law cleare, the case is the King's
not sending a wiitt by reason of his father being reputed childles. You
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The Attorney-general on the part of the Crown con-
fessed that  the law was clear,” by which he did not,
it is presumed, mean merely that the law was what the
claimant’s counsel contended, simply because Lord Coke
had so defined it; but that such was universally the
manner in which the law was then understood by the
profession; and a reference to earlier, as well as to con-
temporary, authorities will show that it was impossible
for him to have entertained a different opinion. After
making this admission the Attorney-general proceeded to
state the reasons which prevented the issue of the writ of
summons to the claimant, more, it would seem, in justifi-
cation of that measure, than with any hope or expectation
of inducing the Committee to come to a resolution against
him. Those reasons were, that the late Earl was reputed
childless, that Lady Paget and Lady Willoughby had
been found his heirs, that the lands of the Earl were
settled upon him by Lord Vaux, and that the first in-
quisition could not be avoided without a traverse or writ
“ de melius inquirendum.”

The Committee came to the resolution of reporting
“ the matter of fact,” that “ according to the law of
the land he is legitimate ;” but this report was altered
before it was presented to the House, probably because
it was calculated to raise a doubt between the law and
the fact, and because it seemed to presume a distinction

have heared circumstances, (after death) of W™, Lady Paget & Lady Wil-
loughby found his beyres. This seconded by an order of the House. The
order read & both sides agree to the Office, & the land she now hath were
the Lord Vauxes settled by conveyance. The first Office cannot be avoided
wihout a traverse or melius inguirend™.
« All withdraw.
“ Ordered to report the matter of fact.
“ That according to the Law of the Land he is legitimate.
“ Adj! till Saturd’ next 3 o'c.
“ The report made to the House the 1st of July 1661 that the opinion of

the Committee is that the Nicholas E. of Banbury is a legitimate person,

“ Ordered to heare all parties at the barr on Munday next.”’
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between  legitimacy” and * legitimacy in law,” as if
there could be any other species of legitimacy than what
is created by, and depends upon, the law of the land.
The report was therefore corrected, and on the 1st of
July 1661 the Committee reported it to be their opinion,
“ that Nicholas Earl of Banbury is a legitimate person.”

Before tracing the proceedings farther, it is necessary
to advert, at some length, to the objections taken by the
Attorney-general to issuing a writ of summons in 1661,
as well as to those additional objections to the claim
which were urged in the House of Lords on the last
occasion when it was brought forward.

First, TuAT THE EARL OoF BANBURY WAS REPUTED
CHILDLESS.

The supposition that the Earl of Banbury was childless
arose from the King’s message to the House of Lords in
1628, on the question of precedency. It has only re-
cently been ascertained, that the right then claimed by
the Crown, to grant a higher precedency to a Peer than
would belong to the date of his creation, had often been
exercised by the Crown, as an undoubted branch of the
royal prerogative, as well before, as very soon after, the sta-
tute 31 Hen. VIII. ¢ for placing the Lords ” was passed ;
that no question was ever raised on the point, until the case
of the Earl of Banbury ; that it is extremely doubtful if
the said statute did control the power of the Crown in
granting precedency, though it has been so considered
by Lord Coke and the House of Lords; that notwith-
standing Charles the First’s promise to the House, in the
instance of Lord Banbury, never again to grant a similar
precedency, he made another grant of the same kind
within a fortnight after that promise ; that he again did
20 in the year 1640 ; and that some years afterwards, in
granting precedency to the Duchess of Dudley and her
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daughters, the patent states in express terms that it is
the King’s  prerogative royal” to confer precedency,
“ which he would not have drawn into dispute,” and it
forbids any disturbance being offered to the grantees,
““ on pain of the King’s displeasure, and as they will
answer the contempt thereof at their perils.”” These
facts show the anxiety of the Crown to support its pre-
rogative of conferring precedency by every means in its
power, and render it highly probable that any excuse
would be used to prevent the King from recalling a grant
of that nature. In the case of Sir Wilhlam Howard,
who was created Baron Stafford in 1640, with the pre-
cedency which was enjoyed by Henry the late Lord
Stafford, the House again remonstrated, and the King
terminated the controversy by immediately creating Lord
Stafford a Viscount ; whilst in the case of Lord Banbury,
he induced the House to yield, on the pretence that the
Earl was ¢ old and childless,” so that his Majesty car-
ried his point in both instances. The statement to the
House in March 1628 that Lord Banbury was then “ old
and childless,” has been considered inconsistent with the
Earl’s knowledge of the existence of the children of
whom he is supposed to have been the father; and this
fact operated as strongly against the claimant in 1811
as any other circumstance connected with the case. But
the following observations will, it is presumed, weaken,
if they do not destroy, the inferences which have been
drawn from it.

The patent granting the Earldom of Banbury and the
disputed precedency is dated on the 18th of August
1626. Edward, the eldest of the Earl’s children, was
not born until the 10th of April 1627; so that at the
time when the precedency was conferred the Earl was
“ childless,” and he continued to be so for nearly eight
months afterwards. The King’s Ministers and the other
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Peers might not have heard of the birth of the infant;
and the Royal message may consequently have proceed-
ed from a mistake, which the House had not the informa-
tion to correct. The debate which occasioned that mes-
sage took place towards the end of March 1628, when
Edward was about eleven months old ; and it has been
contended that the Earl of Banbury concurred in the
King’s representation of his being childless, by taking
his seat shortly afterwards, and that such concurrence,
if he was aware of the statement being untrue, “ would
have been a fraud of the deepest die'.” But when all
the facts are considered, Lord Banbury’s conduct may
be satisfactorily explained, if not justified. He was
at that time eighty-two years of age, a period of life
at which precedency over eight or nine Earls could
not have been to him a matter of much importance, and
when the mental energies are rarely vigorous enough
for actions of an unusual, if not perilous nature. The
controversy was not between Lord Banbury and the
House of Lords, but between the Crown and the House,
upon a question of prerogative. Charles the First’s
tenacity upon that point is matter of history; and there
are many examples of his not being very scrupulous
about the means by which he carried his object. Ra-
ther than yield on this occasion, the King conde-
scended to support his grant by a representation, of the
want of truth of which, he may not have been aware,
and by a solemn promise, which he violated within four-
teen days ; which he again violated in 1640; and again,
in a more deliberate manner, in 1644. The Earl of
Banbury did not dictate, and was no party to the King’s
message. It was probably sent without his being cogni-
zant of its contents : he was certainly not present when
it was delivered ; and when the manners of the times,

! Vide Lord Eldon's speech, postea,
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and the deference which was shown to the King, espe-
cially by those who were objects of the Royal favour, are
remembered, it cannot be expected that a man, upwards
of eighty years of age, should have taken so decided and
dangerous a step as to prove to the House of Lords and
the world that his Sovereign had stated a falsehood ; that
he should strike from under the King the ground on which
he stood in support of his prerogative ; or that he should
re-open a dispute between the King and the House of
Lords upon a point of such peculiar tenderness, that it
might have led to most serious results. Lord Banbury
was not the author of the statement ; and it may fairly
be urged that he was not called upon to contradict it,
more especially, as the House determined that the pre-
cedency should not be enjoyed * by his heirs,” which
resolution rendered it wholly unimportant to the subject
in dispute whether he had issue or not.

The extreme care manifested by the Peers whose
rights were affected, to prevent the privilege from de-
scending to Lord Banbury’s heirs is remarkable, as it
tends to show, either that they were aware that he was
not childless, or that they thought it probable he might
not die so. The King requested that, ‘“ considering
how old a man this Lord is, and childless, he may enjoy
it during his time ;" but the Earls who were interested
in the question, when they severally gave their consent
to his Majesty’s request, added, * during his life,” or
“ to his person only during his life,” or, * for his
own life only ;” and the order of the House was, that
“ the Earl may hold the same place as he now stands
entered, for his life only, and that place of precedency
No other heir than the issue
male of his own body could inkerit his honours, so that

not to go to his heirs.

this proviso must have contemplated the existence of,
and was purposely made to exclude, Ais children.
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Whether Lord Banbury did or did not know of the exist-
ence of Edward in March 1628, no inference can be drawn
from his conduet respecting him, against the legitimacy of
Nicholas, the second son, the claimant in 1661, because /e
was not born until two years and ten months afterwards.
A child may be born in wedlock, and yet from the ab-
sence, or temporary impotency of the husband, it may be
illegitimate, as well de jure as de facto, whilst another
child, born one year or more afterwards, may have been
actually procreated by him. So far as physical poweris
in question, a man may be incapable of procreation from
illness and debility in January, and yet be fully capable
in March. In advanced age occurrences of this kind
are not uncommon. Before the generative functions are
altogether extinct, nature sometimes rallies, and concen-
trating, as it were, all lier potency for one final effort, the
result is not unfrequently successful; and by almost the
last act of nuptial intercourse, an old man sometimes
perpetuates himself by the creation of an heir to his
fortune.

Much has been said against the probability of a
man of eighty-four begetting a child; and though the
objection to the legitimacy of Nicholas Knollys on that
ground was answered and rejected by Lord Eldon, be-
cause the law knows no period of life at which a man
ceases to possess the power of procreation, and because
instances might be adduced of men even ninety years
old and upwards having had issue, it is nevertheless
certain that the age of the Earl operated very strong-
ly against the claimant. If the strict principles of law
are not rigidly adhered to, and if rules which ought to
be inflexible are departed from to meet any particular
case of probability, the greatest possible confusion with
respect to property must ensue. It is not necessary to
adduce the instances in which men at a very advanced

o)
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period of life have become fathers, for such cases will
occur to every one, not merely as historical facts,
but within their own knowledge. One example may,
however, be mentioned, because the issue now holds the
highest rank in the British Peerage. A noble Duke
married early in life, but had no children during a co-
habitation of nearly forty years. He married a second
wife, a lady of the purest character, eight days only
after the death of his Duchess, at which time he was in
his seventy-first year. At the expiration of seven years,
he became the father of a daughter ; and two years after-
wards, when he was in his eightieth year, of a son, who
now enjoys his father’s honours.

But if probability be allowed to enter into the con-
sideration of such cases, it was almost as improbable
that Lady Banbury should have been the mother of
Nicholas Knollys, as that Lord Banbury should have
been his father. In January 1631, she was between
forty-four and forty-five years of age ; and the cases are
by no means numerous in which a woman of forty-
four' becomes a mother ; yet no rational doubt has ever

' Dr. Paris says, “ In this climate, the most usual period of women
ceasing to bear children is between forty-four and fifty, and although we
have, in ancient as well as in modern times, many extraordinary exam-
ples of protracted fecundity, but little eredit ought in general to be attached
to them. Marsa, a Venetian physician, relates a case of a woman who, at
the age of sixty, brought forth a daughter, and suckled her, and whom he had
previously treated for what he had considered to be ovarian dropsy ; the an-
nals of our own country would furnish some extraordinary instances of
a similar kind. Dr. Gordon Smith illustrates the subject by the case of the
wife of a peruke-maker in Poland-street, in the year 1775, who, at the age
of fifty-four, preduced two sons and a daughter, although she had been mar-
ried for thirty years, and had never before been pregnant.—Medical Juris-
prudence, vol, L. p. 258.

A very remarkable fact is stated in a manuseript note of the late Franeis
Townsend, esq., Windsor Herald, in his copy of the evidence in the Ban-
bury Case: The Rev. Dr, Rose, late of Merchant Tailors" school, says, his
mother was forty-six when she married, and that she had thirteen children,
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existed that Lady Banbury was the mother of Nicholas
Knollys.

It has indeed been lately suggested by Mr. Beltz,
Lancaster Herald', whose talents and professional ex-
perience entitle his remarks to attention, that Edward
and Nicholas Knollys were not the children of the Coun-
tess of Banbury, but of “ Edward Lord Vaux by some
other woman or women ;” and the grounds upon which
this novel and extraordinary hypothesis is founded are
the following, all of which proceed upon the supposed cer-
tainty that the children were not begotten by Lord Ban-
bury ; so that Mr. Beltz, like the other opponents of the
claim, commences his argument by assuming, in limine,
that the whole point at issue has been proved.

I. The age of the Countess. “ It is pretended that
“ she was delivered of Edward in 1627, when she
“ was at least 44, and of Nicholas in January
“ 1630-31, when she was 48. Although instances
“ of pregnancy at that period are not infrequent
“ in women who have been in the habit of child
“ bearing ; yet it is most extraordinary that a
“ woman should begin to bear children at that
“ advanced age.”

whereof he is one.” The following case, which has been recently discovered,
15 stated in a pamphlet lately printed by Colonel Knollys, the present claim-
ant to the Earldom of Banbury. In the parish of Ashwell, in Herefordshire,
a farmer’s daughter was christened on the 19th of September 1790, at which
time she is supposed to have been above a year old. She married on the
12th of October 1823, and on the 16th of January 1835 was delivered of a
child, never having been pregnant before. She must therefore have been
in her forty-fifth or forty-sixth year when her child was born, and had then
been married above eleven years.

I Postseript to ““ A Review of the Chandos Peerage Case, by George
Frederick Beltz, esq., Lancaster Herald,” Svo. 1834. Mr. Beliz seems to
have been employed in collecting evidence against the claim to the Earldom
of Banbury, and was examined at the bar of the House of Lords, in May
1810. Vide the Printed Evidence p. 241,
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The age of the Countess is here mistaken. She was
under forty-one, instead of being forty-four, when
Edward was born, and was between forty-four and
Jorty-five, instead of forty-eight, when she gave birth to
Nicholas'., So far from Lady Banbury not having begun
to bear children until the year 1627, it has been shown
that she gave birth to a daughter, who died before 1610%;
and she may have had many other children who died
infants.

I1. The names of the children. “ It is most improba-
“ ble, that to children born of the Countess under
“ such circumstances (when the prospective idea
“ of deceiving the world as to the genuineness of
¢ their birth, must have been formed by the adul-
“ terers), names should have been given entirely
“ unknown in the Knollys family, and common in
¢ that of Vaux. This inference is founded upon
“ the constant observation, that the general prac-
“ tice in ancient as well as modern families has
“ been to adopt especial Christian names.”

The baptismal names alluded to are those of Edward
and Nicholas, one of which names at least was not
“ common” n the pedigree of Vaux, for Edward Lord
Vaux appears to have been the first of his family who
bore it. DBut whilst it has been assumed that LEd-
ward Knollys was called after Lord Vaux, it has
been forgotten that Lady Banbury had a brother of
the name of Edward, namely, Edward Lord Howard
of Escrick, who is shown, by the settlements before re-
cited, to have been on very friendly terms with his sister,
and her husband. If then, as would be inferred in
any case into which prejudice and suspicion had not
entered, the facts were, that Edward Knollys was called

1 Vide p. 203, antea.
? Vide p. 306, antea.
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after his uncle, and perhaps godfather, Lord Howard ;
and that Nicholas Knollys was the godson of Lord
Vaux, the intimate friend of Lord Banbury, and was
named by him after one of his own ancestors, instead of
himself, because his own baptismal name of Edward
had been already given to the elder son, from respect to
his maternal uncle, there would at once be an end of
the mystery which has been thrown round the circum-
stance. Hence, supposing that the names of “ Edward”
and ¢ Nicholas ” were unknown in the Knollys family,
the above explanation would satisfactorily account for
their adoption ; and, as has been before remarked, there
is nothing to show, that Lord and Lady Banbury had
not other children besides a daughter, between 1610
and 1627, who died young, and who may have borne
the baptismal names of William, or Francis, or Robert,
or any other name common in their father’s fanuly.
That nothing, however, may be wanting to show the fal-
lacy of the argument founded upon the names of these
children, it must be observed that the baptismal name of
Nicholas appears to have oceurred before in the Knollys
family, and that it was not common in that of Vaux®.

! Among the persons who fled from England upon the accession of Queen
Mary in 1553, on the revival of the Roman Catholic religion, and the
enforcement of the penal laws against hereties, who took refuge at Geneva,
and who are recorded in the * Livre des Anglois & Genéva,” printed by Mr.
Boutherden Burn, were,

“ Thomas Knolles the eldist, . . . . his wife, Michael and Nicholas
o PP R S

To these names the editor of the tract had added the following note :—
*“ ). as to these persons. Perhaps the Christian name of one of them may
be erroneous, for Sir Francis Knollys [the father of William Earl of Banbury]
was an exile at Frankfort, and left that place with Knox and Whittingham
for Geneva,” p. 9. It is unlikely that the blank after * Nicholas® should
be filled with the word servants, instead of sons, because the surname of
neither of them occurs. It is, however, doubtful if the above-mentioned
Thomas Knollys was Sir Fraucis Knollys, because in another part of the tract
the names of Thomas Knollys and Joan his wife occur (p. 6), the name of

the wife of Sir Francis Knollys being Katherine.
With respect to the baptismal name of Nicholas in the Vaux family, it has
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L.  The strong improbability, not to say tmpossi-
“ bility, that the Countess could have been pregnant
“ and delivered of children, at the different times
“ stated, without the hknowledge of the Earl, is
“ founded upon the following facts:
1. “ That the presence of the Countess, during
““ the latter years of the Earl’s life, appears to have
“ been constantly necessary, and in fact called forin
¢ the different conveyances of the property; e. g. as
“ to Nicholas. The fine for passing Cholcey was
“ levied within fifteen days after St. Martin, in the
“ 6th year of Charles L. ; that is, towards the latter
‘““ end of November (St. Martin’s day being on the
11th) 1630, when the Countess, according to the
‘“ alleged date of the birth of Nicholas, on the 3rd
“ January following, (1630-1) must have been

within five or six weeks of her delivery of that

13

11

““ son. She must have been personally present at
“ the passing of the fine ; and it is not to be sup-
“ posed that the advanced state of her pregnancy

could have been concealed from the Earl her
“ husband.”

It was certainly impossible for the Countess to have
been pregnant in November 1630, without the knowledge
of the Earl ; and if, as every person, (except Mr. Beltz),
believes, Lady Banbury was the mother of the two chil-
dren, the fact alluded to tends to establish not only the
de jure, but the de facto paternity of the child; because
it proves, that although the Earl must have been aware
of his wife’s situation, he did not accuse her of adultery,
not been found in any instance in the documents and records which have
been lately most carefully examined, for the purpose of investigating the
pedigree of Vaux, after the death of Nicholas the first Lord Vaux, in 1523 ;
though in a pedigree in the Harleian MS., 1073, a Nicholas Vaux, uncle of

Edward Lord Vaux, is introduced, the correctness of which statement is how-
ever very doubtful.

il i B o
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or repudiate her infant; nor was his affection for, and
confidence in her, at all lessened by the circumstance,

2. “ That the Earl was totally ignorant of the
pregnancy and delivery ; which is demonstrable
from all his acts, and particularly from the public
testimony which he gave of her affectionate con-
“ duct towards him in the deed, dated 3rd Nov,
“ 1629, (when Edward would have been two-and-
a-half years old), m which he declares that she
had always © been unto him a good and loving wife;

il
13
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— a spontaneous encomium which he would not

have passed upon ber had he then had the small-

est suspicion of her adulterous intercourse, and
“ of its spurious result.”

It is by no means demonstrable from all the Earl’s
acts that he was ignorant of his wife’s pregnancy and
delivery; and if the Countess was the mother of the
children, Mr. Beltz’s own argument shows that the
Earl must have been aware of her being pregnant with
the cliuld whose legitimacy was disputed in 1661. The

i

il

proofs which Lord Banbury gave of his entire confidence
in, and of his great affection for his wife, are almost con-
clusive evidence that fe did not believe her to have been
guilty of infidelity ; and if, as seems beyond a doubt, she
had one child living at the time when he gave the  public
testimony” of her affectionate conduct above mentioned,
and that she was pregnant with another, when he again
evinced his esteem for her in his wall, wherein he called
her his “ dearly beloved wife,” these ¢ spontaneous en-
comiums” are strong moral as well as legal evidence,
that he believed himself to be the father of both her
children.

IV. “ The natural feelings of a mother, which gene-
“ rally act more strongly, soon after the birth of a
“ child, at an age when further offspring cannot be
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expected, preclude our belief that Nicholas was
the issue of her body. Yet, two months after
such alleged birth of Nicholas, at Harrowden, had
scarcely elapsed before she executed the convey-
ance, which passed her life interest in Rotherfield
Greys to her husband’s mephew Sir Robert
Knollys, and thus involved her new-born infant,
as well as her former 1ssue, in the same act of

dis-inherison.”

The argument founded on the alienation of Rotherfield
Greys will be afterwards noticed ; but if, as may be in-
ferred from the mortgage of Caversham, the Earl of
Banbury was in pecuniary difficulties, the alienation of
Rotherfield Greys and his other lands is at once accounted
for, and may have been imperatively necessary.
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¢ The protracted concealment of the children, long

after the cause for such concealment had ceased.
William Earl of Banbury died 25th May 1632 ;
and 1t appears that, immediately afterwards, the
Countess mtermarried with Lord Vaux ; but that
her proper description under this new connexion
was concealed from the feodary who made the
return to the inquisitio post mortem, and omitted
also in the jurat and grant of the probate of the
Earl’s will on the 2nd July following, wherein she
18 described simply as his relict. On that very
day, however, she executed a conveyance of the
mansion and demesne lands of Caversham, of
which she was seised in fee, to Lord Harrowden,
Edward Wilkinson (one of the witnesses before
the Committee of Privileges in 1661) and others ;
she being described in that conveyance as the wife
of Lord Vaux. Now Edward, the elder of the
two children, was not produced until nine years,
and Nicholas, the younger, was never, by name,
A A
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heard of until fourteen years, after that marriage.
Had these children been the children of the
Countess, either genuine or spurious, what reason
could Lord Vaux and his wife have had for with-
holding them from the knowledge of the world ?
We may fairly ask, where were they during the
time of concealment from 1632 to 1641? were
they under the care of their respective mothers ?

“ As to the objection against such an hypothesis,
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namely, that in the deed of 1646, in the presence
of Lord Vaux and the Countess his wife, Nicholas
is deseribed as son of the Countess, it may be thus
answered :

“ 1. That she was under the influence of her
husband, Lord Vaux, and, for reasons now un-
known to us, may have consented to this, not
unprecedented, adoption of the illegitimate off-
spring of that husband.

“ 2. That the designation of Nicholas, in that
deed, as the son of the Countess, may have been
introduced by the drawer of the instrument, as
another mode of identifying a being, the doubt-
fulness of whose birth had subjected him to dif-
ferent descriptions. And,

“ 3. In the deed of 1646, Nicholas is thus de-
scribed : ¢ Nicholas, now Earl of Banbury, son of
the said Countess of Banbury, heretofore called
Nicholas Vaux, or by whichsoever of the said
names or descriptions, or any other name or de-
scription the said Nicholas be, or hath been called,
reputed or known.’

“ Is it presumptuous to suppose that, among
those other names here alluded to but not stated,
was the name of the real mother of Nicholas,
which, with the acquiescence of the Countess, it
was the object of Lord Vaux to conceal 7”
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Although measures are not now known to have been
taken for establishing the rights of Edward until 1641,
yet so far from there being proof that either he or his
brother was ever concealed, two witnesses swore, in 1661,
that no order had been given to conceal them. Nor is
there the slightest positive evidence that they were not
considered the children of Lord Banbury. Little stress
ought to be laid upon the fact that Lady Banbury's se-
cond marriage is not mentioned in the jurat and grant
of the probate of the Earl’s will, or in the first Inquisition
of 1633, for the second marriage is not even stated in the
second Inquisition, in 1641, nine years after she became
the wife of Lord Vaux, the reasons for which may have
been that she held a Aigher rank as the widow of an
Earl than as the wife of a Baron; and the title of
Countess of Banbury continued to be the usual desig-
nation by which she was always described in the proceed-
ings in Parliament', as well as in every instrument to
which she was a party. Moreover, a feme covert might
be an executrix, and it was not necessary to name
her husband ; nor could he be joined in the probate.
When it was necessary to describe her as a married
woman, as in the conveyance of Caversham, and in the
settlement of Lord Vaux’s property upon Nicholas, she
was called ¢ Elizabeth Countess of Banbury, late wife
of the late Right Honourable William Earl of Banbury,
and now the wife of Edward Vaux Lord Harrowden.”
It is not just to infer that Edward was wnot produced
before 1641, because measures were not taken for super-
seding the finding of the Inquisition of 1633, until
that year; or to say that Nicholas was not heard of
“ by name’’ until fourteen years after his mother’s mar-
riage, because no records or deeds are extant to prove
the contrary. It is easy to put questions founded upon

! Vide pp. 320, 321, antea.
AA2
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mere assumptions, and to argue from those assump-
tions as if they had been established by evidence; but
the practice is alike inconsistent with the principles
of reasoning, and of jurisprudence. The idea that Lady
Banbury was base enough to palm upon the world,
as the issue of her deceased husband, two bastard
children of her existing husband, of which she was not
the mother, is utterly incredible, because there is a
total absence of those motives which prompt indivi-
duals to guilt, namely, personal affection, or personal
interest.  Mr. Beltz’'s suggestion did not enter the
mmagination of the Peers who were contemporary with
the birth of the children, and who opposed Nicholas’
claim under the impression that they were Lady Ban-
bury’s children by Lord Vaux. Even the Bill for de-
claring Nicholas illegitimate, instead .of mnsinuating that
the children were not the issue of Lady Banbury,
expressly states, that the “ Countess during her cover-
ture and intermarriage with the Earl had issue of her
body, Edward and Nicholus.” Whatever suspicion
may have been entertained of the testimony of the de-
ponents in 1641, and of the four witnesses in 1661, so
far as the paternity of the children was in question.
not a doubt has ever existed of the veracity of those
persons with respect to their maternity. Nicholas is
called, and must have been deseribed by Lady Banbury,
as her ¢ youngest son”
1641 ; and in the settlement of Lord Vaux's property
upon him in 1646, to which Lady Banbury was a party,
he was styled “ son of the said Countess of Banbury.” The
supposition that the description in the deed in question
“ may have been introduced by the drawer of the instru-

in the licence to go abroad in

ment, as another mode of identifying a being, the doubt-
fulness of whose birth,” &e. is not deserving of refutation.
Moreover, if it could for a moment be believed that Lady

=



( a8y )

Banbury was induced, from the influence of Lord Vaux,
to lend herself to the nefarious scheme of adopting two
of ZAis natural children by another woman as her own,
is it likely that her brother, Lord Howard of Fserick,
or her sister, Lady Salisbury, or her brother-in-law, the
Earl of Salisbury, would have been equally accommo-
dating ? They might, indeed, have assisted in a mea-
sure to provide for Aer child, whether legitimate or ille-
gitimate, but what possible reason could they have had
for becoming parties to a fraud in favour of the child of
a total stranger to their family?

Mr. Beltz’s hypothesis, and the statements by which
he has supported it, have placed him in a dilemma which
he may not have foreseen. It is not likely that he has
made any converts to an opinion, which is opposed by
every known fact of this case, as well as by every mo-
tive which actuates mankind ; and unless his conjecture
be admitted to its full extent, all his observations are
valuable and conclusive arguments in favour of Nicholas
Knollys’ legitimacy.

The observations which Mr. Beltz has made on the
Banbury case must not be concluded without adverting
to the hostility with which he appears, in common with
all its other opponents, to have approached the subject,
His feelings are exhibited in his infroductory remarks,
wherein, from an exemplary horror of the “ glaring injus-
tice of palming upon the country a spurious brood of here-
ditary legislators,” he says, * It is surely well that,in a
case of such flagrant immorality as that which is implied
in the above passages', there should be some jurisdiction,
were it even above the law, to prevent the triumph of
a scheme of infamy.” Every one must regret that a
writer of great sagacity and learning, who ought to have

" A remark by Sir Egerton Brydges, that it * was most probable in

point of fact’ that Nicholas was the son of Lord Vaux, and not of Lord
Banbury.
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brought to the investication of a matter of this nature,
a mind free from bias, and instinet only with legal consi-
derations, should have allowed his prejudices to betray
him into so indiscreet and unconstitutional a declaration,
as that a right of inheritance should, under any circum-
stances, be tried by a court “ above the Law;” in other
words, that there should be a tribunal for the trial of a
legal right which ought, in certain cases, to disregard the
Law, upon which that, and all other rights are founded !

Tue Secoxp OwrsectioNn which was made to the
claimant’s legitimacy by the Attorney-general in 1661,
was that the Inquisitio post mortem of the 9th Car. L.,
had found that the late Earl of Banbury had died with-
out issue male, which Inquisition, he said, could not bhe
avoided without a traverse or writ “de melius inqui-
rendum ;” and as this argument was much relied upon by
Lord Redesdale in 1811, it is necessary to inquire into
the nature of Inquisitiones post mortem, and to state
the facts respecting those in question.

Upon the death of a person seised of lands held in
capite of the Crown, it was the duty of the escheator of
the county in which such lands were situated, virtute
officii, to summon a jury, to inquire into the extent and
tenure of his lands, when the tenant died, who was his
next heir, and the age of such heir, and to return the
verdict into the Court of Chancery. No Inquisition hav-
ing been taken by the escheator of the county of Berks,
or of Oxfordshire, (in which counties Lord Banbury’s
lands lay,) virtute officii, a special commission' was

! ¢ If the King's tenant, who holdeth of the King by knight’s service in
chief, dieth, the heir may have a special commission directed to certain per-
sons to inquire what lands, &e, his father held on the day of his death, &e.,
and that special commission shall be as good for the heir as a writ of © diem
clauzit extremmum,” after the death of his ancestor,””—Fitzherbert’s Naturs
Brevinm, 11, 253.
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issued for that purpose to the deputy escheator of the
latter county, on the 10th of April, 9 Car. 1., 1633, eleven
months after the Earl’s decease, the result of which has
been stated'. Seven years afterwards, measures were
taken to perpetuate evidence of the legitimacy of Edward
Knollys, and to recover the lands of which the late Earl
died seised in fee,

The opinion that the former Inquisition could only be
rendered void by a writ “de melins inquirendum,” or by
traversing the first, appears to be erroneous, for it will
be shewn that such a writ could not issue under the
circumstances of this case. By Stat. 2 Edw. VI,
c. 8, it was provided, that ¢ where one person or
more is or shall be founden heir to the King’s tenant,
by Office or Inquisition; where any other person is,
or shall be heir; or if one person or more be or shall
be founden heir by Office or Inquisition in one county,
and another person or persons is or shall be found
heir to the same person in another county ; or if any
person be or shall be untruly founden lunatick, ideot,
or dead, be it enacted, that every person and persons
grieved or to be grieved by any such Office or Inquisition,
shall and may have his or their traverse to the same, im-
mediately, or after, at his or their pleasure, and proceed
to trial therein, and have like remedy and advantage as
in other cases of traverse upon untrue inquisitions or
offices founden.”

It was, however, necessary before a person could tra-
verse such an Office, that he should himself be found heir
by another Inquisition®. A second Inquisition, on the

! Vide, p. 304, antea.

2 As to the 2ndrpoint [viz. if they should have a traverse to an office before
an office was found for them], it was objected, that the plaintiff should have
a traverse without any office found for him ; for when a direct and sufficient
office is found in one county by force of a diem clausit extremum, or man-
damus, after the death of the ancestor, there shall never be an office found
again for the same land, as long as that stands in its force; for otherwise the
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death of the Earl of Banbury, was therefore taken in the
17th Car. I., respecting the lands which he held in the
county of Berks, the finding of which was at variance

law would never have an end; and therewith agree 4 Hen, VIL 15;
14 Edw. 1V. 5; 15 Edw. IV, 11; 2 Edw, VI. 12, 18: and therefore it
would be hard to compel him to find an office for him, before he can traverse ;
where by the law he cannot find in such case any office. 2. It was ob-
jected, that the statute of 2 Edw. VI. c. 8, hath remedied it, if any office were
requisite by the Common law, the words of which Act are: * And whereas
one person or more is or shall be found heir to the King's tenant by office
where any other person is or shall be heir, or if one person or more be or
shall be found heir by office in one county, and ansther person or persons is
or shall be found heir to the same party in another county, &e., be it
enacted, that every person grieved by any such office shall and may have his
or their traverse to the same immediately, or after, at his or their pleasure,
and proceed and have like trial and advantage, as in other cases of traverse.’
By which it appears that the party grieved shall have a traverse (without
speaking of any office), and proceed and have such advantage as in other cases
of traverse ; and in other cases of traverse there needs not any office.  But it
was resolved, that as this case at bar is, the plaintiff ought to have an office

JSfound before he can traverse. And as to the first objection, it was answered

and resolved, that in such special case of ficding of an heir, he who is right
heir and grieved by the office, shall have a new writ of diem eclausit extre-
mum, or mandamus, For heis a stranger to the said office, and therefore
the office shall not comclude him. And the said rule, and the books are to
ke intended, that the same person shall not have a new diem clausit extremum,
or mandamus, after an office once duly found, but another person shall have
one in that case to prove himself heir, and therewith agree 30 Ass. p. 28.
F.N.B.261, 262 ; 4 Hen. VIL. 15, b.; 12 R.IL.; Livery 28 Staunf. Prerog.
52 b. And that there ought to be an office before he can traverse, the Com-
mon law therein hath great reason ; for when the King is sure of wardship, or
premier seisin by the office, it is not reason that any one who pretends him-
self heir should traverse the first office that the other is not heir, until the
King Le sure to have profit by him, either by wardship or primer seisin ; for
then after the first office avoided by traverse, he might show matter to bar the
King of wardship and primer seisin, which would not be reasonable. Also
at the Common law interpleader lies, where by two several offices in one and
the same county, several persons are severally found heirs to one and the
same person, to one and the same land ; ergo, the party grieved may have
a writ to find an office for him ; for otherwise no interpleader can be ; for the
heir who was fivst found heir shall have a scire facias in the Chuncery, against
him whe is found heir by the second office, (because the King is in doubt to
whom to make livery) upon which if he appear, and justify the second office,
for the trial of the privity of the blood, then he ought to traverse the first
office (for all the interpleading shall be thereupon), and upon the trial
thereof, he who is found heir shall have livery. £o that it clearly appears,
that he who traverses the office in such case ought to have an office found
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with the former, with respect to the heir. Fitz Herbert' in
* specifies
various occasgions on which it was to issue, namely, when
the first Inquisition wanteth certainly in divers points,
as in tenure of divers lands, or in the value of any of
them, &e. where the jury state that they do not know
who was the -heir of the deceased, or what estate the
tenant had in the lands, or of whom they were holden,
or because the true value of them is not mentioned,
and the King is informed that they are of greater value
than is stated in the Inquisition. Neither of these

treating of the writ ¢ de melius inquirendum,’

causes for issuing a writ “ de melius imquirendum
apply to the Inquisition on the death of Lord Banbury
in 1633, for there is no want of “ certainty ”’ in any one

for him by the common law ; and therewith agree 36 Edw. 111, Travers. 44 ;
16 Edw. IV, 4; Fitz. Nat. Br. 162, 262. For he who ought to sue livery,
ought to have an office before he traverses. Otherwise of a stranger who
destroys the King's title. Vide 36 Edw. 111, Traverse 44; 12 Edw. IV,
18b.; 16 Edw. 1V.4.a.; 43 Ass. 20; 9 Hen. VII. 24; 5 Edw. IV.5;
12 Hen, VI.; 46 Edw. 1II. Bre. 618. As to the second objection, it
was answered and resolved, that the said Act of 2 Edw. VI. gives
not a traverse to him who pretends himself to be heir against an office
finding for another heir, without an office found for him ; for that is incident
to it, which is not taken away by the general words of the Act, for then all
interpleaders would be thereby also taken away, which never was the inten-
tion of the Act; but the intention of the makers of the Act was, to take away
a great doubt that was at the Common law, if one be found heir within age
by one office, and afterwards another is found heir in the same county of full
age, if any traverse and interpleader should be immediately, or if the traverse
and interpleading should stay until the full age of the infant, fuit vexata
quiestio, as appears in our books, scil. 36 Edw. 1II. Traverse 44; 5 Edw,
1V.4; 1 Hen. VII.14. a.; F.N.B. 162. And therefore to oust that doubt
was the stat. of 2 Edw. VI. made, by which it is enacted, ¢ that the party
grieved shall have a traverse immediately,” which word (immediately)
proves the intention of the said Act to provide for the said doubt, and to give
him who was grieved in such case a traverse presently ; but not to alter the
foundation of the traverse, sc. office, which ought te be found for the party
grieved before he could traverse; and where the. statute saith, that he shall
have a traverse presently, it is intended that he ought to observe all incidents
to a traverse; for the office is the ground and foundation of his traverse.”—
Kenn's case, 7 Co. 143-145. 2 Inst. 690,

' Natura Brevium, pp. 254, 256.
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statement therein ; and though Fitz Herbert says, that a
return that the jury knew not who is the heir of the de-
ceased, is a sufficient reason for issuing a writ “ de me-
lius inquirendum,” he no where states that the writ is to
issue in cases where a jury returns a wrong person as
the heir'.

There are also strong reasons for contending, that of
the two Inquisitions, the last operated as a supersedeas
of the first, inasmuch as it rendered it imperative on the
parties who claimed under the first Office, to traverse the
second ; and if they did not traverse, they were bound by it.
By the second Inquisition, the heir was found to be a mi-
nor, so that the Crown became entitled to the wardship of
such lands as were held in capite ; and the heirs under the
first Office could only recover those lands by traversing
the Inquisition by which the King became entitled 2,

! Among the numerous cases of Inquisitiones post mortem which might
be cited, wherein the jurors have found different persons to be heirs of the
party deceased, those which were collected for the use of Lord Erskine, on
the claim to the Earldom of Banbury, and are printed in Le Marchant’s
Repore of the Claim to the Barony of Gardner, will be found in the Arrexpix
to this werk. Many other instances might be given ; for example, the case
of Sir George Cornwall (antea, p. G7).

# @ Sometyme it happeneth that by two severall offices founde in one county
severall parsones bee severallye found heires to one man, wherebye for as-
muche as the Kinge is brought in doubt to which of them his hyghnesse may
make liverie, they therefore must firste enterplede, and when by enterpleder
the privity of the bloode is tried betweene them, then his highnes ought to
make the liverye to him that is tryed to bee the next heire of him that dyed.
As for an example, by one diem clausit or specyall commission in one countie
one is found heyre to hym that dyed the kings tenant and of full age, and by
an other diem clausit or speciall commission in the same county one other is
founde heire also to hym that dyed and within age, in this case the heire that
was first founde shal have a seire facias in the chauncerie against hym or her
that was last found heire tocome and shew why livery should not bee made unto
hym of the land comprised in the scire facias as heire to him that last dyed
seised thereof, upon which write if a scire feci bee returned and the party de-
fendant cometh not, or if he come and confesse that hee himself is not heire,
then the plaintife in the scire facias shall have his livery, but if hee come and
entitle him by the second office, & traverse the first as he needes must (for the
enterpleader must needes rest uppon the first office, & not upon the second)
then as the issue is found, so shal hee or they for whom it is found, have livery,
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It seems therefore, that in cases of contradictory find-
ings in [nquisitiones post mortem, the one which is most
beneficial to the Crown is to be presumed valid until it is

And this appeareth in the new Natura Brevium, fo. 262, & P. 16. E. 4.
f. 4. Travers, 44. P. 36. E. 3. Howbeit a great doubt riseth in our bookes
uppon this matter whether the interpleder shal he foorthwith after the second
office found or not until such time as the heire that is found within age com-
meth to his age, and as it appeareth by the sayd booke of 36. T. 3, in this
case, where one was fyrst found of full age and after the other within age,
the enterpleader was forthwith, for it were no reason that hee that was right
heire and of full age should be delayed by the nonage of the other that is no
heir. And a straunger shall be receaved to traverse the office notwithstand-
ing the heire that is found by the office that is traversed bee within age,
And then it is no reason that the heire in this case bee in woorse condicion
than a straunger. But take it, by the fyrst office one is found heire and wythin
age, and by the second office an other is found heire, and of full age, whether
in this case they shal enterplede or not, or whether the enterpleder shal be
before the age of the other: And surely it should seeme by the groundes and
rules declared before upon the writ of diem clausit extremum, that the second
office in this last case is void, because there is no better title found for the
Kyng than was by the first, and then yf it bee voyd, there can be no enter-
pleader. Howbeit in the new Natura Brevium, fo, 262, it appeareth to the
contrary hereof and that they shall enterplede in this case, and that the second
office is not voide for there the heires founde by both offices were of full age.
And yet that notwithstanding they enterpleded. And sois T. 5, E. 4, f. 4,
where it is said that if by one office the beire is_found within age, and by an
other office an other is founde heire and of full age, that in this case they
shall enterplede, but not before the child come to his full age. And Towna-
end justice saith in P. 1. H. 7, fo. 14, That if by dyvers offices. ii. bee seve-
rally found heirs and within-age, now the King shall keepe the lands till theire
full ages, and then they shall enterplede, and if they dye before enterpleder
their heires within age, severall Devenerunt shal bee awarded, that is to say,
for every heire one, & by the same being found severally heires to their aun-
cestors, they shal enterplede at their full ages, like as their auncestors shoold
have doone if they had lyved, and if the dying of anye of them were without
issue & the other found to be his heire, then is the enterplederdetermined. Thus
may ye see how bookes vary in this matter, and yet by the waye note this differ-
ence, that is to saye, where by the first office the heire is found within age and
where of full age, for by these bookes it shoold seeme that if hee bee first
found within age, notwithstanding that by an other office an other is found
heire and of full age, yet he shall not enterplede with the other till hee bee
of age: contrary it is if the first bee found of full age, and y*® next within
age, and the reason may bee for that the Kyng ys first seised of him that is
within age, with whom the lawe weyes morve in presumption to bee heire then
with the other, and this tytle is the best title the King hath, for it entytleth lus

Case of

the Farldom
of Banbury,
1661,

e et



Case of

the Earldom
of Banbury.
1661,
N S

{ 3ded )

traversed'. The heirs under the first Inquisition were
of full age in 1641, if not in 1633; but the party who
claimed to be Lord Banbury’s heir in 1641 was a minor,
of whose lands the King would have the wardship, which
entitled the Crown to issue a commission for a new Office.
The order for taking the second Inquisition was conse-
quently issued by the Court of Wards?®; and as Inquisi-
tions of this nature were instituted solely for the advantage
of the Crown, it appears that whenever contradictory re-
turns were made, and one of the persons found heir was
within age, no measures could be taken for determining
the question of right until the minor attained his ma-
jority, during which time the King enjoyed his lands ®.
Nor could the party who was first found heir have his
general livery until he had destroyed the title, by enter-
pleader or traverse, of him who was last found heir, if he
were an infant?, :

As Edward Knollys did not survive his minority, no
steps could be taken to traverse the first Inquisition, sup-
posing that it had been incumbent upon him to do so.
Nicholas being the second son, was never found, by In-

highnesse to a greater benefite then dooth the second office, and this second
offyce was found uppon a commission graunted more for the Kinges benefite
then for the heires that shoold bee founde by the same, and therefore it were
reason that hee that is firste founde heire have more favor if anye favour bee
to bee shewed than hee that was laste founde heire, or at the leaste for the
kinges benefite that the matter bee respited til the child be of age.” —Saund-
ford’s Eaposicion of the King's Prerogative, cap. xix, pp. 57% 58 & b,

“ So it is where the Kynges tytle is in right of any other, as if one bee
founde heire by office, and after by an other offyee an other is found heire of
the same lands to the selfe same auncestor, in this case hee that was first
found heire cannot have hys generall livery until such tyme as he hath de-
stroyed the other tytle either by an enterpleder or a travers, for if it so come
to passe that hee cannot enterplede, then must hee travers or by some other
meanes avoide the recorde ere hee can have hys said generall livery, as if
hee sue his generall liverye otherwise it is then missued, and a good cause
geeven to the kyng to reseise,” —Ibid. 66 & b,

U Ibid. f. 520, ? Vide p. 318, antea,

* Saunford, f. 58, 58 b. 50, 66 * 66 b, 4 Ibid. f. 66°,
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quisition, to have been heir to his father; and as it appears
that no one could traverse an Office who had not himself
been found heir to the same ancestor, it was perhaps
not in his power to quash the Inquisition of 1633.
Moreover, he did not become of age until 1652, a period
of great political commotion, when it might not have
been prudent to vindicate his legitimacey against the ad-
verse finding of the first Inquisition ; and as it was not
then impeached, it would have been unwise in him to
moot the point, even if the legal obstacle, just al-
luded to, had not prevented his destroying the Office
of 1633, His legitimacy and right to the Peerage were
not disputed until after the Restoration, when tenancy in
capite was abolished, and with it the Court of Wards
and Liveries, and all the legal machinery by which In-
quisitiones post mortem were put in motion, and on
which they depended.

Before dismissing this subject, it must be observed,
that Nicholas Earl of Banbury did succeed to part of the
lands to which his brother was found heir, namely, to the
small estates at Henley', and hence the second Inqui-
sition must have been the operative one ; whilst none of
the property of William Earl of Banbury seems to have
been inherited by the persons who were found to be his
heirs by the first Inquisition. It was more incumbent
upon those persons to have traversed the second Inqui-
sition than it was upon Edward Knollys to have quashed
the former one, because the first Office was not binding
on the true heir during his minority, it being clear that
he might traverse it when of full age; and as he was a
stranger to the first Inquisition, he could not have been

! No Inquisition was taken after the death of Edward Earl of Banbury in
1646, the reason for which may have been, that all the parties interested
were then abroad, and that his mother and step-father were so obnoxious to
the Parliament, as to render it unsafe to appear in this country, even if they
could have then had a locus standi in any court of justice,
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concluded by it'. Nothing having been done to destroy
the second Office, it is as much entitled to be considered
good and conclusive as the one of 1633; and it may
be opposed to the former Inquisition, with this addi-
tional advantage, that if statements are inconsistent with
each other, the latest ought in most cases to be pre-
ferred, because the difference between them may have
arisen from the last having proceeded upon fuller and
more authentic information. The greater accuracy of
the last Inquisition may be also presumed from its
stating that the Earl of Banbury died in London, which
agrees with the deposition of Dr. Lloyd that his Lord-
ship’s death occurred in the house of a physician in
Paternoster-row ; whereas, according to the first Inqui-
sition, he died at Caversham.

Admitting, however, for the sake of argument, that the
Inquisition of 1633 could have been traversed after the
Office of April 1641, and that it was incumbent upon
the nearest relations and guardians of Edward Knollys
to have taken measures for that purpose, it may be
asked whether Lord Vaux and Lady Banbury were in a
situation which admitted of their doing so? All which
is known of them between April 1641 and 1646 renders
it very unlikely that either of those persons could have
commenced a suit at law during that period. In June
1641 Lady Banbury went abroad, most probably to avoid
being apprehended for disaffection to the State® ; and
in January 1642 her husband’s house was searched, be-
fore which time he seems to have been obliged to quit
the realm for recusancy. Lady Banbury appears to have
returned to England for a short time, but she again left
it in June following. She must, however, have returned
towards the beginning of 1643, as in March in that
year Parliament ordered her to be confined to her own

' Vide Kenn's case, p. 360, antea, 2 FVide p. 320, antea,
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house. In July it was proposed to secure her as a pro-
fessed Papist; and in August she was sent out of the
country. In June 1644 the House of Commons ordered
that she should be arrested and imprisoned, if she ven-
tured to land in England'; and it is said that her son,
Lord Banbury, who was probably with his mother, was
abroad in January 16457 which is the last notice that
has been found of her. Thus, from the spring of 1641,
when the second Inquisition was taken, to the year
before Edward Knollys died, his mother and step-father
were constantly exposed to political persecution, com-
pelled to leave the country, and threatened with im-
prisonment if they returned; facts which are amply sufti-
cient to account for their not having traversed the ad-
verse Office, had such a measure been expedient, or had
the law permitted them to do so during Edward’s mi-
nority. It is not known when Lord Vaux and Lady
Banbury ceased to be objects of suspicion to the Govern-
ment, or when they came back to England ; and reasons
have been given why Nicholas, the second son, should
not have traversed the Office of 1633 after he succeeded
his brother in the Earldom .

Lord Redesdale’s remarks upon these Inquisitions were
deeply embued with the prejudice with which he ap-
proached every part of the evidence for the claimant. He
not only defended the first Inquisition upon grounds which
were untenable, but stated two circumstances respecting
it, which had no foundation in fact; namely, that it
was held at the proper period, i. e. immediately after the
decease of the Earl;” and “at the proper place, i. e.
in the neighbourhood where his family had so long re-
sided ;” whereas that Inquisition was not held until
nearly twelve months after the Earl’s death, and then

' Tide p. 321, antea. ? Ibid., ¥ Vide p. 365, antea.
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by virtue of a special commission, instead of being
taken by the escheator virtute officii, or under the
usual writ “ de diem clausit extremum;”’ and it was
taken at Burford, in Oxfordshire, upwards of thirty miles
from the Earl’s residence at Caversham, whilst the
second Inquisition was held at Abingdon, only half that
distance from Caversham. Lord Redesdale said that
Lady Banbury was alive when the first Inquisition took
place, as if that fact distinguished it from the second.
She was also alive in 1641, and did not die until 1658,
two years only before the first proceedings in the House
of Lords on the claim.

The Attorney-general in 1661 noticed that the
lands of Lord Vaux were settled upon the claimant
by a conveyance, which settlement appears to have
been the deed produced in evidence during the last
claim to the Earldom. It was executed on the 19th
of October 1646, by Lord Vaux and the Countess
of Banbury, then the wife of Lord Vaux, and has been
already alluded to. In that instrument Nicholas
Knollys, the claimant, 1s described as “The Right Ho-
nourable Nicholas, now Earl of Banbury, son of the
said Countess of Banbury, heretofore called Nicholas
Vaux, or by whichsoever of the said names or de-
scriptions, or any other name or description the said
Nicholas be or hath been called, reputed, or known;”
and all Lord Vaux’s property was settled upon the
said Nicholas after his Lordship’s decease, and the
decease of Lady Banbury, his wife. The inferences
which have been drawn from this deed are, that as
Lord Vaux settled his property upon Nicholas, and
as he had once borne the name of * Nicholas Vaux,”
it afforded a strong presumption that he was the
son of Lord Vaux by Lady Banbury: but these facts
were perfectly consistent with the relationship in which
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he stood as son-in-law to Lord Vaux. That noble- Caseof
man was the fifth in descent from Nicholas Vaux, ;ﬁﬁﬂﬂ?
the first Baron Vaux of Harrowden. He married %!
Lady Banbury in 1632, and having no children of
his own, it is not unreasonable to suppose that he
entertained so much affection for her only surviving
child, whom he had known from his birth, who seems
to have been brought up with its mother, and con-
sequently to have lived always with him, as to in-
duce him to adopt him as his own son. This,
which is of frequent occurrence, would remove the
suspicion which the settlement of 1646 has created
respecting Nicholas’s legitimacy. It certamly ap-
pears from that deed that he had borne the name of
his stepfather, which agrees perfectly with, and is ex-
plained by, Lord Vaux’s intention of giving all his
property to him'. It has never been proved that the
child was baptized by the name of Vaux, and as a
woman who was his nurse swore that he was not called
by that name, he must, unless she was perjured, have
received the appellation of Vaux at a later period, and
probably not until his father-in-law determined upon
adopting him. He is not described by the name of
Vaux in the licence granted to Lady Banbury to travel
in June 1641, but simply as “ her youngest son,” the
natural description of a mother and her child, then
under eleven years of age. The description of Nicholas
! Among the many instances which might be cited of similar assumptions
of the names of benefactors, is that of Sir Robert Agsborough, alias Towns-
hend, (the first person that received the honour of kmghthood from King
Charles I1. after his coming to London in 1660) who was the only son of Wil-
liam Agsborough, a merchant, of London. He was only three months old
when his father died. His mother shortly afterwards married Aurelian
Townshend. Sir Robert having lived with and been educated by his step-
father, was generally known by the name of Townshend ; and in a publie
instrument, dated 12th March 1662, he was authorized to assume the name

and bear the arms of Lord Townshend. Mr Townsend's MSS.""—Le
Marchant, p. 424,
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in the settlement of 1646, which proves that he had borne
the name of Vaux, seems, at the first view, to be at
variance with the statements of Mary Ogden his nurse,
and of Edward Wilkinson, before the Committee in
1661, both of whom asserted that in his infancy he
was called Nicholas Knollys; and their evidence has
consequently been the subject of obloquy. DBut a
more attentive consideration of the description of him
in the deed of 1646, will reconcile the apparent discre-
pancy. The precise words are “ The Right Honourable
Nicholas, now Earl of Banbury, son of the said Countess
of Banbury,”’—to which title he succeeded on the death
of his brother Edward, a few months before the settle-
ment was executed, “ heretofore called Nicholas Vaux,”
—that is, at any period, however short, before he assumed
the title of Earl of Banbury,—* or by whichsoever of the
said names or descriptions, or any other name or deserip-
tion the said Nicholas be or hath been called, reputed,
or known.”

If he had never borne any offer name than “ Nicholas
Vaux,” or “ Nicholas Earl of Banbury,” the proviso
for “ any other name or description” than the two
which were specified, would have been unnecessary;
hence it may be inferred that those words were intro-
duced in consequence of his having, at an earlier period,
borne the name of Knollys, and which two of the wit-
nesses in 1661 swore was the case.

[f, then, the facts were, as there are grounds for be-
lieving, that Nicholas bore the name of Nicholas Knol-
lys at, and for some time after, his birth; that when
Lord Vaux resolved to make him his heir, he autho-
rized him to assume the name of Vaux, of which there
are innumerable examples ; and that, before he formally
settled his estates upon him, Nicholas (as did actually

happen) succeeded to the Earldom of Banbury, the sus-
w22
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picion against his legitimacy, to which the desecription
of him in the settlement of 1646 gave rise, will dis-
appear.

The evidence of Edward Wilkinson applies only to
the name which the child bore after the Earl of Ban-
bury’s death, and proves that be was called Nicholas
Knollys until he was more than a year and a half old;
and though his nurse, Mary Ogden, said  she had
known him all along as her own child;” that in his
brother’s lifetime he was known to her by his baptismal
name of Nicholas only, and that she “ never knew him
called Nicholas Vaux in her life,” there is nothing which
ought to shake her credit in those statements, because
his nurse was, of course, in the habit of addressing him
by his baptismal name; and he might have borne the
surname of Vaux for so short a time,—it might have been
so seldom applied to him in conversation or in her pre-
sence,—she may have seen him so rarely, and for such
brief periods after it was given to him,—that she really
might not have been aware of the cireumstance. Though
she was employed for fifteen months as the child’s
nurse at Harrowden, she does not appear to have con-
tinued in the service of Lady Banbury.

Indeed, so far from the deseription of Nicholas in the
deed of 1646 being evidence of his illegitimacy, it ad-
mits of a totally opposite conclusion; for it may be
-adduced as proof, that his mother and his step-father, as
well as their legal advisers, entertained no doubt what-
ever respecting his legitimacy, or his right to the Earldom
of Banbury. If the remotest possibility was anticipated
of his legitimacy being disputed, is it probable that a
deed from which he was to derive advantage, would
have been so worded as to be capable of producing
an inference injurious to the most important object
to which he could aspire? If the simple fact, that
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before he succeeded his brother in the Earldom, he had
sometimes borne the name of his adopted father, was
considered likely to raise a prejudice against his legiti-
macy, would it have been boldly stated in the instrument,
without any explanation to remove such an impression?
It is the nature of guilt to mystify and conceal whatever
may lead to suspicion; but when did persons whose
interests, and the interests of the party dearest to them
in the world, require the concealment of any circum-
stance, ostentatiously, if not needlessly, avow a fact
which might lead to detection? Ifit were necessary for
the purpose of identification to describe Nicholas by any
other terms than as “ Nicholas, now Earl of Banbury,
son of the said Countess of Banbury,” and if it had
been imagined that the statement that he had borne the
name of “ Nicholas Vaux,” or any other name, might
create an injurious impression respecting his birth, what
would have been easier than to insert such an explana-
tion of the cause as would prevent any inference of that
nature ? In proportion to their consciousness of the jus-
tice of such an inference, would have been their quick-
ness of apprehension that it must arise, and their anxiety
to defeat it. The proper legal construction of that deed
seems, therefore, to be, that the motive of it was to bene-
fit the step-son and adopted heir of one of the parties,
and the only child of the other: and it may be argued,
that as there was no unworthy or secret cause, which
prompted Lord Vaux to adopt his step-son, there was
nothing to conceal; and that his Lordship allowed the
mstrument, by which he settled his property upon him,
to bear evidence that his affection had induced him to
give him his own name.

The trustees of Lord Vaux’s estates for the benefit of
his son-in-law, instead of being obscure individuals,
who might be supposed ready to perform any disrepu-
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table office, were persons of high rank ; and two of them
were nearly connected with Lady Banbury. They were
the Earl of Salisbury, who married her sister ; her bro-
ther, Edward Lord Howard of Escrick ; and Sir Robert
Thorold of Harroby, baronet, whose stations in society
render 1t improbable that they would be parties to an
instrument which contained a false description of the
principal person concerned. It is another important fea-
ture in the case, that Lord and Lady Salisbury certainly
considered Nicholas to be the legitimate child of the
Earl of Banbury, because the proceedings in Chancery
in 1641 were instituted in Lord Salisbury’s name, as the
prochein amy and guardian of his late nephew, Edward
Vaux Earl of Banbury ; and Lady Salisbury offered her-
self as a witness in her nephew Earl Nicholas’s favour,
in 1661. Lord Howard of Eserick, his uncle, was likewise
a party to the settlements of Caversham on Lady Ban-
bury in April 1631, and must have been well aware of
the real facts relating to the birth of his nephew, only
three months before.

If, however, a different view be taken of this trans-
action, and it be insisted that it is pregnant with evidence
that Lord Vaux was the real father of the object of his
bounty, it is a sufficient answer, in point of law, that
though such may have been the opinion of Lord Vaux;
nay, that though such may also have been the opinion of
Lady Banbury herself, yet unless it be positively proved
that Lord Banbury Aad not access to his wife, or was inca-
pable of sexual intercourse at a time when, if he had such
access, and was capable of procreation, he might be the
father of the child, neither Lord Vaux’s nor Lady Ban-
bury’s opinion, nor any act of theirs, could bastardize her
children. Nicholas, though a party to that settlement,
was then a minor, and was not bound by any description
of him which it might contain. He was ignorant of their

B B3

Case of

the Earldom
of Banbury,
1661,
=l —



{Case of

the Earldom
of Banbury,
161,
\-_..__v__-'

( 374 )

motives; and if they were guilty, he ought not to be
punished for their crime. The law presumes that he
was legitimate, because he was born in wedlock ; and
that presumption cannot be rebutted by giving to any
deed a particular construction, founded upon mere in-
ferences, more especially when, as in this instance, he
was not bound by any statement therein, when the
deed itself is susceptible of a construction perfectly
consistent with the relationship in which he stood to-
wards the authors of it, and which construction would
completely remove every suspicion to which it has given
rise.

It is a maxim of law, that every thing is to be presumed
in favour of legitimacy ; from which it necessarily follows,
that if, in a case of disputed legitimacy, an instrument
be produced which is capable of two constructions ; one
for, and the other against, the legitimacy, the proper
and sound legal construction, under such circumstances,
15, that which supports the legitimacy.

The preceding remarks apply chiefly to the objections
which were made to the claim by the Attorney-general in
1661, some of which objections were repeated during the
last proceedings before the House of Lords. The addi-
tional objections raised by Lords Eldon, Redesdale, and
Ellenborough on that occasion, will now be alluded to.

Of the other circumstances which were then considered
to raise a strong presumption against the legitimacy of
Nicholas Knollys, the principal were, his never having
claimed the manor of Rotherfield Greys ; the presumed
concealment of his birth from the Earl of Banbury ; the
King’s message to the House of Lords in 1628; and
the marriage of Lady Banbury to Lord Vaux within five
weeks after her husband’s decease ; each of which points
will now be considered.
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I. The non-claim to the manor of Rotherfield
Greys,

It was taken for granted by Lords Eldon, Redesdale,
and Ellenborough, that the Earl of Banbury could not
bar the entail of that manor, because the grant of it,
to his father and the heirs male of his body, was for
services rendered to the Crown', and because the grant
was confirmed by two Acts of Parliament in the reign
of Henry the Eighth. Without discussing the correct-
ness of this view of the subject, it is suflicient for the
purpose of destroying the inference which has been
drawn from the non-succession, and non-claim to that
manor by Nicholas Knollys, to prove that, aceording to
the opinion which prevailed in his time, the alienation
of those lands by the Earl of Banbury was legal and
indefeasible ; and to show that there were strong grounds
for such an opinion.

The Earl of Banbury inherited Rotherfield Greys as
heir male of his father under the letters patent and
statutes of Henry the Eighth; but he nevertheless ob-
tained a re-grant of it from King James the First in
1610, to hold to him and Elizabeth his wife, and the
heirs male of his body, in default of which, to the heirs
male of the body of his father. In 1621, the Earl ob-
tained a new grant of that manor from the King, to hold
to him and Elizabeth his wife for their natural lives,
and for the life of the survivor of them, with the same
remainder as was contained in the patent of 1610.
Rotherfield Greys was also included in the letters patent
of February 1628, by which the manors of Cholcey,
Hackborne, and others were granted by the Crown to
the Earl and Countess, with remainder to the heirs male
of the bodies of Sir Francis Knollys and Katherine his
wife, father and mother of the said Earl®; and this grant
was considered to have created his title to that property.

! Lord Eldon's speech, vide postea. ? Vide p. 292, antea.
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It is evident, that as early as 1610 the Crown was con-
sidered to have the power of altering and controuling the
grant of Rotherfield Greys by Henry the Eighth, not-
withstanding the two Acts of Parliament by which it was
confirmed to Francis Knollys and the heirs male of his
body, because the letters patent of 1610, 1621, and 1623,
granted the manor to the Earl and Ais wife jointly for
their lives, so that, if she survived him, she would have
had a life interest in that estate, which 1s at vanance
with the grant and statutes of Henry the Eighth. It
does not appear that the statutes in question were ever
repealed ; nor has it been discovered that a resumption
of the grants of the Crown lands was authorized by
any Act of Parliament in the reign of Edward the
Sixth, Queen Mary, Queen Elizabeth, or James the
First. If, however, the statutes and grant of Henry the
Eighth were operative and indefeasible, the several
grants of Rotherfield Greys by James the First were
void ; but the last of those patents, and not the patent
or statutes of Henry VIII., must have been deemed to be
the operative grant, because the patent of 1623 is the only
instrument referred to in the subsequent proceedings re-
specting that manor, as having created Lord Banbury’s
title to it. In 1631, the Earl and Countess of Banbury
obtammed the King’s license to alienate Rotherfield Greys
in favour of Sir Robert Knollys!, who, if the Earl died
without issue male, would have inherited it as heir male
of the Earl’s father, immediately after the Earl’s decease,
pursuant to the letters patent and statutes of Henry the
Eighth ; but if those instruments were, as was then be-
lieved, controuled or rendered nugatory by the subse-
quent grants of James the First, Sir Robert Knollys
would not have succeeded to the manor un